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5,227 4,749

946 1,261
5,000 6,819
32,318 34,386
13,698 16,558
17,290 23,343
91,115 95,751
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2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
2,883 2,785 2,600
438 287 130
9,189 4,095 4,765
2,406 817 1,470
14,916 7,984 8,965
18 442 274
5,970 5,142 4,817
8,928 2,400 3,874
1,785 581 775
7,143 1,819 3,099
97 79 86
7,046 1,740 3,013
25,195 20,491 21,575
28.0% 8.5% 14.0%
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
9.266 2,417 4,288
an) 1,678 477
9,189 4,095 4,765
2,489 1,621 2,384
6,700 2,474 2,381
9,189 4,095 4,765
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
/( ) 1,155 (228) 334
1,251 1,045 1,136
2,406 817 1,470
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2021
COVID-19
2021 2020
2021 149.2 2020 87
2020
2021
2021 2020 442 18
COVID-19 2020
2021 59.7 2020 16
2021 2020 24.0

89.3 2021 ROE 2020 8.5 28.0
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USA GS USA GSIB
2021 12 2020 12

48,573 25,814

14,358 12,518

11,932 7,132

13,538 17,969

63 52

54,393 39,799

3,481 3,145

146,338 106,429
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
4,691 3,889 3,475
178 114 81
1,109 780 783
5,978 4,783 4,339
1,492 1,213 864
7,470 5,996 5,203
592 758 423
6,294 4,901 4,545
584 337 235
117 81 47
467 256 188
40 40 29
427 216 159
10,796 8,012 6,292
4.0% 2.7% 2.5%
2021
2020

COVID-19
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2021 2020
2021 74.7 2020 25
59.8 2020 25
14.9 2020 23
2021 592 2020 22
2020
185
2021 62.9 2020 28
2021 584
2020 73 2021 ROE 2020 2.7
4.0
AUS
AUS

AUS
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AUS

( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
1,719 1,530 1,298
751 615 561
AUS 2,470 2,145 1,859
236 191 185
613 475 423
940 896 789
AUS 1,789 1,562 1,397
681 583 462
AUS 2,470 2,145 1,859
824 761 684
751 615 561
895 769 614
AUS 2,470 2,145 1,859
1,930 1,656 1,408
EMEA 354 318 279
186 171 172
AUS 2,470 2,145 1,859
1,347 1,186 1,069
811 707 603
312 252 187
AUS 2,470 2,145 1,859

EMEA
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0000000
AUS
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
1,530 1,298 1,087
« D
15 3) 2
5 (12) 34
54 53 35
AUS «C ) 74 38 71
76 107 52
AUS «C ) 150 145 123
) 39 87 88
1,719 1,530 1,298
615 561 455
« D
18 2 9
36 8 11
2 (6) 17
AUS «C ) 56 4 37
22 14 13
AUS « ) 78 18 50
) 58 36 56
751 615 561
2,145 1,859 1,542
« D
33 (€D 11
411 4) 45
56 47 52
AUS « ) 130 42 108
98 121 65
AUS « ) 228 163 173
) 97 123 144
2,470 2,145 1,859
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2019 AUS «C )
SPIAS GS
710
SPIAS
GS
AUS
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
1,628 1,429 1,182
674 565 505
AUS 2,302 1,994 1,687
211 183 176
547 409 364
919 829 746
AUS 1,677 1,421 1,286
625 573 401
AUS 2,302 1,994 1,687
AUS
2021 12 33.9
2020 12 17.9
2021 75.7 2020 66.7 2019
60.8 2022 2024 100

AUS 20
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AUS
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
63 61 61
60 58 61
17 18 19
5 14 16
29 29 32
AUS
( )
2021 12
AUS
20 59 79
19 1 20
8 7 15
51 1 62
98 78 176
35
AUS 211
117 57 72
102 54 98
93 56 76
61 66 62
83 58 72
17

63
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( )
2020 12
AUS
15 58 73
13 2 15
7 6 13
44 10 54
79 76 155
28
AUS 183
131 57 73
95 53 89
87 63 75
59 65 60
81 59 70
13
61
2019 12
AUS
16 51 67
10 2 12
6 4 10
47 11 58
79 68 147
29
AUS 176
134 52 73
108 48 99
88 59 76
61 61 61
84 54 70
13
61
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AUS
( AUS
2021 12
87 79 166
25 69 94
16 39 55
70 2 72
198 189 387
38 1 39
236 190 426
2020 12
74 51 125
18 72 90
13 43 56
56 2 58
161 168 329
30 1 31
191 169 360
2019 12
76 38 114
14 51 65
8 43 51
58 2 60
156 134 290
29 - 29
185 134 319
2021
12 420 2020 12 440 2019 12 320
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2020 2024
1,500 2022
2024 2,250
2020 2021
( 2021 12
AUS 64
43
107
290
AUS
CIE
(
2021 12
- - 15 - 15
7 11 - - 18
7 2 4 14 27
- - - 1 1
14 13 19 15 61
2020 12
- - 16 - 16
8 11 - - 19
9 2 4 19 34
- - - 1 1
17 13 20 20 70
2019 12
- - 17 - 17
8 12 - - 20
9 2 5 17 33
- - - 1 1
17 14 22 18 71
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
14 17
13 13
27 30
( ) 48% 44%
) 40% 43%
) 12% 13%
100% 100%
4% 45%
EMEA 34% 33%
22% 224
100% 100%
4% 5%
8% 7%
11% 9%
14% 15%
3% 4%
33% 36%
17% 14%
10% 10%
100% 100%
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2020 12

19

20

EMEA

57%
23%
20%

51%
18%
31%

100%

100 %

6%
11%
11%

7%
10%
22%
30%

3%

2%
25%
8%
5%
7%
18%
31%
4%

100%

100 %

12

2021 12

150

2021 12 40

2021 12
2020 12

181/597
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170

30

2020 12

2020 12
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2020
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2021 12

2014 21%

2015 2017 31%

2018 48%
100%

2020 12

2013 33%

2014 2016 34%

2017 33%
100%

2020 2021

(

22
6
(18)
9
19
CIE
CIE 2021 12 140 2020 12 190 CIE
2021 12 70 2020 12 100
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CIE
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
CIE ( ) 7 9
63% 63%
EMEA 25% 22%
12% 15%
100 % 100 %
4% 4%
10% 10%
23% 23%
24% 28%
5% 6%
16% 13%
6% 7%
12% 9%
100 % 100%
CIE
2021 12
2014 2%
2015 2017 29%
2018 69%
100%
2020 12
2013 1%
2014 2016 17%
2017 82%
100%
25
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CCAR
DFAST
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2021 12 1.46 2020 12 3,009.6
1,342.5
1,051.9 424.5
393.4
2021 12 1.35 2020 12 2,869.7
1,042.7
612.7
569.9
347.0
277.0
2021 12 2020 12
1,658.8 1,265.7
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 2020 12 24 2021
2020 2021 12 2020 12 14
31 2021 12 2021 12
2021
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
1,463,988 1,163,028
254,002 213,481
109,926 95,932
13.3 12.1

2.3 2.2
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358.8
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OooooOodd
20
2021 12 2020 12
109,926 95,932
(10,703) (11,203)
99,223 84,729
(4,285) (4,332)
(418) (630)
94,520 79,767
284.39 236.15
270.91 222.32
2021 12 348.9 2020 12
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12

364,227 36% 259,962 33%

230,932 23% 173,947 22%

46,955 5% 52,870 6%

254,002 25% 213,481 27%

109,926 11% 95,932 12%

1,006,132 100% 796,192 100%

GS USA
GSIB
13
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11

GCLA

GS
USA
2021 12 100 2020 12

discount window

14
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144A
( )
2021 12
2023 15,373 7,271 8,939 11,628 43,211
2024 8,622 8,948 8,869 7,297 33,736
2025 6,855 9,732 5,671 6,545 28,803
2026 6,174 3,773 3,485 8,725 22,157
2027 126,185
254,092
2021 12
14 2021
600
2022 2021

19
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FRB
14 19
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FRB

FRB CCAR
FRB
FRB
2021
13.4
GS USA
FRB

SE GSBE
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2022 25 SEC

Part 1 Item 1 Business Available Information

FRB

RWA
2021 CCAR
2021 CCAR
2021 10

GSI

192/597

FRB

SCB
CET1

2021
FRB SCB 6.6
2022 30

2022
GSIB

oOoOooodn

10-K 2021

FRB

FRB
SCB
CET1

DFAST
6.4
CET1



21

FRB

CCAR

2020 12
37

2022

10b5-1

CCAR FRB
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23

2021 12

2021

10

oOoOooodn



2021
1.25
500

2021 12

GS Co.

2.00
700
2022

GS USA
GSI GSIB GSBE
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2021
12.0
2021

34.4
19

GSJCL

GS Co. GSI
GS USA GSIB GSBE



EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

USA GSIB GSBE GS Co. GSI
FRB
G-SIB
2.5 SCB
G-SIB 2021
2022 2.5 2023 3.0 2021
3.5 G-SIB
2024 G-SIB
SCB
50 100
20
TLAC
FRB TLAC TLAC
FRB
TLAC
2021 12 2020 12
RWA TLAC 21.5% 22.0%
TLAC 9.5% 9.5%
RWA 8.5% 8.5%
4.5% 4.5%
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OooooOodd
2021 12 2020 12 RWA TLAC
18 2.5 FRB
G-SIB G-SIB
2021 12 1.0 2020 12 1.5
TLAC 7.5
2.0
RWA 2.5
G-SIB
4.5
TLAC
2021 12 2020 12
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
TLAC 297,765 242,730
174,500 139,200
RWA 676,863 609, 750
1,910,521 1,332,937
RWA TLAC 44.0% 39.8%
TLAC 15.6% 18.2%
RWA 25.8% 22.8%

9.1% 10.4%
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TLAC

RWA 2021 12 RWA 2020 12 RWA

TLAC RWA RWA TLAC
2020 12
FRB
TLAC
2020 12
TLAC 2.4
1.3 2021
TLAC
GS USA GSIB GSBE

20
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GS Co. SEC
GS Co.
CFTC
CFTC
2021 GS Co. SEC
2021 10
SEC 15¢3-1 CFTC 1.17 23 E
GS Co. SEC 15¢3-1
GS Co. 15¢3-1 2021 12 221.8 2020 12
223.8 2021 12 177.4 2020 12
184.5 GS Co. 15¢3-1 50
10 GS Co.
60 SEC GS Co.
2021 12 2020 12
GSI GSJCL
GSI PRA
FCA GSI
EU CRD EU CRR
EU
GSI
2021 12 2020 12
CET1 8.1% 8.1%
Tierl 9.9% 10.0%
12.4% 12.5%

PRA
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GSI
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
CET1 28,810 26,962
Tierl 37,110 35,262
Tier2 5,377 5,377
42,487 40,639
RWA 269,762 252,355
CET1 10.7% 10.7%
Tierl 13.8% 14.0%
15.7% 16.1%
2021 12 2021 12
GSI
GSI GSI
CET1 16
GSI  PRA
3.25 2023 GSI GSI
2021 12 4.2 2020 12 4.7 2021 12
2021 12 GSI
GSI GSI
GSI  CFTC 2021 SEC
2021 12 GSI
GSI
2019 2022 2021 12
2020 12 GSI
GSJCL
6SJCL

2021 12 2020 12
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LIBOR IBOR
2022 LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR
2023 FCA LIBOR LIBOR
2022 12 LIBOR LIBOR
LIBOR
1SDA 2020 1BOR 1BOR
IBOR
1SDA FCA 2021 LIBOR
2021 LIBOR
SOFR
LIBOR
IBOR

LIBOR
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LIBOR
2021 12 LIBOR
IBOR
IBOR
FCA
LIBOR
2021 12 LIBOR 10.0
5.5 2023
IBOR
IBOR LIBOR
2021 12 LIBOR
345 294 2023
LIBOR
SOFR SONIA
SOFR SONIA

LIBOR
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LIBOR
LIBOR

LIBOR

COVID-19
2021 2022
2022
COVID-19 2020 BCP
COVID-19
2021
COVID-19
2021 2022

COVID-19
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2021 GCLA 3,350

2021

2022

2021

2021

AUS

COVID-19

203/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
oOoOooodn

VIE
17

18

18
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EMEA FICC
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EMEA
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RWA
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GCLA

GCLA
GCLA

GCLA
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GCLA

IHC
GCLA GCLA
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IHC
IHC
IHC
IHC
2021 12
GS Co. 380.8
GSI 444 4 GSJCL
25.0 GS USA 461.7
GSIB 42.8 2021 12 957.4
419.1 176.8

2021 12
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GCLA

30
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30

11

13
15
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14
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GCLA
GCLA

2021 12 2020 12
GCLA

GCLA
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GCLA
) 2021 12 2020 12 2021 12 2020 12
230,720 190,735 217,797 181,949
122,401 107,106 116,723 101,182
353,121 297,841 334,520 283,131
188,223 108,345 173,000 100,489
107,898 125,060 108,260 113,531
13,154 7,059 10,183 12,017
43,846 57,377 43,077 57,094
353,121 297,841 334,520 283,131
1HC 54,489 36,737 53,205 41,705
107,279 100,891 104,326 99,798
191,353 160,213 176,989 141,628
353,121 297,841 334,520 283,131
GCLA

GCLA
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GCLA
IHC
IHC
IHC
IHC GCLA

GCLA

GCLA

2021
12 2,716.5 2020 12 2,140.6
2021 12 2,493.2 2020 12
2,076.0 GCLA
BHC LCR
LCR LCR HQLA
HQLA HQLA HQLA
LCR 100

LCR
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LCR
( ) 2021 12 2021 2020 12
HQLA 342,047 344,351 291,393
HQLA 248,570 249,915 212,614
203,623 196,664 166,551
LCR 122% 127% 128%
2020 10 NSFR
2021
2023
2021 12 NSFR
GS USA
GS USA LCR 100 LCR
2021 12 GS USA LCR NSFR GS
USA 2021 12 GS USA NSFR
GSI GSIB
GSI GSIB LCR 100 LCR
2021 12 12 GSI GSIB LCR
GSI GSIB NSFR 2022
2021 12 GSI GSIB NSFR
GSBE
GSBE LCR 100 LCR
2021 12 12 GSBE LCR
GSBE EU NSFR 2021 2021

12 GSBE NSFR
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2021 12
DBRS R&l S&P
R-1( ) F1 P-1 a-1 A-2
AC ) A A2 A BBB+
A BBB+ Baa2 A- BBB
BBB- Baa3 BB+
BBB( ) BBB- Bal BB+
DBRS
R&I S&P

DBRS S&P
APEX

228/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

ooooooo
GS USA GSIB GSBE GS Co. GSI
2021 12
S&P
GS USA
F1 P-1 A-1
A+ Al A+
F1+ P-1
AA- Al
GSIB
F1 P-1 A-1
A+ Al A+
F1 P-1
A+ Al
GSBE
F1 P-1 A-1
A Al A+
P-1
Al
GS Co.
F1 A-1
A+ A+
Gsl
F1 P-1 A-1

A+ Al A+
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GCLA

2021 12
2021 1,051.9 2,610.4
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2020 12
2020

2019 12
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2021 30
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VaR

VaR
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VaR

VaR

VaR

VaR

VaR

VaR

VaR

VaR

95

VaR
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VaR

VaR
VaR
VaR
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VaR
VaR
VaR
VaR
VaR
VaR
) 2021 12 2020 12
60 71
43 55
13 23
25 20
(55) (75)
86 94

VaR 2020 94 2021 86
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VaR
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
69 60
31 50
19 11
30 16
(58) (46)
91 91
VaR 2021 12 91 2020 12
2021 VaR
VaR 2020 VaR
16 2020
VaR
2020 VaR
VaR
2021 12 2020 12
( )
74 49 120 46
71 30 116 23
20 8 53 8
45 14 54 9
VaR 105 69 195 58
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2021 VaR
=
g 1
2k
S
T 5?“":“ AN i .
¥ “Lf'n ) i WMW
MNIVERE HPVEEE 02V IERE 0 EE
W1 E R WeEEN WIEER WA mEm
VaR
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
>100 53 50
75-100 45 37
50-75 42 48
25-50 33 51
0-25 45 43
(25)-0 24 11
(50)-(25) 6 8
(75)-(50) 2 3
(100)-(75) 1 2
<(100) 1 _
252 253
VaR VaR
2021 2020 VaR 95
VaR
VaR
VaR VaR VaR
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VaR

2021 12 2020 12
1,953 1,854
2,244 2,516
4,197 4,370
10
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VaR
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12
2020 12 33 22
2021 12 1,399.3 2020 12 996.9
100
12 2021 12 10.7 2020 12

737

12
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10
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2021 12 2020 12
2020 12
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
236,168 131,324
5% 11%
95% 89%
100% 100%
55% 45%
EMEA 36% 41%
9% 14%
100% 100%
( )

AAA 64% 44%
AA 24% 38%
A 11% 17%
BBB 1% 1%
100% 100%

2021 12 2020 12 248.7 245.2
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CVA

CVA

2021 12

2020 12

58,637
(17,245)

64,850
(18,990)

41,392

45,860

2%
10%
15%
13%

1%

5%
33%

8%

8%

5%

4%
23%
12%
12%

2%

6%
11%
14%
12%

4%

100%

100%

EMEA

53%
37%
10%

62%
30%
8%

100%

100%
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2021
( )
2021 12
27,668 11,203 38,871
21,746 9,515 31,261
64,670 6,590 71,260
114,084 27,308 141,392
(89,244) (10,756) (100,000)
24,840 16,552 41,392
2020 12
22,332 12,507 34,839
23,927 16,486 40,413
77,653 8,958 86,611
123,912 37,951 161,863
(101,691) (14,312) (116,003)
22,221 23,639 45,860
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( ) AAA AA A BBB
2021 12
1,017 4,926 12,481 9,244 27,668
1,150 3,071 8,298 9,227 21,746
13,777 5,421 23,867 21,605 64,670
15,944 13,418 44,646 40,076 114,084
(13,535) (9,501) (36,005)  (30,203) (89,244)
2,409 3,917 8,641 9,873 24,840
2020 12
532 4,146 11,440 6,214 22,332
1,069 4,189 10,976 7,693 23,927
16,550 7,403 28,410 25,290 77,653
18,151 15,738 50,826 39,197 123,912
(14,364) (11,230) (44,529)  (31,568)  (101,691)
3,787 4,508 6,297 7,629 22,221
( ) BB
2021 12
10,446 757 11,203
9,210 305 9,515
6,320 270 6,590
25,976 1,332 27,308
(10,683) 73) (10,756)
15,293 1,259 16,552
2020 12
11,541 966 12,507
16,274 212 16,486
8,844 114 8,958
36,659 1,292 37,951
(14,114) (198) (14,312)
22,545 1,094 23,639

247/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
oOoOooodn

( )
2021 12
55,927 155,930 211,857
43,998 4,004 48,002
25,883 5,813 31,696
15,913 3,396 19,309
3,672 9 3,681
8,212 35,932 44,144
8,530 6,378 14,908
162,135 211,552 373,687
(3,573) (776) (4,349)
2020 12
48,659 135,818 184,477
33,023 3,103 36,126
20,290 4,268 24,558
5,750 1,900 7,650
3,823 4 3,827
4,270 21,640 25,910
4,174 4,842 9,016
119,989 171,575 291,564

(3.874) (557) (4,431)
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( )
2021 12
55,927 155,930 211,857
8% 13% 12%
13% 16% 15%
8% 7% 7%
21% 4% 8%
7% 9% 9%
9% 17% 14%
8% 5% 6%
18% 24% 23%
( ) 8% 5% 6%
100% 100% 100%
54% 76% 70%
EMEA 38% 21% 26%
8% 3% 4%
100% 100% 100%
( )

AAA - 1% 1%
AA 1% 5% 3%
A 5% 16% 13%
BBB 22% 38% 34%
BB 2% 40% 49%

100% 100% 100%
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(
2020 12
48,659 135,818 184,477
) 14% 12%
17% 17% 17%
10% 6% 7%
13% 3% 6%
) 12% 11%
12 18% 16%
8% 6% 6%
17% 19% 19%
( 9% 5% 6%
100% 100% 100%
60% 70% 67%
EMEA 31% 28% 29%
9% 2% 4%
100% 100% 100%
( )
AAA - 1% 1%
AA - 5% 4%
A 6% 19% 15%
BBB 13% 36% 30%
BB 80% 38% 49%
1% 1% 1%
100% 100% 100%
41.4 32.0 2021 12 2020 12

250/597

18



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
oOoOooodn

( )
2021 12
43,998 4,094 48,092
87% 98% 88%
EMEA 10% 2% 9%
3% - 3%
100% 100% 100%
( )
72% 67% 71%
13% 19% 14%
15% 14% 15%
100% 100% 100%
( )
2020 12
33,023 3,103 36,126
88% 99% 89%
EMEA 10% 1% 9%
2% - 2%
100% 100% 100%
( )

67% 58% 66%
16% 21% 17%
17% 21% 17%
100% 100% 100%
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( b
2021 12
25,883 5,813 31,696
80% 75% 79%
EMEA 15% 11% 14%
5% 14% 7%
100% 100% 100%
( )

15% 10% 14%
83% 90% 85%
2% - 1%
100% 100% 100%

2020 12

20,290 4,268 24,558
71% 65% 70%
EMEA 19% 10% 18%
10% 25% 12%
100% 100% 100%
( )

9% 13% 10%
86% 87% 86%
5% - 4%
100% 100% 100%
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2021 12 2020 12 116.5
78.8
2021 12 2020 12 922 503
( 2
2021 12
15,913 3,396 19,309
95% 79% 92%
EMEA 2% 19% 5%
3% 2% 3%
100% 100% 100%
( )
7% 24% 10%
87% 74% 84%
6% 2% 6%
100% 100% 100%
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( )
2020 12
5,750 1,900 7,650
88% 98% 91%
EMEA 9% 2% 7%
3% - 2%
100% 100% 100%
( )
11% 2% 9%
67% 93% 73%
22% 5% 18%
100% 100% 100%
2021 12 2020 12 168.9 57.1
2021 12 2020 12 115.7 55.7
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10
2021 12 2020 12

3,672 3,823
11% 11%
9% 9%

7% 7%

7% 7%

4% 4%

4% 4%

4% 4%

3% 3%

3% 3%

3% 3%
45% 45%
100% 100%
8,212 4,270
18% 19%
9% 9%

8% 8%

8% 8%

4% 4%

4% 4%

3% 3%

3% 3%

3% 3%

2% 3%
38% 36%
100% 100%
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( )
2021 12
8,530 6,378 14,908
84% 98% 90%
EMEA 15% - 9%
1% 2% 1%
100% 100% 100%
( )
34% 90% 58%
37% 9% 25%
29% 1% 17%
100% 100% 100%
2020 12
4,174 4,842 9,016
81% 98% 90%
EMEA 17% - 8%
2% 2% 2%
100% 100% 100%
( )
44% 94% 71%
23% 6% 14%
33% - 15%
100% 100% 100%
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2021 12 2020 12 110.9 72.8

2021 12 2020 12 467 420
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( 2021 12 2020 12
34,505 30,190

34% 39%
23% 24%
5% 5%
35% 30%
3% 2%
100% 100%
36% 33%
EMEA 44% 46%
20% 21%
100% 100%
AAA 19% 15%
AA 28% 28%
A 33% 40%
BBB 9% 10%
BB 11% 5%
- 2%
100% 100%
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12

61,187 56,429

86%
9%
5%

85%
9%
6%

100%

100%

EMEA

50%
43%
7%

54%
35%
11%

100%

100%

BBB
BB

4%
47%
29%

6%
13%

1%

5%
48%
27%

8%
11%

1%

100%

100%
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2021 12
13.9
663
160 567
290
2021 12 105
179 156 82
2021 12 650
134 177
339
293 2021 12
414
258 531
687
2020
IMF
2021 12
102
2021 12
91

70
14 35
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2022 25 10-K 2021
(©)
15
6.6
200 2.1
2069
2007 161
1.6
826,000 2039
2.6
1.6

2028
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(2021 12 31 )
4,000,000, 000 906,430,314 3,093,569,686
150,000,000 400,282 149,599,718
2005 25 30,000 2005 10 31 8,000
2006 24 34,000 2006 24
20,000 2012 17,500 4,972
4,861 2016 23 19
2012 5,000 1,746 1,639 2016
23 19 2013 25
40,000 2014 28 28,000 2016 27
26,000 2017 11 60,000 2019 17
20,000 2019 11 15 24,000 2020
28 14,000 2021 26 27,000
2021 28 30,000 2021 10 29 30,000
2022 29 400,282
2021 12 31

269/597



EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
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(2021 12 31 )
0.01 906,430,314
0.01 160,000
0.01 240,282
906,830,596
2005 25 30,000 2005 10 31 8,000
2006 24 34,000 2006 2
20,000 2013 25 40,000 2014 28
28,000
2022 29 160,000
1,000 GS PrA
1,000 GS PrC
1,000 GS PrD
1,000 GS PrJ 1,000
GS Prk
2012 17,500 4,972 4,861 2016
23 19 2012
5,000 1,746 1,639 2016 23 19
2016 27 26,000
2017 11 60,000 2019 17 20,000
2019 11 15 24,000 2020 28
14,000 2021 22 27.000 2021 28
30,000 2021 10 29 30,000
2022 29 240,282
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2021 12 31 400,282 2022 25
SEC 10-K 2021
50,000 30,000 29,999 1,000
25,000 8,000 8,000 1,000
60,000 54,000 53,999 1,000
17,500 7,667 7,667
5,000 1,615 1,615
46,000 40,000 40,000 1,000
32,200 28,000 28,000 1,000
26,000 26,000 26,000 25
66,000 60,000 60,000 25
20,000 20,000 20,000 25
24,000 24,000 24,000 25
14,000 14,000 14,000 25
27,000 27,000 27,000 25
30,000 30,000 30,000 25
30,000 30,000 30,000 25
472,700 400,282 400,280
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( )
25,000 750
25,000 200
25,000 1,350
100,000 767
100,000 161
2023 10 25,000 1,000
2024 10 25,000 700
2026 11 10 25,000 650
2022 11 10 25,000 1,500
2024 10 25,000 500
2025 10 25,000 600
2025 10 25,000 350
2026 10 25,000 675
2026 10 25,000 750
2026 11 10 25,000 750

10,703
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LIBOR 0.75 3.75
LIBOR 0.75 4.00
LIBOR 0.67 4.00
LIBOR 0.7675 4.00
LIBOR 0.77 4.00
2023 10 5.50
LIBOR 3.64
2024 10 6.375
LIBOR 3.55
2026 11 10 5.30
LIBOR 3.834
2022 11 10 5.00
LIBOR 2.874
2024 10 5.50
3.623
2025 10 4.95
3.224
2025 10 4.40
2.85
2026 10 3.80
2.969
2026 10 3.65
2.915
2026 11 10 4.125
2.949
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1998 21
0.01 0.01
*

2017 12 31 10,984,763 | 884,592,863 719 (890 ) 53,366 | (66,062 )
2018 12 31 6,763,421 | 891,356,284 648 802 ) 54,014 | (66,864 )
2019 12 31 5,426,366 | 896,782,650 878 | (1,087 ) 54,892 | (67,951 )
2020 12 31 4,909,389 | 901,692,039 796 985 ) 55,688 | (68,936 )
2021 12 31 4,738,275 | 906,430,314 717 (888 ) 56,405 | (69,824 )

0.01 0.01
2017 12 31 26,000 446,282 650 | (805 ) 11,853 | (14,673 )
2018 12 31 (26,000) 420,282 650)| ((805) ) 11,203 | (13,868 )
2019 12 31 0 420,282 0 ©o ) 11,203 | (13,868 )
2020 12 31 0 420,282 0 ©o ) 11,203 | (13,868 )
2021 12 31 (20,000) 400,282 Go0)| ((619) ) 10,703 | (13,249 )
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(

DTC
10041 55 336,366,107
DTC () 99.54
2022 28
10282 200
40233-5000 505000 9,362,045
2.77
2022 28
02110
100
) DTC
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2022 28
2022 18  SEC 2022
13 (d) 13 (9) 2022
28
10055 £ond - 23,795,471 (a) 7.0
02111 21,531,387 (b) 6.4
19356 100 26,131,505 (C) 7.7
@) 2013 SEC 136 2014
SEC 2015 SEC
2016 10 SEC 2017 24 SEC
2018 25  SEC 2019
SEC 2020 SEC
2021 2022 SEC
401(K) 401(K)
GS
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®) 2021 12 SEC
136 2022 14 SEC
401(K)
© 2016 10 SEC 136 2017
13 SEC 2018 SEC
2019 11 SEC 2020 12 SEC
2021 10 SEC 2022
SEC
401(K)
401(k)
401(K) GS
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FRB
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Part 1 Item
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FRB
G-SIB 2,500 FRB
GS USA
2022 GSBE

ECB 1CAAP

GSI GSIB

PRA  ICAAP

GS USA
GS USA
2021 GSBE GS USA

GS USA
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2021

13 13 1 22(a)
5 18

5 10
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4 5

7 15
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(b)
©
75 SEC
2021
98
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12

43

60

68

64

74

63

52

66

72

59

59

54

66

76

2022 18 SEC
2022 2022 25 SEC 10-K 2021

290/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
oOoOooodn

60

2018 10

20

2019 2018 10
2017 2018
2006 2016 12
1999 2006

291/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

oOoOooodn
68
2012 10
25
2006
2004 2006
2002 2006
2002 2004
1980 1981

NAACP

292/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

oOoOooodn
64
2011 10
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2022 18 SEC 2022

NEO

2022 28
RSU PSU
RSU RSU SvC

@)

© 123,205
© 70,631
©) 133,001
© 68,312

© 2,167
24,468
5,471
15,432
671
10,746
50,393
27,204
22,151
4,802
503
© 972,180
107,172

1,939,578

(22 )
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60
RSU
60

RSU

22 )

(D

©
©
©
©
©

45,215
39,572
0
24,468
5,471
14,417
671
10,746
35,393
25,204
20,151
4,802
503
19,776
17,172

345,142
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2022 28
2022 28 0.57
RSU 0.47
©) 2022 28
16,970
314,979
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®)
123,186 115,847
129,979
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( )
@®
PSU rsU(©)
2021 35.00 2.00 9.90 23.10 70% 66%
CEO 27.50 7/
2020 2.00 4.65 10.85 70% 62%
17.50 ()
2021 33.00 1.85 12.46 18.69 60% 57%
25.50 /
2020 1.85 6.66 9.99 60% 54%
18.50 ()
2021 28.00 1.85 10.46 15.69 60% 56%
22.50 /
2020 1.85 5.46 8.19 60% 53%
15.50  (b)
2021 17.50 1.1 (@ 6.56 9.84 60% 56%
2021 17.50 1.50 6.40 9.60 60% 55%
cLo
(a) svC SVC 2021
() 1MDB 2020 2020
10
(c) 2021 12 31 2021 RSU
(d) 2021
2021 20 1.5
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oooooDod
2021
®] sc © @ ©®
2021 2,000,000 9,900,000 10,334,614 17,045,566 27,380,180 — 264,892 39,545,072
2020 2,000,000 4,650,000 17,036,275 - 17,036,275 192 254,190 23,940,657
CEO 2019 2,000,000 7,650,000 14,724,012 — 14,724,012 296 283,429 24,657,737
2021 1,850,000 12,460,000 9,515,417 11,363,788 20,879,205 — 319,593 35,508,798
2020 1,850,000 6,660,000 12,970,318 — 12,970,318 1,259 278,153 21,759,730
2019 1,850,000 9,060,000 11,082,050 — 11,082,050 1,840 265,912 22,259,802
2021 1,850,000 10,460,000 7,800,899 — 7,800,899 — 259,799 20,370,698
2020 1,850,000 5,460,000 11,825,118 — 11,825,118 9,818 221,096 19,366,032
* 2019 1,850,000 8,260,000 9,896,719 - 9,896,719 14,857 216,519 20,238,095
2021} 1,108,046 (@) 6,556,898 6,341,994 - 6,341,994 51,518 2,908,899 16,967,355
CLO 2021 1,500,000 6,400,000 4,731,963 — 4,731,963 — 63,358 12,695,321
* 2021 12 31
(a) 2021
2021 20 1.5
(b) 2021 2020 2021 2020 RSU
2020 PSU 2020 RSU 2020 PSU
RSU PSU 2021 20 NYSE
290.47
2020 PSU PSU
10
2020 PSU
15,501,920 14,273,125 11,701,348 1,816,125
2020 RSU RSU 12
2020 2019 2020 2019 PSU
2019 PSU PSU 2020
16 NYSE 249.72
2019 PSU PSU
2019 PSU 25,554,412 19,455,477
17,737,677 2019 2018 2019
2018 PSU 2018 PSU PSU
2019 17 NYSE 199.09
2018 PSU PSU
2018 PSU 22,086,018
16,623,075 14,845,079
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OooooOodd
©) 2021 10 sve sve
sve 2021 10 21 NYSE 407.59
43
2021 SVC 25,568,349
17,045,682 SEC 2022
sve
) 2021
13 215 1,076
) 2021
11,600 118 19,189 423 19,966 139,550 62,200
11,600 118 77,585 423 10,123 146,182 69,663
11,600 118 77,585 423 18,075 81,087 69,010
e 17,004 460 56,814 2,119 7,227 76,197 —
11,600 118 19,189 423 9,204 22,423 —
*
- 2021
Hokk 1.384
2021
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CEO
2021
455,000 2.3
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2021
2021 2020 PSU 2020 RSU 2021 10
SVC SEC 2022
@
©
®
2021/1/20 0 37,354 56,031 10,334,614
2021/10/21 0 73,264 109,896 17,045,566
2021/1/20 0 34,393 51,590 9,515,417
2021/10/21 0 48,843 73,265 11,363,788
2021/1/20 0 28,196 42,294 7,800,899
2021/1/20 24,891 6,341,994
2021/1/20 0 4,606 6,909 1,210,750
2021/1/20 13,820 3,521,213
(a) 2021 2020 PSU 2021 10 sve
2021
(b) 2021 2020 RSU 2021
©) 2020
2020 RSU NYSE 290.47
2020
PSU 10
2020 RSU RSU
12 svVC svC
NYSE 407.59
43
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2021
2021 2020
PSU 2021 2020 RSU
2020 2019 PSU 2019 2018
PSU 2021 10 SVC
2020 RSU
® @
279,012 106,736,041
215,634 82,490,787
180,670 69,115,309
56,085 21,455,317 4,606 1,762,025
(a) SEC 2021 12 31
NYSE 382.55
(b) 2021
2020 PSU 2020 2019
PSU 2019 2018 PSU 2021
10 sve SEC 2018 PSU 2019 PSU
2020 PSU sve
2018 2019 2020 PSU
2019 2021 2020
2022 2021 2023 ROE
svC 2021 10
TSR

315/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

OooooOodd
2021
RSU 2020 RSU 2021 29
2017 PSU 2020 RSU
2021
2018 PSU 2022
2023
2022
[GD)C)]
80,120 27,564,076
63,430(® 25,205,179
4,606(c) 1,762,025
) 2020 12 31 2021 29 50 50
2017 PSU PSU
ROE PSU
53,413 ROE 11.5 82
150 PSU 80,120
(b) 2021 2020 RSU 33
2022 33
2020 RSU
2026 2019 RSU 35 2022
35 15 15
2019 RSU
2025 90 2025 10 2025
2018 RSU 33 2022 33
2018 RSU 2024 2017 RSU
50 2022 50
2017 RSU
2023 2016 RSU 2022
2016 RSU 2022
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OooooOodd
(c) 2021 2022 2020 RSU
2020 RSU
2020 RSU
2026
(d) 2017 PSU PSU 50
2021 15 2021 28 10 NYSE
339.96 PSU 50
2021 28 348.11
PSuU 1,085,626
RSU RSU 2021 12 16 NYSE
397.37 RSU RSU
2021 12 31 NYSE 382.55
SEC 2021 2021
2020 RSU
2021
RSU
2021 RSU
RSU 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
RSU
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 RSU
2021 12
2021 RSU
2021 RSU
/
® ©
@
25,205,179 (570,457) 4,472,639 24,265,147
RSU
1,762,025 1,762,025
RSU
() RSU 2021 12 16 NYSE
397.37
RSU 2021 12 31 NYSE 382.55
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2021 RSU RSU
2021
RSU RSU
RSU
2020 RSU 2022
2019 RSU 35 2022 35 15
15
2018 RSU 2022
2017 RSU 50 2022 50
2016 RSU 2022
RSU RSU
RSU
RSU
RSU 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 RSU
RSU RSU 2021 12 31 NYSE
382.55
PCP
2021 SIP
2021 PCP PCP
PCP
PCP
PCP
SEC 2021 12 31
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RSU PSU svVC
0 0 0
@

0 297,147 297,147

0 198,108 198,108

0 0

@

0 0

0 0

0 7,637,932 7,637,932

0 5,092,211 5,092,211

0 0

®

0 0

22,630,128 22,630,128

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0

©

0 0

0 0

0 7,637,932 7,637,932

0 5,092,211 5,092,211

0 0

()] 0 0
22,630,128 22,630,128
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SVC
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(b) SvC

SVC
RSU

RSU PSU
SVC

©

PSU
(d) svc

SVC

i RSU

2021

SEC

2021

2021

2021
RSU

SVC

RSU

2021 12 31

SVC

2021

RSU

2021 12 31

it PSU

RSU 2020
2021
RSU 2021

RSU

75

RSU

RSU

SVC

2021

RSU
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2021 2021 2022
2021
2021
(©)
2020 2021
@
(b) ©
125,000 350,016 350,016 20,000 495,016
100,000 350,016 350,016 20,000 470,016
100,000 350,016 350,016 20,000 470,016
66,667 66,667
475,499 94,375 569,874 20,000 589,874
450,229 75,373 525,602 525,602
475,499 94,375 569,874 20,000 589,874
475,499 94,375 569,874 20,000 589,874
100,000 450,229 450,229 16,000 566,229
50,000 5,000 55,000
100,000 350,016 350,016 20,000 470,016
475,499 94,375 569,874 45,000 614,874
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(a) 2021

(b) 2020

NYSE

RSU

(c) 2021

2021

©)

28

20,000

2021

2021
2020
2020
2021
14 374.40
2021
2022 28

2020
290.47

90

RSU
NYSE

2021 10 18

2021

RSU
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202
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PwC PwC 1922
2022 18 SEC 2022
PwC 2022
PwC 2022
PwC 2022
PwC 2022

PwC 2022

324/597



PwC

PwC

PwC

PwC

PwC

PwC

PwC

325/597

EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
oOoOooodn

PwC PCAOB
SEC
PwC PwC
PwC
PwC
PwC

PwC

PwC

PwC PwC

PCAOB PwC
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PwC
PwC
PwC
PwC
2021 2020
2021 2020
( ) ( )

73.8 100% 69.5 100%

(9,135.70 ) (8,603.41 )
13.4 100% 13.0 100%

©) (1,658.79 ) (1,609.27 )
1.0 100% 1.5 100%

() (123.79 ) (185.69 )

@
)
2021 1.0
0.4
PwC
PwC 2021 51.6
2020 49.0
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2022 18 SEC 2022
PwC
2021 2020
2021 2020
( ) ( )

73.8 100% 69.5 100%

(9,135.70 ) (8,603.41 )
13.4 100% 13.0 100%

(a) (1,658.79 ) (1,609.27 )
1.0 100% 1.5 100%

(b) (123.79 ) (185.69 )

@
)
2021 1.0
0.4
2022 18 SEC 2022
PwC
PwC 2021 51.6
2020 49.0
()
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38 59
131
2021 12 31 2020 12 31 2021 12 31 2020
12 31 2019 12 31
2021 12 31
193
2022 25 SEC 10-K
2021
134
2022 UFJ

123.79
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€

2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 14,168 \ 1,753,857 § 9,141 \ 1,131,564 $ 6,798 \ 841,524
8,059 997,624 6,923 856,998 6,189 766,136
3,619 447,996 3,548 439,207 2,988 369,885
15,352 1,900,424 15,546 1,924,439 10,157 1,257,335
11,671 1,444,753 4,651 575,747 6,052 749,177
52,869 6,544,654 39,809 4,927,956 32,184 3,984,057
12,120 1,500,335 13,689 1,694,561 21,738 2,690,947
5,650 699,414 8,938 1,106,435 17,376 2,150,975
6,470 800,921 4,751 588,126 4,362 539,972
59,339 7,345,575 44,560 5,516,082 36,546 4,524,029
357 44,193 3,098 383,501 1,065 131,836
17,719 2,193,435 13,309 1,647,521 12,353 1,529,178
4,710 583,051 4,141 512,614 3,513 434,874
553 68,456 401 49,640 739 91,481
1,573 194,722 1,347 166,745 1,167 144,463
2,015 249,437 1,902 235,449 1,704 210,938
981 121,438 960 118,838 1,029 127,380
1,648 204,006 1,306 161,670 1,316 162,908
2,739 339,061 5,617 695,328 3,077 380,902
31,938 3,953,605 28,983 3,587,806 24,898 3,082,123
27,044 3,347,777 12,479 1,544,775 10,583 1,310,070
5,409 669,580 3,020 373,846 2,117 262,063
21,635 2,678,197 9,459 1,170,930 8,466 1,048,006
484 59,914 544 67,342 569 70,437
$ 21,151 \ 2,618,282 $ 8,915 \ 1,103,588 $ 7,897 \ 977,570
$ 60.25 \7,458 3 24.94 \ 3,087 $ 21.18 \ 2,622
$ 59.45 \7,39 3 24.74 \ 3,063 $ 21.03 \ 2,603

350.5 356.4 371.6
355.8 360.3 375.5
¢))
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12

$ 21,635 \ 2,678,197 $ 9,459 \ 1,170,930 $ 8,466 \ 1,048,006

C ) ( )
“2) (5.199) (80) (9,903) 5 619
322 39,860 (261) (32,309) (2,079)  (257,359)
4 5,075 (26) (3,219) (261) (32,309)
(955) (118,219) 417 51,620 158 19,559
/C ) (634) (78,483) 50 6,190 (2,177)  (269,491)

$ 21,001 \ 2,599,714 $ 9,509 \ 1,177,119 $ 6,289 \ 778,515

331/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

0000000
€))
2001 12 2020 12
$ 261,035  \32,313,646 § 155,842  \19,291,681
( ) 205,703 25,463,974 108,060 13,376,747
( 89,965 28,898 178,771 22,130,062 142,160 17,597,986
)
N ( 42 82 160,673 19,889,711 121,331 15,019,564
, ( 68,208 69,031 375,916 46,534,642 393,630 48,727,458
" aﬁo " 235427 82,778 N 88,719 10,982,525 88,445 10,948,607
(3,573 3,874
10,769 13,625 N 158,562 19,628,390 116,115 14,373,876
34,608 4,284,124 37,445 4,635,317
$1,463,088  \181,227,075  $1,163,028 \143,971,236
( 35,425 16,176 ) $ 364,227  \45,087,660 $ 259,962  \32,180,696
( ) 165,883 20,534,657 126,571 15,668,224
N ( 9,170 1,053 46,505 5,756,854 21,621 2,676,464
N ( 17,074 24,126 18,544 2,295,562 25,755 3,188,211
251,931 31,186,538 190,658 23,601,554
( ) 181,424 22,458,477 153,727 19,029,865
N ( 29,832 26,750 46,955 5,812,559 52,870 6,544,777
, ( 52,390 40,911 254,002 31,454,049 213,481 26,426,813
( 350 263 ) 24,501 3,032,979 22,451 2,779,200
1,354,062 167,619,335 1,067,096 132,005,814
( 10,703 11,203 ) 10,703 1,324,024 11,203 1,386,819
( 906,430,314 901,692,039
333,573,254 344,088,725 ) 9 1,114 9 1,114
4,211 521,280 3,468 429,304
( ) - - i -
56,396 6,981,261 55,679 6,892,503
131,811 16,316,884 112,047 13,981,709
(2,068) (255,998) (1,434)  (177,515)
( 572,857,062 557,603,316 ) (91,136)  (11,281,725)  (85,940) (10,638,513)
109,926 13,607,740 95,932 11,875,422

$1,463,988 \181,227,075  $1,163,028 \143,971,236
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*

2021 12 2020 12 2019 12

$ 11,203 \ 1,386,819 $ 11,203 \ 1,386,819 $ 11,203 \ 1,386,819

2,175 269,243 350 43,327 1,100 136,169
(2,675) (331,138) (350) (43,327) (1,100) (136,169)
10,703 1,324,924 11,203 1,386,819 11,203 1,386,819
9 1,114 9 1,114 9 1,114
9 1,114 9 1,114 9 1,114
3,468 429,304 3,195 395,509 2,845 352,183
2,527 312,817 1,967 243,495 2,073 256,617
(1,626) (201, 283) (1,601) (198,188) (1,623) (200,911)
(158) (19,559) (93) (11,512) (100) (12,379)
4,211 521,280 3,468 429,304 3,195 395,509
55,679 6,892,503 54,883 6,793,967 54,005 6,685,279
1,678 207,720 1,619 200,416 1,617 200,168
(984) (121,809) (829) (102,622) (743) (91,976)
24 2,971 - - 4 495
(€)) (124) 6 743 - _
56,396 6,981,261 55,679 6,892,503 54,883 6,793,967
( ) 112,947 13,981,709 106,465 13,179,302 100,100 12,391,379
( ) - - (638) (78,978) - -
( ) - - - - 12 1,485
( ) 112,947 13,981,709 105,827 13,100,324 100,112 12,392,864
21,635 2,678,197 9,459 1,170,930 8,466 1,048,006
(2,287) (283,108) (1,795) (222,203) (1,544) (191,132)
443) (54,839) (543) (67,218) (560) (69,322)
(41) (5,075) ) (124) ) (1,114)
131,811 16,316,884 112,947 13,981,709 106,465 13,179,302
C )

(1,434) (177,515) (1,484) (183,704) 693 85,786
/C ) (634) (78,483) 50 6,190 (2,177) (269,491)
(2,068) (255,998) (1,434) (177,515) (1,484) (183,704)

( )
(85,940)  (10,638,513) (84,006) (10,399,103) (78,670)  (9,738,559)
(5,200) (643,708) (1,928) (238,667) (5,335) (660,420)
11 1,362 11 1,362 12 1,485
() (867) 17) (2,104) (13) (1,609)

(91,136)  (11,281,725) (85,940) (10,638,513) (84,006) (10,399,103)
$ 109,926  \ 13,607,740  $ 95,932 \11,875,422  $ 90,265 \11,173,904
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®

2021 12 2020 12 2019 12

$ 21,635 \ 2,678,197 $ 9,459 \ 1,170,930 $ 8,466 \ 1,048,006
/(
2,015 249,437 1,902 235,449 1,704 210,938
5 619 (833) (103,117) (334) (41,346)
2,348 290,659 1,920 237,677 2,018 249,808
- - @ (124) (20) (2.,476)
357 44,193 3,098 383,501 1,065 131,836
21,971 2,719,790 (30,895)  (3,824,492) (7,693) (952,316)
W) (70,058) (8.672,480) (13,007)  (1,610,137) 94,991 11,758,936
15,232 1,885,569 (33,405)  (4,135,205) (68,682)  (8,502,145)
26,616 3,294,795 44,892 5,557,181 (231) (28,595)
( (5,556) (687,777) 1,820 225,298 (1,458) (180,486)
(13,644) (1,688,991) 1,322 163,650 (5,958) (737,541)
/( ) 921 114,011 (13,728)  (1,699,389) 23,868 2,954,620
(4,667) (577,728) (6,309) (780,991) (8,443)  (1,045,159)
3,933 486,866 2,970 367,656 6,632 820,975
( - - (231) (28,595) (803) (99,403)
(39,912) (4,940,706) (48,670)  (6,024,859) (29,773)  (3,685,600)
45,701 5,657,327 29,057 3,596,966 17,812 2,204,947
W) (35,520) (4,397,021) (11,173)  (1,383,106) (9,661)  (1,195,935)
(30,465) (3.771,262) (34,356)  (4,252,929) (24,236)  (3,000,174)
) 2,137 264,539 7,707 954,050 14 1,733
C X (1.320) (163,403) 2,861 354,163 (2,050) (253,770)
« ) 4,795 593,573 8,073 999,357 7,257 898,344
¢ ( (6.590) (815,776) (4,137) (512,119) (7,468) (924,464)
- - a1 (1,362) (206) (25,501)
92,717 11,477,437 47,250 5,849,078 22,381 2,770,544
) (52,608) (6.512,344) (55,040)  (6,813,402) (43,936)  (5,438,837)
« ) 1,121 138,769 1,037 128,370 3,952 489,218
103,538 12,816,969 67,343 8,336,390 31,214 3,863,981
(2.675) (331,138) (350) (43,327) (1,100) (136,169)
(5.200) (643,708) (1,928) (238,667) (5,335) (660,420)
(985) (121,933) (830) (102,746) (745) (92,224)
.725) (337,328) (2,336) (289,173) (2,104) (260,454)
( ) 2,172 268,872 349 43,203 1,098 135,921
) 361 44,688 392 48,526 395 48,897
134,738 16,679,217 70,380 8,712,340 3,367 416,801
) 105,194 13,021,965 22,296 2,760,022 2,999 371,246
155,842 19,291,681 133,546 16,531,659 130,547 16,160,413
$261,036  \ 32,313,646 $155,842  \19,291,681 $133,546  \16,531,659
$ 5521 \ 683,445 $ 9,001 \ 1,125,375 $ 18,645 \ 2,308,065
$ 6,195 \ 766,879 $ 2,754 \ 340,918 $ 1,266 \ 156,718
12 16
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2021 2020
2019 12 31

2019

17
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17
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VIE

VIE

90

VIE

2021

VIE
VIE

2020

95
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VIE

VIE
VIE
VIE 17

20 50

NAV

22

45
2019



12

45

2029
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85

25
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95

12
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11
16
2021 12 101.4 2020 12 119.5
2021 12 2,509.0 2020 12
1,438.9
2021 12 248.7 2020 12 245.2
11
2021 12 1,038.2
2020 12 823.9 2021
12 568.5 2020 12 389.4
10
2021
12 2020 12
10
2021 12 30.1
2020 12 26.0 2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 2,419.3
2020 12 1,835.7
2021 12 100.0 2020 12 70.9

10
2021 12 2020 12
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11
11
ASC 326 2016 FASB ASU No.2016-13
326 ASU
CECL
2020 ASU ASU
2020 ASU CECL
848 CECL
ASU PCI
PCI 169
ASU 638
ASC 848 2020 FASB ASU No.2020-04

ASU
2021 1 FASB ASU No.2021-01

ASC848 ASU
ASU
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10
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CMBX

CDX
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10
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/
13
11
14
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 255,774  $ 263,999
498,527 410,275
24,083 26,305
NAV 3,469 3,664
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(66,041) (77,170)
( $ 715,812  $ 627,073
$ 1,463,988 $ 1,163,028
1.6 2.3
3.4 4.2
$ 110,030 $ 85,120
403,627 331,824
29,169 32,930
(51,269) (60,297)
( $ 491,557 $ 389,577
$ 1,354,062 $ 1,067,096
2.2 3.1
5.9 8.5
( 2021 12 2020 12
$ 1,889 $ 1,237
5,938 5,967
13,902 16,423
2,354 2,678
$ 24,083 $ 26,305
2021 12 2020 12
10
(
2021 12
$ 311,956 $ 129,471
63,960 51,953
$ 375,916 $ 181,424
2020 12
$ 324,049 $ 95,136
69,581 58,591
$ 393,630 $ 153,727
( 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ (2,669) $ 6,191 $ 3,272
1,739 3,250 682
5,627 (3,257) 2,902
8,459 6,757 2,946
2,196 2,605 355
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$ 15,352 $ 15,546  $ 10,157

23
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( )
2021 12
$ 63,388 $ 27,427 $ - 3 90,815
35,284 13,511 19 48,814
- 1,717 137 1,854
- 13,083 152 13,235
590 36,874 1,318 38,782
- 568 36 604
69 1,564 66 1,699
105,233 2,958 156 108,347
- 7,801 5 7,806
$ 204,564 $ 105,503 $ 1,889 $ 311,956
$ (21,002) $ @5) $ - 8 (21,027)
(39,983) (2,602) - (42,585)
- (“0) ) “2
- ® - ®
@3 (15,781) ) (15,875)
(48,991) (015) 61 (49,937)
$ (109,999) $ (19,368) $ [OEE (129,471)
2020 12
$ 93,670 $ 44,863 $ -8 138,533
46,147 11,261 15 57,423
- 597 203 800
- 6,948 131 7,079
915 29,639 797 31,351
- 200 - 200
338 1,055 19 1,412
75,300 2,505 72 77,877
- 9,374 - 9,374
$ 216,370 $ 106,442 $ 1,237 $ 324,049
$ (16,880) $ @13) $ -8 (16,893)
(22,092) (1,792) - (23,884)
- an @ (18)
- [6H) - @
@ (7,970) (50) (8,022)
- 5) - )
- - @ @
(45,734) (550) ) (46,311)
$ (84,708) $ (10,348) $ ©0) $ (95,136)
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2021 12 2020 12
(
$137 $203
28.5 1.7 22.0 9.0
86.5 5.1 94.9 57.7
4.3 1.1 9.1 5.0
$152 $131
26.6 0.6 15.7 6.3
43.4 3.4 45.6 20.8
17.2 0.9 16.1 6.5
$1,318 $797
18.0 0.6 30.6 9.5
69.9 0.0 73.6 58.7
28.5 0.3 25.5 4.0
2021 12 2020 12
2021 2020 12
2021 12 2020 12
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) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 1,237 1,242
/( 80 66
/( 52 (143)
1,241 796
(456) (411)
Q@73) (266)
272 156
(264) (203)
$ 1,889 1,237
$ (80) (273)
/( 6 -
/( ®) (15)
36 34
(64) (38)
13 9
(16) @7
6 230
$ (104) (80)
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 203 $ 191
/C ) 7 11
C ) (16) (33)
67 110
(€2 (19)
(18) (64)
14 25
(89) (18)
$ 137 $ 203
$ 131§ 231
/C ) 5 11
C ) 19 23
68 69
(44 (80)
(35) (40)
28 5
(20) (88)
$ 152  $ 131
$ 797 $ 692
/C ) 57 47
C ) 28 (118)
894 551
(330) (233)
182) (146)
207 9
(153) (92)
$ 1,318 $ 797
$ 06 $ 128
C ) 11 )
C ) 21 (15)
212 66
D (@))
(38) (16)
23 30
() 5)
$ 282 $ 106

2021 12 2021
132 80 52
45 87
2021
2021
2021
2020 12 2020
77 66 143
(193) 116 /
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2020

2020

2021 2020
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2021 12 2020 12
256 $ 557 665 $ 660
13,795 12,692 18,832 16,809
232,595 205,073 337,998 304,370
246,646 218,322 357,495 321,839
3,665 4,053 4,137 4,517
12,591 11,702 12,418 11,551
16,256 15,755 16,555 16,068
a17 10 133 22
423 338 401 631
86,076 85,795 101,830 102,676
86,916 86,143 102,364 103,329
6,534 6,189 4,476 4,177
652 373 195 187
28,359 25,969 9,320 13,691
35,545 32,531 13,991 18,055
33,840 35,518 29,006 31,944
8 5 - -
39,718 44,750 47,867 49,072
73,566 80,273 76,873 81,016
458,929 433,024 567,278 540,307
1 - 1 -
945 - 1,346 -
946 - 1,347 -
34 27 - 87
60 139 4 372
94 166 4 459
1,040 166 1,351 459
459,969 $ 433,190 568,629  $ 540,766
(35,724) $ (35,724) (29,549) $ (29,549)
(16,979) (16,979) (21,315) (21,315)
(279,189) (279, 189) (372,142) (372,142)
(331,892) (331,892) (423,006) (423,006)
(1,033) (361) (1,926) (720)
(63,084) (48,984) (74,116) (58,449)
(64,117) (49,345) (76,042) (59,169)
(396,009) $ (381,237) (499,048) $ (482,175)
5,323 $ 6,550 4,731 % 7,254
566 148 325 196
58,071 45,255 64,525 51,141
63,960 $ 51,953 69,581 $ 58,591
(1.008) $ (1,939) ©79) $ (2,427)
(15,751) (7,349) (17,297) (9,943)
47,201 $ 42,665 51,305 $ 46,221
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2021 12 2020 12
2,630,915 3,722,558
17,874,504 13,789,571
11,122,871 11,076,460
31,628,290 28,588,589
463,477 515,197
616,095 558,813
1,079,572 1,074,010
14,617 7,413
194,124 157,687
6,606,927 6,041,663
6,815,668 6,206,763
308,917 242,193
3,647 2,315
234,322 206,253
546,886 450,761
1,149,777 948,937
198 -
1,173,103 1,126,572
2,323,078 2,075,509
42,393,494 38,395,632
219,083 182,311
4,499 6,641
223,582 188,952
2,758 1,767
18,658 14,055
21,416 15,822
1,050 -
1,050 -
246,048 204,774
42,639,542 38,600,406
2021 12
174.8 2020 12 206.0 2021 12 172.9
2020 12 229.8
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( )
2021 12
$ 2 $ 246,525 $ 1,065 § 247,592
- 12,823 3,433 16,256
- 86,773 237 87,010
- 34,501 1,044 35,545
33 72,570 963 73,566
« ) 35 453,192 6,742 459,969
- (329,164) (804) (329,968)
$ 35 $ 124,028 $ 5,938 $ 130,001
(1,924)
(64,117)
(G $ 63,960
$ @ $ (217,438) $ 82 $ (218,322)
- (14,176) (1,579) (15,755)
- (85,925) (384) (86,309)
- (31,925) (606) (32,531)
(29) (77.393) (2,851) (80,273)
« ) (3D (426,857) (6,302) (433,190)
- 329,164 804 329,968
$ (3D $ (97,693) $ (5,49) $ (103,222)
1,924
49,345
C ) $ (51,953)
2020 12
$ 297 $ 357,568  $ 977 % 358,842
- 13,104 3,451 16,555
- 102,221 147 102,368
- 13,285 706 13,991
75 75,054 1,744 76,873
« ) 372 561,232 7,025 568,629
(135) (420, 685) (1,058) (421,878)
$ 237 $ 140,547  $ 5,967 $ 146,751
(1,128)
(76,042)
(G $ 69,581
$ (229) $ (320,900) $ (710) % (321,839)
- (14,395) (1,673) (16,068)
- (103,303) (485) (103,788)
- (17,649) (406) (18,055)
(318) (78,122) (2,576) (81,016)
« ) (547) (534,369) (5,850) (540,766)
135 420,685 1,058 421,878
$ (412) $ (113,684) $ 4,792) $ (118,888)
1,128
59,169
« ) $ (58,591)
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2021 12 2020 12
) / /

$183 $267

25 81 63 /62 ®) 81 56 /60

) 31 100 59/54 31 150 65/53
$1,854 $1,778

1 568 136/107 2 699 109/74

2 100 34/26 790 40/30

20 50 37 /40 25 90 46 /40
$(147) $(338)

20 71 40 /41 20 70 39 /41

19 19 19 /19 18 18 18 /18
$438 $300

15 93 32 /29 15 87 32 /30

$(1.33)  $2.60 $(0.11)/$(0.07) $(1.00)  $2.13  $(0.13)/$(0.09)

$8.64  $22.68 $13.36/$12.69 $8.30  $11.20 $9.73/$9.55

$1.50  $289.96 $37.42/$32.20

$(1,888) $(832)

@70) 99 59 /62 70) 100 52 /55

3 150 17 /17 3 129 14 77
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) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 1,175 25
/( 265 226
/( 452 612
501 319
(1,541) (724)
(59) 750
(131) (40)
(222) 7
$ 440 1,175
/
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
C )
$ 267 $ 89
C ) 72 12
/C ) 316 226
124 12
(341) (28)
18 (34)
2 (13)
(275) 3
$ 183 $ 267
« )
$ 1,778 $ 1,877
C ) @D 28
/C ) 409 110
53 39
17) (50)
an (229)
(70) a7
@ (449
$ 1,854 $ 1,778
« D
$ (338) $ (211)
C ) 9 ®)
/C ) 155 (210)
7 1
0) (20)
32 117
an @
15 5)
$ @47 $ (338)
C D
$ 300 $ 247
C ) (80) 12)
/C ) 355 159
42 37
(15) 22)
(149) (60)
(€)) @7
12) (22)
$ 438 $ 300
C D
$ (832) $ (1,977)
C ) 285 206
/C ) (783) 327
275 230
(958) (604)
117 956
“3) (45)
51 75
$ (1,888) $ (832)
2021 12 2021 717
265 452
700 17
2021
2021

359/597
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2020

2020

900

226

2020
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( )
2021 12
$ 6,076 $ 11,655 $ 61,380 $ 79,111
1,800 2,381 3,113 7,294
13,366 6,642 6,570 26,578
10,178 7,348 770 18,296
11,075 6,592 2,100 19,767
(3,624) (3.357) (2,673) (9,654)
$ 38,871 $ 31,261 $ 71,260 $ 141,392
(18,638)
(64,117)
$ 58,637
$ 3,920 $ 10,932 $ 34,676 $ 49,537
1,695 3,257 1,841 6,793
14,122 6,581 5,580 26,283
7,501 6,274 1,763 15,628
8,268 12,944 3,587 24,799
(3,624) (3,357) (2,673) (9,654)
$ 31,081 $ 36,631 $ 4,774 $ 113,386
(18,638)
(49,345)
$ 45,403
2020 12
$ 8,913 § 20,145 $ 74,893  $ 103,951
822 3,270 3,302 7,394
13,887 7,400 9,303 30,590
2,998 1,466 488 4,952
12,182 12,590 1,807 26,579
(3,963) (4,458) (3,182) (11,603)
$ 34,839 $ 40,413 $ 86,611 $ 161,863
(20,971)
(76,042)
$ 64,850
$ 5,687 $ 11,967  $ 49,301 $ 66,955
1,268 3,462 2,177 6,907
18,770 7,575 5,775 32,120
3,455 1,545 4,315 9,315
9,702 14,005 3,986 27,783
(3,963) (4,458) (3,182) (11,603)
$ 34,919 $ 34,186 $ 62,372 % 131,477
(20,971)
(59,169)
$ 51,337
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2021 12 591.0
5,102.4 5,693.4 2020 12
423.3 5,158.5
5,581.8
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( )
( ) 0 - 250 251 - 500 501 - 1,000 1,000
2021 12
/
$ 120,456  $ 6,173 $ 1,656 $ 4,314 $ 132,599
305,255 14,328 12,754 3,814 336,151
35,558 3,087 2,529 311 41,485
$ 461,269 $ 23,588 § 16,939  $ 8,439 $ 510,235
/
$ 381,715 $ 17,210 $ 12,806 $ 6,714 $ 418,445
$ 138,214 § 7,780 $ 3,576 $ 1,32  $ 150,892
$ 9,803 $ 924 318 $ 137§ 11,182
941 123 1,666 1,933 4,663
/C ) $ 8,862 $ 801 $ (1,348) $ (1,796) $ 6,519
2020 12
/
$ 96,049  $ 5,86 $ 50 $ 2,403 $ 104,728
331,145 17,913 8,801 4,932 362,791
44,132 3,839 212 88 48,331
$ 471,326 $ 27,578 $ 9,523 % 7,423 $ 515,850
/
$ 407,315 $ 19,822 8,679 $ 7,001 $ 442,907
$ 103,604  $ 7,212 $ 3,619  $ 776 $ 115,271
$ 10,302 $ 638 $ 256 $ 18§ 11,314
1,112 1,119 387 2,001 4,619
/C ) $ 9,190 $ “81) $ 131) $ (1,883) $ 6,695
/
CVA CVA
FVA FVA
CVA FVA
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
CVA $ 25 $ 43) $ (289)
FVA 60 173 485
$ 85 $ 30 8 196

363/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

ooooooo
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 845 $ 1,450
129 (1,220
C ) $ 721 $ 230
$ 10,743 $ 12,548
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 34,315 $ 43,368
$ 29,214 $ 35,296
$ 345 3 481
$ 1,536 $ 1,388
LIBOR SOFR
80
80 125
23
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/
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ (6,638) $ 3.862 $ 3,19
$ 6,085 $ (4,557) $ (3,657)
$ 5,650 $ 8,938 $ 17,376
/
( )
2021 12
$ 14,131 $ 246
$ 2,167 8 5
$ 144,934 3 6,169
2020 12
$ 17,303 $ 649
$ 5,976 $ 53
$ 115,242 $ 11,624
2021 12 59.1 2020 12 63.4
2021 12 68
2020 12 489
/ /
2021 2020
2021
2021 12
10.5 10.2
/
/ / 2021 12
/ 2021
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) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12

$ 755 $ 126) $ 6
$ 386 $ (97)  $ (19)

/ /

2021 2020 214

153 61 2019
2021 12 37.1 2020 12 49.7
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) 2021 12 2020 12
) $ 18,937 $ 19,781
) 15,558 16,981
( ) 48,932 46,016
) 83,427 82,778
4,699 5,301
593 366
$ 88,719 $ 88,445
( )
) 2021 12 2020 12
) $ 18,937 $ 19,781
24 15
76 85
100 100
78 83
22 17
100 100
2021 12 58.1
2020 12 71.4
2021
21.2 2020 573
NAV 2021 12 18.0 2020
12 23.5
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 9,793 $ 10,991
2,280 1,940
1,396 2,185
2,089 1,865
$ 15,558 $ 16,981
NAV 2021 12 16.7 2020 12
13.1
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NAV
NAV
NAV
NAV
FRB 2013 12
2022
2021 12 NAV 34.7
2022
903

2022
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NAV
( )
2021 12
$ 1,411 $ 619
1,686 556
84 -
288 147
$ 3,469 $ 1,322
2020 12
$ 2,042 $ 557
1,312 680
102 _
208 213
$ 3,664 $ 1,450
/
( )
2021 12
$ 25 $ 25 0.12
41,536 41,066 0.47
10 5,337 5,229 0.92
10 2 2 2.00
46,900 46,322 0.53
10 2,693 2,610 0.33
2,693 2,610 0.33
$ 49,593 $ 48,932 0.52
2020 12
$ 25 $ 25 0.08
35,831 36,158 0.70
10 7,454 7,732 1.19
43,310 43,915 0.78
10 1,739 1,744 0.10
10 353 357 0.74
2,092 2,101 0.21
$ 45,402 $ 46,016 0.76
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 / 118
/ 779
2020 12 /
631 /
/ / 2021 (12.8)
(955) 2020 557 417
2021 2020
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2021 2020
/
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 206 $ 319 $ 181
(19 - -
/C $ 187 181
$ 24,882 4,489 9,580
(
021 12
46,32 $ - - 46,322
2,612 - - 2,612
65 5,201 4,527 9,793
- 1,202 1,078 2,280
41 1,355 - 1,396
- 35 382 417
2,135 7,088 7,915 17,138
51,175 $ 14,881 13,902 79,958
NAV 3,469
83,427
2020 12
43,915 $ - - 43,915
2,109 48 - 2,157
70 5,635 5,286 10,991
- 942 998 1,940
781 1,404 - 2,185
- - 497 497
517 7,270 9,642 17,429
47,392 $ 15,299 16,423 79,114
NAV 3,664
82,778

370/597
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2021 12 2020 12
)
$4,527 $5,286
2.0 29.0 10.8 4.5 19.5 10.2
9.1 76.0 59.1 10.0 70.0 50.7
) 1.4 6.4 3. 3.0 7.7 4.2
0.5 28.2 6.9 0.6 29.3 6.9
$1,078 $998
8.3 20.3 13.1 8.2 52.4 17.5
55.1 61.0 56.4 21.6 57.8 33.7
D) 0.1 2.6 1. 0.4 3.6 2.7
$382 $497
2.3 10.6 3.2 1.7 6.2 3.5
(D) 0.9 9.3 4. 0.2 103 6.4
$7,915 $9,642
0.4 30.5 10.1 0.6 27.9 9.0
/ 2.0 35.0 14.1 4.0 38.5 13.5
3.5 14.0 5.7 3.7 14.1 6.3
2021 12 2020 12
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) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 16,423 $ 15,282
/( 449 215
/( 1,263 (443)
1,600 1,815
(2,135) (1,550)
(3.265) (1,570)
3,080 4,708
(3,513) (2,034)
$ 13,902 $ 16,423
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 5,286 $ 3,465
/( 167 110
/( 311 (96)
431 636
(594) (302)
(1,876) (678)
1,871 2,661
(1.,069) (510)
$ 4,527 $ 5,286
$ 998 $ 595
/( 45 22
/( 6 (96)
182 233
(44) -
(234) (83)
142 327
an -
$ 1,078 $ 998
$ 497 $ 319
/( 12 15
/( 1 1
63 113
(96) (45)
- 94
(95) -
$ 382 $ 497
$ 9,642 $ 10,903
/( 225 68
/( 945 (252)
924 833
(1,497) (1,248)
(1,059) (764)
1,067 1,626
(2,332) (1,524)
$ 7,915 $ 9,642
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2021 12 2021 17.1
449 12.6 15.3
180
2021
2021
2021
2020 12 2020 228
215 443
428 200
2020
2020
2020
( )
2021 12
$ 4,054 $ 4,200 2.30
4,054 4,200 2.30
10 3 3 2.78
10 642 670 1.03
645 673 1.04
$ 4,699 $ 4,873 2.13
2020 12
$ 501 $ 513 2.53
2,529 2,695 2.34
10 1,531 1,675 2.25
4,561 4,883 2.33
10 4 3 2.56
10 736 751 1.08
740 754 1.08
$ 5,301 $ 5,637 2.15
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10
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 175 2020 12 340 2021 12
2020 12
2021 2020
( )
2021 12
$ 50,960 $ 2,492 $ 2,475 $ 55,927
38,062 5,936 - 43,998
21,150 1,588 3,145 25,883
15,493 320 100 15,913
3,672 - - 3,672
8,212 - - 8,212
5,958 433 2,139 8,530
143,507 10,769 7,859 162,135
(3.573) - - (3.573)
$ 139,934 § 10,769 $ 7,859 $ 158,562
2020 12
$ 44,778 $ 2,751 $ 1,130 $ 48,659
25,151 7,872 - 33,023
17,096 1,961 1,233 20,290
5,236 494 20 5,750
3,823 - - 3,823
4,270 - - 4,270
3,211 o7 A6 4,174,
103,565 13,625 2,799 119,989
(3,874) - - (3,874)
$ 99,601 $ 13,625 $ 2,799 $ 116,115
2021 12 2020 12
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( ) /
2021 12
$ 50,923 $ 75,179 $ 17,405  $ 143,507
2,301 4,634 3,834 10,769
1,650 4,747 1,462 7,859
$ 54,874 $ 84,560 $ 22,701  $ 162,135
$ 15,370 $ 40,389 $ 168 $ 55,927
31,476 5,730 6,792 43,998
3,986 21,523 374 25,883
1,112 13,779 1,022 15,913
- - 3,672 3,672
- - 8,212 8,212
2,930 3,139 2,461 8,530
$ 54,874 $ 84,560 $ 22,701 § 162,135
85 92 36 82
15 8 64 18
100 100 100 100
2020 12
$ 33,532 $ 58,250 $ 11,783 $ 103,565
2,084 5,925 5,616 13,625
224 2,152 423 2,799
$ 35,840 $ 66,327 $ 17,822 $ 119,989
$ 9,478 $ 38,704 $ 477 % 48,659
22,098 5,331 5,594 33,023
1,792 17,480 1,018 20,290
636 3,852 1,262 5,750
- - 3,823 3,823
- - 4,270 4,270
1,836 960 1,378 4,174
$ 35,840 $ 66,327 $ 17,822 $ 119,989
83 9 46 82
17 10 54 18
100 100 100 100
/
/
FICO
/
FICO FICO
FICO
2021 12 92 2020 12 85 /
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2021 12

( ) /
2021 $ 4,687 $ 10,424 $ 52 $ 15,163
2020 1,911 4,561 7 6,479
2019 451 3,949 - 4,400
2018 1,842 2,901 - 4,743
2017 733 1,857 - 2,590
2016 274 1,693 - 1,967
3,800 11,744 74 15,618
13,698 37,129 133 50,960
2021 1,405 1,186 1,265 3,856
2020 558 287 - 845
2019 537 352 - 889
2018 334 38 - 372
2017 380 31 - 411
2016 565 243 - 808
26,349 2,127 2,405 30,881
30,128 4,264 3,670 38,062
2021 334 4,084 94 4,512
2020 127 1,890 - 2,017
2019 52 1,336 - 1,388
2018 207 829 - 1,036
2017 398 624 - 1,022
2016 405 583 7 995
1,768 8,412 - 10,180
3,291 17,758 101 21,150
2021 113 1,944 253 2,310
2020 260 557 103 920
2019 - - 173 173
2018 - 84 165 249
2017 8 65 119 192
2016 - 1 56 57
673 10,919 - 11,592
1,054 13,570 869 15,493
2021 - 694 261 955
2020 - 59 378 437
2019 - 25 19 44
2018 - 30 - 30
2017 - 5 8 13
2,752 1,645 82 4,479
2,752 2,458 748 5,958
$ 50,923 $ 75,179 $ 5,521 § 131,623

39 57 4 100
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2020 12

( ) /
2020 $ 1,978 $ 7,545 $ 140 $ 9,663
2019 889 6,106 - 6,995
2018 2,076 3,555 - 5,631
2017 851 3,083 - 3,934
2016 268 1,262 - 1,530
2015 351 2,073 - 2,424
2,662 11,891 48 14,601
9,075 35,515 188 44,778
2020 497 313 - 810
2019 723 403 - 1,126
2018 298 87 - 385
2017 317 30 - 407
2016 22 20 - 42
2015 531 264 - 795
18,077 2,085 1,424 21,586
20,525 3,202 1,424 25,151
2020 848 3,071 55 3,974
2019 76 1,965 - 2,041
2018 137 2,164 25 2,326
2017 26 1,734 12 1,772
2016 - 165 9 174
2015 - 775 526 1,301
461 5,047 - 5,508
1,548 14,921 627 17,096
2020 402 976 115 1,493
2019 - 90 271 361
2018 - 123 249 3n2
2017 9 83 152 244
2016 - 1 - 1
2015 - - 70 70
225 2,470 - 2,695
636 3,743 857 5,236
2020 242 84 466 792
2019 - 67 29 96
2018 - 46 - 46
2017 - 8 - 8
1,506 664 99 2,269
1,748 869 594 3,211
$ 33,532 $ 58,250 $ 3,690 $ 95,472

35 61 4 100

2021 12 2020 12
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FICO FICO
( ) 660 660
2021 12
2021 $ 2,017 $ 42 $ 2,059
2020 665 40 705
2019 508 61 569
2018 257 42 299
2017 32 7 39
2016 1 - 1
3,480 192 3,672
6,100 2,112 8,212
$ 9,580 $ 2,304 $ 11,884
95 5 100
74 26 100
81 19 100
2020 12
2020 $ 1,321 $ 38 $ 1,359
2019 1,225 132 1,357
2018 792 150 942
2017 128 30 158
2016 6 1 7
3,472 351 3,823
3,398 872 4,270
$ 6,870 $ 1,223 $ 8,003
91 9 100
80 20 100
85 15 100
( ) EMEA
2021 12
$ 55,927 54 38 8 100
43,908 87 10 3 100
25,883 80 15 5 100
15,913 95 2 3 100
3,672 100 - - 100
8,212 100 - - 100
8,530 84 15 1 100
$ 162,135 76 19 5 100
2020 12
$ 48,659 60 31 9 100
33,023 88 10 2 100
20,290 71 19 10 100
5,750 88 9 3 100
3,823 100 - - 100
4,270 100 - - 100
4,174 81 17 2 100
$ 119,989 75 19 6 100
EMEA
2021 12 21 2020 12
13 18 2020 12 17 13 2020 12
17 2020 12 12 2020 12
10
90
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TDR 90
TDR
CARES
TDR TDR
TDR
2021 12 166 2020 12 184
CARES 2022
( ) 30 89 90
2021 12
$ 5 $ 0 $ 95
- 20 20
7 143 150
3 4 7
20 7 27
86 71 157
15 3 18
$ 136 $ 338 $ 474
0.3
2020 12
$ - $ 294 $ 294
58 34 92
49 183 232
4 23 27
42 16 58
46 31 77
20 4 24
$ 219 $ 585  $ 804
0.8
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 1,559 $ 2,651
21 61
841 649
5 25
43 44
- 122
$ 2,469 $ 3,552
1.7 3.4
2021 12 254 2020 12 533 30
2021 12 2020 12 90
2021 12 267 2020 12 315 TDR
2021 12 2020
12 2021
12 2020 12 TDR
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2021 12 144.7 2020 12
109.1
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2021 12 2020 12
( )
$ 50,960 $ 143,296 $ 44,778 $ 127,756
38,062 4,001 25,151 2,314
21,150 4,306 17,096 4,154
15,493 3,317 5,236 1,804
5,958 6,169 3,211 4,841
3,672 9 3,823 4
8,212 35,032 4,270 21,640
$ 143,507 $ 197,120 $ 103,565 $ 162,513
2021 12 24.3 2020
12 35.1
2021 12 543 2020 12 649
2021 12 140 2020 12 584
2021 12 339.7 2020 12 216.4
2021 12 20
18
GDP
TDR
FICO
TDR
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120 180
( )
2021 12
$ 2,584 $ 1,290 $ 3,874
« ) (130) (203) (333)
(231) 351 120
(88) - (88)
$ 2,135 $ 1,438 $ 3,573
1.6 12.1 2.5
« ) 0.1 2.3 0.3
$ 557 $ - $ 557
50 187 237
(18) - (18)
$ 589 $ 187 $ 776
2020 12
$ 1,331 $ 837 $ 2,168
« ) (615) (292) (907)
2,108 745 2,853
(240) - (240
$ 2,584 $ 1,290 $ 3,874
2.7 15.9 3.7
(G 0.6 4.2 0.9
$ 313 $ - $ 313
244 - 244
$ 557 $ - $ 557
2020 2020
CECL 679
727
452 444 PCI 169
48
2021 12 2021 82
185
2021
2021 12
2021 12

383/597
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2021 12
2022 3.7
2022 12 3.5
2023 3.4
GDP
2022 12 3.4
2023 12 2.1
2024 12 1.8
2023 9.5
2021 GDP 2.5 2023
GDP
GDP
2020 12 2020 CECL 679 19.5
26.3
CovID-19
2020 CovID-19
2020
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( )
2021 12
$ - 3 1,655 $ 837 $ 2,492
- 5,873 63 5,936
- 605 983 1,588
- 115 205 320
- 167 266 433
$ - 3 8,415 $ 2,354 $ 10,769
2020 12
$ -8 1,82 $ 929 $ 2,751
- 7,809 63 7,872
- 857 1,104 1,961
- 234 260 494
- 225 322 547
$ - S 10,947  $ 2,678 §$ 13,625
2021
216 2020 151
2021 12 2020 12
( )
$837 $929
1.5 55.6 14.9 1.1 45.2 12.4
15.0 92.0 40.8 15.0 58.0 31.0
() 09 6.8 2.7 1.5 5.3 3.4
$983 $1,104
3.2 18.7 12.6 4.5 19.3 11.0
4.1 99.5 4.4 3.0 99.8 66.5
() 0.4 4.0 1.7 0.3 4.8 2.6
$205 $260
2.1 20.0 16.1 2.0 14.0 12.1
() 01 2.4 1.0 0.6 2.6 1.7
$329 $385
3.6 18.7 7.1 2.8 18.7 8.0
() 2.9 5.5 3.6 0.9 5.5 4.1

385/597
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2021 12 2020 12
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 2,678 $ 1,890
/C ) 99 72
C ) (33) 87
272 670
(€D) (50)
(668) 727
369 836
(309) (100)
$ 2,354 $ 2,678
/
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 929 $ 752
C ) 31 22
C ) (€D (22)
143 277
(15) (38)
(251) (125)
127 163
(93) (100)
$ 837 $ 929
$ 1,104 $ 591
C ) 45 24
C ) @D 60
20 334
® )
(292) (366)
185 466
(52) -
$ 983 $ 1,104
$ 260 $ 221
C ) 12 13
C ) 41 10
58 48
() @
(61) (78)
57 48
(76) -
$ 2056 $ 260
$ 385 $ 326
C ) 11 13
C ) 63 39
51 11
(29) ®)
(64) (158)
- 159
(88) -
$ 329 % 385
2021 12 2021 66
99 33 42
24
2021
2021
2021
2020 12 2020 159
72 87
135 24
2020
2020

387/597
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2020
( )
2021 12
$ 139,934 $ 87,676 $ 54,127  $ 141,803
$ 7,859 $ 5,970 $ 1,917 7,887
2020 12
$ 99,691 $ 52,793 $ 48,512 $ 101,305
$ 2,799 $ 1,541 $ 1,271 § 2,812

388/597
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( )
2021 12
$ - 3 205,703 $ - 3 205,703
- 39,955 - 39,955
- 42 - 42
$ - $ 245,700 $ - 3 245,700
$ - 3 (31,812) $ (3,613) $ (35,425)
- (165,883) - (165,883)
- (9,170) - (9,170)
- (14,508) (2,566) (17,074)
- (22,003) (7,829) (29,832)
- (42,977) (9,413) (52,390)
- (213) (146) (359)
$ - $ (286,566) $ (23,567) $ (310,133)
2020 12
$ -3 108,060 $ - 3 108,060
- 28,898 - 28,898
- 82 - 82
$ - 3 137,040 $ - 3 137,040
$ - 3 (11,955) $ 4,221) % (16,176)
- (126,569) @) (126,571)
- (1,053) - (1,053)
- (20,652) (3,474) (24,126)
- (19,227) (7,523) (26,750)
- (28,335) (12,576) (40,911)
- (€9) (262) (263)
$ - 3 (207,792) $ (28,058) $ (235,850)
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12
1.3 6.4 ( 2.1 )
0.6 7.1 ( 3.7 )
2020 12
1.4 7.1 ( 2.7 )
1.4 8.0 ( 4.0 )

11
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13 14 15
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 2020 12
$ (28,058) $ (21,036)
(401) (317)
) 825 (1,301)
(12,632) (18,123)
14,930 15,373
(736) (3,575)
2,505 921
$ (23,567) $ (28,058)
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 4,221) $ (4,023)
C ) (¢1)) 1
C ) (110) (319)
473) (4,049)
1,203 4,168
0 (€D
86 58
$ (3,613) $ (4,221)
$ @ s (30)
/C ) 1 @
1 30
$ - $ D)
$ (3.474) $ (386)
C ) @n 13
/C ) 63 (142)
(145) (1,195)
779 368
(135) (2,132)
373 _
$ (2,566) $ (3,474)
$ (7.523) $ (5,707)
/C ) (134) (132)
/C ) 374 (215)
(7,878) (6,634)
7,188 5,029
(163) (629)
307 765
$ (7,829) $ (7,523)
$ (12,576) $ (10,741)
C ) (212) (229)
/C ) 381 (510)
(4,136) (6,215)
5,759 5,778
(368) (757)
1,739 98
$ (9,413) $ (12,576)
$ (62) $ (149)
/C ) - 30
/C ) 116 (113)
- (30)
$ (146) $ (262)
2021 12 2021 424
401 825
355 32
(20) 57 /
2021
2021
2021
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2020 12 2020 16.2
317 13.0
14.4 28 15
139
2020
2020
2020
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ (1,016) $ 206 $ (3,365)
(2,393) (2,804) (5,251)
(135) (563) (883)
$ (3,544) $ (3,161) $ (9,499)
/
/
23
2021 2020 2019 /
/
/
/
/
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/
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12
2020 12 445
DVA
( 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 433 $ @G47) 3 (2,763)
$ 322 $ (261) $ (2,079)
DVA
/
/ 2021 2020 2019

( 2021 12 2020 12

$ 1,373 $ 958

90
$ 8,600 $ 10,526
$ 3,559 $ 3,519
90
2021 12 2020 12
20 25
611 16.4 18
/ 2021 277 2020 (106)
2019 134
11

394/597
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23

FICC

10

10
2021 12
2020 12
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(
2021 12
334,725 § 190,197 $ 294,905 $ 57,931
(129,022) (11,426) (129,022) (11,426)
205,703 178,771 165,883 46,505
(27.,376) (12,822) (27.,376) (12,822)
(173,915) (157,752) (134,465) (33,143)
4,412 $ 8,107 $ 4,002 $ 540
2020 12
205,817 $ 147,593 $ 224,328 $ 27,054
(97,757) (5,433) (97,757) (5,433)
108,060 142,160 126,571 21,621
(8,920) (3,525) (8,920) (3,525)
(96,140) (132,893) (116,819) (17,693)
3,000 $ 5,742 $ 832 $ 403
2021 12 2020 12 399.6
289.0 91.7 10.5
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( D)
2021 12
$ 328 $ 14
132,049 503
126,397 1,254
362 -
919 -
11,034 510
248 -
374 -
23,194 55,650
$ 294,905 $ 57,931
2020 12
$ 88 $ -
121,751 -
79,159 1,634
65 -
121 -
6,364 46
92 -
20 -
16,668 25,374
$ 224,328 $ 27,054
2021 12
( D)
$ 97,675 $ 35,052
30 102,440 153
31 90 38,297 110
91 41,013 15,656
15,480 6,960
$ 294,905 $ 57,931
VIE
2021 12 2020 12
86.4 123.1
10
10
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2021
12 2020 12
( )
2021 12
«
$ 5,315  § 3,664 $ 8,979
- 191 191
«
4,170 3,925 8,095
827 452 1,279
$ 10,312 $ 8,232 $ 18,544
$ 5,990 6,834 $ 12,824
$ 4,32 $ 1,398 $ 5,720
2020 12
«
$ 6,371  $ 6,847 $ 13,218
«
6,632 4,276 10,908
914 715 1,629
$ 13,917 $ 11,838 $ 25,755
$ 6,841  $ 10,068 $ 16,909
$ 7,06 $ 1,770 $ 8,846
2021 12 0.22
2021 12 2020 12
1.06 1.27
2021 12 2020 12
0.46 0.40
2021 12 2020 12
19.7 20.5 2021 12
2020 12 20.2 22.6
2021 12 2020 12 103.7 112.8
2021 12
2020 12 24.5 56.3
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( ) 2021 12
C ) $ 9,170
« )
2023 3,585
2024 1,844
2025 855
2026 1,097
2027 1,993
(D) 9,374
$ 18,544
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 1,057,195 $ 864,494
$ 875,213 $ 723,409
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 68,208 $ 69,031
$ 12,840 $ 13,375
$ 102,259 $ 99,142
$ 8,683 $ 2,331
$ 6,808 $ 8,320
$ 8,878 $ 14,144
2021 12 2020 12 414.9
329.7
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12
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 18,094 $ 23,147
4,285 4,332
418 630
2,292 2,280
3,860 2,960
5,659 4,096
$ 34,608 $ 37,445
2021 12 2020 12 108.1 101.2
2021 12 2020 12
67.1 65.4
2021 12 2020 12 194 318
VIE
2021 2020 143
171 2019
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 281 $ 281
FICC 269 269
2,638 2,644
349 390
48 48
700 700
$ 4,285 $ 4,332
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2021

2019

2021 EPS
2020
2019

2020
2021 COVID-19

COVID-19

2020

2021
COVID-19 2020

401/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

ooooooo
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
FICC $ 1 $ 2
43 45
122 274
- 6
252 303
$ 418 $ 630
$ 1,460 $ 1,478
(1,130) (1,089)
330 389
500 710
(412) (469)
88 241
1,960 2,188
(1.542) (1,558)
$ 418 $ 630
2021 2020
10 155
( 2021 12 12 2019 12
$ 120 $ 147 $ 173
( 2021 12
2022 $ 69
2023 $ 65
2024 $ 53
2025 $ 37
2026 $ 30

2021

2020

402/597
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2021 305
2020 182 2019 963
15
2021 2020
2021 12 2020 12 qualified affordable housing
projects 714 678
2021 12 2020 12
10.2 437
13
( )
2021 12
$ 89,150  $ 20,533  $ 109,683
85,427 9,665 95,002
- 30,816 30,816
37,965 - 37,965
48,618 5,689 54,307
275 36,089 36,364
$ 261,435  $ 102,792 $ 364,227
2020 12
$ 67,395 $ 29,53  $ 96,925
67,185 1,183 68,368
- 30,060 30,060
22,987 - 22,987
28,852 - 28,852
- 12,770 12,770
$ 186,419 $ 73,543 $ 259,962
2021 12 2020 12
354.3 161.8 10
2021 12 2020 12 0.9 1.3
FDIC
2021 12 15
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FDIC 2021 12 2020 12 1,566.6 1,230.3
2021 12 2020 12 314.4
275.2
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 283,705 $ 206,356
80,522 53,606
$ 364,227 $ 259,962
USA GS USA
GSIB
2021 12
( )
2022 $ 48,842 $ 31,760 $ 80,602
2023 9,616 391 10,007
2024 4,747 125 4,872
2025 2,342 252 2,594
2026 2,335 265 2,600
2027 1,445 672 2,117
$ 69,327 $ 33,465 $ 102,792
2021 12 254.4 327.3
2021 12 2020 12
10
2021 12 2020
12
14
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 46,955 $ 52,870
254,092 213,481
$ 301,047 $ 266,351
10
10
2021 12 2020 12
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 18,118 $ 25,914
20,073 18,823
6,730 6,085
2,034 2,048
$ 46,955 $ 52,870
2.34 1.84
2021 12 2020 12
91.6 170.6
( )
2021 12
$ 124,731 $ 43,219 $ 167,950
1,803 3,189 4,992
23,452 17,394 40,846
27,543 12,761 40,304
$ 177,529 $ 76,563 $ 254,092
2020 12
$ 98,858 $ 35,614 $ 134,472
1,700 3,145 4,845
18,579 18,871 37,450
23,440 13,274 36,714
$ 142,577 $ 70,904 $ 213,481
2065
USD LIBOR SOFR
2021 12 2020 12 0.48 7.68 3.34
0.63 9.30 4.07
2021 12 2020 12 0.13 13.00
1.86 0.13 13.00 2.20
2021 12
( )
2023 $ 33,921 $ 9,290 $ 43,211
2024 27,003 6,733 33,736
2025 23,158 5,645 28,803
2026 18,571 3,586 22,157
2027 106,143 20,042 126,185
$ 208,796 $ 45,296 $ 254,092
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62.4
2023 91 2024 305 2025 270
2026 214 2027 53.6
( )
2021 12
$ 4,798 $ 65 $ 4,863
27,133 3,237 30,370
12,864 34,663 47,527
164,001 7,331 171,332
$ 208,796 $ 45,296 $ 254,092
2020 12
$ 1,407 $ 14 8 1,521
27,482 3,345 30,827
9,721 29,669 39,390
133,312 8,431 141,743
$ 171,922 $ 41,559 $ 213,481
2021 12 2020 12 1.60
2.25 1.48 2.01 3.34
1.70
2021 12 2,017.0
2020 12 1,725.7 2021 12 2,093.7
2020 12 1,832.9
10
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 2020 12 2025 2045
( )
2021 12
$ 12,437 $ 15,571 1.74
968 1,321 1.31
$ 13,405 $ 16,892 1.71
2020 12
$ 14,136 $ 18,529 1.83
968 1,430 1.32
$ 15,104 $ 19,959 1.80
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2021 12 2020 12 124.4
141.4 2021 12 2020 12
155.7 185.3
2004 |
28.4
27.5 85
2021 12 2020 12 968
939
29
6.345 2034 15
10
2034 15 6.345
253 11
11 APEX
2022
APEX
15
( 2021 12 2020 12
$ 10,838 $ 7,896
2,360 3,155
2,288 2,283
840 1,640
29 34
8,146 7,443
$ 24,501 $ 22,451

12
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2021 12
2022 305
2023 307
2024 284
2025 258
2026 216
2027 1,655
3,025
37N
2,288
14
3.61
2020 12
2021 342
2022 301
2023 264
2024 247
2025 215
2026 1,899
3,268
(985)
2,283
16
4.02
ASU No.2016-02 842
2019 ASU
2021 2020 2019 463 458
538 2021 2020
2019
2021 2020
2021 12 300
2021 12
310
12 2020 12
2021 12 2020 12
16
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601
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VIE
10
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
29,048 $ 20,167  $ 15,124
18,39 14,904 12,741
4,377 1,775 1,252
51,821 $ 36,846 $ 29,117
513 $ Bl $ 286
886 2020 551
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( )
2021 12
cMo $ 33,984 $ 955 $ 3
23,262 1,114 96
50,350 1,123 130
7,755 360 37
$ 115,351 $ 3,552 $ 266
2020 12
cMo $ 20,841 $ 906 $ 4
24,262 1,170 23
38,340 914 39
4,299 192 -
$ 87,742 $ 3,182 $ 66
CMO
2017
2021 12 2020 12 35.7 31.9
VIE
2021 12 2020 12
81 52
2021 12 2020 12 18.1 14.3
17 VIE
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 3,209 $ 2,993
5.1 4.7
14.1 15.0
10 $ (38) $ (25)
20 $ (69) $ (50)
5.6 6.1
10 $ (49) $ 42)
20 $ (96) $ (82)

CMO
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2021 12 360
3.6 2020 12 192 3.9

2021 12 2020 12

2021 12 2020 12 360
192
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17

VIE
VIE VIE

VIE

VIE

VIE VIE
VIE
VIE 16
VIE VIE

VIE
VIE VIE
VIE

VIE VIE
VIE VIE VIE

VIE VIE
VIE
VIE VIE

VIE
VIE

VIE
VIE

VIE VIE
VIE
VIE VIE

VIE
VIE
VIE VIE VIE

VIE VIE
VIE VIE
VIE VIE

VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
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VIE
VIE VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
VIE
VIE $ 176,809 $ 148,665
$ 9,582 $ 8,624
$ 928 $ 888
$ 3,552 $ 3,182
1,071 1,041
2,440 2,455
8,682 8,343
4,639 4,020
$ 20,384 $ 19,041
VIE
VIE VIE
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VIE

( ) 2021 12 2020 12
VIE $ 120,343 $ 99,353
$ 4,147 $ 4,014
$ 3,192 $ 2,990
955 1,024
34 47
18 394
$ 4,199 $ 4,455
VIE $ 26,867 $ 20,934
$ 3,923 $ 3,288
$ 8 $ 14
$ 2,030 $ 1,374
64 84
3,923 3,288
$ 6,017 $ 4,746
VIE $ 18,391 $ 14,077
$ 1,156 $ 913
$ 920 $ 874
$ 360 $ 192
116 17
250 989
8,597 7,862
360 323
$ 9,683 $ 9,383
VIE $ 11,208 $ 14,301
$ 356 $ 409
$ 126 $ 45
3 3
356 409
$ 485 $ 457

2021 12 2020 12 VIE
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VIE
VIE
) 2021 12 2020 12
VIE
$ 501 $ 312
122 2
153 880
1,988 2,099
314 989
$ 3,078 $ 4,376
$ 1,143 $ 1,891
34 28
7 296
146 43
81 226
163 948
$ 1,574 $ 3,432
VIE VIE il VIE
VIE
VIE
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 274 $ 229
16 8
153 880
1,988 2,099
314 989
$ 2,745 $ 4,205
$ 150 $ 649
34 28
7 46
163 948
$ 354 $ 1,671
$ 227 $ 83
17 -
$ 244 $ 83
$ 602 $ 679
$ 602 $ 679
$ 89 $ 88
$ 89 $ 88
$ 301 $ 563
- 250
146 43
81 226
$ 618 $ 1,082

415/597



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

O0oo0o0o
VIE
VIE

) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 95,585 $ 83,801
69,644 56,757
10,391 9,377
35,932 21,640
211,552 171,575
10,016 8,054
101,031 55,278
29,561 35,402
11,381 6,456
9,143 8,203
$ 372,684 $ 284,968

2021 12

) 2022 2023 -2024 2025 -2026 2027
$ 19,095  $ 29,347 $ 46,021 $ 1,122
5,353 24,008 26,878 13,405
1,584 6,350 2,057 400
35,932 - - -
61,964 59,705 74,956 14,927
1,598 6,340 1,880 198
99,455 1,576 - -
29,561 - - -
6,130 1,965 1,082 2,204
8,801 297 - 45
$ 207,509  $ 69,883 $ 77,918 $ 17,374

2021
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 197,120 $ 162,513
13,175 6,594
1,257 2,468
$ 211,552 $ 171,575
2021 12 2020 12
10.5 776
775 557 2021 12 2020 12
41.7 40.5
2021 12 2020 12
19.1 24.3 22.6 16.2
2021 12
2020 12 91
68
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 2020 12 1,209.9 1,103.1
2021 12 2020 12 210.7
158.1
2021 12 2020 12
339.7 216.4
2021

20 2022
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/
2021 12 2020
12 16.0 16.9
2021 12 19.0 3,200
NN
2022
2021 12 20 POS
2022
A
0.03
2021 12
800
2021 12 200
600

10
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27
( )
2021 12
$ 3,406 $ - $ 234
/
2022 $ 68,212 $ 11,046 $ 871
2023 -2024 48,273 - 3,608
2025 -2026 19,706 - 2,015
2027 30,006 - 97
$ 166,197  § 11,046 $ 6,591
2020 12
$ 4,357 % - $ 253
/
2021 $ 89,202 $ 21,352 $ 1,263
2022 -2023 56,204 - 3,304
2024 -2025 23,389 - 2,787
2026 32,244 - 268
$ 201,039 $ 21,352 $ 7,622
2021 12 2020 12 11.0 16.6
2021 12 2020 12 45.1 60.2
/
2021 12 2020 12 110.5 198.6
2021 12 2020 12 113.6 203.9
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2020 12

450

APEX

APEX

2021

14.9

2028 18
MDB

APEX

2021 12
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2020 12
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15.0

MDB
14

18
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2021 12 2020 12
GS
GSé&Co. GS USA
et Cie
GSI
SE GSBE
GS USA
GS USA
2020 GS USA 2021 12
19
2021 12 2020 12 40.0
200 0.01
10b5-1
2020
FRB BHC
2020 2021
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
« - ) 15.3 8.2 25.8
«C ) $ 339.81 $ 236.35 $ 206.56
( ) $ 5,200 $ 1,928 $ 5,335
2021 1,830
2020 3,476 2019 7,490 2021 0.5 2020 0.9 2019
2021 3.4 2020 3.4 2019 3.8
2021 984 2020 829 2019 743
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 6.50 $ 5.00 $ 4.15
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2022 14 2.00
2022 2022 30
2021 12
A 50,000 30,000 29,999 1,000
c 25,000 8,000 8,000 1,000
D 60,000 54,000 53,999 1,000
E 17,500 7,667 7,667
F 5,000 1,615 1,615
J 46,000 40,000 40,000 1,000
K 32,200 28,000 28,000 1,000
0 26,000 26,000 26,000 25
P 66,000 60,000 60,000 25
Q 20,000 20,000 20,000 25
R 24,000 24,000 24,000 25
] 14,000 14,000 14,000 25
T 27,000 27,000 27,000 25
U 30,000 30,000 30,000 25
v 30,000 30,000 30,000 25
472,700 400,282 400,280
A $ 25,000 $ 750
c $ 25,000 200
D $ 25,000 1,350
E $ 100,000 767
F $ 100,000 161
J 2023 10 $ 25,000 1,000
K 2024 10 $ 25,000 700
0 2026 11 10 $ 25,000 650
P 2022 11 10 $ 25,000 1,500
Q 2024 10 $ 25,000 500
R 2025 10 $ 25,000 600
s 2025 10 $ 25,000 350
T 2026 10 $ 25,000 675
U 2026 10 $ 25,000 750
v 2026 11 10 $ 25,000 750
$ 10,703
0.01
FRB
2021 10 4.125
30,000
2021 3.65
30,000
2021 3.80
27,000

14
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2021 6.30 675
25,000 5.375
20 25,000
41 2021
2020 5.70 14,000 350
25,000
2020
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2021 12
A LIBOR+0.75 _ 3.75
c LIBOR+0.75  4.00
D LIBOR+0.67 4.0
E LIBOR+0.7675  4.00
F LIBOR+0.77  4.00
; 2023 10 5.50 LIBOR+3.64
‘ 2024 10 6.375 LIBOR+3.55
0 2026 11 10 5.30 LIBOR+3.834
b 2022 11 10 5.00 LIBOR+2.874
0 2024 10 5.50 +3.623
R 2025 10 4.95 +3.224
s 2025 10 4.40 +2.85
T 2026 10 3.80 +2.969
U 2026 10 3.65 +2.915
v 2026 11 10 4.125 +2.949
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12

C ) C ) ( )
A $ 950.51 $ 28 $ 947.92 $ 28 $ 947.92 $ 28
B $ - - $ - - $ 775.00 5
c $ 1,013.90 8 $ 1,011.12 8 $ 1,011.11 8
D $ 1,013.90 55 $ 1,011.12 55 $ 1,011.11 54
E $ 4,055.55 31 $ 4,055.55 31 $ 4,044.44 31
F $ 4,055.55 7 $ 4,055.55 6 $ 4,044.44 7
J $ 1,375.00 55 $ 1,375.00 55 $ 1,375.00 55
K $ 1,593.76 a4 $ 1,593.76 45 $ 1,593.76 45
L $ - - $ 361.54 4 $ 1,519.67 68
M $ - - $ 1,217.16 97 $ 1,343.76 107
N $ 787.50 19 $ 1,575.00 43 $ 1,575.00 43
0 $ 1,325.00 34 $ 1,325.00 34 $ 1,325.00 34
P $ 1,250.00 75 $ 1,250.00 75 $ 1,250.00 75
Q $ 1,875.00 28 $ 1,577.43 32 $ - -
R $ 1,237.50 30 $ 910.94 22 $ - -
s $ 1,100.00 15 $ 586.67 8 $ - -
T $ 511.94 14 $ - - $ - -

$ 443 $ 543 $ 560
2022 2022 26
239.58 255.56 255.56
343.75 398.44
687.50 618.75 550.00

486.67 2022 10

2022 14 1 1,000.00
1,000.00 2022
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C )
( ) ( )
2021 12
$ (696) $ 42 $ (738)
(833) 322 (G11)
(368) 41 327
463 (955) (492)
$ (1,434) $ (634) $ (2,068)
2020 12
$ (616) $ (80) $ (696)
(572) (261) (833)
(342) (26) (368)
46 417 463
$ (1,484) $ 50 $ (1,434)
2019 12
$ (621) $ 5 $ (616)
1,507 (2,079) (572)
(81) (261) (342)
(112) 158 46
$ 693 $ (2,177) $ (1,484)
20
FRB 1956 BHC
FRB
RWA
G-SIB
Tierl CET1
CET1 Tierl
Tierl SLR
SLR
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2021 12
CET1 13.4 9.5
Tierl 14.9 11.0
16.9 13.0
2020 12
CET1 13.6 9.5
Tierl 15.1 11.0
17.1 13.0
2021 12 2020 12
CET1 4.5 Tierl 6.0
8.0 G-SIB 2.5 FRB
SCB
2021 12 6.4 2020 12 6.6 2021
12 2020 12 2.5
G-SIB G-SIB

G-SIB
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( )
2021 12
CET1 $ 96,254 $ 96,254
Tierl $ 106,766 $ 106,766
Tier2 $ 14,636 $ 12,051
$ 121,402 $ 118,817
RWA $ 676,863 $ 647,921
CET1 14.2 14.9
Tierl 15.8 16.5
17.9 18.3
2020 12
CET1 $ 81,641 $ 81,641
Tierl $ 92,730 $ 92,730
Tier2 $ 15,424 $ 13,279
$ 108,154 $ 106,009
RWA $ 554,162 $ 609,750
CET1 14.7 13.4
Tierl 16.7 15.2
19.5 17.4
FRB CECL 2022
2025 FRB
2020
25
2021 12 2020 12 CECL
2021 RWA
2020 12 5,540
RWA 230 CET1
14.7 0.6 Tierl 16.7 0.6
19.5 0.8
2021 12 SA-CCR
SA-CCR RWA
2021 12 SA-CCR
CET1 0.3
Tierl 4.0
SLR 5.0
SLR G-SIB
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
Tierl $ 106,766  $ 92,730
$ 1,466,770  $ 1,152,785
Tierl (4,583) (4,948)
1,462,187 1,147,837
SLR - (202,748)
448,334 387,848
$ 1,910,521  $ 1,332,937
Tierl 7.3 8.1
SLR 5.6 7.0
CECL
SLR FRB
2020 12
SLR 1.0 2021
Tierl Tierl
SLR Tierl
2021 12 SA-CCR 2021 12 SLR
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 99,223 $ 84,729
CECL 1,105 1,126
(3.610) (3,652)
(401) (601)
(63) 39
CET1 96,254 81,641
10,703 11,203
(189) (106)
@ ®
Tierl $ 106,766 $ 92,730
Tier2
Tierl $ 106,766 $ 92,730
11,554 12,196
94 188
3,034 3,095
(46) (55)
Tier2 14,636 15,424
$ 121,402 $ 108,154
Tier2
Tierl $ 106,766 $ 92,730
Tier2 14,636 15,424
(3,034) (3,095)
449 950
Tier2 12,051 13,279
$ 118,817 $ 106,009
CECL 2020 2020
25
Tier2
2021 12 2020 12 675 680
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CET1

Tier2

14

2021 12

Tierl

2020 12

Tier2

2020 12

2021 12
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29

Tier2
14

Tier2 90
80
2022
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CET1 Tierl Tier2
( )
2021 12
CET1
$ 81,641 $ 81,641
14,494 14,494
CECL @D (i)
42 42
200 200
(102) (102)
$ 96,254 $ 96,254
Tierl
$ 92,730 $ 92,730
CET1 14,613 14,613
(@3) (83)
(500) (500)
6 6
106,766 106,766
Tier2
15,424 13,279
(642) (642)
5 ©H
(61) -
9 (492)
14,636 12,051
$ 121,402  $ 118,817
2020 12
CET1
$ 74,850 $ 74,850
5,667 5,667
CECL 1,126 1,126
(123) (123)
3 3
118 118
$ 81,641 $ 81,641
Tierl
$ 85,440 $ 85,440
CET1 6,791 6,791
504 504
) )
92,730 92,730
Tier2
14,925 13,473
(651) (651)
(96) (96)
1,293 -
4n 553
15,424 13,279
$ 108,154 $ 106,009
RWA
RWA
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VaR
VaR
VaR
99
VaR
VaR

VaR

VaR

2020

RWA

VaR

VaR

VaR

2020

RWA

VaR

VaR

FRB

VaR

2021
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RWA
RWA
95
99 VaR RWA
VaR
VaR
VaR
99
99 VaR
RWA VaR
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RWA
RWA
RWA
( )
2021 12
RWA
$ 175,628 109,532
233,639 182,210
76,346 14,407
43,256 45,582
-------------- —7]-,485 DR 86'768
RWA 600,354 438,499
RWA
VaR 13,510 13,510
VaR 38,922 38,922
6,867 6,867
2,521 2,521
14,689 14,689
RWA 76,509 76,509
RWA - 132,913
RWA $ 676,863 647,921
2020 12
RWA
$ 120,292 111,691
176,501 151,587
71,427 16,568
46,944 49,268
OO . . SO .
RWA 485,438 412,713
RWA
VaR 14,913 14,913
VaR 31,978 31,978
7,882 7,882
1,758 1,758
12,193 12,193
RWA 68,724 68,724
RWA - 128,313
RWA $ 554,162 609,750
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RWA
( )
2021 12
RWA
$ 554,162 $ 609,750
RWA
55,336 (2,159)
57,138 30,623
4,919 (2,161)
(3,688) (3,686)
1,211 3,169
RWA 114,916 25,786
RWA
VaR (1,403) (1,403)
VaR 6,944 6,944
(1,015) (1,015)
763 763
2,496 2,496
RWA 7,785 7,785
RWA - 4,600
$ 676,863 $ 647,921
2020 12
RWA
$ 563,575 $ 544,653
RWA
(614) 39,060
(3,239) 17,131
5,560 2,734
(9,870) (12,624)
(5,386) 5,333
RWA (13,549) 51,634
RWA
VaR 5,980 5,980
VaR 1,067 1,067
3,574 3,574
365 567
(6,850) (6,850)
RWA 4,136 4,338
RWA - 9,125
$ 554,162 $ 609,750
RWA
2021 12 2021 12 RWA 2020 12 1,149.2
RWA
SA-CCR
2021 12 RWA 2020 12 77.9
VaR
2021 12 RWA 2020 12 257.9
RWA 2021 12
RWA 2020 12 77.9
VaR 2021 12
RWA 2020 12
46.0
2020 12 2020 12 RWA 2019 12 135.5
RWA
2020 12 RWA 2019 12 41.4
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VaR
2020 12 RWA 2019 12 516.3
RWA
2020 12 RWA 2019 12 43.4
VaR
2020 12
RWA 2019 12 91.3
GS USA GS USA FDIC
GS USA FRB FDIC
NYDFS
2021 GS USA
GSBE GS
USA
2.5
CET1
GS USA CET1 Tierl
GS USA
GS USA

GS USA
GS USA
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GS USA
CET1 7.0 6.5
Tierl 8.5 8.0
10.5 10.0
Tierl 4.0 5.0
SLR 3.0 6.0
CET1 4.5 Tierl 6.0
8.0 2.5 FRB
GS USA
( )
2021 12
CET1 $ 42,535 $ 42,535
Tierl $ 42,535 $ 42,535
Tier2 $ 6,430 $ 4,646
$ 48,965 $ 47,181
RWA $ 312,601 $ 222,607
CET1 13.6 19.1
Tierl 13.6 19.1
15.7 21.2
2020 12
CET1 $ 34,687 $ 34,687
Tierl $ 34,687 $ 34,687
Tier2 $ 6,312 $ 4,963
$ 40,999 $ 39,650
RWA $ 280,877 $ 173,442
CET1 12.3 20.0
Tierl 12.3 20.0
14.6 22.9
GS USA GSBE 2020
GS USA GS USA
2021 12 2020 12
FRB GS USA CECL 2022
2025 FRB
GS USA 2020 1
25
2021 12 2020 12 CECL GS USA
2021 GS USA
RWA 2020 12
2,810 GS USA RWA 110 GS USA
CET1 12.3 0.4
Tierl 12.3 0.4 14.6 0.6
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2021 12 GS USA SA-CCR GS USA CET1
2021 12 1.9
2020 12 2021 12
RWA RWA
RWA
RWA
SA-CCR
RWA VaR
VaR
2020 12 2021 12
RWA RWA
RWA
RWA VaR VaR
GS USA
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
Tierl $ 42,535 $ 34,687
$ 409,739 % 310,690
$ 627,799 $ 381,637
Tierl 10.4 11.2
SLR 6.8 9.1
GS USA GSBE 2020
Tierl CECL
2020 12 FRB
2020
12 GS USA SLR 2.4
2021
Tierl Tierl
SLR Tierl SA-CCR
2021 12 GS USA SLR 0.2
GS USA FDIC FRB
GS USA 2021 12 2020 12
GS USA 2021 12 2020 12
1,220.1 527.1
GS USA CFTC 2021 SEC
2021 12 GS USA
GSIB GSIB PRA
FCA GSIB
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GSIB
2021 12 2020 12
CET1 8.5 8.3
Tierl 10.5 10.3
13.2 12.9
GSIB
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
CET1 $ 3,408 $ 3,051
Tierl $ 3,408 $ 3,051
Tier2 $ 826 $ 827
$ 4,234 $ 3,878
RWA $ 17,196 $ 19,263
CET1 19.8 15.8
Tierl 19.8 15.8
24.6 20.1
2021 12 2021 12
GSIB GSIB
GSIB CET1
68
GSIB GSIB
2021 12 2020 12
172 126 GSIB 2021 12
2020 12 22.0 98.2
GSBE GSBE BaFin
GSBE EU CRD EU
CRR
GSBE
2021 12 2020 12
CET1 8.7 7.0
Tierl 10.8 8.5
13.5 10.5
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GSBE
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
CET1 $ 6,527 % 3,991
Tierl $ 6,527 % 3,991
Tier2 $ 23 $ 24
$ 6,550 $ 4,015
RWA $ 28,924 % 11,634
CET1 22.6 34.3
Tierl 22.6 34.3
22.6 34.5
2021 12 2021 12 GSBE
GSBE GSBE GS USA
CET1 106
2021 12
CRR CRD 2021
2021 12 GSBE
2021 GSBE
2021 12
3.0
7.6
2021 12 2021 12 GSBE
GSBE
GSBE GS USA
58
GSBE GSBE
GSBE
2021 12 2020 12 25 GSBE
2021 12 2020 12 203.6 31.7
GSBE CFTC 2021 SEC
2021 12
GS USA
2021 GSBE GS USA
2021 12 2020 12 1,189.0
1,038.0 2021 12 2020 12
772.2 636.8
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21
RSU
RSU
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 21,151 $ 8,915 $ 7,897
350.5 356.4 371.6
RSU 5.3 3.9 3.9
355.8 360.3 375.5
1 $ 60.25 $  24.94 $ 21.18
1 $ 59.45 $ 24.74 $ 21.03
2021 0.10 2020 2019
0.07
2021 0.3
2020 2019 0.1 RSU
22
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 3,707 $ 3,393 $ 2,967
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 873 $ 803
$ 4,321 $ 5,068
2021
595 565 2020
109 2019 44
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2020 GS USA
GS USA 18.4 2021 12
2020 12 321
GS USA
18
2020 12 87
2021 12
2021 2020

18
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2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ @ 3 245 $ 1,211
(980) 282 4,397
4,716 5,210 5,899
1,589 1,627 1,457
5,319 4,883 5,411
1,500 1,442 3,363
12,120 13,689 21,738
1,303 2,386 3,568
- 599 2,658
1,662 1,238 1,213
527 542 668
3,231 4,153 5,359
(1,073) 20 3,910
5,650 8,938 17,376
$ 6,470 $ 4,751  $ 4,362
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2021 12 2020 12 2019 12

$ 2,904 $ 1,759 $ 1,113
574 555 388
1,926 1,539 950
5,404 3,853 2,451
192 (798) (383)
72 42) 20)
(259) 7 69
5 (833) (334)
$ 5,409 $ 3,020 $ 2,117
2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
21.0 21.0 21.0

1.9 3.1 2.9

0.7 1.0 (0.6)

(1.5) Q.4 (3.6)

0.6) a.2) 1.8)

0.5) 0.6) (1.0

- 5.6 2.1

0.4 0.3) 1.0
20.0 24.2 20.0

GILTI
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 1,978 $ 1,609
ASC 740 287 200
606 737
681 510
151 138
C ) 593 282
43 34
624 618
1,081 1,054
(GD) 271 333
6,315 5,515
(895) (551)
$ 5,420 $ 4,964
$ 1,225 $ 1,153
1,114 1,120
585 581
$ 2,924 $ 2,854
2021 12 681
2020 12 510
2021 12 285 2020 12 79
2021 12 11.6 18.0
13.1
2022
2021 12 32
11
2022 2023
2021 12
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 270
270
2021 344 2020 84 2021
2020
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12 131
2020 12 129 2021 13 2020 41
2019 60 2021
12
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 1,251 $ 1,445 $ 1,051
297 164 131
95 209 441
111) (205) (54)
(CY) (367) (125)
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(O) 5 1
$ 1,446 $ 1,251 $ 1,445
287 200 279
(GID) $ 1,159 $ 1,051 $ 1,166
IRS
2021 12

2011

2015

2017

2016

2015

2013 2022 IRS
IRS
2011 2018
2019
2020 2015
2018 2021
25
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
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$ 14,425 $ 9,158 $ 7,079

451 265 520

14,876 9,423 7,599

(298) 1,624 333

6,705 6,134 4,685

$ 8,469 $ 1,665 $ 2,581

$ 6,775 $ 1,262 $ 2,065

$ 6,705 $ 1,193 $ 1,996

$ 10,341 $ 11,313 $ 11,167
64.8 10.5 17.9

$ 19,309 $ 18,928 $ 13,109

2,768 2,229 1,670

22,077 21,157 14,779

45 274 35

12,969 12,806 10,851

$ 9,063 $ 8,077 $ 3,893

$ 7,250 $ 6,122 $ 3,114

$ 6,973 $ 5,766 $ 2,729

$ 45,497 $ 40,760 $ 40,060
15.3 14.1 6.8

$ 14,366 $ 7,743 $ 8,454

550 241 511

14,916 7,984 8,965

18 442 274

5,970 5,142 4,817

$ 8,928 $ 2,400 $ 3,874

$ 7,143 $ 1,819 $ 3,099

$ 7,046 $ 1,740 $ 3,013

$ 25,195 $ 20,491 $ 21,575
28.0 8.5 14.0

$ 4,769 $ 3,980 $ 3,542

2,701 2,016 1,661

7,470 5,996 5,203

592 758 423

6,294 4,901 4,545

$ 584 $ 337 ¢ 235

$ 467 $ 256 $ 188

$ 427 $ 216 $ 159

$ 10,796 $ 8,012 $ 6,292
4.0 2.7 2.5

$ 52,869 $ 39,809 $ 32,184

6,470 4,751 4,362

59,339 44,560 36,546

357 3,008 1,065

31,938 28,983 24,898

$ 27,044 $ 12,479 $ 10,583

$ 21,635 $ 9,459 $ 8,466

$ 21,151 $ 8,915 $ 7,897

$ 91,829 $ 80,576 $ 79,094
23.0 11.1 10.0
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2021 534
2020 34.2 2019 12.4
2021 2020
2021
2021 10 SCB 20
) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 195 $ 174 $ 139
772 611 646
675 740 618
373 377 301
$ 2,015 $ 1,902 $ 1,704
) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 144,157 $ 116,242
1,082,378 844,606
91,115 95,751
146,338 106,429
$ 1,463,988 $ 1,163,028
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) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 30,421 $ 27,866
) 30,421 27,866
(866) (1,322)
29,555 26,544
18,578 13,248
34,986 16,915
7,838 3,499
) 61,402 33,662
(486) (448)
60,916 33,214
6,928 7,545
6,810 9,125
692 675
) 14,430 17,345
(732) (787)
13,698 16,558
43,998 33,023
3,672 3,823
8,212 4,270
) 55,882 41,116
(1,489) (1,317)
54,393 39,799
) 162,135 119,989
(3.,573) (3.874)
$ 158,562 $ 116,115
FICC

FICC
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 37,379 63 $ 27,508 62 $ 22,148 60
EMEA 14,372 24 10,868 24 9,745 27
7,588 13 6,184 14 4,653 13
$ 59,339 100 $ 44,560 100 $ 36,546 100
$ 17,476 65 $ 9,019 72 $ 6,623 62
EMEA 7,062 26 3,041 25 3,349 32
2,506 9 419 3 611 6
$ 27,044 100 $ 12,479 100 $ 10,583 100
$ 13,927 65 $ 7,468 79 $ 5,514 65
EMEA 5,695 26 2,090 22 2,600 31
2,013 9 (99) ) 352 4
$ 21,635 100 $ 9,459 100 $ 8,466 100
2020 2019
26
( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 141,191 $ 187,009
9.6 16.1
$ 51,426 $ 59,580
3.5 5.1
2021 12 2020 12
2,222.0 1,166.3 1,220.1 527.1
2021 12 2020 12
11
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 86,274 $ 60,158
$ 141,588 $ 68,001
27
ASC 450
a b
c
2021 12
20
MDB
2012 2013 65 MDB
2018 11 DOJ
2018 28
FCPA
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2019
2022
2020 18
14
18
2020 10 22
FCA PRA
2021
QPAM
2018 11 MDB
220
12 13
2019 19
MDB
13
2022
2019
2019
2019 12
MDB
2021 12
2018 12 20
2021 28
2010
2011 25
20 a

2020

FCPA
DOJ

MDB

MDB

DOJ
FCPA
GS
2021

2021

2021 15

MDB

2021
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DOJ SEC FRB NYDFS

FCPA
2019
2020 11
2021
MDB
2019 10 28
2021 11 12
10 b
2018 14



2021
2021
2019 25 2020
GS&Co.
2020 11 11
GSé&Co.
2003 2013
/
GS&Co. 2021
2022
2015 GSI
S.A.
12
BoP
GSI
S.A.
2018 BES
GSI
54
10 GSI
104
GS&Co.
17
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21
2021 26
2021 12
12 22
29 17
GS
2020 11 23
2021 14
2018 11
GSI GSIB UK GS USA
2020
EU
S.A.
835
2014 12 2015 2015
BoP
S.A. BES
BES 2018
GSI
BES GSI
GSI
50 GSI 2018
BES 222
2021 CBS CBS

10 2021 13
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32

GS&CO.
CBS

11

CBS

2022 24

USA

368
2020

GS&Co.
2020 11
2020

2021

2019 12

iIvI

GS&Co.

GS&Co.
323,077

2021 12 22

2021 10

1M

CBS iQIYl
10 b 20A 20

220

2018

12,280,042 2020

2021 11

GS&Co.

16 35,864,408

2020 12
25

GS&Co.
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CBS
55 646,154
2021
2022
GSX
21.5 USA
GS&Co.
26
2020 10
2019 81
2019
2020 11 16
2020 12 16
2020 25
2021 14
2021 10
2021 10 29
2017 11 805
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GS&Co. 322 2,576,000 2020 10 30 2019 11
2021 22
2021 29
2021 12
GS&Co.
2017 522 2017 12 534
2019
GS&Co. 2017 127 6,351,347 2017 12
127 5,625,768 2020 21
GS&Co. 2021 22
2021
2021 16
2021 11 19
GS&Co. 2019 12 23
2020 19
GS&Co. 2019 12 522 19,326,218
2020
2021 2021
2021 11 22
GS&Co. 2020 914
2020 21
GS&Co. 242
11,540,550 2021 25 2021 26
GS&Co.
2020 10 12 2020 12 13
2021 993 2021 14
GS&Co.
877 31,912,213 2021 12
GS&Co. 2021 883
2021 10
GS&Co. 212 8,832,000
2021 12 23
GS&Co. 2020 12 11
2021 17
GS&Co.
388 16,169,000
GS

2021 44
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ADS
15 ADS104,554,000
GS&Co.
GS&Co.
12 20
GS&Co.
5,750,345
GS
ADS15,300,000
GS&Co.
2018 26
2021 22
30 2019
25
GS&Co.
VRDO
GS&Co. 2021

VRDO

2021

2022

2019

10 b

2020
2021 10

212

2021

ADS

2019

2019

VRDO

GS&Co.

31
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22
20A
589
3,886,819
575
2021
GS&Co. 178
2021 360
2021
GS
2017

2020

oOoOooodn

GS

2021

14

184

2018 27

2021
2021 10

2019 31

11
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2021 2019 31 2021
2019 31 2021 14 2021
GS&Co. GSI GS USA
2015 11
2016 2018
2013 2016 2018 11 20
2019 13 2008
2012
2013 2016
2019 22 2019
GSI 2014 11 25 2017 15
2020 29

2020 27

GS&Co. GSI J. 2014
2013
2016 12 2019 27
2020 23
2020 12 16
2021 17
2021 14

GS&Co. 2015
GS&Co. 2017 25

2017 12 29

GS&CO.
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2021 31 2021 14
2021 14
GS&Co. 2020 21
2020

10 29

2021 10 25
2021 11 23
GS&Co. GSI 2021 30
2021 11 15
2022
2010 15
GS&Co.
2002
GS&Co.
2018 30
2018
2018 27
2020 26
GS&Co.
2020 16
2021 22 2021
2021 15
SEC

SEC
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FCPA
28
2008 2016
31
2003 11
2004 11
2021 12 411
426 2020 12
343
478
2021 274 2020 261 2019 254

29
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RSU RSU
RSU
2021
2021 SIP
2021 29 2021 SIP 2021 SIP
1999 30
2021 12 69.8 2021 SIP 2021 SIP
2018 2015 2013
2021 SIP 2021 SIP
2021 SIP 2021 SIP 2025
RSU RSU RSU
RSU
RSU
RSU
150
RSU 2021
RSU
RSU
3,991,348 15,223,219 $ 207.23 $ 203.41
3,838,363 6,033,314 $ 276.57 $ 256.93
(567,318) (398,076)  $ 231.77 $ 220.26
- (8,144,080) % - 3 202.58
(3,219,319) 3,219,319 $ 225.48 $ 225.48
4,043,074 15,933,696 $ 255.08 $ 228.14
RSU 2021 264 .57 2020 220.45
2019 177.42 RSU
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2021 10.2 2020 10.1 2019
10.5
2021 26.4 2020 20.1 2019
20.0
RSU 2021 12 47,719 2020 12
72,369
RSU RSU 2021 12
322,935 2020 12 210,692 RSU
2021 12 387,508 2020 12 210,692
RSU RSU 2021 12 590,453
2020 12 489,602 RSU
2021 12 885,680 2020 12 734,403
2021 2022 12 RSU 4.4
RSU
RSU
2021 12 565
2.02
31
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 2,553 $ 1,985 $ 2,120
$ 196 $ 120 $ 63
RSU
30
( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 16,990  $ 0 8 63
15,562 11,860 4,199
529 774 335
33,081 12,674 4,597
3,695 4,020 7,575
4,570 5,861 8,545
(875) (1,841) (970)
32,206 10,833 3,627
750 367 331
1,005 3,339 1,365
1,755 3,706 1,696
30,451 7,127 1,931
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(551) (696) (538)
/C_ ) (9,367) 1,636 5,997
21,635 9,459 8,466
484 544 569
$ 21,151 $ 8,915 $ 7,897
2021 169.9 2020 38 2019 60
2021 151.4 2020 113.2
2019 41.8
2021 (10.D) 2020 26.2 2019 12.9
2021 33.9 2020 36.8 2019 72.6
2021 12.4 2020 17.3 2019 31.5
2021 113 2020 100 2019 138
/ 2021 (634) 2020 50 2019

(21.8)
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12
$ 47 $ 26
2 -
1,024 357
(7,638 7,242 ( ) 273,416 239,483
43,021 31,116
75,883 72,689
4,663 951
(22,525 16,642 ( ) 26,078 20,204
6,098 4,811
$ 430,232 $ 369,637
$ 50,805 $ 35,228
1,357 503
1,116 320
1,215 1,723 ( ) 11,127 20,563
3,687 7,385
(17,690 11,145 ( » 208,796 171,934
40,405 32,419
3,013 5,353
320,306 273,705
10,703 11,203
9 9
4,211 3,468
56,396 55,679
131,811 112,947
(2,068) (1,434)
( ) (91,136) (85,940)
109,926 95,932
$ 430,232 $ 369,637
IHC
2021 12 13.8 2020 12 843
2021 12 11.2 2020 12 320
2021 12 2023 388.5 2024
324 2025 385 2026 45 2027 798
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( ) 2021 12 2020 12 2019 12
$ 21,635 9,459 $ 8,466
C )/ 9,367 (1,636) (5,997)
9 6 26
(241) (160) (210)
335 127 118
- @ (20)
( ) - 332 77
(10,273) 3,484 5,145
796 7 136
(D) (5,213) (1,492) (1,208)
16,415 10,022 6,533
@3) (26) (34)
/¢ HC ) (9,951) 7,021 2,079
(37,260) (32,472) (7,374)
10,059 29,568 1,894
(16,964) (3,767) (16,776)
/ 10,896 4,135 9,768
QD) (23,978) (5,617) (415)
(67,211) (1,158) (10,858)
« ) 12,346 (6,360) 26,398
C )
(683) (1,372) (22)
7,007 12,603 4,649
73,164 24,789 8,804
(31,588) (33,432) (27,172)
- (11) (206)
(2,675) (350) (1,100)
(5.200) (1,928) (5,335)
(985) (830) (745)
(2,725) (2,336) (2,104)
( ) 2,172 349 1,098
(G (¢D) - 3)
/( ) 50,819 (8,878) 4,262
/C ) C ) 23 as (63)
26 40 103
$ 49 26 $ 40
2021 47.2 2020 59.2
2019 95.3 2021 13.3 2020 19.
2019 30.1
2021 37.4 2020 13.7
2019 272
2021 12
948
2020 12
11.2
12.5
2019 12
IHC GS USA 85.0
211
231
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2021 12 31
2013

2021 12 31

(PCAOB 1D 238)

463/597

EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
oOoOooodn

C0sO

2021 12 31

118 120

2021 12 31



THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Earnings

w1 lts. GNCRD DR SR ATCUNEE
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Yaar Endad Dacombar
2021 200 g

Revanuas

Irvastment banking
Irwastrant managameant
Cammissians and fess
Market making

Cithar principal iransactons

$14,188 £ 8141 £ 6,788
B.068 6,923 6,123
3,818 3548 24988
15,352 15,546 10,157
11,671 4,651 5,052

Total non-inenss] revanuas

52,869 39,809 32184

Intanest ingome
Intarest expan e

12120 13,683 21,738
5,650 8,308 17376

Mat intarest incomsa

G470 4,781 4362

Tedal nat revenuas

59,239 44 BED 38546

Presissan for eradit losses

Operating expenses
Compansation and benelis
Transaction based

Market devélopmant
Commurications and tachnology
Depreciation and amortigation
Oecupanty

Professional Toaes

(Mher expanses

357 3008 1,086

17,718 13302 12353
4,710 4,141 1513

553 40 738
1573 1,347 1,167
2015 1,902 1,704

381 250 1,028

1,648 1.308 1,316
2,739 5817 2077

Teaal oparating expersas

31,938 28,983 24,558

Pre-iax earmings
Provisaon for taxes

27044 12,479 10,583
5409 3,020 2,117

Mat sarmings
Prefered stock divedands

21,636 9,455 8486
484 Ead o]

Nat urnin? applicable to common shareholders

$21,161 5 A315 & 7&37

Earnings per commen share
Basic
Diluted

Average commean shares
Basic
Diluted

$ 6025 % 2494 % 218
55945 S MY 532103
3505 356.4 ansa
3558 3603 37656

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Yoot Ervnd Decavmibnr
£ in millions 20 2020 2018
Mat sarnings 21,6258 £ 9459 § 9468

Othar comprebensive mcomeiioss] adustments, net of tax;

Cwrrency translation [42] =] 5
Dabt valuaton adjustmant 322 [Z&1) 2,073
Pansion and pastratiremant labilities 41 (28] (281]
Awailabla-for-sala secunties {95E) 417 1E8
Cithar comprehensive mcomal{loss (634) S0 (21477

Comprehansive income

$21,001 S 9505 S 578D

The Stconigieinng Holed. as o rdegral pom of théds consokdited larciil SLilismadld
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THE GOLDMAM SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
A of Decembssr

$ m mulons 2021 2020
Asseta
Cash and cash equvaients % 261,038% 165842
Cellateralizad agreamants:

Securiies purchased undar agreaments to resall (at fair valus) 206,703 108060

Securines borrowed (includes $39,956 and $28,598 a1 fair value) 118,771 42180
Customer and othar recanables (ncludes $42 and £52 at fair value) 160,673 121531
Trading assets (at far value and meludes 68,208 and $69.031 pledged as collaterall 376916 393,630
Irvastmants includes $83.427 and 152 778 at fair valua, and $72.840 and §13,375 pledped as collateral) 88,719 68,445
Leans (nat of allewanca of $3.678 and £3,874, and includes $10,769 and $13,625 at fair valua) 168562 116,115
ghar asaels 34,608 37,445
Total assets 51,463,988 11 163,028
Linbilities and shareholders’ equity
Deposits (includes 535425 and 516,176 at fawr valusl § 3642275 259582
Collateralized financengs:

Secunties sold under agreemants to repurchase tal fair vatoe) 165,883 126571

Securities loagnad (includes §8,170 and 51,053 a1 fair value) 46 505 21,621

Qihar secured financings ncludes $17,074 and £24, 126 a1 far valea) 18,544 25,755
Customer and othar payables 251,931 190658
Trading habilities [at faer valuel 181,424 153,727
Unsacurad short-barm bormowings mcludes 529,832 and $26.750 at fair valea) 48 955 52,870
Unsecured kong-tem borrowangs (includes $52.390 and 340,911 at fair valual 254082 21348
(hhar kabilities lincludes $388 and $263 a1 Taw valusl 24,501 22,451
Total habilibes 1,354,082 1 087 056
Coemmitments, contingencies and guarantess
Shareholders’ equity
Prafamed stock; aggregate liquidaton preference of $10,702 and 211,203 10,703 1.2
Common steck; 908,430,314 and B01,692,033 shates ssued, and 333 573,254 and 344,088, 725 shees outilardng o 2
Share-based awards 4211 3488
Mormnating comman stock, no shanes sudd and outstandmng - e
Addimonal pasdan capetal 56,306 55670
Astained sarmings 1381 M2ar
focumilated othar comprabanses oas izm i1.434]
Stock hald in traasury, at cost 572857, 082 and BET 603 316 sharos {91,136} (859040
Total shareholders’ eglaly 109,926 295,932
Tatal linbilities and shareholders’ equity $1.463,988 §° 163 028

Tha accompanying noles ang & indagral pan of Thess conacbdmed fraecial stanemens,
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Yoar Ended Decemibser

3 i mAOng 2021 0zZ0 Pl ]
Preferrad stock
Baginmng balance $ 1208 f 10208 & 11,303
ssued 2,175 350 1,100
Redeemead |2,678) [350) 11,1081
Er'rdlng Balancs 10,703 11,200 11.203
Common stock
Baginning balance g =] =1
fssued - - -
Ending balanca 9 9 ]
Share-based awards
Baginning balance 3488 2,195 2,845
lssuance and amortization of share-basad awards 2,527 1,967 2073
Dalvery of commaon stock undardying share-based awards {1,626) {1,800 {1,6231
Forfoiture of share-based awards (158) I5a e
Ending balance 4,211 3,458 3,185
Additienal paid-in capital
Baginning balanca 55,679 Ed4.833 54,005
Dalvary of common stock undardying share-based awards 1.678 1.619 1,617
Cancellation of shave-based aveards in satisfacton of withholding tax requiremants [984) v (743
issuance costs of redesmad preferred stock 24 - 4
(hhar {1 ] -
Erdding balance GE.396 55,679 Ga. 853
Ratained earnings
Baginning halance, as previously repoad 112,947 106,465 100,100
Cumulatree effect of change m accounting panciple for

Currant expacted credit losses, net of tax - [&33) -

Laasas, net of tax — - 12
Beginning balance, edusted 112,947 106,827 100,112
Mat sarmings 21,635 9,455 B 486
Dnndands and deedend equivalents declared on common stock and share-based awards {2.2a87) 11,795) {1,544)
Diidends declarad on preferred stock [dd3) [54:3) ()
Prefamred stock radamption premaurm (41} 11 [i£]]
Ending balance 131.811 112,947 106,465
Accumulated other comprehensive income/{loss)
Baginming balanea 11.434) 1,454) B3
Oihar comprahansms meomailoss (834) 50 (2.977
Ending balance {2.068) 11.434) 11.4&4]
Stock held in treasury, at cost
Baginmng balance (85,940) {8 Q0G0 {78670
Repurchased 15.200) {1,928 5,335
Raigsuad 1 11 12
Othar {7 [17) 13
Ending balanca 191,138) 1BR.240) 184, 008]
Total shareholders’ equity 5109528 § 95302 § 90765

The sccomparying roles are an imfegral pan of thess consobdated feancial stabemends
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Yoar Endod Decombsa

5 m mubpns 2021 i) 2019
Cash flows from operating activities
Met aarnings $ 283 £ 0455 3 8466
Adustrmants to reconcile et samings to nat cash provded byflused for) cperating activities
Drapreciation and armartzation 2,015 1,902 1,704
Defered ncoms taves 5 [&33) (334]
Zhare-based compansaton 2,348 1,920 208
Gain related to extngushment of unsecured bomonengs - (13 (24
Provision for cradit losses 357 3,088 1,065
Changes in oparating aase1s and kabilines
Custorner and othar recenables and payablas, net 21.9M {20,695 17,653)
Collateralized transactions {exchiding other sacured financings), nat {70,058) 113,007 O a1
Trading assets 15232 [33,405) |68, BE)
Teading labilibes 26,616 B2 1231)
Loans held for sale. net 15,558] 1,520 17, 458]
Othar, nat (13, 644) 1,322 |5, 958)
MNat eash prowided byliused fer) eperanng acivities 921 13.723) 23,868
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, leasehold improvements and aquipmeant {4,667) 16,309 {8, 443)
Proceeds fram sales of proparty, leasshald improvarmants and squiprment 3,933 2970 6,632
Mat cash used for business acquesions - i ] (B0
Furchasa of investmants {38,912) (48 870 |29, 773}
Pracaeda fram sates and paydowns of mvestmanta 45,701 20,057 17.812
Leans [exchuding ioans hald for salal, nat 135.520) 111,173) 19.661)
Mit cash used for invasting acthmlies |20,465) {34, 355) |24, 236]
Cash flows from financing activities
Unsacured shori-tarm bamowings. na 2,137 7,707 4
Othee secured financings (shari-leem), net {1,320} Y | {2, 0540]
Proceads from ssvance of othaer secured fmancings (long-tarm) 4,795 8,073 7,857
Repayrnant of othar secured finsnaings long-tarml, incluging tha currant posticn {6.,590) @130 {7.468]
Purchase of Trust Prefered secunthes - (A4 1] {2061
Proceeds from ssuance of unsecured long-1erm borrewings 92,717 473560 22,381
Repayrment of unsecurad lengtarm bommawings, mcluthng the currant parbon (52,608) (66,0400 |43, 936]
Darnaative contracts with a finanaing elemant, nat 1.1 1,087 3,952
Depoaits, net 103,538 67,343 3.4
Prafered stock rademption |2,675) (3800 [1,.100]
Comman atock tepurchased 5,200) 11,928) {6, 335]
Sattlement of share-baged awards in satislaction of withholding tax requinemeants (285) (5300 (745]
Dindends and dredend aquivalents peod on common stock, preferned stock and share-based awards  [2.726) {2,336) 12,104]
Proceeds from issuance of preferned stock, nat of issuance costs 2172 k= 1,088
Oiher financing. nat 361 352 345
Mat cosh prowided by financing acteities 134,738 70,380 3,367
Mat ncraasa in cash and cash equivalants 105,154 22,295 2,999
Cash and cash squvalents, beginning balancs 155,842 133,546 130,647
Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance $2B81.038 $156842 §133.546
Supplemental disclosures:
Cash payments for intarest, met of capaalized intarast $ 5B § 9087 § 16845
Cash payments for incoma taxes, net $ 6186 & 2754 2§ 1,366

Sem Motes 17 and 18 for mlatraion sbout non-cish SEihbe

Th Jzcompaening Rotes ang a0 irtagral pan of Thase conscldmad fraecinl SLnTS
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1.
Description of Business

The Goldman Sachs Group, Ine. (Growp Inc. or parent
companyh, a Delaware corporation, together with s
consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the firm), isa leading
global fnancial instirutmon that delivers a broad range of
financial services across mvestment banking, - securitics,
investment management and consumer banking o a large
and diversified client base rthar includes corporations,
financial  msomwnons,  governmentss and  individuals,
Founded in 1869, the firm is headguartered in New York
and maintains offices in all major financial centers around
the world.

The firm repores its activities in four business segments:

Invastment Banking

The firm provides a broad range of investment banking
services to a diverse group of corporations, financial
institutions, investment funds and governmenes, Services
include stravegic advisory assignments with respect o
mergers and acquisitions, divestitures, corporate defense
activities, restructurings and spin-offs, and equity and debe
underwriting of public offerings and privare placements,
The firm also prowides lending o corporate clicnrs,
including relationship lending, middle-marker lending and
acquisition financing. The firm also provides tramsaction
banking services to certain corporate clicnrs,

Global Markets

The firm Facilitages client transactions and makes markers
in fixed income, equity, currency and commodity products
with anstitutional clients, such as corporations, financal
institutions, investment funds amd governments, The firm
alsa makes markers in and clears insmunional client
rranscrions on major stock, oprions and fureres exchanges
worldwide and provides prime brokerage and other equiries
financing activities, mcluding securities lending, margin
lending and swaps. The firm also provides financing o
clients through securities purchased under agreements o
resell (resale agreements), and through structured eredie,
warchouse and asset-backed lending,

EDINETOOOO
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Asset Management

The firm manages assers and offers investment produces
(primanly through separately managed accounms and
commingled vehicles, such as mual funds and privae
investmeny funds) across all major asser classes 1o @ diverse
ser of instimuticnal clients and a nerwork of third-parry
distriburors around the world. The firm makes equiry
imvestments, which include alternanve mveseing activites
related to public and private eguity investments in
corporate, real estate and infrastructure assers, as well as
investments  through  consolidarted  investment  entities,
substantially all of which are engaged in real estate
investment activities. The firm also invests in corporate
debr and provides financing for real estane and orther assers,

Consumer & Wealth Management

The firm provides investing and wealth advisory solutions,
including financial planning and counseling, executing
brokerage rransacrions and managing assers for individuals
in irs wealth management business. The firm also provides
loans, acceprs deposis and provides investing services
through it consumer banking digital platform, Mareos by
Coldman Sachs, and through is private bank, as well as
issues credit cards to consumiers,

Mote 2,
Basis of Presentation

These consolidoted financial starements are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepred in
the United Srares (LS. GAAP) and include the accounes of
Group Inc. and all other entines in which the firm has a
contralling financial interest. Intercompany transacrions
and balances have been eliminated.

All references to 2021, 2020 and 2019 refer o the firm's
years ended, or the dares, as the context requires,
December 31, 2021, December 31, 2020 and
Drecember 31, 20019, respectively. Any reference to 2 future
year refers to a year ending on December 31 of thar year,
Cerrain reclassifications have been made o previously
reporied amounrs ro conform ro the current presenrarion.

Galdrman Sachs 2027 Form 10 126
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Mote 3.
Significant Accounting Policies

The firm's significant accounting policies include when and
how to measore the fair value of assers and labilities,
measuring the allowance for credie losses on loans and
lending commitments accounted for at amortized cost, and
when o consolidate an conry. See Note 4 for policies on
fair value measuremenrs, More ¥ for policies on the
Allowance for credir losses, and below and Nowe 17 for
policies on consolidarion accounting. All other significant
acconnting policies are either deseribed below or included
in the following footmotes:

Fair Value Measuremenis Now 4
Trading Assers and Liabilities Mote §
Trading Cash Instrumenrs Mot &
Derivatives and Hedging Activities Mote 7
Invesmments Mo &
Lesans Nuote 9
Fair Value Option Mot 10
Coltareralized Agreements and Financings Mo 11
Ohther Assers Mote 12
Deposies More 13
Unsecured Borrowings Mot 14
Other Liabilities Mote 15
Securitization Activities More 16
WVarialle Interest Eneities Nuote 17
Commirmenrs, Connngencies and Guaranees None 18
Sharcholders’ Equity Mote 19
Regularion and Capiral Adequacy Mote 20
Farnings Per Common Share Mote 21
Transactions with Affiliared Funds Mote 22
Interest Income and Intercst Expense More 23
Income Taxes Mote 24
Business Segments Mote 25
Credit Concenteations More 26
Legal Proceedings Mote 27
Emplovee Benefir Plans Mo 28
Employes Incentive Plans Mote 29
Parenr Company Mote 30

126 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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Consolidation

The firm consolidates entities in which the firm has a
controlling financial interest, The firm determines whether
it has 2 controlling financial interest in an ennty by fiest
evaluaring whether the entity is 2 voring ingesest enrity or
variable inrerest enticy (VIE)L

Voting Interest Entities. Young interest entitics are
entiries in which (i) the roml equiry investment ar risk is
sufficient to enable the ennry w0 finance its acrivires
independently and {ii) the equity holders have the power o
direct the acovites of the entity thar most significantly
impact its economic performance, the obligation o absorb
the losses of the entity and the right o receive the residual
returms of the entity. The usual condition for a controlling
finangial inreresrin a voring interest entity is ownership of a
majarity voring interest. If the firm has a comrolling
IFEAJOTIEY VOUIg ingerest in a voling interest entity, the entiry
isconsolidared,

Variable Interest Entities. A VIE s an entiry thar lacks
ong or more of the characreristics of a voring interest camry,
The firm has a conrrolling financial inrerest in a VIE when
the firm has a variable intercst or inerests thar provide i
with (i) the power to direcr the activities of the VIE thar
mast significantly impact the VIE's economic performance
and {ii) the obligation o absorb losses of the VIE or the
right to receive benehits from the VIE thar could potentially
be significant 1o the VIE, Se¢ Nowe 17 for farther
informarion abour VIEs,

Equity-Method Investments. When the firm does nam
have a controlling financial interest in an ity bur can
exert significant influence over the entiny’s operanng and
financial policies, the invesrment is generally accounted for
ar fair value by elecring the fair value opnon available under
LLS. GAAP. Significant influcnce generally exists when the
firm owns 20% o 507 of the entitys common stock or
in=substance comman stock,

In certain cases, the firm applies the equity method of
aFcounting to new imvestments that are strategic in nature
or elosely related 1o the firm®s principal business activinies,
when the firm has a significanr degree of involvement in the
cash flows or operations of the investee or when cost-
benefit considerarions are less significant, See Notwe 8 for
further informarion abour equiry-method investments,

469/597
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Investment Funds. The firm has formed investment funds
with third-party investors. These funds are typically
organized as limited parmesships o limited  labaliee
companies for which the firm acrs as general partner or
manager. Gemerally, the firm does nor hold 2 majority of
the cconomic interests in these funds, These funds are
wsually voting interest ennnes and gencrally are not
consolidated because third-party invesrors typically have
rights to terminate the funds or o remove the fiom as
general partmer or manager. Investments in these funds are
generally measured at net asset value (NAV) and are
included in investments, See Motes £, 18 and 22 for further
information about investments in funds,

Lse of Estimates

Preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires  management to make certain estimares and
assumprions, the most impostane of which relare 1o fair
value messuremens, the allowance for credin losses on
loans and lending commirments accounted for ar amormzed
cost, accouniing for goodwill and identfiable mangible
aswers, provisions for losses that may arise from lingation
and regulatory  proceedings  {including  governmental
investigations), and accounting for income taxes, These
estimates and assumprions are based on the bese available
informaion bur acoeal resuls could be marerially different,

Revenue Recognition

Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value. Trading
asscrs and liabilities and certain invesoments are careied ar
fair value either under the fair value oprion or in accordance
with other U.S. GAAP. In addinion, the firm has elected o
account for certain of its loans and other financial assers
and liabiliries at fair value by electing the fair value oprion.
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that
would be received to sell an asset or paid o ansfer a
Tability in an  ocderly  tramsaction  between  market
participants at the measurement date, Financial assers are
marked 1o bid prices and financial labilities are marked ro
offer prices. Fair value mepsurements do nor include
rransction costs. Fair value gains or losses are generally
ncluded i marker makmg or other princaipal transactions,
See Mote 4 for further information about fair value
eSS,

EDINETOOOO
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Revenue from Contracts with Clients. The firm
recognizes revenue carmed from contracts with clients for
services,  such  as  investment  banking,  investment
management, and execution and clearing (contracts with
cliems), when the performance obligations relared 1o che
underlying rransaction are complered.

Hevenues  from  comraces with  clients  represens
approximarely 45% of roral non-interest revenues for both
2021 and 2020 (incleding approximacely 90% of
investment  banking revenues, approximarely 95%  of
invesmment management revenues and all commissions and
feesh, and approximately 45% of ol non-interess
revenues for 2009 (including approsimately 83%  of
investment  banking revenues, approximately 95% of
INVESEMENT Management revenues anvd all commissions and
feesh, See Mote 25 for informarion abour ner revenues by
business segment,

Investment Banking

Advisory. Fees from financial advisory assignmenrs are
recognized in revenues when the services relared 1o the
underlying rransaction are complered under the rerms of the
assignment. Nonerefundable  deposits and  mulestone
payments im connection with  financial - advisory
assignments are recognized in revenues upon completion of
the underlying transaction or when the assignment s
otherwise concluded.

Expenses associated with financial advisory assignments
are recognized when incurred  and are included in
eransaction based expenses, Client reimbursements for such
expenses are included in invesiment banking revenoes,

Underwriting. Fees from underwrinng assignments are
recognized in revenues upon complerion of the underlying
eramsacrion based an the rerms of the assignment.

Expenses associated with onderwriting assignments are
generally deferred until the relared revenue is recognized or
the assignment is atherwise concluded, Sech expenses are
included in rransacrion based expenses for complered
ﬂHSi.j.‘u'l'l'l'lEl'lTH.
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Investmem Management

The firm earns management fees and incentive fees for
imvestment management services, which are included
investment  management  revenwes,  The  firm makes
payments ro brokers and advisors relared ro the placement
of the firm's investment funds {dissribucion fees), which are
included in rransaction based expenses.

Management Fees. Managemenr fecs for murual funds
are caleulared as a percentage of daily ner asser value and
are received monthly. Management fees for hedge funds
and separatcly managed accounts are calcolared as a
percentage of month-end net asser valoe and are generally
received quarterly. Management fees for private equity
funds are calculated as a percentage of monthly invested
capital or committed capital and are received quarterly,
semi-annually  or  amnually, depending on the  fund,
Manmagement fees are recognized over time in the period the
services ane provided.

Distriburion fees paid by the firm are calcolared based on
either a percentage of the management fee, the invesrment
fund’s ner asser value or the commirred capital. Such fees
are included inrransaction based expenses.

Incentive Fees. Incentive fees arc calculared as o
percentage of a fund's or separarely managed account’s
remrn, of excess return above a specified benchmark or
other performance target. Incentive fees are generally based
on investment performance over a twelve-manth period or
over the life of a fund, Fees thar are based on performance
over 2 twelve-month pertod are subject w0 adjustment prios
to the end of the measurement period. For fecs thar are
based on investment performance over the life of the fund,
futwre invesrment underperformance may require foes
previously dismributed to the firm ro be returmed to the fund.

Incentive fees eamned from a furd or separarely managed
account are recognized when iris probable thar a significant
reversal of such fees will nor oecur, which is generally when
such fees are no longer subject to flucmarions in the marker
value of investments held by the fund or separately
managed account, Therefore, mcentive fees recognized
during the period may relate to performance obligations
satesfied in previous periods.

128 Goldrman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

Commissions and Fees

The firm carns commissions and fees from executing and
clearing client rransactions on stock, aptions and fatares
markees, as well as over-the-counter (OTC) rransacrions,
Commissions and fees are recognized on the day the reade is
exccuted. The firm also provides third-party rescarch
services to clients In connection with cerrain soft-dollar
arrangements. Third-party research costs incurred by the
firm in connection with such arrangements are presented
net within comnmussions and fees.

Remaining Performance Qbligations

Remaining performance obligarions are services that the
firm has committed to perform in the future in connection
with s contraces with clients, The firm's remaining
performance  obligations are generally  related o s
financial advisoey assignments and cergain investment
management acivities, Revenues associared with remaiming
performance obligations relatng 1o financial advisory
assignments cannot be determined unril che ourcome of the
tramsacoion.  For  the brm's  mvestment  management
activitics, where Fees are calculated based on the net asser
value of the fund or separately managed account, future
revenues associated with such remaining performance
ehligarions cannot be determined as such fees are subject 1o
flucruations in the marker value of invesrments held by the
fund or separarcly managed accounr.

The fiem s able 1o dererming the furure revenues associared
with management fees caloulared based on commired
capital. As of December 2021, substandally all furure ner
revenues associated with such remaining performance
ehligarions will be recognized throogh 2029, Annual
revenues associated with such performance obliganons

average less than 8250 million throwgh 2029,

Transfers of Financial Assets

Transfers of financial assers are accounted for as sales when
the firm has relinguished control over the assets transferred.
For transfers of financial assets accounted for as sales, any
gains o losses are recognized moner revengs, Assets or
liahilitics thar arise from the firm’s continuing involvement
with transferred financial assers are inially recognized ar
fair walue. For ransfers of fAnancial assces thar are nor
accounted for as sales, the assers are generally mcluded
trading assets and the transfer is accounted for as a
collateralized financing, with the related interest expense
recogmized over the life of the transaction, See Note 11 for
further information abour transfers of financial assers
accoumed for as collateralized financings and Note 16 for
further informanon abowr rransfers of financial assers
accouned for as sales,
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

The firm defines cash equivalents as highly liquid overmighe
deposits held in the ordinary course of busingss, Cash and
cash equivalents included cash and due from banks of
S10.14 billion as of December 2021 and $11.95 hillion as
of Drecember 2020, Cash and cash equivalents also included
interest-bearing deposits with banks of $230.40 billion as
of December 2021 and 514389 hillion a5 of
December 2020.

The firm segregates cash for repulatary and other purpeoses
refared to client acoviry. Cash and cash cquivalents
scgregated  for regulatory and other  purposes were
§24.87 billion as of December 2021 and 524,52 hillion as
of December 2020, In additon, the firm segregases
securities for regulatory and other purposes related to chient
acriviry. See Note 11 for forther informanon  abowe
segregared securinics,

Customer and Other Receivables

Customer and other receivables included receivables from
customers and counterparrics of $103.%82 billion ax of
December 2021 and $82.39 billion as of December 20200,
and receivables  from  brokers, dealers and clearing
organtzatons of $56.85 billion as of December 2021 and
£38.94 billion as of December 2020, Such receivables
primarily consst of customer margin loans, receivables
resulting from unsertled rransactions and collareral posred
in connection with certain derivarive transacrions,

Subsmantially all of these receivables are accounted for ar
amortized cost ner of any allowance for credir losses, which
gencrally approximares fair valoe, As these receivables are
nar aceounted for ar faie value, they are not included i the
firm's fair value hicrarchy in Notes 4 through 10, Had these
receivablis been included in the firm®s fair value hierarchy,
substannally all would have been classified in level 2 as of
both December 2021 and December 2020, See Mote 10 for
further information about costomer and other receivables
accounted for at fair valoe under the fair value apkn,
Interest on customer and orther receivables s recognized
over the life of the rransacrion and mcluded in interest
GO,

Customer and other recetvables includes receivables from
conreaces with clients and conreact assers. Conteacr assers
represent the firm's righr o receive consideration for
services provided in connection with its contracrs with
clients for which collection 15 conditional and not merely
subject to the passage of tme. The finn's receivables from
contracts  with  clients  were 3301 hilion as  of
December 2021 and $2.60 billion as of December 2020, Az
of both December 2021 and December 2020 contract assers
were nid mearerial,
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Customer and Other Payables

Customer and  other  payables included payables 1o
customers and comterpartics of 5241.93 billion as of
December 2021 and $183.57 kallion as of December 2020,
and payables ro brokers, dealers and clearing oeganizarions
of 510040 billion as of December 2021 and 37,09 billion ax
of December 2020, Such payables primanly consist of
customer credit balances related to the Arm's prime
brokerage activities. Costomer and other payables are
accounted for ar cost plus accrued interest, which generally
approximates fair value. As these payables are not
accounted for ar fair value, they are not included in che
firm's Fair value hierarchy in Notes 4 through 10, Had these
payables been inclided in the firm's fair value hicrarchy,
subsrantially all would have been classified in level 2 as of
both December 2021 and December 2020, Inrerest on
customer and other payables is recognized over the life of
the transaction and mcluded i interest expense.

Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

To reduce credit exposures on denvatives and securiies
firancing mransactions, the firm may enter into master
nerting agreements or similar arrangements {collecrively,
netting agreements) with counterparties thae permit it o
offset receivables and payvables with such counterparnes, A
nerting agreement is a contract with a counterparey thar
permits net sertlement of mulriple rransacrions with thar
counterparty, including wpon the excreise of rerminarion
rights by a non-defanlring party. Upon exercise of such
termination rights, all transactions geverned by the netting
agreement are terminated and a net serdement amount is
calculared, In addition, the firm receives and posts cash and
securities collareral with respect 1o is derivarives and
secirities financing rransactions, subject 1o the rerms of the
relaved erediv support agreements o similar arcangements
(eollecrively, credic supporr agreements). An enforceable
credit support agreement grants the non-defaulning parry
exercising rermination rights the right o liquidare the
collateral and apply the proceeds to any amounts owed. In
order to assess enforceability of the firm's right of setoff
under nerting and credit suppore agreements, the firm
evaluates varions factors, including apphicable bankruprey
laows, local starures and regulatory provisions in o the
jurisdierion of the partics to the agreement,
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Derivatives are reported on a net-by=counterparty  basis
{i.e., the ner payable or receivable for derivative assers and
liabilities for a given counterpartyl m the consolidared
Iralanige sheets when a legal righr of setoff exisrs under an
enforceable nerring agreement. Resale agreements and
securiries sabd under agreements ro repurchase (repurchase
agreements)  and  securities borrowed  and  loaned
transactions with the same term and corrency are presented
o a net-by-counterparty basis in the consolidated balance
sheers when such transactions meet cerrain setelement
criteria and are subject to netting agreements.

In the consolidated balance sheers, derivanves are reported
net of cash collareral received and posted under enforceable
credit support agreements, when transacted  under an
enforceable netting agreement, In the consalidared balance
sheers, resale and repurchase agreemenes, amd securitics
barrowed and loaned, are notr reporred ner of the relared
cash and securiries received or posted as collareeal. Sec
More 11 for further informarion abour collateral received
and pledged, mcluding rights o deliver or repledge
collateral. See Notes 7 and 11 for further information about
offsetting assers and habilities,

Foreign Currency Translation

Assers and liabilines denominated in non-LLS. currencies
are translared ar rates of exchange prevailing on the date of
the consolidared balance shects and revenues and expenses
are transhared ar average rates of exchange for the period,
Foreign currency remeasurcment  gains of losses on
transactrons in nonfunctomal currencies are recognized in
earnings. (mins or losses on rranslation of the financial
statemnents of a non-1L5. operation, when the functional
currency is other than the US. dollar, are included, net of
hedges and raxex, i the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income,

Recent Accounting Developments

Measurement of Credit Losses on  Financial
Instruments (ASC 226). In June 2016, the FASE issued
ASU Mo, 2006-13, “Financial Tnstruments — Credic Losses
(Topic 326) — Measurement of Credin Losses on Financial
Insrruments.” This ASU amends several aspecrs of the
measurement  of coredit losses on cermin  financial
mseruments, including replacing the exisnng meurred credic
loss model and other models with the Corrent Expected
Credie Losses (CECL) mode] and amending certain aspecrs
of accounting  for  purchased  financial  assets  with
deterioration i ¢redie guality since origination,

120 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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The firm adopred this ASU in Jaowary 2020 under a
modified retrospective approach. As a result of adopting
thix AU, the firm’s allowance for credin losses on financial
assers and commitments thar are measured ar amermzed
cost refleces management's estimare of credin losses over the
remaining expected life of such assers. Expecred credir

losses

recogmized  fnancial  assers  and

commitments, a5 well as changes to expected credic losses
during the periodd, are recogmized in earnings. These
expected credie losses are measured based on historical
experience, current conditions and forecasts that affect the
collectability of the reported amount,

The cumulative effect of measuring the allowance under

CECL 2% a

result of adopring this ASU as  of

January 1, 2020 was an increase in the allowance for credir
losses of 3848 million. The incrcase i the allowance is
driven by the face thar the allowance wader CECL covers
expeoted credir losses over the full expecred life of the loan
portfolios and also mkes into account forecases of cxpected
future economic conditions. In addition, in accordance with
the ASU, the firm elected the fair value option for loans thar
were  previously accounted for as Purchased  Credir
Impaired (PCIY, which resulted in o decrease 1o the
allowance for PO loans of $16% million. The cumulative
effect of adopring this ASU was a decrease to remined
carnings of 56 38 million {ner of mx).

Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on
Financial Reporting (ASC 848). In March 2020, the FASE
isued ASL MNoo 220404, *Reference Rare Beform —
Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform an
Financial Reporting.” This ASU provides opiional refief
from applying generally accepred accountng principles to
contracts, hedging relamonships and other  transactions
affected by reference rare reform. In o addigon, in

Januaary 2021

FASE issued ASU Ne. 2021-01,

“Reference Rate Reform — Scope,” which clanified the
scape of ASC B48 relanng ro contract modificanions, The
firm adopred rhese ASUs upon issuance and elecred roapply
the relief available o cermain medified derivanives. The
adoprion of these ASUs did not have a matenial impact an
the firm"s consolidated financial starements.,
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Note 4,
Fair Value Measurements

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount thae
would be received o sell an asset or paid o mransfer a
liability in° an  orderly tramsaction  berween  market
pasticipants af the measurement date, Financial assets are
miarked 1o bid prices and financial liabilivies are marked o
offer prices. Fair value measwrements do ot inclede
reansacrion costs, The firm measures cerrain financial assers
and liabilities as a portfalio {i.c., based on its ner exposure
to market andfor credie risks)

The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an active
market. If quoted prices in active markets are not available,
fair value is determined by reference to prices for similar
instruments, quoted prices or recent transactions in less
active markets, or mrernally  developed  models thar
pramarily wse marker-based or  independently  sourced
inpurs, inchuding, bur nor limired 1o, inrerest rares,
volarilities, equity or debt prices, foreign exchange mnes,
commodiry prices, credin spreads and funding spreads (e,
the spread or difference herween the interest rare ar which a
borrower could finance a given financial insorument relative
tova benchmark interest rare).

LIS, GAAFR has a three-level hicrarchy for disclosure of fair
value measurements. This hierarchy prioritizes inputs o the
valuation technigues used o measwre fair value, giving the
highest priccity to level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to
level 3 inputs, A financial instrument’s level o this
hicrarchy s based on the lowest level of npuar thar is
significant o its fair value measurement, In evaluating the
significance of a valuarion inpur, the firm considers, among
other facrors, a portfelio’s ner nsk exposure 1w thar inpur.
The fair value hicrarchy is as follows:

Level 1. Inpurs are unadjusred quoted prices in acrive
markers to which the hirm had access ar the measurement
date for identical, unrestricted assers or labilinies,

Level 2 Inpurs to valvanon rechmigques are observable,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3. One or more inpurs 1o valuaton rechnigues are
significant and unohservable.
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The fair values for substantially all of the firm's financial
assets and liabilities are based on observable prices and
inputs and are classified i levels 1 and 2 of the fair valoe
hierarchy, Cerraimn level 2 and level 3 financial assers and
liabiliries may require valuaron adjssoments thar a marker
parncipant would requice ro arrive ac fair value for facoes,
suchi as counrerparry and the firm's credit quality, funding
risk, rramster resrricions, liquidity and bid'offer spreads.
Valuation adjustments are generally based on marker
evidence.

The valuation techniques and nature of significant inputs
used to determine the fair value of the firm's financial
instruments are deseribed below. See Notes 5 through 10
for further informanon abour significant unobservable
inputs wsed ro vale level 3 financial instrumenes.

Valuation Technigues and Significant Inputs for
Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans
Level 1. Level 1 instruments mclude ULS. government
obliganions, maost non-ULS, government obligatons, cerram
agency obligations, certaim corporare debr instrumens,
cerrain money market insrruments and acrively readed lisred
equirics. These instruments are valued using gquored prices
for identical unrestricred instruments in active markets. The
firm defines active markets for equiry instruments based on
the average daily trading volume both in absolute rerms and
relative to the market capitalizmnon for the instrument. The
fiemn defines active markets for debr instroments based on
both rhe average daily reading volume and the number of
days wirh rading acriviry.

Level 2. Level 2 insrruments include cermain nom-15S,
government obliparions, most agency obliganons, most
mortgage-backed loans and securines, most corparare debr
msrruments, most state and mumapal obliganons, mose
money market mstruoments, most other debr obliganons,
restricted or less liquid listed equities, certain private
equitics, commodities and certain lemding commitments,

Valuations of level 2 instruments can be verified to quoted
prices, recent trading activity for identical or similar
instruments, broker or dealer quotations ar alternative
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price ransparency.
Consideraton is given to the nature of the quotations (eg.,
indicarive or executable) and the relationship of recens
marker activity 1o the prices provided from alternarive
Pricing sources.
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Valuaton adjustments are typically made to level 2
imstruments (i) if the instrument is subject o eransfer
restrictions andfor (i) for other premiums and liquidiey
discounts thar a marker participant would require roarrive
ar fair value. Valvarion adjustments are generally based on
marker evidence.

Lewel 3. Level 3 instruments have one or more significant
valuation inpurs that are not observable. Absent evidence ro
the contrary, level 3 instruments are ininally valoed ar
reansaction price, which is considered 1o be the besr inirial
estimate of fair value, Subsequently, the firm oses other
methodologies ta determine fair value, whech vary based on
the type of instrument. Valuation inputs and assumptions
are changed when corroborared by substantive observable
evidence, including values realized on sales,

Valuation technigues of level 3 instruments vary by
instrument, but are ]..'cncr;lll;-' based on discounted cash Aow
rechiigues, The valuation rechniques and the nature of
sigmificant impurs used ro derermine the Fair values of each
rype of level 3 instrrument are described below:

Loans and Securities Backed by Commercial Real
Estate

Loans amd securities backed by commercial real estare are
directly or mdirecrly collateralized by a single property or a
portfolio of properties and may include ranches of varying
levels of subordination. Significant inputs are generally
determimed based on relative value analyses and include;

Market vields implied by transactions of similar or relared
assets andfor current levels and changes in market indices,
sueh as the CMBX (an index thar tracks the performance
of commercial morgage bondsl;

Transaction prices in both the underlying collareral and
instruments  with the same o similar  underlying
collareral;

A measure of expected furure cash fows in a defaule
scenario (recovery rates) implied by the value of the
underlying collateral, which is mainly driven by currene
performance  of  the underlying  collareral  and
capiralization raves. Recovery rars are expressed as 2
percentage of nononal or face value of rthe instrument and
reflect the benefit of credit enhancements on cerain
instrumentss and

Timing of expecred funire cash fows (duraton) which, in
cortain cases, may incorporate the impact of any loan
forbearances and  other  unobservable  inputs (e,
prepayment speeds),
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Loans and Securities Backed by Residential Real
Estate

Loans and securities backed by residenrial real estare are
directly  or  direerly  collateralized by portfolios  of
residennial real estare and may include rranches of varying
levels of subordinarton. Significant inpurs are generally
derermined based om relagve wvalue analyses, which
incorporate comparisons to  instraments  with - similar
collateral and risk profiles. Significant inpues include;

Marker viclds implied by rransacrions of similar or relared
RECES

Transacrion prices in both the underlying collareral and
insrrumenes wirh the same or similar underlying collateral;

Cumularive loss expectarions, driven by default rares,
home price projections, residential property liquidanon
nmelines, relared costs and subsequent recoveries; and

Durarion, drven by underlying loan prepayment speeds
and residential property liguidanion rmelines.

Corporate Debt Instruments

Corporate debr instrumenes includes corporare loans, debr
securities and convernble debenrures. Significant inpurs for
corporare debt instruments are generally derermined based
om redative value analyses, which mcorparate comparisons
both v prices of credit defanle swaps thar reference the
same o similar underlying instrument or entity and 1o
other debr instruments for the same or smilar issoer for
which observable prices or braker quorarions are available.
Signi fricame inpaers include:

Marker vields implicd by rransacrions of similar or rebared
assers andfor current levels and rends of marker indices,
such as the CDX {an index thar rracks the performance of
corporate credic);

Cuorrent  performance and recovery assumprions and,
where the firm uses credie defaunle swaps 1w value the
related instrument, the cost of barrowing the underlying
reference obligarion;

Diwrarion: and

Marker and rransacrion multiples for corporate debr
insteuments with convertibiliy or participation aptions,
Equiry securiries consists of privare equities. Recent third-
party completed or pending rransactions {(c.g., Merger
proposals, debr restracturings, tender offers} are considered
the best evidence for any change in fair value. When these
are not available, the following valuanon methodologies
are used, as appropriate:

* Industry multples (primarily EBITDA and revenue
multiples) and public comparables;

* Transscoons in similar instruments;
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= Discounted cash flow technigues; and
* Third-party appraisals.
The firm also considers changes in the ourook for the

relevant mdustry and fnancial performance of the 1ssuer as
compared e projected  performance. Significant inputs
inchade:

+ Market and rransaction muoltiples:
= Disconnt raves and capitalianon rares; and

« For cquiry securities with debre-like fearures, marker vields
implied by transactions of similar or related assers,
current performance and recovery assumprions, and
durarton.

Other Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and
Loans

The significant inpurs o the valuaden of other instruments,
such as non-UL5 government obliganons and U5, and
non-lLS,  agemcy  obliganons, stare  and  munscipal
obligations, and other loans and debt obligatons are
generally derermined based on relagive value analyses,
which incorporate comparisons both fo prices of credi
defaule swaps thar reference the same or similar underlying
instrument or entity and to other debr insiroments for the
same issuer for which observable prices or  broker
quotarions are available. Significane inputs include:

« Marker yields implied by rransacrions of similar or relared
assers andior current levels and rends of marker indices;

« Current performance and recovery  assumprions and,
where the firm uses credic defaulr swaps to value the
related instrument, the cost of borrowing the underlying
reference obligation; and

» Durapion.

Waluation Technigues and Significant Inputs for
Derivatives

The firm’s level 2 and level 3 derivarives are valued using
derivarive pricing models (e.g., discounted cash flow
models, correlation models and models that incorporate
option  pricing  methodologies, such as Monte Carlo
simulations). Price ransparency of denvatives can generally
be characterieed by product type, as described below,

» Interest Rate. In general, the Loy mputs vsed to value
interest rabe derivatives are transparent, even for maost
lomg-dared conteacts, Interest rate swaps and oprions
denominated in the currencies of leading industrialized
naroms are characrerized by high rrading volemes and righe
dioffer spreads. berest rare derivatives thar reference
indices, such as an inflarion index, ar the shape of the yicld
curve (eg., 10-vear swap rare vs, 2-year swap rase] are
more complex, but the key inputs are generally observable.
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« Credit. Price tramsparency for credie default swaps,
including both single names and baskers of credies, varics
by market and underlying reference entity or obligation,
Credit  defaule swaps  thar reference  indices, large
corporates and major sovereigns generally exhibic the
most price ransparency. For credic defaule swaps with
ather underliers, price transparency varies based on credic
rating, the cost of borrowing the underlying reference
obligations, and the availabilite of the wnderlying
reference obligations for delivery upon the defaule of the
issuer. Credit defaule swaps thae reference loans, asset-
backed securities and ermerging market debt instruments
tend 1o have less price transparency than those thar
reference corporate bonds, 1n addition, more complex
credic  derivarives, such as those sensiive 10 the
correlarion berween two or mone underlying reference
obligations, generally have less price rransparency.

Currency. Prices for currency derivanves based on rhe
cxchange rates  of leading  industrialized nadons,
mnclading  those with  longer  tenors, are  generally
transparent. The primary difference between the price
transparency of developed and emerging market currency
derivatives is that emerging markers tend o be only
abservable for conreacts with shorter renors,

Commeodity. Commodity derivatives melude transactions
referenced ro encrgy (eg., oil, natural gas and electracanyl,
merals (g, precious and base) and sofr commodities {e.g.,
agriculmural), Price transparency varies based on the
underdying  commaodity, delivery  location, tenor and
product quality (e.g.. diesel fuel compared to unleaded
gasolinel, In general, price mansparency for commedity
derivatives is greater for contracts with shorter tenors and
contracts that are more clesely aligned with major andfor
benchimark commodity mdices,

Equity. Price rransparency for equity derivatives varies by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the
comimon stock of corporates included in major equity
indices exhibir the most price transparency, Equiry
derivarives generally have observable marker prices,
except for contracts wirh long renors or reference prices
thar differ significantly from current marker prices. Maore
complex equity derivarives, such as those sensitive o the
correlation berween two or more individual srocks,
generally have less price ransparency.

Liguidity is essential wo observability of all product types. If
transaction vaelumes decline, previously fransparent prices
and other inputs may become unobservable. Conversely,
even highly structured products may ar times have trading
volumes large enough to provide observability of prices and
orher inpurs,

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 133

476/597

oOoOooodn



THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Lewel 1. Level 1 derivatives include short=term contracts for
future delivery of securitics when the underlying security is
a level 1 instrument, amd exchange-teaded derivanves if
they are acrively rraded and are valued ar their quored
market price.

Level 2. Level 2 derivaives include OTC derivanives for
which all significant valuarion inpurs are corroborared by
marker evidence and exchange-mraded derivarives thar are
not actively raded andfor thar are valued vsing models thar
calibrate ro market-clearing levels of OTC derivarives.

The selection of a particular model o value a dervanive
depends on the conractual terms of and specific risks
inherent in rthe instrument, as well as the availabiliy of
pricing informaton e the marker. For derivatives thar
trade in liquid markers, model selecoon does not mvalve
significant  management judgment because outpurs of
models can be calibrated 1o market-cleaning levels,

Waluation models require a variety of inputs, such ax
contractual terms, market prices, vield curves, discount
rates {including those derived from interest rates on
collareral received and posted as specified in credi suppaor
agreements for collareralized derivarives), credit curves,
mezsures of volatiling, prepayment rares, loss severity rares
and correlations of such inpurs. Significanr inpurs o the
valuations of level 2 derivanives can be verified o marker
tramsactions, broker or dealer guotations or  other
alternative pricing sources with ressonable levels of price
transparency, Consideration is given to the nature of the
quotations  (e.g., indicarive or execurable) and  che
rebationship of recenr marker acriviry ro the prices provided
from alermarive pricing sources.

Level 3. Level 3 derivarives are valued using models which
vrilize observable level 1 andfor level 2 inpurs, as well as
unabservable level 3 inpurs. The significant unobservable
inpurs wsed v value the firm®s level 3 derivatives are
described helow.

For level 3 imrerest rare amd cwrrency  derivanves,
significant unobservable inpurs include correlanons of
cerrain currencies and interest races {e.g., the correlation
berwean Euro inflation and Euro interest rates) and
specific interest rate and currency volatilifies.

For level 3 credit derivanves, significant unobservable
inputs include illigquid credit spreads and vpfront credic
poins, which are unigue to specific reference obligations
and reference entities, and rocovery rates,
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* For level 3 commodity derivatives,  significant
unobservable inpurs incude volarilites for options with
strike prices thae differ significantly fram curnent marker
prives and prices or spreads for cerrain products for which
the product qualiey or physical locarion of the commodiny
is not aligned with benchmark indices,

For level 3 equity derivanives, significant unobservable
mpurs generally include equiry volarlity inpurs for
aptions that are long-dated andfor have strike prices thar
differ significanrly  from  corrent marker  prices. In
addition, the valvation of cerain soructured  rades
requires the use of level 3 correlation inputs, such as the
correlation of the price performance of rwo or more
individual stocks or the correlation of the price
pcrfurrl'lauou for a basker of stocks o another asser class,
such as commedinies,

Subsequent fo the mital valuation of a level 3 derivative,
the firm updares the level 1 amd level 2 inpues o reflecr
observable marker changes and any resulting gains and
losses are classified in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed
when corroborared by evidence, such as similar marker
rramsactons, third=party pricing services andfor broker or
dealer quorations or other empirical market data, In
circumstances where the firm cannot verify the model value
by reference to market transactions, it is possible that a
different valuarion masdel could produce 2 marerially
different esrimare of fair value, See Note 7 for further
informarion abour significant unobservable inpurs vsed in
the valuadon of level 3 derivanives.

Valuation Adjustments. Valuarion adjestments are
imtegral 1o determining the fair value of denvanve
portfolios and are wied to adjuse the mid-marker valuanons
produced by derivanive pricing models to the exir price
valuation. These adjustments incorporare bidfoffer spreads,
the cost of liguidity, and credic and funding valuwanon
adjustments, which account for the credit and funding risk
inherent in the wncollateralized portion of dervative
portfolios, The firm also makes  funding  valuarion
adjustments 1o collareralized derivarives where the terms of
the agreement dio nor permic the firm o deliver or repledge
collareral received. Marker-based inpurs are generally used
when calibrating valuaton adjustments ro marker-cleanng
levels.

In addinon, for derivanves that  include significanr
unabservable inpurs, the firm makes model or cxir price
adjustments to account for the valuation uncersaingy
present in the transaction,

477/597

ooOooood



THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Valuation Technigues and Significant Inputs for
Other Financial Instruments at Fair Value

In additon o trading cash instruments, derivatives, and
certain investments and loans, the firm accounts for cermin
of its other financial assers and habilivies ar fair value under
the fair value oprion. Such insruments inclede resale and
repurchase agreements; certain securities borrowed and
loaned transactions; certain custoaner and other receivables,
mcluding certam margin loans; certam time deposits,
including  structured  certifecates of deposi, which are
hybrid financial instrumenes; substantially all other secured
financings, including transfers of assers accounted for as
financings; <ertain  unsecured  short- and  long-term
borrowings, substantally all of which are hybrid financial
instruments; and certain ather liabilites. These instruments
are generally valued based on discounted cash flow
technigques, which incorporare inputs with reasonable levels
of price transparency, and are generally classified in level 2
because the inputs are observable. Valuation adjustments
may be made for liquidity and for counterparty and the
firm’s credin qualiey, The significant imputs wsed to value the
firm’s other financial instruments are described below,

Resale and Repurchase Agresments and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned, The significant inpurs o the
valuation of resale and repurchase agreements and
securitics borrowed and loaned are funding spreads, rhe
amount and nming of expecred furure cash flows and
inrercst rates.

Customer and Other Receivables. The significant inpurs
i thie valuarion of receivables are inrerest rates, the amount
and miming of expected future cash flows and funding
spreads,

Deposits. The significant inputs to the valuanon of dme
deposits are interest races and the amownt and oming of
future cash flows. The mputs wsed o value the embedded
derivative component of hybrid financial instruments are
consistent with the nputs wsed to value the firm's other
derivative instroments described above, See Note 7 for
further infarmarion abowr derivarives and Nore 13 for
further informanon abour deposins.

Other Secured Financings. The significant inpurs to the
valuarion of other secured fnancings are the amount and
timing of expected furure cash flows, interest rares, funding
spreads and the fair value of the collateral delivered by the
firm {deeermined using the amount and fming of expected
future cash flows, market prices, market yiclds and
recovery assumptions). See Mote 11 for further information
abour other secured financings,
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Unsecured Short- and Long-Term Borrowings., The
significant inputs to the valuation of unsecured short- and
long-term borrowings are the amount and timing of
expeeted furure cash lows, inerest raes, the credit spreads
of the firm and commodicy prices for prepaid commodiny
rransactions, The mpurs wsed 10 value the embedded
derivative component of hybrid financial instruments are
consistent with the inpurs used to value the firm's other
derivative mstruments described above, See Note 7 for
further information about derivatives and Note 14 for
further information aboot borrowings,

Other Liabilities. The significant inputs to the valuation of
other liabilities are the amount and tming of expecred
future cash flows and equity volatlity and correlation
mputs. The inputs used to valiue the embedded derivative
component of hybrid fisancial instroments are consistent
with rthe inpurs used 10 value the firm's ather derivarnive
imseruments  described above. See Mowe 7 for further
imformarion aboeut derivanves.

Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value
The table below presenrs financial assers and liabilites
carried at far value.

A of Decermbe

& i muliores 2021 by mvia]
Tatal lewel T financial assets § EETM 8 263990
Taeal leved 2 fmancial assats 498,527 410,276
Tatal level 3 financial assats 24,083 26,308
Irvestments n funds an MAY 3469 3654
Countemarty and cash collateral nottng 166,041) 771701
Tatal financisl assets at fair value $ 7IEB1E & 527073
Tatal assets $1.463.388 21163008
Tatal level 3 financial assets divided by:

Total assats 1.6% 23%

Total financial assets at far value 34% 4.2%
Taral leved 1 fnancial balulines € 10030 £ EE1Z0
Tatal lewed 2 Fmancial lakilities 403,627 a3 g4
Tatal leved 3 financial labilites 29,169 32930
Counteparty and cash collateral netbng 151.269) 1E0.297)

Total financial lizbilities at fair value $ 491857 § 3EDSTT

Tatal habilmes $1,354.062  §1.067.006
Tatal level 3 nancial labilities divided by:
Total babhites 2.0% 31%
Tota! financial liabilities at Fair valus 5.9% 35%

In the table above:

+ Counterparty nering among positions classified in the
same level is included i thae level:

« Counrerparry and cash collareral neming represents the
impact on derivarives of nerring across levels.

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 136
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The table below presents a summary of level 3 financial
ansers,

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

Gains and Losses from Market Making
The table below presents market making revenues by major
product pype.

A5 ol Dby
# i maliong 2021 2000 woar Encled Cacanbe
Trading assels £ in mdions 20 2020 s
Trading cash instruments % 1,888 £ 1,237
o e tUg L IR
Krastinaria BIR IEAF cnancies BB (3767 2902
Loaris 2,354 2,678 Ecpuiitins 8,459 6757 2946
Total 24,083 25305 Commodities 2,196 2,605 356
Tatal $15362 §15526  SE0157

Level 3 financial asscrs as of December 2021 decreased
compared with December 2020, primarily reflecting a
decrease in level 3 investmenis, See Notes 5 through 10 for
further information about level 3 financial assets (including
information about wnrealized gains and losses related w
level 3 financial assers and rransfers in and our of level 3

MNote 5.
Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assers and  liabiliies  include  wading  cash
insgrumenes and derivanves held in connecrion with the
firm's marker-making or risk managemenr acnvines. These
assirs amd liabilines are carried at fair value cither under the
fair value option or in accordance with other LS, GAAP,
and the related fair value gains and losses are generally
recognized in the consolidared starements of camings.

The table below presents a summary of trading assers and
liabilities.

Trachng Trahng
£ in rmBons Aot Linkslities

As of December 2021
Trading cash instrunmsants

$311956 §129.401

Dairvatimves B3 080 51 495%
Tastal 5375916 S181.424
As of December 2020

Trading cash instrurmants 5334040 8 85136
Darnvatves 68,581 53,581
Tatal $303.830  S1E37ITV

Sce MNote & for further informanon abour trading cash
instruments and Note 7 for further information about
derivatives.

136  Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E

In the rable abowe:

+ Gamnsflosses) include both realized and vnrealized gains
aned losses. Gamsf{losses) exclude relared interest income
and interest expense, See Mote 23 for further information
about interest income and interest expense.

+ Gamsf{losses) imcluded in marker making are primarily
related ro the firm's rmading assers and  liabilines,
including both derivarive and non-denvative fimancial
INSETUMEHES.

+ Cains/{losses) are not representative of the manner in
which the firm manages s business acnvities because
many of the firm's markee-making and client facilitation
sirategies utilize financial instruments across various
product types. Accordingly, gains or losses in ane product
type frequently offser gains or losses in arher product
types. For example, most of the firm's longer-term
derivanves across producr vpes are sensinve o changes
in interest rares and may be economically hedged with
mierest rate swaps. Similarly, a sigmificant portion of the
firm's trading cash instroments and derivatives across
product types has exposure to foreign correncies and may
be economically hedged with foreign currency contracts.
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Note 6.
Trading Cash Instruments

Trading cash instruments consists of instruments held in
connecion with  the firm's  market-making or risk
management activities, These instruments are carried ar fair
value and the related Faie value gains and losses are
recognized in the comsolidared starements of carings.

Fair Value of Trading Cash Instruments by Level
The table below presents mrading cash instruments by level
within the fair value hicrarchy,

& in mifons Livwwal 1 Lwal 2 Loved 3 Toaal
As of Decernber 2021
Assets
Govemimient ard agendcy obbgaticns:
WS § 63388 27427 5 - § MBS
MonlLS mzEd4 1251 ] 48,814

Loans and secunties bached by
Commanci real estate

- 1,17 137 1,854

Retdariial faal astns - 13083 152 13238
Corporate debt instruments 50 EaTd 122 38,782
Seate and murscipal oblgancns - 56] I B04
Db dahit abligations (3] 1,554 B 1,589
Edquitty aszuirbas 105233 2958 156 108,347
Commedities - 7.801 5 7,806
Total & 204,584 F105,503 51803 5 311,956
Liabilities
Gerrniment and agency obligaticns:

(¥R 5 (2.002) 3 [25) § - & (21.027]

MorlU.S (39,983)  (2802) = [42585)
Loans and ascunties bebed by

Commarca real ostale = [4a] [F] [a2)

Fessdarinal fasl astals - (1] - {5}
Corporate debt instrumants (23] {s7e1) (M) 15875)
Edquiby sécurihes 148,991) 1316] (31} (48537)
Total $0109,999) 5119,368) § (104 51129,471|
Az of Decembar 020
Asasts
Gervidrmant ard agency obbgabens

LS $ G24AT0 § 44843 § 0 - f138832

MerllS Ag, a7 1M.5m:1 -] 67423
Loans and secunhes bached by

Cammancal real eL1a%s - Ea7 203 B0D

Pasedartial real astats - &.038 i 7.07%
Coporati Gobl NAYUMens ME FREZ 7aT 31,357
Starte and municipal chligations - s ] - 200
Oibisr debl alligatons i 1,065 19 1,412
Equity securvies 15,300 2506 ks Ten
e = 9,374 = 8,374
Tokal $ 216370 51065447 $1.237 § 324049
Liabilities
Gorvisrmant and sjency oblgabons

U5 5 heEsm § 3 3 - % e

MoaULS. 132,093 (1,793 - 23,284}
Lonnsg and seountias bached by

Commueraal real sstats - 7 in (30 :]

Fesadarial real astate - L] - (L]
Corporate debt mstrumants 2 (7970 {600 B
Seate and murecipal cbligatons - 15 - 8
b debit oblgptons - - P [F]
Equiny Seciutines {45,734} 550 27 #6310
Taz % IB27001 510,345 § 00 § 95108

In the table above:

= Trading cash instrument assers are shown as posinve
amounts and trading cash instrument liabilities are shown
A5 MCEALIVE AN,
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+ Corporate debt instruments includes corporare loans,
debe  securities,  convertible  debentures,  prepaid
commodity rransactions and tramsfers of assets accounted
for as secured loans rather than pllf-i:hilm.:&,

= Other debr obligatons  includes  other  asset-backed
securitics and money market instruments,

= Equity secunties icludes public equities and exchanage-
traded funds,

See Mote 4 tor an overview of the hrm's fair value
measurement policies and the valwanon technigques and
significane inputs used o derermine the fair value of wrading
cash inseruments, See Nore 7 for informarion aboue hedging
activities for preciows merals included in commaodines and
accounred for ar the lower of cost or ner realizable value.
These precious merals are designared m a fair value hedging
relationship, and cherefore their carrving valoe equals fair
value,

Significant Unobservable Inputs

The rable below presenes the amount of level 3 assers, and
ranges and weighted averages of significant unobservable
mputs used to value level 3 trading cash mstroments.

A of Dacambar 2021 Aol Ddainls 2000

Amount or Waightod drmpunt o Yyesghted
5 Ao Range  Averags fangs  Aversgs
Loans and secwrities backed by commercial real estats
Lowed 3 asssts 137 £200
iedd 28% o AB% 12¥Fe LTH220% 9.0%
Rooowery rate S1%tmeEE% BEO0% H1Et849% HTT7TH
Duurataon (yoars) 01 to 4.3 1.8 1.1 w39 5.0
Loans and seowrities backed by residential real ostate
Lewwsd 3 asasts 152 b 3kch]
Fiadd 0.4% to 26.6% T.0%  O6% b 15T 83%
Curnidatres boss rate B 1% 1o 434% 17.7% J4% wd466%  208%
Dt ysars 1w 172 6.5 09 e 161 6.5
Corporate debt instruments
Liewed 3 asants #1118 £rar
Yiedd 0.0% 1o 18.0% 7.4% 06N 1o 30.6% B5%
Recowerny rate 0% e 52O0% 00N TIEES BETR
[huratoon iyears 4.0t 385 &5 Ll o 4.0

As of both December 2021 and December 2024, level 3
government and agency obligations, stare and municipal
obligations, other debr obliganons and commaodines were
not material, and, therefore, are not included in the table
above. In addition, as of both December 2021 and
Drecember 2020, each of the significant unobservable inpurs
for cquity secorities did not have a range as they permined
o individual positons,  Therefore, such  unobservable
inpurs are not included in the mble above.

Galdrman Sachs 2027 Form 10 137
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In the rable above:

* Ranges represent the significant unobservable inpurs thar
were used in the valuaton of each type of wading cash
instrument.

= Weighted averages are caloulared by weighring each input
by the relative fair value of the trading cash instruments.

* The ranges and weighred averages of these inpurs are not
representative of the appropriate inputs to use when
caleulating the fair value of any one trading cash
instrument. For example, the highest recovery rare for
corporate debr instruments is appropriate for valuing a
specific corporate debr instrument, bur may nor be
appropriare  for valuing any other corporate  deb
instrument, Accordingly, rthe ranges of inpurs do naor
represent uncertiney in, or possible ranges of, fair value
measurcments of level 3 rrading cash instruments.

Increases in yield, durarion or comularive loss rare wsed in
the valuanon of level 3 trading cash msrruments would
have resulted in a lower Fair value measurement, while
increases in recovery rate would have resuleed ina higher
fair value measurement as of both December 2021 and
December 2020, Due 1o the distinetive natare of each
level 3 prading cash instrument, the interrelarionship of
inputs is not necessarily uniform within each produce
rype.

« Trading cash imsrruments are valued wsing discounted
cash Mows,

Level 3 Roliforward
The rable below presents a summary of the changes in fair
value for level 3 rrading cash imseruments,

Waar Ersdeed Decomber
£ /0 milions ol 200
Tatal trading eash instrumaent assets
Begninmg balance £1.237 51,242
Met realmed gainsilosses) i) =3
Mgl unrgalized ganaflosses] 52 &3]
Purchases 1.241 156
Sales [45E) 4111
Sattlerments [273) (2661
Transfers o lewel 3 72 166
Transfess out of lewed 3 [364) 2031
Encling balance £1.889 £1,237
Total trading cash instrumant liabilities
Eeginnng balance & (B0) % Q7H
Mt realized gainsilosses) 6 -
Mot unmgalzed gainaflosses) (L] VE
Purchases EL =1
Sales 164) 1381
Sattlermnents 12 k-
Transfers mio lewel 5 {18} 2T
Transfers out of lawved 3 & 230
Enclin! balance S[14) 3 B

128 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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Int the rable above:

» Changes in fair value are presented for all rading cash
instroments that are classified in level 3 as of the end of
the period.

Net unrealized gainsflosses) relates to wrading cash
instruments that were still held ar period-end.

Transfers berween levels of the fair value hierarchy arc
reported at the beginning of the reporting period in which
they oceur, 1f a trading cash instrument was transferred to
level 3 during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for
the period is classified in level 3.

For level 3 rrading cash instrument assets, increascs are
shown as positive amounts, while decreases are shown as
negative amounts, For level 3 rrding cash instroment
liabiliries, increases are shown as negarive amounts, while
deceeases are shown as positive amonnts,

Level 3 erading cash  instroments are  frequently
economically hedzed with level 1 and level 2 reading cash
instruments andior level 1, level 2 or level 3 derivanives,
Accordingly, gains or losses thar are classified in level 3
can be parally offser by gains or losses arriburable o
level 1 or level 2 trading cash instruments andfor level 1,
level 2 or level 3 derivatives. As a result, gains or losses
ncladed in the level 3 rollforward below do nor
necessarily represent the overall impact on the firm's
resulis of operations, Bguidiey or capiral resourees,
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The table below presents informartion, by product tvpe, for
assers ineluded in the summary mable above,

Yo Enschind Dpcanibad

& i muliong 021 2000
Loans and securities backed by commorcial real estate

Beginnng balance § M3 £191

Mot realed gaing/losses) T 11

Mai unrealzed gainstlesses) [18) ex]
Furchasss &7 1g
Sales [31) 119
Sentlarments (18} [8d)
Transfers into leved 2 14 il
Traisfers out of lwel 3 [84) {181
Ending balance s 137 $203
Loans and securities backed by residential real estate

Beginnang balarce £ 13 20

Mot realed gaingflosses) 5 11

Mat unrealized gainikessesl 19 X3

Furchasas 68 59
Sales (a4} =]
Santlarments [38) {400
Trarsfers into level 3 8 5
Traisfers out of level 3 (209 i}
Ending balance S 152 $131

Corporate debt instruments

Beginnng balance s 797 fa632

Maei realoed gaingTiosses) 57 47
Mat unrealized gainiukossesl 8 nig
Purchases 94 551

Sales {F30) 233
Settloments {182y 148
Trarsfers into level 3 207 86
Transfers oot of level 3 {153} 1921
Ending balance £1.318 £797
Other

Erg,lnl:rlg balancs £ 10E 138
Mot realoed gaingTiosses) " 3
Mal untealred gainatlodsses) 21 115
Purchases 212 o
Sales [51) 179
Sattlamonts 34 {18
Teansfers mio level 3 23 b
Transfers out of level 3 {2} [11]
Ending balance § 2 £106

In the able above, other includes LL5, and non-ULS,
government and ageney obligatiens, other debr obligations
and equiry securitics.,

Level 3 Rollforward Commentary

Year Ended December 2021, The ner realized and
unrcalized gains on fevel 3 rading cash insrrument assers of
§132 mullion {reflecting $20 mullion of ner realized gains
and 352 million of met unrealized gains) for 2021 included
gains of %45 million reported in market making and
ST million reporred in interest income.

The drivers of the ner unrealized gains on level 3 mading
cash instrament assets for 2021 were nor material.
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Transfers into level 3 mading cash instrument assers during
2021 primmarily reflected transfers of certain corporate debs
imstruments fram level 2 (principally due o cermin
unabservable  vield  and  duration  inpurs becoming
significant 1o the valuation of these insroments, and
reduced price rransparency as a resulr of a lack of marker
evidence, incheding fewer marker ransacnons in these
Imstruments).

Transters ot of level 3 trading cash instrument assers
during 2021 primarily reflected mransfers of cermin
corporate debt mstruments, and loans and securines backed
by comimercial real estate to level 2 fin each case, principally
due ro increased price transparency as a resulr of marker
evidence, including marker  transactions  in these
instruments, and certan unobservable vield and duranon
inpurs mo longer being significant to the valuation of these
insrrumens).

Year Ended December 2020, The ner realiead and
ineealized losses on level 3 rading cash insteument assets of
77 million {reflecting $66 million of ner realived gains and
$143 million of mer wnrcalized losses) for 2020 included
gainsf{losses) of $(123) million reporred in marker making
and 5116 million reported ininteress income.

The net unrealized losses on level 3 trading cash insoromene
assets for 20200 primearily reflected losses on certain
corporate debt instruments {principally driven by wider
credit spreads),

Transters im0 level 3 mrading cash instrument assets during
2020 primarily reflected transfers of certain corporare debe
imstruments fram level 2 {pancipally due to reduced price
rransparency as @ resnlt of a lack of marker evidence,
including fewer marker reansactions in these instruments),

Transfers out of level 3 rrading cash instrument gssers
during 2020 primarily reflected  rransfers of cermin
corporare debr instrumenrs, and loans and securiries backed
by restdennial real esrare o level 2 {in each case, principally
due to increased price transparency as a resulr of marker
evidence, including  meacket  transactions i those
instruments).

Note 7.
Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Derivative Activities

Derivatives are instruments thar derive their value from
underlying asser prices, indices, reference rares and other
inpuits, or 2 combination of these facrors, Denvarives may
be traded on an exchange {exchange-traded) or they may be
privately negotiated contracs, which are usually referred to
as OTC dervarives, Certain of the firm's OTC derivatives
are  cleared and  sewled  through  cenreal  clearing
counterparties (OTC<cleared), while others are bilareral
contracrs berween rwo counterparnes (bilareral OTC)L

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 138
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Market Making, As a market maker, the firm enters o
derivative transactions to provide liquidity to clients and 1o
Facalitare the transfer and hedging of ther risks, In this role,
the firm rypically acts as principal and is required 1o commir
capital to provide exccurion, and maintains marker-making
positions in response to, of i anrciparion of, clienr demand.

Risk Management. The firm also enrers inmo derivanves o
acrively manage risk exposures thar arise from s marker-
making and investing and financing acoviries. The firm's
haoldings and exposures are hedged, in many cases, on either
a porefolio or risk-specific basis, as opposed o an
inserument-by-instrument basis. The offseming impact of
this economic hedging s reflected in the same busines
segment as the relared revenues, In addition, the fimm may
enter into derivatives designated as hedges under US,
GAAP, These derivatives are used o manage inrerest rate
exposure of cermin fised-rare unsecored borrowings and
deposits, foreign exchange risk of cerrain available-for-sale
securities and the mer investment in cermain non-LLS,
operations, and the price nisk of certain commodities,

The firm enrers inro various rypes of derivarives, including:

Futures and Forwards. Conrraces  thar  commir
counterparties 1o purchase or sell financial inscrumenns,
commaoditics or currencies in the furure.

Swaps. Conrracrs  thar  require  counterpartics
exchange cash flows, such as currency or inrerest
payment sreams. The amounts exchanged are based on
the specific terms of the contract with reference to
specificd  rates, financial  instruments,  commuodities,
currencies or indices.

Options. Contracts in which the option purchaser has
the right, but nar the abligation, wo purchase from or sell
to the option writer financial instruments, commaodities
or currencies within a defined time period for a specified
price,

[herivatives are reported on a net-by-comterparty basis (i.e.,
the met payable or receivable for derivative assers and
lrabilines for a given counterparty] when o legal righe of
seroff exists under an emforceable  neming  agreciment
{fcounterparty merting). Drenvanives are accounted for ar fair
value, ner of cash collareral received or posted under
entorceable credit suppor agreements {cash  collareral
netting). Derivative assets are included o rading assets and
derivative  liabilities are included in trading liabilities,
Realized and varealized gains and osses on derivarives not
desagnared as hedges are included i marker making (for
derivarives included in the Global Markers segmentd, and
other principal rransacoons (for derivanves inchaded in the
remaining business segments) in the consolidated starements
of camings. For both 2021 and 2020, substantally all of the
firm's derivatives were incladed in the Global Markers

SEEMLnt.
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The rables below present the gross fair value and the
notional amouns of derivative contraces by major product
tvpe, the amounts of counterparty and cash callateral
nerring in the consolidated batance sheers, as well as cash
and  securities  collateral  posted and  received  under
enforceable credic support agreements rhar do nor meer the
crreria for nerting under LS. GAAT.

Ais of December 20281 S of December 2000
Derivative  Darivative  Donates Dervatns

£ n milVons Assots  Lisbilities Aszzats  Labdiles
Mot accounted lor as hedges

Exchange-maded 3 256 5 8557 & (=7 660
QTCchaaad 13,795 12,632 LR r] 168089
Baareral OTC ZITEYS  FOSOVI 130998 3HITQ
Totsl interest rates 246,645 218,322 357495 3N a3
DT chered 3,BES 3,053 2137 4,517
E.r.lral n] {5 1_5‘,!;91 11,702 12,418 11587
Total eraddt 16,256 15,755 16, 555 1E0ES
Exchange-waced 417 0 133 Fr
DT e chaered 43 z8 a1 531
Edaternl QTC BEOTE BETIE  T0LEI0  WIETE
Teal eurrancios BES16  B6143 102351 103329
Excrange-waded 6534 5,189 4,476 3177
OTC-claered B2 373 195 &7
Edateral OTC 28,359 25,969 9320 13,691
Total eammeditios 35,545 32.531 13,98 18085
Exchange-waded I3 R40 35,518 28,006 =R
OTCclogred E] 3 - i
Eﬂ.ﬁwal OTg 39,718 44, TR0 47 E457 49072
Total equities 73,566 80,273 T6.ET3 §1.018
Subtotsl 458,979 233,024 567.2TE 540307
Accaunted for as hedges

OTC-cloaed 1 - 1 -
Edawral ate 45 = 1,548

Totsl interost rates B45 - 1347 -
OTCchaaed 4 F = &7
E:awral (0] &0 138 4 372
Total currancies 34 166 4 453
Sulbrtotal 1,040 166 1,351 a8

Totsl gross fair wabue 5 459,969 § 433190 5 564600 § 540765

Cteetin the consolidated balance sheets

Emchusnpe-traded $ (35.724) % (35.724) § 1205400 § (29,549
OTC-chesed (16.873) (18,979 213160 (0309
Edateral OTC [279.189)  [279.189) (3720430 [@372.04F

Counterpanty notling (330.892)  [391.882) (473.006) 433008
OTC-clasred 11.033) [ELE] 11,9264 72m
Edateral OTC (63.084) (48.984) (741161 (REadm

Cash collatersl notting B4, 117) (49.345) (Pe.0421 (BBED
Total smounts offeet  S[396,000) $(381,237) 50400 D4 §(457 175

Included in the consolidated balance sheets

EmcFangpe-Sraded $ 53X % &850 E 4731 % 70Ed
OTC-clesed BEE 148 326 188
Edateral OTC 58071 45,255 B4, 625 BE. 141
Total $ 63860 § 519853 f AOES1 & RRSY
Mot offsat in the consclidated balance sheets

Cash colateral § Mods) § (1828 § (979 & (2427
Socurties collatorsl (15,781} (48] (07,207} 13,847
Totsl § 47201 % 42558 T 51,306 % 4520
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Hetroral Amcnts as of December

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

Fair Value of Derivatives by Level

# w1 rrabons 20 200 The rable below presents derivarives on a gross basis by
Not accounted for as hedges rpal P . d . .
rsasspelrnd $ 26098 & 5725568 Feveel and produer type, as well as the impact of nerting.
OTCcleared 17,874,504 13,782,571
Bilateral OTC 11,122,871 11,076,460 % in mdkons Lol 1 Lol 7 Lowval 3 Toial
Total interest rates 31,628,290 2EB.583.509 A of December 2021
OTC<chwared 46T ATT E15,187 T
Bilatoral OTC 516,055 £E8.813 intares? rates % 2 5245525 §1,065 % 247582
Total craedit 1.078,572 1,074,000 ?ﬂdll - m % ;;.;::
UG e -
Exchange-traded 14,617 | 7413 Cornimodities = 4501 1044 35545
DT Cachyarad 194,124 V57 687 Equitres 13 2570 963 73 568
17 s 2,
?LI:EFBFQ-I.. ra E‘Tm? gg‘”gg araad 1o valus 5 453192 6742 459969
DANTECHEE 6,815,658 205, Conbarparty natting in les - [329.184)  (BD4) (329.968)
Exchange-traded 308917 242 183 St $ 35 § 124028 §5.930 5 130,000
OTCcloarad 3,647 2.31% Crast-livel counletpacty netng 1,924
Bilateral OTC 234,322 206,253 Cash colatersl natting (64,117}
Total commodities 546,886 480,761 Mot lair valuse $ 63960
e L1449, 937
EO:'i?C?:Ih?;;:;dBU b mi:; BdaﬂSn lr!'uruﬁlf:hl £ (2] ST 43R 5 [BE2) BZ1RIZZ)
Bilateral OTC LT3 1aesm e B P e
Total equities 2,323,078 2078509 Curtencies - (Bs.925)  (384) (BE.309)
Subtatal 42,393,494 38,386,632 Commodines = (3925 (606) (3T5H)
Accounted for as hodges Equines {z9) (773930 (z8s1)  (s0273)
0T -clpased 214,083 182,311 Graas. dai value 131 (4268570 (6.302) (433190}
Bilatesal OTC 4,459 5541 Countarparty natting in lenss = 329184 BO4 329963
Total interest rates 223,582 188,057 St % 137] § [97.693) H5490) H03222)
— Cross-laval counTer party netrg 1924
OTCclparad 2,758 1,767 Cash codareral nethng £9.345
Bilatacal OTC 18,658 14,055 et lnk valas % (51,3531
Totad currencies 21416 15,822
Euhar-qu-:radud 1,080 - A of Decerriber 7020
Tml:“.! L Zﬂ;mﬂdﬂ = In £297 L367T6RER E 077 S3BEA4AD
Riraal TalEg - !
El.l B0, 14 Crashit - F3. 104 2461 16,555
Total notienal amourits $42,639,542 £38.600,406 Curranciss - e 147 02368
Commoiines = F3.285 T4 13,99
r|'| :h,_- Ii,ll!il.'h '11|'H:*'|-'1:: El\.‘]'njll.li!hI 75 76 0bd 1,7d4d T6873
Grads e value 3rd SE1232 T.025 568619
* Gross fair values exclode the effects of both counterparty Countarparty ratnng o leweks (135) (420,685 [1.0581 [421.878)
H - - i ams Subinoinl $3I37 31490547 SE9ET 5 4ETEY
neeting n!ld milmiu.l‘I. and  therefore  are nat i i Pyt
represenanve of the firm's exposure. Cash collateral netmng (76,0431
v . Mt faer val § 62581
* Where the firm has received or posted collareral under e
eredit support agreements, but has not yer determined |l1'.:rusl'!:las $(220) $I0000 8 (TI0 $321839)
such agreements are enforceable, the relared collareral has Creit — (14395 16731 (16,0680
. Curhandiss - [103.303] assl (903, TES
not been nctied. Carnrredines - (17849 @0El (15085
= MNogional amaouns, w}?i';h FEprEsEnT T}I'u: S ."F!.:{M.h long gﬂ-’;‘z“ e ;:"'3: I;;E.;:;: :2_5'-'5: |5,r2|;2;::
and shorr derivative conrracrs, provide an indicarion of Conniaparty narmng in levels 135 AJOEES 053 A71Am
the volume of the firm's derivarive activity and do not Suioem $ATZF S0113.654] Sie792 SOB.0E
M T e . Cross-invel CoUNE Pty NaTSNg 1,128
represent anticipared losses. Cosh cokierst neting 55188
* Toral gross fair valoe of dervanves included derivanve bt Ao vadu § 55581
assers of 51748 billion as of December 2021 and
In the table above:

52060 Wllion a5 of December 2020, and denvanve
Liabalities of $17.29 billion as of December 2021 and
52298 hllion as of December 2020, which are not
subject to an enforceable netting agreement or are subjece
B0 s nelting  agrecment that the firm  has not vt
determined to be enforceable,

+ Gross fair values exclude the effects of both counrerparry
nerring and collateral neming, and therefore are nor
represenrative of the firm's exposure,
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

« Counterparty nerting s reflected in each level o the = The ranges, averages and medians of these inputs are not
extent that receivable and payable balances are nerred representative of the appropriate inputs o use when
within the same level and & included i connterparty caleulanng the Fur value of any one derivarive. For
nerring in levels, Where the counrgrparty nerming is across example, the highest correlamon  for  inferest  rane
levels, the nerring 15 included in cross-level counrerparry derivatives is appropriare for valuing a specific interesr
NeTng. rare derivarive bur may nor be appropriane for valuing any

ather interest rate derivanive. Accordingly, the ranges of
inputs de not represent uncertaing in, or possible ranges
af, fair value measorements of level 3 derivatives.

* Derivarive assers are shown as pesitive amounts and
derivarive liabiliries are shown as negarive amounes,

See Nore 4 for an overview of the firm’s fair value
mesurement policies and the valuation rechmigues and
sigmficant inputs used to dererming the fair value of
derivarives,

Interest rates, currencics and equities derivarives are
valued using opron pricing models, credir derivanives are
valued using option pricing, correlanon and discounred
cash flow models, and commaodities derivarives are valued
Significant Unobservable Inputs using option pricing and discounted cash flow models,

The mable below presens the amount of level 3 derivarive
assers (liablities), and ranges, averages and medians of
sigmficant unobservable mpurs vsed o value level 3

The fair value of any one instrument mav be derermined
using multiple valuaton technigues, For example, oprion
pricing models and discounted cash flow models are

derivarnves. ; : i
typrically used mogether o determine fair valve. Therefore,
the level 3 balance encompasses both of these techniques,
As of Dicanibae DOE]  As o Decermiber 2020
Amountor  Avemghl | Amountor  Averag = Correlation within currencics and equities includes cross-
£ mallons, ancepd nputs Rangs  Madisn Range  Madun pl-‘l'.lj'l-'ll.-‘l Type correlarion.
intervat rates, net §183 ] .
mwt-clm m;:hmh [ Bl:iw!;g- 559 « Mamral gas spread represents the spread per million
ity (o] 'lu_ 1. o [t o] ) : | . _ ;
et e o Trinish thermal units of narural gas.
S?Iu:_ﬂ*ﬁ':‘zfm; ;:m 1””!.”” :'?mmﬁ ‘m‘; « Ol spread represents the spread per barrel of ol and
Fecovery ratas 20% WB0% TR ZEN 0O LG refined produces,
Currenci t 14 o . gy " :
oo m:}!z ALY % 1,:';?.3,;, 04, *+ Electricity price represents the price per megawatt hour of
Vlasiity 19% 0 18% 19%A18%  18% w 18% 189N electricity.
Commodities, net fre] 300 ;
Velagity 1% 0 8% 3IZ%EY% 16% wETR 3200 Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs
Manumd ges spresd Hidw  $ediy S0 MDA The following provides information abour the ranges of
see0 00T 813 wHooN significant unobservable inputs used 1o value the firm's
S2B4t0 §12.36/ 230w By j arive i %
il spread ST mise i o level 3 derivarive instruments:
Elbenisity prce NS0 §3TAY « Correlation. Ranges for correlation cover a variety qu
52396 S3LI0 M hits underliers both within one product type (eg., equity
Eq: “m“ m‘ﬂﬁ BRI (IO, h?ﬁi! B2 mE e and equiry ai_ngll: stu:llc names) and across producr
Yelatlity T to 150% TTRATH 1N w109 14N types (e, correlation of an interest rare and a currency),
as well as across regions. Gengrally, cross-producr rype
In the rable above: correlation inputs are used o valee more complex

insrruments and are lower than correlation inpurs on

+ Denvative assets are shown as positive amounts and b s il
assets within the same denvartive produoct type.

derivative liabilities are shown as negative amounts,

Volatility. Ranges for  wvolanlity cover  numerons
underliers across a vanety of markets, maturines and
; g ; strike prices. For example, volatility of equity indices i«
» Averages represent the arithmetic average of the inpurs generally lower than volatlity of single stocks,

and are nor weighred by the relanive fair value or notonal

amount of the respective financial instruments. An

average greater than the median indicares that the

majority of inpurs are below the average. For example,

the difference between the average and the median for

credin spreads indicares that the majority of the inpurs fall

inthe lower end of the range.

* Ranges represent the significant unobservable inpurs that
were used in the valuation of cach type of derivarive,
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Level 3 Rollforward
The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair

= Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credie poines

and recovery rates cover 3 varety of underliers (mdex and
single names), regions, sectors, mamrines and credin
qualities (high-vield and invesiment-grade). The broad

satlue for level 3 derivarives,

Waar Endad Dapcernbar

range of this popularion gives rise o the width of the £ in mibons 2021 Soo0
ranges of significant unobservable inpurs, Total level 3 derivatives, nat
: . Beginning balancs £1,175 £ 6

* Commodity prices and spreads. The ranges for 1 csalired garafiosses) 268 226

commodity prices and spreads cover vanability in Mot unreatized gansilossesh 452 812

producrs, marurities and delivery locarions. ;:’Ii'““ " a:] E;HI
Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes Eﬂ,’,’:‘,‘:;‘]‘:;n lovel 3 .EE?% o
in Significant Unobservable Inputs Trarsfers out of level 3 {222 7
The following is a descripion of the direcrional sensitiviey Ending balance $ 440 $1.175
of the firm"s level 3 fair value measurements ro changes in
sigmificant unobservable inpuors, in isolaton, as of each In the table above:

period-end:

» Correlation. In general, for contracs where the holder
benefits from the convergence of the underlying asset or
index prices {eg., interest rates, credit spreads, foreign
exchange rates, inflation rates and equity prices), an
increase in correlarion eesults inoa higher fair value
MEASUECTIENT,

Volatility. In general, for purchased oprions, an ingrease
in volarility resulis in o higher fair value measuremens,

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. In general, the fair value of purchased credi
profeciion increses as credit spreads or upfront credin
ponts increase or recovery rates decrease. Credin spreads,
upfront credic podnes and recovery rates are strongly
related to distincrive risk factors of the underlying
reference obligations, which include reference entity-
specific factors, such as leverage, volamlity and indusery,
marker-based risk facrors, such as borrowing costs or
liquidity of the underlying referemce obligation, and
macroeeanmie conditions,

Commodity prices and spreads. In general, for
contracts where the holder is receiving a commodiry, an
increase in the spread {price difference from a benchmark
index due o differences i gualicy or delivery location) or
price resuls in a higher fair value measurement.

e o the distincnve nature of each of the firm's level 3
derivarives, the interrelationship of inpurs is not necessarily
unifoorm within each producrt rype.

Changes in fair value are presented for all derivarive
assets and liabilities thar are classificd in level 3 as of the
cnd of the peried.

Mer unrealived gainsf{losses) relares o instromenrs thar
were sill held ar period-end.

Transfers berween levels of the fair value hierarchy are
repaoered ar the beginning of the reporing period in which
they occar. If a derivaove was transferred ineo level 3
during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the
periad is clasafied in level 3,

Positive amounts for mansfers into level 3 and negative
amounts for transters out of level 3 represent net rransters
of denvative assets. Negative amounes for transfers into
fewel 3 and positive amounts for transters our of level 3
represent net mransfers of derivanive liabilities,

A derivative with level 1 andfor level 2 inpurs is classified
in level 3 in i ennirery if it has ar least one significant
level 3 inpur,

1f there 1s one significant level 3 input, the entire gain or
loss from adjusting only observable inpues (i.¢, level 1
amdd level 2 inpurs) is classified in level 3.

Gains or losses thar have been classified i level 3
resulting from changes in level 1 or level 2 inputs are
frequently offser by gains or losses anriburable 1o level 1
or level 2 denvarives andfor level 1, level 2 and level 3
rrading cash instromenrs. As a resuly,  gainsd({losses)
included in the level 3 rollforward bhelow do nor
necessarily represent the overall impact on the firm’s
results of operatons, iquidicy or capital resources.,
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The rable below presents infonmation, by produce tepe, for
derivatives included in the summary rable above,

Yaar Erehied Dcarvibng
# i mifiong H0E1 2000
Interest rates, not
Begnnng balince & &7 5 ED
Mot realped gaingTosses] 72 12
Hat unrealized gainatlosses| 36 206
Purchasss 124 12
Sales (341} 1281
Sertlements 18 124)
Trangfers nio el 3 2 3
I‘runﬁlEﬂ ol of lewed 3 (276} x
Ending balance § 183 § 267
Credit, nat
Beginnmg balance £1.778 £1.877
Hat realized gains/losses) {21 ]
Bat unrealzed gairatlesses) a09 110
Purchases 52 ]
Sales 217 ]
Saltlemanis 77 EZxm
Transfers into lewved 3 {7oh AT
Transfers cut of lovel {1} {44]
Ending balance § 1,854 $1.778
Curroncies, not
Begnning balance % (338} £ @1
Het realged gains/losses) 9 1]
il unndalded ganadlosses] 166 210
Purchases 7 1
Lalas {1a} 201
Settlomenis a2z nr
Transfers inlo level 3 7 n
Transfers cut of level 3 16 i)
Ending balance £ (147} £ O3m
Commodities, net
Begnnmg halance 5 300 £ 47
et realmad gairsiilosses) (a0} 1
et unraalzed ganadlosses] 1 165
Purchases 4z 37
Sates {16} 23]
Sattlernents (145} =]
Transfers info level 3 i3 {27
Transfers cut of level 3 112} 22
Ending balance 5 438 £ 300
Exquities, net
Beaginnng balance £ (832 £0.97N
Mat realded gairsosses] 285 206
Hat unrealzed gainatiosses) [rad} 2T
Purchases 276 230
Zales (958} 804}
Sartlements nz7 956
Trarsfers mio lowel 3 143} 145]
Transfess cut of level 3 61 15
Enclin! balance 5{1,888) £ [337]

Level 3 Rolliforward Commentary

Year Ended December 2021. The net realized and
unrcalized gains on level 3 derivatives of $717 million
reflecting %2635 million of ner realized gains and
§452 million of ner wnrealized gains) for 2021 included
gains of 37K million reporred in marker making and gains
of $17 million reporeed in other principal ransacnons.
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The net unrealized gains on level 3 derivatives for 2021
were primarily artributable to gains on certain credit and
currency derivatives {in cach case, primarly reflecting the
impact of changes in foreign exchange rares), gains an
cerrain commaodity derivanves {primanly reflecting the
impact of an increase in commaodity prices) and gains an
ceriain interest rate denvanves (primarily reflecting the
impact of an increase in interest rates), partially offser by
losses on certain equity derivatives {primarily reflecting the
impact of an increase in equiry prices).

The drivers of rransfers ingo level 3 derivanves duning 2021
were not marerial.

Transfers out of level 3 derivarives during 2021 primarily
reflected transters of cerrain 1nrerest rate denvative assets to
level 2 {principally due to increased transparency of certain
volatility inputs used to value these derivatives),

Year Ended December 2020, The ner realived and
unrealized gains on level 3 dervanves of 53838 million
(reflecting 3226 million of net realiced gains and
412 mullion of net unrealized gains) for 2020 included
gains of 3900 million reported in marker making and losses
of $62 million reported in orher principal teansacrions.

The ner unrealived gains on level 3 derivarives for 2020
were prammarily ateriburable o gains on certain equity
derivarives (primarily reflecring the impacr of an increase in
equity  prices), gams on Cerrm interest rate denvanves
(primanily reflecting the impace of a decrease in interesr
rates and changes in foreign exchange rates), gains on
certain commuodity  derivatives {primarily reflecting the
impact of changes in commedity pricesh, and gains an
cereain credit derivatives (primarily reflecting the impacr of
a decrease in inrerest ratesh, parmally offser by losses on
cermin currency derivarives (primarily reflecting che impacy
of changes in foreign cxchange rares and o decrease in
interese rares).

The drivers of both ransfers into level 3 derivanives and
rramsiers our of level 3 derivatives during 2020 were nor
marcrial.
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

OTC Derivatives
The table below presents OTC derivanive assers and
liabilities by renor and major product tvpe,

L=t than 1+ B Gogater than
£ mifans 1 ¥ear  YVaars 5 Yearn Tots
Au of Ducember 2021
Assats
Intarest rates § G076 11,655 551,380 § 78,111
Cradit 1200 23 3113 7294
Currencms 13,366 EE42 6570 26ETE
Commoditiss 10178 7348 T 18206
Eguibes 11,078 &5z 2100 19,767
Clomurybeapue by Mt‘lmi-n Bt [3624) [33E5T) (2,675 [8E84)
Subtotal 3881 §31,261 571,260 141,392
Crovss-lenor counlarparty netsng {18, &538)
Cash collateral rmttng 64,117}
Total OTC derivative assets 4 58637
Liabifitles
fetarast rates § 3,929 10932 §I4ET6 § 49537
Craedit 1695 3257 1,241 6,783
Cuencns 14,122 &521 5580 26283
Commaoditios 1881 62ZT4 1,763 18628
Equitiea B268 12844 31887 24700
Counberpasty neting m tenoes (3624} [2387 (2,673 [9E854)
Subitotal 31,581 $36,631 544,774 $113,388
Croms-tenor counterparty nettng {18, 538)
Cash collatedal fafhng 148, 345)
Total OTC derivative liabilities 5 46,403

Ag of Decombar 3020

Basets

Imbarast rates § 8912 $30,148 74853 $103.957
Cradii gz 310 3,502 1384
Cumencras 13887 7400 5300 20590
Commaditios IEa 1466 488 4,952
Eguities. 13182 13,590 1807 26579

Countsipssty nating = tenos 3,083 (44580 3180 01,60

Subitatsl £34.939 £40.413 LR AT L141.082
Cross-tencr counterparty nefing [Fek-FR]
Cash collateral netting [T, 042
Total OTC dernative assets % 64850
Linbifities

Intarast rates § BBET $17.967  B49.301 § 66,955
Cradit 1208 2467 FRKE 6907
Currenczas 18y TEIE 5778 Zi0
Commaodiies 3455 B4R 4,318 4318
Eguities W02 14,085 3886 27783

Courrterparty netling i bends 13,963 (4458 B8n 11160

Subitotal 919 $34 156 862, 272 $131.477
Cross-tanor counierparty natbng [Fik=Fit]
Cash collatenal neiting (55, 1680
Totsl OTC derrvitve ialikhes § 61,337
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Ins the table abowve:

Tenor is based oo remaiming contractual matwrity.

Counrerparty netnng within the same produoce tvpe and
tenor category is included within such product type and
ETIGr CALtegOrY,

Counterparty netnng across product types within the
same tenor category is included in counterparty nerting in
tenors, Where the counterparty netting is across tenor
categories, the neting s mcluded in o cross-remor
counterparty nethng,

Credit Derivatives

The firm enters into a broad array of credit derivatives to
facilitate client transactions and 1o manage the credie risk
associated with marker-making and investing and financing
activities, Credir derivanves are acnively managed based on
the firm’s ner risk position. Credir derivarives are generally
individually negonated comracs and con have various
sertlement and payment conventions. Credic events include
failure to pay, bankruptey, acceleration of indebredness,
restructuning, repudiation and dissolution of the reference
cnery.

The firm enters into the following types of credic
derivatives:

= Credit Default Swaps. Single-name credit defanlt swaps
protect the buver against the loss of principal on one or
maore bands, loans or mortgages (reference obligations) in
the event the issuer of the reference obliganons suffers a
crediv evenr. The buayver of protecrion pays an initial or
periodic premium ro the seller and receives protecrion for
the peried of the conrract. If there is no credir evenr, as
defined in the conrract, the seller of proteciion makes no
payments to the buyer. If a credic event occurs, the seller
of protecion 15 required o make a payment to the buyer,
calculated according to the terms of the contract.

Credit Options. In a credic oprion, the opron writer
assumes the obligation to purchase or sell a reference
abligation at a specified price or credit spread, The option
purchaser buys the right, but does not assame the
abligation, to sl the reference obligation o, or purchase
it from, the oprion writer. The payments on credic oprions
depend either an a particular credic spread or the price of
the reference obliganon,
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

- Gredit Indices, Baskets and Tranches. Credie
derivatives may reference a basker of single-name credic
default swaps or a broed-based index, 1 o credit cvent
occurs in ong of the underlying reference obligations, the
provection scller pays the protecrion buyer, The payment
is rypically a pro-rata porton of the ransaction’s roral
notdonal amount based on the underlying defaulied
reference obligation. In certain transactions, the credit
risk of a basket or index is separated into varions portions
(tranches), each having different levels of subordination,
The most junior tramches cover initial defaults and once
losses exceed rthe notional amount of these junior
tranches, any exalss loss 15 covered h}' the mext most
senior rranche.

Total Return Swaps, A total return swap transfers the
risks relaring o economic performance of a reference
obligation from the prosecrion buyer 1o the prorecrion
seller. Typically, the protecdon buyer receives a floaring
rare of interest and prorecrion against any reduction in
fair value of the reference obligation, and the protection
seller receives the cash flows associated with the reference
obligation, plus any increase in the fair value of the
reference abligation,

The firm economically hedges its exposure to written credit
derivatives primarily by entering into offserting purchased
credit derivanves with idenrical undeclices. Subsrantally all
of the fiem's purchased credit derivanive rransacrions are
wirth financial institurions and are subject o stringent
caollateral thresholds, In addinon, upon the occurrence of a
specified trigger evenr, the firm may take possession of the
reference ohligations underlying a particular written credit
derivanive, and consequently may, upon liquidation of the
reference obligations, recover amounts on the underlying
reference obligations in the event of defaulr.

As of December 2021, wnitten credit derivanves had a toral
grows notional amount of $310.24 billion and purchased
credit derivatives had a total gross notional amount of
$369.34 billion, for toral ner notonal purchased protection
of 3539.10 billion. Asz of December 2020, written credic
derivanves had a rogal gross notional  amounr  of
5315.85 billion and purchased credit derivanives had a roml
gross nodonal amouny of $558.18 kllion, for toml ner
nononal purchased protection of $42.33 billion, The firm's
written and purchased credit derivatives primarily consist

of credit defanlt swaps,
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The rmable below presents information about  credit
derivatives,

Cradn Speead or Uindatier s poants)

Graster
251 - Q1. e
§ in mil¥ons - 260 B0 o0 1000 Total

Aa of Decambaer 2021
Maimnuam Payout/Notenal Ameunt of Written Credit Derivathves by Tonor

Laas thar 1 yam 120,456 § 6,173 § 1656 § 4314 $132599
1 -5 ymaes 305,255 14328 1279 3814 336151
Groater than & years ISE8g 3087 2 I5H 37 414885
Total §461,269 523,588 $16,939 § B439 §510.23%5

Maximum Payout/Notional Amount of Purchased Credit Derivatives

Offsemng FIRTTIE $17.210 12806 § 6714 F418.445
Dither 3138214 § 1.TR0 3 356 § 1313 $150.832
Fair Value of Written Credit Derivatives

Assel $ 9803 F 9243 A F 137§ N82
Lisbibty a4t 13T 1888 14038 4,663
Mot ssset/{lability) § BAEZ 5 B01 §(1.348)5(1.796)5 6513

As of Deceribor 2030
Maximum PayoutNotional Amount of Written Credit Dervatives by Tenor
Laas than 1 woar £ 05049 8 A3 £ 480 € 2400 $104723

1= Byears 348 17912 £801 4932 2E2TH
Groater than & years 44 932 3481 Fir BA 4BAM
Tetal £471,3268 820,578 3 95X3 £7.422 §516880

Maximum Payeut/Notiomal Amcunt of Purchased Credit Derivatives

Dfisetong 5407315 $18.872 § 8679 § 708 $44r907
Cihar £I02604 § 7272 % 3619 8 76 $116aN
Fair Valae of Written Credit Dorivatives

Asgal $§10302 % 635 865 18 % 13w
Lingvility 1,912 1119 387 2000 4,619

hat assethabditgd £ 91908 MBS GINSLAENS S80S

Ini the table above:

Fair values exclude the cffeces of both neming of
receivable  balances  with  payable balances  under
enforceable netting agreements, and netting of cash
received or posted under enforceable credit support
agreements, and therefore are not representanive of the
firm s credin exposare,

Tenor is based on remaining conteactual maturiry,

The credit spread on the underlier, rogether with the tenor
of the contract, are indicators of payment/performance
risk, The firm is less likely ro pay or otherwise be required
to perform where the credit spread and the tenor are
lower,

Offsetting purchased credit derivatives represent the
notional amount of parchased crediv derivatives thar
economically  hedge wrirten credic  derivarives  with
idennical underliess.

Other purchased credic derivatives represent the nononal
amount of all other purchased credic derivarives no
ingluded in ofisciring,
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Impact of Credit and Funding Spreads on Derivatives
The firm realizes gains or losses on irs derivative contraces,
These gains or losses include eredit valuation adjustments
{CVA) relating o uncollareralized derivarive assers and
liahiliries, which represent the gains or losses {including
hedges) awriburable ro the impace of changes in credic
exposure, counterparty credic spreads, liability funding
spreads {which imclude the irm®s own credit), probabalicy
of defanlt and assomed recovery. These gains or losses also
include funding valvanon adjsiments (FVA} relanng o
uncodbateralized derivative assets, which represent the gains
or losses (incleding hedges) ateributable to the impact of
ch.::n;._,ws in cx[!-l:ct::ll ﬁil‘ll.h'm_.". CXPURUTCS and fu!idiug
spreads,

The table below presents mformation about CVA and FVA,

Waar Erclgsd Dapcarsibes

£ ulimng Fieri ] 200 ]
CWA, net ol hedges $26  f0431  S(2Ed
FWih, net of hadgas &0 173 4Bk
Total $86 5 30 2136
Bifurcated Embedded Derivatives

The mable below presens the fair value and the notonal
amounr of derivanves thar have been bifurcared from their
relared borrowings.

Az of Decembar
F 0 milang 2021 2000
Fair value of assets $ B45 £ 1450
Far walus al habdties 1124) 0,220
Mot asset/[liability) $§ ™ & 210
Notional amount $10.743  §12548

In the rable above, derivatives thar have been bifurcated
from theie relared borrowings arc recorded ar fair valee and
primarily consist of interest rate, equity and commaodiny
produces, These derivatives are included in unsecured short-
and long-term  borrowings, as well as other secured
financings, with the relared barrowings,

Derivatives with Credit-Related Contingent Features
Certain of the firm’s derivatives have been ransacted under
bilareral agreements with counrerpartics who may require
the firm o post collareral of terminare the trnsctions
based on changes in the firm's credit rarings. The firm
assesses the impact of these bilareral agreemens by
determining the collareral or terminanon payments thar
would oecur asuming a downgrade by all rating agencies.
A downgrade by any one rating agency, depending on the
agency's relative ratings of the firm at the tme of the
downgrade, may have an impacr which is comparable o
the impact of a downgrade by all raning agencies.
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The table below presents information abour net derivative
liabilities under bilareral agreements (excluding collateral
postedd), the fair value of collateral posted and addinonal
collateral or rermination payments thar could have been
called by counterpartics in the event of a ane- or two-norch
downgrade in the firm's credic ranngs.

A= of Decembar
F i mikons Fiersl 00
Wea dervatree liabidmes under bfateral agreements $34.316 43368
Collateral posted 828214 E35 206
Addmonal collateral er tarminaton payments
Onagenotch downgrade £ 3dE = 43

Tweo-natch dowmgrade $ 1536 5 1338

Hedge Accounting

The firm applics hedge accounting for (i) interest rare swaps
used 0o manage the inrerest rate exposure of certain fixed-
rate unsecured longs and short-term borrowings and certain
fixed-rate certificares of deposit, (i) forcign exchange
forward contracts used to manage the foreign exchange risk
af cermain available-for-sale securities, (i) foreign currency
forward conrracts and forcign currency-denominared deby
used o manage forcign currency expasures on the firm's
net investment  in cerrain non-LL%.  operatons  and
{iv} commadity futures contraces used to manage the price
risk of certain commuodities.

To qualify for hedge accountimg, the hedgpng insromens
must be highly effective at reducing the risk from the
exposure being  hedged.  Additionally, the firm  must
furmally document the hedging relationship ar inception
and assess the hedging relanonship ar least on a quarterly
basis to ensure the hedging instroment continues o be
highly effecrive over the life of the hedging relationship.

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 147
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Fair Value Hedges

The firm designares interest rate swaps as fur value hedges
of certain fixed-rare unsecured long- and shost-term dele
and fixed-rate cerrificares of deposit, These inerest zare
swaps hedge changes in fair value anriburable o the
designarted benchmark interest rare (eg., London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIBOR), Secured Owvernighe Financing Rate
(SOFR} or Owvernight Index Swap Rate), effectively
converting a substantial portion of fixed-rate obligations
into floating-rate obligatnons,

The firm applics a statistical method that unilizes regression
analysis when assessing the effectivencs of these hedging
refationships in achieving offserting changes m the fair
values of the hedging instrument and the nisk being hedged
{i.e., inrerest rane risk). An interest rare swap is considered
highly effective in  offsernng  changes o fair  value
atmributable to changes in the hedged risk when the
regression analysis results in & coefficient of dererminarion
of 80V or greater and a slope berween 800 and 125%.

For qualifying interest rate fair value hedges, gains or losses
on derivatives are included in interest expense. The change
in Fair value of the hedged item antributable o the risk being
hedged o5 reported as an adjustment o its carrying value
{hedging adjustment) and s also incleded in interest
expense, When a derivanive is no longer designared as a
hedge, any remaining difference between the carrving valie
and par value of the hedged irem is amornized in interese
expense over the remaining life of the hedged item using the
effecrive interest method. See Note 23 for  further
informanion about inferest income and interest expense,
The table below presents the gainsf{losses) from: interest
rate derivarives accounted for as hedges and the relared
hedged borrowings and deposits, and rotal interest expense.
Year Enclad Dwecesmiber

5 i Aulong 2021 R0 it ]
Intarest rate hadges $6638) S3862 § 3196
Hodged borrowmgs and depasas % 6,085 S EET  §3.BET
Interest exponse $5680 5093 51737

The rable below presenis the carrying value of deposits and
unsccured borrowings that are designared in a hedging
relationship and the refated cumuolanve hedging adjustment
{increasefidecrease)) from current and  prior  hedging
relationships included in such carrying values,

Curmilatne

Camang Huadigng

5 i1 fnlions Walas Adjustirant
Az of December 2021

Depowts £ 141 £ M8

Unsacured shart-term borrowangs 5 ZI67 ] 5

Unsacured losg-term bormowings £144 934 £ 6,165
ds of Doecarmber 2020

Dreposits £ 17,303 £ 6&45

$ 5976 § 53
$115242  $11634

Unsecured short-termn bomowings
Unaacurad lomg-term Bormoswnngs

148 Goldrman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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Ins the table above, cumulative hedging adjustment included
$5.91 billion as of December 2021 and $6.34 billion as of
December 2020 of hedging adjustments from prios hedging
relarionships thar were de-designared and subsranrially all
were relared o unsecured leng-term borrowings.

In additon, comulanive hedging adjusements for items no
longer  designared  in a2 hedging  relanonship  were
868 million as of December 2021 and 5489 million as of
December 2020 and substantially all were related 1o
unsecured long-term borrowings.

The firm designares foreign exchange forward conteaces as
fair value hedges of the foreign exchange risk of non-USs.
government secorites classified as available-for-sale. See
More 8 for information abouot the amortized cost and fair
value of such securitics. The cffectiveness of such hedges is
assesed based on changes in spor rates, The gaina!(losses)
on the hedges (relating 1o both spor and forward poines)
and the foreign exchange painglilosses) on the relared
available-for-sale  securinies were included im0 marker
making and were nor marerial for borh 2021 and 2020.

During 2021, the firm desipnared commodiny  fumres
contracrs as fair value hedges of the price risk of cermin
precious metals mcluded w1 commaodities within rading
assers. As of December 2021, the carrying value of such
commodities was §1.05 billion and the amortized cose was
S1.02 billioas, Changes in spor rates of such commuodities
are reflected as an adjustment wo their carrying value, and
the relared gainsf{losses) on both the commaodines and the
designared futures coneracrs are included in marker making.
The contracmal forward points on the designared fonares
contracts are amortized into eamings ratably over the life of
the contract and other gains/{losses) as a resule of changes in
the forward points are incloded in orher comprehensive
incomef{loss). The cumulative hedging adjustment was not
material as of December 2021 and the related gainsdilosses)
were not material for 2021,
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Met Investment Hedges

The firm secks o reduce the impact of fuctoations in
foreign exchange rates on its net investments i certun
non-LLS, operations through the use of foreign currency
forward contraces and foreign currency-denominared debr,
For forcign currency forward coneracrs designared as
hedges, the etfectiveness of the hedge is assessed based on
the awerall changes in the fair value of the forward conrracts
i, based on changes in forward rates). For foreign
currency-denominated debt designated as a hedge, the
effectiveness of the hedge ix assessed based on changes in
spot rates, For qualifying net investment hedges, all gains or
losses on the hedging instruments are included in currency
rranslarion,
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MNote 8,
Investments

Investments includes debs instruments and cquity securities
that are accounted for at fair value and are generally held by
the firm in commection with its long-term  investing
activities, In addition, investments includes debr securines
classified as available-for-sale and held-ro-marurity thar are
generally held in connecrion with the firm's asser-liabiliny
management acrviries. Invesrments alse consists of equiry
securities thar are accounted for under the equiry method.,

The rable below presens informarion abour invesrments.

s of Deosmbes

The rable below presents the goina/lossesh from et $n mdions 203 0

investment hedging, Equity securitses, at fair vahia $18937 1974

Dbt mstrurnents, at far valus 15,668 16988

Fuadable-for-sale secunbes, at fair vakie 48,932 46,016

Yoar Enced Decomber Irvestmienis, at fair value 83427 E2.778

Fin mtilions 200 W00 08 Held-to-maturity sacuribes 4,699 Eam

Hadges Eguity mathod smvastments B33 AL

Fareagn currancy fensard contract 755  LiIEl 5 & Total investments $88,719  fesaas
Faresyn currency-danaminated debl $386  SiZAm s

Civins or losses on individoal ner investments in non-U.5%,
operations  are  reclssified  from  accomulated  other
comprehensive income!{loss) 1o other principal rransacrions
in the consolidared starements of carmings when such net
investments are sold or substantially liguidated. The gross
and net gains and losses on hedges and the related nee
investments in non-ULS. operations reclassified ro carnings
fronm accumulated other comprehensive incomelos) was
not material for 2021, $61 million (reffecting a gain of
$214 muthion retared ro hedges and a loss of $153 million on
the relared ner investments in non-LLS. operations) for 20240
and not marenial for 2019,

The firm had designared $3.71 billion as of December 2021
and 5497 billion as of December 20200 of forcign currency-
denominated debr, included in unsecured long- and shorr-
rerm borrowings, as hedges of net invesoments in non-=LFS.
subsidiaries.

Equity Securities and Debt Instruments, at Fair Value
Equiry securirics and debr instrumenrs, ar fair value are
accounted for ar fair value either under the fair value oprion
or in accordance with other US. GAAP, and the relared fair
value gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated
statemients of carmings.

Equity Securities, at Fair Value. Equiry securines, ar fair
value consists of the firm's public and private equity
investments in corporate and real estate entities.

The table below presenes information  abour  equity
securities, at fair value.

A of Dicembe

5 in myiions 2021 080
Eq'ultg smourities, at fair walus £18,937 219780
Equity Type

Public equity 24% 15%
Prosare equity TEY ER%
Tatal 1005 100%
Asaat Class

Comparate TE% 3%
Raal estate 2E% 7%
Tatal 1005 100%

Galdrman Sachs 2027 Form 10 140
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In the rable above:

* Equity secunncs, ar far value included investments
accounted for at fair value wnder the fair value option
where the firm would otherwise apply the equity method
oof accounting of $5.%1 billion as of December 2021 and
$7.14 billion as of December 2020, Cains recognized as a
result of changes in the fair value of equity securniries for
which rthe fair value oprion was elecred were 52,12 billion
for 2021 and 3373 million for 2020, These gains are
included in other principal rransacrons.

Equity securiries, at fair valwe included 51,80 billion as of
December 2021 and %2.35 hillion a5 of December 2020
of investments in funds thar are measured ar NAY.

Debt Instruments, at Fair Value. Debr instruments, ar
fair walue primarily includes mezzanine, senior and
diseressed debt.

The mble befow presents informaon  abour  debe
insgromenes, at fair valoe,

Az of Deosmber
5 ouliang 2021 2020
Comporate debt secunties €975 51099
Sacuribis backed by real estate 2,280 1,940
Boney markel mstruments 1,296 2,185
Oithear Z,ﬂ_ﬂ& 1,868
Tatal $15558  §16.981

In the table above:

* Money marker insrruments primarily  includes  oime
deposits and investments in money marker funds.

« Ovher included $1.67 billion as of December 2027 and
$1.31 billion as of December 2020 of investmens in
credit funds thar are measured ar NAY.

Investments in Funds at Net Asset Value Per Share.
Equiry securities and debr insrraments, ar fair valoe include
investments in funds thar are measured ar NAV of the
ivestmient fund, The firm uses NAY 1o measure the fair
value of fund investmenms when () the fund investment does
not have a readily determinable fair value and (i) the NAV
of the investment fund is caleulated in a manner consistent
with the measurement principles of investment company
accounting, including measurement of the mvestments at
Fair value,

Substanrially all of the firm's imvestments in funds ar NAY
consst of investments in firm-sponsored  privare equiry,
credin, real estare and hedge funds where the firm co-invests
wirh third-party investors.

160 Goldrman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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Private cquity funds primarily mvest in a broad range of
industries  worldwide, including  leveraged  buyours,
recapitalizanons, growth vestments  and  distressed
investments, Credie funds generally invest in loans amd
other fixed income instruments and are focused on
providing  privare high-yiddd capiral for leveraged and
management  buyour  cransacrions,  recapiralizations,
financings, refinancings, acquisitions and restructurings for
private  equity firms, private family companies and
corporate issuers. Real estare funds invest  globally,
primarily in real estate companies, loan portfolios, debr
recapitalizations and property. Private equity, credic and
eeal estate funds are closed-end funds in which the fiem's
investments are generally not eligible for redemprion,
Ihsteiburions will be received from these funds as the
underlying assers are liquidared or distribured, the iming of
which is uncertain.

The firm alse invesss in hedge funds, primarily mulo-
disciplinary hedge funds thar employ a fundamenral
bottomeup mvestment approach across vanous asset classes
and strategies. The firm's imvestments in hedge  funds
primarily include interests where the underlying assers are
illigpuid im nature, and proceeds from redemprions will nor
be received unel the underlying assers are hiquidared or
distribured, the iming of which is uncermin,

Private equity and hedge funds described above are
primarily “covered funds” as defined in the Volcker Rule of
the U5, Dodd-Frank Wall Streer Reform and Consumer
Progection Act {Dodd-Frank Acr). Substannially all of the
credit and real eseate funds described above are not covered
funds. The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System  (FRB) extended the conformance period to
July 2022 for the firm’s investments in, and relationships
with, certain legacy “illiquid funds™ (as defined in the
Valcker Rule) thar were in place prioe o December 200 3,
This extension is applicable to subsranrially all of the frm's
remaining investments in, and relationships with, such
covercd funds. As of December 2021, the firm’s ol
investments in funds ar NAY of $3.47 billion included
903 million of investments in covered funds for which
compliance with the Yolcker Rule will need to be achicved
by July 2022,

The firm cxpects ro achieve compliance for these covered
funds through ongoing harvesting of underlying  fund
investments i the ordinary course or through structural
madifecations 1o thess funds, To the extent thar the firm is
not able o achieve compliance through these measures, the
firm will be required ro sell s interests in such funds by
July 20221 thar occurs, the firm may receive a valee for irs
inrerests that is less than the then carrying value as there
could be a limited secondary market for these invesoments
and the firm may be unable to sell them in orderly
Iransactinns,
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The table below presents the fair value of investments in In the table above:

funds ar WAV and the related unfunded commirments. B 0 O I My W < I L

the fair value hicrarchy as of both December 2021 and

$imibios fiue . Lot December 2020.

As of December 2021 * The weighted average vield for availableforssale
E‘:::;‘:F:ﬁl;:‘f funds s:ﬂ $ ﬁ securitics is computed using the effective interest rare of
Hedge furds a4 Es cach security ar the end of the period, weighted based on
Feal estate lunds 288 147 the fair value of cach security.

L Fa8 L33 * The gross unrealized gains included in accumulated other
As of Decernber 2020 comprehensive income/(loss} were $118 million and the
Private equay hinds £2.042 & 57 gross unrealized losses mcluded i accomulated other
Cradit funds 1212 ) BT e

Hadge funds 102 s comnprehensive incomel(loss) were $779 million as of
Feal estate funds 208 213 December 2021 amd primarily related 1o ULS, governmens
Total $3.664 $1.250 abligations in a continuons uarealized loss position for

less than a year. The gross unrealized gains included in
accumulated other comprehensive incomef{loss) were
631 millien and the gross unrealized losses included in
accumulated other comprehensive income(loss) were not

Available-for-Sale Securities

Axailable-for-sale securities are avcounted for at fair value,
and rthe relared wnrealized fair value gains and losses are
included i!_: ﬂCI:I.ITIH:IE:'II:l:I;l other comprehensive i|_1-;l::arm:‘f|:!::a_ss]- marerial a5 of Dectmber 2020, Met unreslized gaing/
unless -;lu.'.w.':l_mrcd i a fair value hfdpng rc’!anm:shlp..kfcc (losses) included in other compreheisive incomaloss)
Mote 7 fm.mfurm:.ttmn :‘lb-l..l.li :l't':ll:[.:lbh."!'-ur'ﬁ:llt SECUTiTies were $(1.28) billion ($(955) million, net of tax} for 2021
that are designated in a hedging relationship. and 5557 million (5417 millian, ner of tax) for 2020,

The rable below  presents  informanon  abowt
available-for-sale securities by tenor.

1f the fair valwe of available-for-sale securinies is less than
amortied cost, such securities are considered impaired, 1f
the firm has the intenr o sell the debr securiry, or if it is

P s mg muore likely than nor thar the firm will be required o sell
£ anifang Cost  Value e the debr security before recovery of is amortized cos, the
As of Decembaer 2021 difference berween the amortized cost {net of allowance,
Less than 1 yaar £ Mm$ I’/ 0N if anyh and the fair value of the securities is recognized as
1 year 1o 5 years 41536 41,0686 04T% an 1 i i I ] .

' Lonadiciinont N G817 G2 0AIR an impairment s in mrrl.u!gﬁ._Thc_ﬁrm did nor record

Greatar than 10 years 2 2 2.00% amy such impairment losses during either 2021 or 2020,

Total U5, government obligations 6900 46,222 0539 Impatieed available-for-sale debr securivies thar the firm

P - has th i|1:rf¢nr nl:;.i ab'tlirl:,' o hnlq:i ;.m; rcviE:wTJ o

Total non-U S, government obligations 2,693 2,610 0.33% determine if an allowance for credit losses should be

Total svainbleforzale secoriies 2in5a3 $48.837  OETN recorded. The firm considers various fcrors in such
determination, incluoding marker conditions, changes in

As of Decarnbat 2020 issuer crediv rarings and severity of the unrealized losses,

Less than 1 year § 255 25 008% . fi i . o wrimid ot

chifreol o e e o The firm d:-;l noe r-_:-..::rd_. ANy Provisie f;:r crodin losses on

5 vaars o 10 years 7454 7732 1.19% such secunities during either 2021 or 2020,

Total U5 govemmant obligations 43310 43918  0.7E%

B yaars 1o 10 years 1,735 1.744  D0%

Greater than 10 years 353 AET QA%

Total nondl 5 govemment oblgations 2082 201 0%

Tatal avalable-for-sale sacunties §45402 $46,016 O T6%

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 151
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The table below presents gross realized gains/{losses) and
the proceeds from the sales of available-for-sale securities,
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Significant Unobservable Inputs
The table below presents the amount of level 3 investments,
and  ranges  and  weighted  averages  of  significant

Yt Endad Docamber unobservable inputs used ro value such invesrments,

§ i melions 20 030 200

gln:rr realzod gans k- #EII; £ 319 % @ Az of December 2021 As of Decamber 2020

G:::Tmed:qm < :w} R Amount or Weightsd Reryuctt ot Wekkghtael

£ o millons Range Average Rarge  Avorage

Frocesds from sales S EE2  £4 459 19 580 Corporate debt ascuritien

Leved 3 assens i H,EZ; = 55,786
: s  ealiE i ; Yusbel e 29,0 10, 45% 00 19.5%  102%

- | 1hf:r il Jl‘lﬂ:h Th‘ ﬂ-ﬂhll'm‘] ml”:“m-} W:‘I‘:." Facooary rate L1% o T6.0%  591% 100% e TOODW 507

reclssified from accumulared other comprehensive income! Duration tyanrs) 1410 6.4 38 Y a7

{loss) o orher principal transacrions i the consalidared Mudnples @.5x to 23.2x BSn Dfntodiin B9

i < of ings. Seeurithes backed by real satate

statements of carnings o prpred] e
i Yiwicd 23% 0 203%  131%  Sidiebl4n 1759

Fair Value of Investments by Level ; Rocoveryrate  S5A% to610%  564% 20 6% oilEm 337

The able below presents investments accounred for ar fair Diration tyears) 011026 12 GdipSE 21

value by level within the fair value hicrarchy. Orther debt obligations

Lovel 3 asants 5382 £aa7
Yield 23% o t0E% 2% 17%weE 35%

$§ in witians Level 1 Leval¥ Leveld  Towl Dration iyears) 0.9 to 9.3 4B 020102 &4

Az of Decembaer 2021 wm; securities i i

e e e S _

SivuEnoehy mnc agency Stlgaticria Multiples Odxto308x  10ix  Glxm It B0
L3 $46322 § - % - f4E31 Discount rstefyiold 2.0% to 38.0%  141%  40% 3E%  135%
Mon-LLS. 2812 = - e Copirslizabon fate 36% 1o 10%  E7%  ITH e 141%  62%

Corparate debt secunties 65 B2 4627 9,793

Securites backed by real estate - L@ o7 2280 1 .

Baney mariket istrum ents 41 1355 - 139 In the rable above:

debt I = - .

ED;:TI‘: iuﬁ?ﬁ? iz 2,135 :I'.dgg 1& 11,1g * Ranges represent the significant unobservable inputs thar

Subtcant 51,175 614,681 513,902 579 958 were used in the valuaton of cach rype of mvesament,

Invastmsnts m funds at AY 3 469 R N B

o e——— $83.427 = Weighted averages are calculated by weighting each imput

by the relanive fair value of the investmenr,

As of December 2020 . .

Cowarnmant and sganty sbligatisns: = The ranges and weighted averages of these mputs are not
us £43.915 § -5 - £43.91% representative of the appropriate inputs o use when
Henl.5 2,109 43 - 2167 Slentaring it valus investment, B

it Ak Sl N GheE B ) caleularing thl;j fair va e of any one investment _1-.“"

Secairings backsd by resl astate - saz e 1840 example, the highest multiple for privare equity securitics

Monny maricet mstruments TE 1404 - 218 is appropriate for valuing a specific privare equiry securiry

Dithér detit obbganons = - da7 4oy but may not be appropriare for valuing any other private

Equity securitios 517 7270 9542 17.429 Ty Joox Do approps bRy PILYEIE

Subiotal 17392 $15799 516,403 §79.114 equity security. Accordingly, the ranges of mpurs do nor

Investmonts in funds st MAY 3,664 represent uncertainty in, or possible ranges of, fair value

Tatal investrments $E2, 778 measurements of level 3 investments.

See Note 4 for an overview of the firm's fair value
mgsurement policies and the valuaton techmigues and
significant inpurs used o derermine the fair value of
INVERTMENES.
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Increases in yield, discount rare, capimlizanon rate or
duration used in the valwaoon of level 3 imvesomens
would have resulted in a lower fair value measurement,
while increases in recovery rate or multiples would have
resulted in a higher fair value measurement as of both
December 2021 and December 2020, Due to the
distingrive namere of each level 3 sowestment, the
interrelationship of impurs 5 nor necessarily uniform
wirhin each product rype.
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= Corporate debt securifies, securities backed by real estare
and other debr obligations are valued vsing discounted
cash lows, and equity securities are valued wsing marker
comparables and discounted cash lows.

The fair value of any one imstrument may be determined
using multiple valmron rechnigques. For example, marker
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used
rogether to derermine fair value. Therefore, the level 3
balance encompasses both of these technigues.

Level 3 Roliforward
The able below presents a summary of the changes in fair
vilue for level 3 invesomens,

Year Ended Decombes

5o eulieang 2021 200
Beginnng balance $1648 815287
Mot realied gunslosses) 449 215
Mat unrealized gainatlosses) 1.263 (243
Purchases 1,600 1,815
Sales (2,135] 11,5500
Sartlerments (3,265) (1,570
Transfors mio leved 2 2 080 a7
lranslees oul of ewel 3 13,613] (2,034
Ending balance $13502 fi6412

In the table above:

« Changes in fair value are presented for all invesrments
thar are classified in level 3 as of the end of the periad.

Mer anrealized gains{losses) relares o investments thar
were still held ar period-end.

Transfers berween levels of the fair value hicrarchy are
reporred ar the beginning of the reporting period in which
they occur. IF an invesrment was rransferred o level 3
during a reporting period, its entre gain or loss for the
perind is classified in level 3.

For level 3 invesmments, increases are shown as posinve
amounts, while decreases are shown as negative amounts.
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The table below presents information, by produect type, for
investments included in the summary rable above,

Yanar Encha] Dupcaryibon

& in nElbons 203 020
Corporate debt securities

Bagnning balance $65286 5 3465
et roaliped ganaflosses) 167 110
Met unrealized gamsfllosses) m 1951
Purchasas 431 B3E
Zales 1594] [=lon]
Sattlements {1,876] (G781
Trangfers inta level 2 1,871 2,661

Translars out of level 3 11,069] 3101
Ending balance $4527 5 5296
Securities backed by real estate

Begnning balanca $ ¥ § 598
Het realized gainstiosses] 45 22
Med unreabzed gamafllosses) B 1561
Purchasas 182 232
Sales (44] -
Sottlemants (224) 153
Transters into level 3 142 Az7
Trisfu-r: ouf of level 3 {17} -
Ending balance s10m8 § 948
Cther debt obligations

Begnrng balanca & 437 & Ma
Met realized gains/tlosses] 12 18
et unreakied gima/llosdss) 1 1

Purchases 63 112
Senlamants [1:75] [46]
Transfers info lovel 3 - 94
Translers oul of level 3 (%6) -
Ending balance § 3|2 § a7
Equity securities

Begnrng balanca 9642 510503
Met realized ganstksses) 275 (4
Wex unreatzed gamsdllosses) 945 2521
Purchases az4 833
Sales (1,497} 11,2481
Settlements 11,069] (a4l
Transfers inta level 3 1,067 1.626
Transters out of level 3 12,332 11,6241
Ending balance $7918 § 642

Level 3 Rollforward Commentary

Year Ended December 2021. The ner realized amd
unrealized gains on bevel 3 mvestments of 5171 billion
(reflecang  $44% million of net realised gains and
£1.26 lullion of ner unrealized gains) for 2021 included
gaing of 5133 billion reported in other  principal
eramsacrions and 5180 million reported in interest income,

The net unrealized gains on level 3 investments for 2021
primarily reflecred gaims on certain privane equity securines
and corporare debr securiries (in each case, principally
driven by corporare performance and company-specific
cvents).

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 163
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Transfers into level 3 imvestments during 2021 primarily
reflected rransfers of cerrain corporare debt securities from
level 2 {principally due 1o reduced price transparency as a
resulr of a lack of marker evidence, including fewer marker
reansactions in these instruments, and cerrain unohservahle
vield and durarion inputs becoming significant o the
valuatton of these instrumenes) and ransfers of cereain
private equity securities from level 2 {principally due 1o
reduced price rransparency as a result of a lack of market
evidence, including fewer marker ransacoons in these
Instrumens).

Transfers out of level 3 investments during 2021 primarily
reflected transfers of cermin private equity securifies w0
level 2 iprincipally due to increased price fransparency as a
result of marker evidence, ncluding market transactions in
these instruments) amd teansfers of cerrain corparare dels
securities to level 2 (principally due 1o certain unobservable
vield and duranion inpurs no longer being significant ro the
valparion of these instruments, and increased  price
transparency as a result of marker evidence, including
market transactions of these instruments),

Year Ended December 2020. The net realized and
unrealized losses on level 3 investments of $228 millicn
{reflecting  $215 million of mnet realized gains and
$443 million of ner unrealized losses) for 2020 ineluded
lewses of 3428 million repored 0 other  pringipal
reamsactions and $200 million reported in interese income,

The net wnrealized losses on bevel 3 investments for 2020
reflected losses on cermin privare equity, corporare debr
securinies and securities backed by real estane (in each case,
principally driven by corporate performance}.

Transfers inro level 3 imvesments during 2020 primarily
reflected rransfers of cermain corporare debr securities from
level 2 {principally due 1o reduced price transparency as a
result of a fwck of marker evidence, including fewer
tramsactions in these instruments, and certain unobservable
yield and duration inpurs becoming significant o the
valuation of these instruments) and transfers of cerrain
private equity securities from level 2 (principally due o
reduced price rransparency as a result of a lack of marker
evidence, including  fewer  rramsactions  in these
ISITUIMEIES),

Transfers out of level 3 invesmments during 2020 primarily
reflected rransfiers of cermin private equity securities and
corporare debr securines w level 2 (principally due o
increased price ransparency as a result of marker evidence,
including marker transacnons in these instruments).

164  Geddrman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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Held-to-Maturity Securities
Held-to-maturity securities are accounted for ar amorticed
Wikl

The table below presents information about held-to-maturiry
securties by typeand tenor,

Winghitad
Airnortized Fap Aorarags
£ n milligns Tt Valus Viedd
As of Decomber 2021
1 yeaf 1o 5 years S4.054 S4.200  230%
Total U.S. governmant obligaticns 4,054 4200  230%
& years to 10 yoars E] 3 278%
Greatar than 10 years a2 &1 1.03%
Total securities backed by real ostate ] 573 1.04%
Total held-to-maturity securities S4.699 54873 2.13%
Aa of Decermiber 2020
Lass than 1 yea $ 8 % 513 253%
1 yoar to 5 years 2529 2,695 2.50%
5 yoars to 10 years .51 1676 225%
Tatal LS, govemment obigations 4. 561 4883 ZEIW
& yiars 1o 10 years 4 3 2EE%
Groater than 10 S TaG TE1 1.08%
Tatal sscuntess backed by real estate a0 754 1.08%
Tatal held-to-matunty securties S50 5637 215%

I thie cable above:

« Sabstanrially all of the securitnes backed by real estare
constst of sequrities backed by residential real esrare,

+ As these securities are not accounted for ar B value, they
are nor inclieded in the firm's fair value hicraschy in
Motes 4 through 10, Had rhese securines been included in
the firm's fair wvaloe hicrarchy, U5, government
obligatiens would have been classified i level 1 and
securities backed by real estate would have been primarily
classified in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as of both
December 2021 and December 2020,

* The weighted average vield for held-to-mararity securities
s compited vsing the effective interest rare of each
security at the end of the period, weighted based on the
amortized cost of each securiry,

* The gross unrealized goins were %175 million as of
December 2021 and $340 million as of December 2020,
The gross unrealized losses were nor marerial as of both
December 202 1 and December 2020,

Held-ro-marurity securities are reviewed o dererming if
an allowance for credir losses should be recorded in the
consolidared starements of carnings, The firm considers
variows facrors in such derermination, including marker
conditions, changes in issuer credic ranngs, historical
credit losses and sowvercign guaranrees. Provision for
credic losses on such secunnes was nor matenal during
either 2021 or 2020,
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Note 9,

Loans

Loans include (i) loans held for investment thar are
accounted for ar amortzed cost ner of allowance for loan
losses or ar fair valoe under the fair value oprion and
{i1) loamns held for sale thar are accounted for ar the lower of
cost or fair value. Interest on loans s recognized over the
life of the loan and is recordisd on an accrual basis.

The rable belesw presents informaricn abour loans.

Arnortized Fair  Held For
& anland Gt Walum Salp T
B3 of Decembar 2021
Loan Type
Comaonate § 50960 % 249 52475 5 55927
Waahh managament 38,062 5,936 43 998

21,180 1588 3.14E

Commarcial real asiate 26,883
Remderiial real astata 16,453 320 100 16,813
Consummes

Instaliment 3672 - - 3672

Crodn cands 8,212 - - 8212
Othar 5,958 433 23 8,530
Total loans, gross 142507 10769 7855 162135
Allewaance for loan lesses  (3.673) - - 13.573)

Total loans £1239,934 £10769 §7.853 5158582
As of December 2020
Loan Type
Corponate £ 4478 £ 2781 £1.130 & 48.65%
Wealth managament 25,151 7ET2 - 33,023
Commarcial meal estatls 17,056 1,961 1,832 a0, 200
Residanial resl estats 5236 & 20 5750
Conayure
Instalimant 3.823 - - 3883
Credn cards 4,200 - - 4,200
Other 2211 547 A6 2174
Total loans, gross 103,565 13,638 2,794 119,983
Allewsance for loan lesses  [3,874) - - [3,8741
Total loans £ 996891 $136¥5 £2.739 5116118

In the table above, loans held for investment char are
accounted for at amortized cost include net deferred fees
and costs, and wamaortized preminms and discounts, which
are amortized over the life of the loan, These amounes were
less than 1% of loans accounted for ar amaornzed cost as of
bath December 2021 and December 20024,

The following is a descriprion of the loan vpes in the rable
ahove:

« Corporate. Corporate loans  includes  term Joans,
revolving lines of credir, lerer of credin facilities and
bridge loans, and are principally wsed for operaning and
general corporate purposes, or in connection with
acquisitions. Corporate  loans may  be  secured  or
unsecured, depending on the loan purpose, the risk profile
of the borrower and other factors,
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* Wealth Management. Wealth management  loans
includes loans extended o private bank clients, including
wealth management and other clicors, These loans are
wsed o finance investments in both  financial and
nonfinancial assets, bridge cash flow oming gaps or
provide liquidity for other needs. Substantally all of such
loans are secured by securities, residential real esrate,
commercial real estate or other assets,

Commercial Real Estate. Commoercial real esrare loans
includes orginared loans {other than those extended 1o
privane bank clients) that are directly or indirectly secured
by hoels, retail stores, multifamily housing compleses
and commergial and industrial properries. Commercial
real estare loans also includes loans exvended 1o clicnrs
wheo warchouse assers thar are directly or indircory
backed by commercial real estate. In addidon,
commgercial real estare includes loans purchased by the
firm.

+ Residential Real Estate. Residenrial real estare loans
primarily includes loans extended by the firm o clients
{other than those extended to privase bank clients) whe
warchouse assets that are directly or indirectly secured by
residential real estare and loans purchased by the firm.

« Installment. Installment loans are unsecured and are
ariginated by the firm.

» Credit Cards. Credit card loans are loans made pursuans
to revolving lines of credit issued to consumers by the
firm.

= Other. Ocher leans primarily includes loans extended 1o
clients who warchouse assets that are directly or
indirectly secured by consumer loans, including auto
loans and privare student loans, and other assers, Other
leans alse includes unsecured consumer and credic card
leans purchased by the firm.

Credit Quality

Risk Assessment. The firm’s risk assessmenr process
includes evaluanng the credit qualicy of s loans by our
independent risk oversight and control  funcrion.  For
corporate loans and a majority of wealth management, real
estate and other loans, the firm performs credic reviews
which include minal and ongoang analyses of s borrowers,
resulting in an internal credit rating. A credit review is an
analysis of the capacity and willingness of a borrower 1o
meet its financial obligations and is performed on an annual
basis or more frequently if circumstances change thar
indicate rhar a review may be necessary. The dererminarion
of inmernal credit ranngs alse incorporares assumprions
with respect to the namre of and outlook for the borrower’s
industry and the eoonomic enviromment.
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The rable below presents gross loans by an anternally
determined public rating agency equivalent or other credin
metrics and the concentration of secured and unsecured
loans.

It Bl st Cthver Magtricad

5 rulonig (1575 1 (iade Lirsitid Totad
As of Decambor 2021
Accounting Method
Amaortized cost 550,923 578,175 517,408 5143507
Fawr valisn 230 4,634 3,834  10.769
Held for sala 1,650 4,747 1,462 7259
Total 554,874 H84,560 522,701 162,138
Loan Type
Corporate $15.370 §40,389 § 168 § 55937
‘Waplth management 31,476 B T30 6,782 43598
Feoal astate:
Cormrimgroaal 3,986 21,523 374 25283
Aesdannal 1,112 13,779 1082 15813
Consumar:
Instaltment - - 1672 1672
Crechit cards = - 8212 8212
Cetheisd 2,930 3,139 2,481 8530
Tatal $54, 874 524 560 S22 00 162,138
Gacured B5% a2t £ 8z
Er.'imwd 15% B'_l'- [ 54 18%
Tatal 1005 100% 1004 100%

A of December 2020

A coounting Method
Aerearied cag 133,532 $58,250 511,763 $103.565
Faer vislus 2,084 5926 EEIE 13626
Held fex 2ale 224 2.152 423 2,790
Touw £35.840 e 327 317,822 §119,939
Loan Type
Ciopor atie £ 9478 38704 £ 477 1 48658
Wit rranagasmsng 22,098 5,331 S0  33.02F
Foal adtaba
Clarrriiial 1,792 17,430 1,018 20,200
Resaderibal 26 3,852 1,262 5,750
LT
Irgtalirent - - 2,823 3.82F
Creddit cands - - 4270 4270
Ot 1,636 S50 1.378 4174
Touwl $35.840 556,327 517,822 3119589
Secured % B0 459, B
Uriasured 17% 0% Bl 8 1B
Tereal 100% 100% 100'% 100%
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Int the rable above:

» Wealth management loans mcluded in the other memcs/
nnrated category primarily consists of loans backed by
residential real essate and secarivies, and real estare loans
included in the other metricsfunrated category primarily
consists of purchased loans, The firm™s risk assessocin
process for these loans includes reviewing cermin key
mectrics, such as loan-ro-value ratio, delinquency srarus,
collateral values, expecred cash flows, the Fair lsaac
Corporanion  (FICO) credit score {(which measures a
borrower’s creditworthiness by considering factors such
as payment and credic history} and other risk factors.

+ For installment and credir card loans included in the ocher
mictricsiunrated category, the evaluation of credit quality
incorporates the borrower's FICO credic score. FICO
credit scores are periodically refreshed by the firm 1o
assess the updated ereditworthiness of the borrower, See
“WVintage”™ below for information about installment amd
eredi card loans by FICO credin scores.

The firm also assigns a regulatory risk raning o its loans

based on the definirions provided by the U5, federal bank

regularoey agencies, Toral loans includid 92% of loans ax

of December 2021 and 85% of loans as of December 2020

thar were rated passinon-cnncied.
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Vintage, The tables below present gross loans accounted
for at amortized cost fexcluding instaliment and eredie card
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s of December 2020
Freadtiai- Morbaitimant- Dk Matndd/

o : . & £ n milons Crade Ceade Linrsted Total
loams] by an internally determined public rating agency T T TR T ET
ciuivalent or ather credit mernes and originanon year for ggw ?-ﬁ ﬁ:;ﬁ a :-gs

1 18 . 3 = 1
rerm loans, ap? 851 3,083 - 3934
: i s = =
oo aarliar o x A4
i cabicl Ravoiing 2853 11,891 45 14601
[ Hon-k nt-Csar Matrics! = =
£ malans Grada Grada Umratad Totsl E:?Tam Bﬁ;: 36'?::' 188 44;]:2
2021 $ 4887 $10424 $ 52§ 15163 010 73 A3 - 11M
2020 1.9m 4567 7 6479 2018 208 ar - el
2019 451 3949 - 4400 2017 377 30 - AD7
2078 1842 2.5 = 4,743 2018 >3 20 = 42
2017 i 1857 - 5 Z0ME-of satlier 531 764 - 795
fi:i“ ’;-v"a' 4 1:r:ﬁ ?; 1;:3:: Raveiang 18,077 7,085 1,424 71,588
boii-ild 3500 - il Wealth managpement 20,525 3,202 1424 25161
m"""f L ‘1m.ws 3:':: 1.;: 5850 5] Er 2,071 %5 2074
B 3,856 208 Ta 1,565 = 201
et 558 287 = B4E 2018 137 2,164 26 236
24 537 352 - 829 207 Fi 1,734 12 1382
@8 x4 33 r arz 2016 2 165 D14
2017 380 31 - an 20715 oo earlier - 775 E26 130
2008 or oarlior 555 243 - BOR Faehang 451 5 7 — E&0g
Revclving 5,348 2127 2408 30881 Commercial el gstate 1,543 14921 B27 170696
Wealth management 30,128 4 264 TETD 3B 062 00 a7 576 NE 145
2 3z 4,084 B4 4852 2015 - ] m 381
2020 127 1,250 - 2017 e = i Xia a9
2098 B2 1,238 - 1,328 207 9 & 152 744
2018 207 ey - 1008 2016 i 1 = 1
2007 358 B34 - 1,022 2015 o aatier El = 0 o
2008 o sarhet A0 S&F 7 95 Rovciing ¥ 2470 = 7 AnE
Bindhving 1768 AN = TR Posidental real extate = 5743 Ly Eo38
Commercial real extate  3.291 17,758 1|1 2,560 o0 pTs =4 T Tee
gl 113 1,844 453 .30 2019 - &7 20 o8
2020 260 557 103 920 2018 a & - 44
2079 = = 172 LEE] 207 = 8 a g
2018 - B4 165 249 Favoiing 1,508 64 a9 2326
L g . ” W N One 1,748 BT Ead_ 3211
Brvihving 673 10919 - 11582 Total L] $28.250 53,690 §96.472
Residentiol real estate 1,054 13570 859 15493 Parcentage of 1ot T 51 A% 100%
2021 - 694 61 955
gi‘; z :: S.T:‘ 43:!“ In the tables above. revolving loans which converted 1o
2018 - 30 - 0 term loans were not material as of both December 2021
207 - 5 8 13 : .
Faolving 2982 - - and December 2020,
Other 2,752 2,458 748 5.958
Total §50.923 §75.17% §5.521 §131.623
Parcentage of total 3% 57% 4% 100%

Galdrman Sachs 2027 Form 10 167

500/597

oOoOooodn



THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The table below presenes gross installment loans by
refreshed FICO credir scones and origination year and gross
credit card loans by refreshed FICO credit seores,

Garaater than o

£ 10 mlans acqual b BB Lz thaen 880 Toal
As of Decernbier 2021

201 52,017 5 @ 5208
2020 B65 40 o5
2019 508 &1 560
e =57 42 299
27 a2z 7 9
2016 1 = 1
Instaliment 3,480 192 3872
Credit cards 6,100 2112 8,212
Tatal 55,580 52,304  S11884
Percentage of total:

Instalimient F5% 5% 100%
Cresdit cards Ta% 26% 100%
Tatal a1% 19% 100%
As of Dacamber 2020

2020 LA crs] $ 3/ 51359
2ms 1.255 132 1,367
2018 792 150 947
2m7 128 b 168
2016 (3 1 i
Installrient 3472 5 3823
Croedit cards 5.393 ard 4,270
Tatal 56,870 $1.053 § 3093
Parcantage of total

Instaliment 9% a%: 100%
Crodif cards 0% 20% 100%
Tatal 85% 16%: 100%

In the table above, credit card loans consise of revolving
lines of credit.

Credit Concentrations. The table below presents the
concentration of gross loans by region.

Casrying

£ a0 maions Vale Amancis EMEA  Asis Tl
Az of December 2021
Comparate § 55907 B4% 3% 8% 100%
Wilsalth management 43,998 B 0% 3% 100%
Commesncal real astate 5883 80%  18%  B%  100%
Remdantal real astate 16,913 5% % 3% 100%
Consurmas

Inatallmant 3672 100% - - 100%

Crodit cards 8212 100% - = 100%
Othear B.530 A% 16% 1% 100%
Taotal $162,138 6%  19%  B%  100%

s of Decamber 2020

Comporate £ 48,659 60% 3% 9% 100%
W'ealth managoemieng 33023 BE%  10% 2% 100%
Commescial real as1ate 20,240 Tite 19% 10% 100%
Residontal real estate B, 750 gE% 9% 3% 100%
Consurmar

Installmart IEI3 100% - = 100%

Creedit cards 4.1 100% - - 100%
Other 4,174 Bi% 17 2% 100%
Tatal §115.569 7B 19% 6% 100%
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In the rable above:
EMEA represents Europe, Middle East and Africa.

The top five industry concentranons for corporare loans
as of December 2021 were 21% for funds {13% as of
December 20200, 18%  for  techoology, media &
telecommunications (17% as of December 20200, 1379
for diversified industrials {17% as of December 20200,
9% for namreal resources & ownlines (12% as of
December 20200, and 8% for Anancial instirarions { 10%
s of December 20200,

MNonaccrual and Past Due Loans. Loans accounted for ar
amortized cost (other than credie card loansh are placed on
nonacerual status when it is probable that che fiem will nos
collecr all principal and inrerest due under the conteacrual
rerms, regardless of the delinguency starns or if a loan is
past due for M days or more, unless the loan 15 both well
collateralized and in the proces of collecoon, At thar tme,
all accrued bur uncollecred interest is reversed against
interest meome and imterest subsequently  collected s
recognized on 2 cash basis o the exeent the loan balance is
deemed collectible, Otherwise, all cash received is used 1o
reduce the oumstanding loan balance. A loan is considered
past due when a principal or inrerest payment has nor been
made according to is contracrual rerms. Credit card loans
arc not placed on nomaccrwal sratus and accrue interest
until the loan is paid in full or is charged off.

In certain circumsrances, the firm may meodify the onginal
terms of a loan agreement by granting a concession ro a
barrower experiencing financial difficuley, typically in the
form of a modificaton of loan ¢ovenants, but may also
include forbearance of interest o principal. payment
expensions or interest rate reductons, These modifications,
to the extent significant, are considered troubled delbr
eestructurings (TDRs). Loan modificarions that exvend
payment terms for a period of less than 90 days are
generally  considered  imsignificant and  therefore nor
reported as TDRs,

The firm adopred the relief isswed under the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Ecomomic Securiry Acr (CARES Act), ax
amended, and certain inrerpretive guidance issued by the
LLS. banking agencies that provides for certain modified
[ekans that would otherwise mect the definition of 2 TR 1o
nor be classified as such, Loans accounted for ar amortized
cost thar were not classificd as TDRs ag a resulr of this relief
and interprerive  guidance were 3166 million as of
December 2021 and  were 5184 mullion a5 of
December 2024k The relief provided under the CARES Acr
expired in January 2022,
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The table below presents information about past due loans.

S0 days

& m riBong 3085 days o THiS Tl
A= of December 2021
Compaorate § 5 $90 5£95
fVealth managemaent - 20 20
Commarcial real es1ate 7 143 150
Residantal real estate 3 4 7
Condurriers

Installmant 20 7 27

Cradit cards 85 Fa | 157
Qthar 18 3 E
Tatal §136 §338  §474
Total divided by gross loans at amortized cost 0.3%
As of Decombar 2020
Cafporate F - t294 2%
Wesahh managemisnt 1] ad X
Commarcial meal estate 49 183 237
Fesidanta) real estate 4 23 a7
Consumes

Imatalimant a2 16 BB

Credin cards a6 3 FEd
Cithar 20 i 24
Total £219 $586 $804
Total daidad by gross loans 8t emorized Gost 0.8%

The rable below presents information abour aonaccrual
loans.

As of Ducsberibad

£ inoufons raara | 2000
Companaliy £1.559 £2.651
Wealth management 21 &1
Commmercial ieal e4tata B4 [t
Residantal real ostate 5 5
Instafirrent 43 44
Cither - 122
Total 2 463 $3,562
Total divided by gross loans at amortized cost 1.7% 3.4%
T the rable above;

« Monacerual  loans  included 3254 million as  of
December 2021 and 5333 million as of December 2020 of
[oans thae were 30 days or more pase due,

« Loans that were M0 days or more past due and stll
accruing were not material as of both December 2021
aml December 2020,

« Moaccrual  loans  included 3267 million as  of
Precember 2021 and 5315 million as of December 2020 af
corporate and commercial real estare loans thar were
madified in a TDR. The firm's lending commirments
related 1o these loans were nor marerial as of borth
December 2021 and December 2020, Installment loans
thar were modified in a TDR were not material as of both
December 2021 and December 2020,

Allowance for loan losses as a percenmage of toml
nomacerual loans was 144.7% as of December 2021 and
109.1% as of December 2020,
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Allowance for Credit Losses

The firm's allowance for credit losses consists of the
allowance for losses on loans and lending commitments
aweounted for ar amormized cost, Loans and  lending
commirments accounted for ar fair value or accounted for
ar the lower of cost or fair value are not subject 1o an
allowance for credic losses.

To derermine the allowance for credic losses, the firm
classifies its loans and lending comminments accounted for
at amaortized cost inte wholesale and consumer portfolios.
These portfolios represent the level ar which the firm has
developed and documented its mechodology o determing
the allowance for credic losses. The allowance for credic
Jirsses is measured on a collective basis for loans thar exhibir
similar eisk charactenistics using a modeled approach and
asser-specific basis for loans thar do not shaee similar risk
characterisrics,

The allowance for crediv losses ke into accownt the
weighted average of a range of forecasts of fumre cconomic
condirions over the expected life of the loan and lending
commirments. The expected life of cach loan or lending
commurment 15 determined based on the contracmal term
adjusted for extension options or demand features, or s
modeled in the case of revalving credit card loans, The
forecasts include bascling, favorable and adverse econommie
seenarios over o three-year period, For loans with expecred
lives beyond three years, the model reverts 1o historical loss
informarion based on a non-lingar modeled approach. The
forecasned coonomic scenarios consider @ number of risk
factors relevant to the wholesale and consumer portfolios
deseribed below. The firm applies judgment in weighing
individual scenarios each guarter based on a variety of
factors, including the firm’s internally derived economic
cutlook, market  consensus,  recent  macroeCOBOMIC
conditions and industry trends,

The allowance for credic losses also includes qualicative
SO ponens which allow management oo reflect the
uncertain nature  of  ecomomic  forecasting,  capture
uncerrainty regarding maodel inpues, and account for model
imprecision and concenerarion risk,
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Management's estimate of credit losses enails judgment
about loan collecrability ar the reporting dares, and rhere
are uncertuntics  inherent  in those  judgments. The
allowance for credit losses 15 subject o a governance
process thar involves review and approval by senior
management within the firm's independent risk oversighe
and comtrol  funcnons.  Personnel  within the  firm's
independent risk oversight and control funcrions are
responsible for forecasting the ecomomic variables that
underlic the econmmic scenarios that are wsed o the
modeling of expected credie losses, While management uses
the best information available o determine this estimare,
futire adjustments tothe allowance may be necessary based
on, among  other  things, changes i the cconomic
environment or varianges berween actual resuls and the
original assumprions wsed.

The eable befow presents gross loans and  lending
commirments accounred for ar amormzed cost by porrfolio,

A5 of Dcamiber
2021 il

Londing Landing
5 in rmfons Loame Commiftmants Loars Comraimants
Wholesals
Conporate & 50960 St43008 § 44,773 227,756
Weath management 2B.062 4,031 25,181 a4
Commercal resl gstate 21,180 306 17,0046 4 154
Foesidential real eatate 16,483 o 5,236 T, B0
Oorthsr 6,962 6,158 3m 4,841
Condumer
Installmant 3ETE ] 3,23 i
Cracht cards #2312 35,932 &, I 21,640
Tatal H141,507 $187, 120 3103665 362,513

In the table above:

« Wholesale loans  included 32,43 hillion  as  of
December 2021 and $3.51 billion as of December 2020 of
nomacerual loans for which rhe allowance for credin losses
wias measured on an asser-specific basis, The allowance
for credic losses on these loans was 5343 million as of
[ecember 2021 and $649 million as of December 20240,
These loans included $140 million as of December 2021
and 8584 million as of December 2020 of loans which did
not require a reserve as the loan was deemed o be
recoverable,

Credit card lending commitments mcluded $33.97 billion
as of December 2021 and 32164 billion as of
Decenmber 2020 related o credit card lines issued by the
firm o consumers. These credic card lines are cancellable
by the firm. Credic card lending commitments also
included approximarely $2.0 hillion as of December 2021
related ro a commimment o acquire the General Motors
co-branded credit card portfolio.

Sce Mowe 18 for further information abour lending

cormmibmenis,
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The following is a description of the methodalogy wsed 1o
calculare the allowance for credie losses:

Wholesale. The allowance for credit losses for wholesale
loans and lending commitments thar exhibit similar risk
characteristics s measured wsing a maodeled approach,
These maodels determine the probability of defaule and loss
given default based on various risk facrors, including
intermal credit ranngs, industry defaulr and loss dara,
expected life, macrocconomic indicators, the borrower's
capacity 1o meer irs financial abligations, the borrower's
country of risk and industry, loan seniority and collareral
type, For lending commitments, the methodology also
considers  probability of  drawdowns o funding. In
addition, for loans backed by real estare, nsk facrors
include the lean-to-value rato, debt service rario and home
price index, The mest significant inpurs 10 the forecast
model for wholesale loans and lending commimenrs
nclude  unemplovment  eares,  GIP,  credic  spreads,
commercial and industrial delinguency rares, shore- and
lomg-term mrerest rates, and oil prices.

The allvwance for loan losscs for whalesale loans thar do
not share simular msk charactensocs, such as nonaccrual
loans or loans in a TDR, i caloulated using the present
value of expecred future cash flows discounted ae the loan's
origimal effective race, the observable marker price of the
leam o the Bair value of the collareral,

Whaolesale loans are charged off against the allowance for
loam Dosses when deemed 1o be uncollectible,

Consumer. The allowance for credit losses for consumer
loans thar exhibir similar risk characteristics s calenlared
using a modeled approach which classifies comsumer loans
inpo pools based on borrower-relared and exposure-relaned
characreristics thar differentiare a pool’s risk characreristics
from other pools. The facrors considered in determining 2
poal are generally consistent with the risk characreristics
used for impernal credir risk measurement and management
and include key metrics, such as FICO credit scores,
delinquency stams, foan vintage and macroeconomic
indicators, The most significant inputs to the forecast
mode] for comsumer loans include unemployment rates and
delingquency rates, The expecred life of revolving eredir card
loams ix derermined by modeling expecred furore draws and
the riming and amount of repayments allocared o the
funded balance. The firm also recognizes an allowance for
credin losses an conmmimments o acquire loans, However,
ner allowance for credit losses is recognized on credit card
[ending commitments as they are cancellable by the firm.
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The allowance for credit losses for consumier loans thar do
noe share similar risk characteristics, such as loans in a
TR, is caleulared using the present value of expected
furiere cash Aows discounred ar the loan's original ¢ffective
rare,

[nstallment loans are charged off when they are 120 days
past due. Credit card loans are charged off when they are
1RO days past due.

Allowance for Credit Losses Rollforward

The mble below presents informaton aboue the allowance
for credin losses,

£in mifians Wholezale Conmumaer Total

Year Ended Docember 2021

Allowanee for loan losses

Bbgmll nf balance £2 684 £1. 2790 £3.874

Met charge-offs (130 {203} 1333)
Eraveon [231) ke | 120

Cithar (B8] - (e8]
Endin! balance £2,135 £1.438 £3573

Allowance ratio 1.6% 12.1% 26%

Mot chargo-off ratio 0.1% 23% 0.3%

Allowance for losses on lending commitments

Beginnng balance £ 557 g - & ER7

Provisian 50 187 237

Other [18) - (18]
Ending balance E £ 187 § 776

‘Year Ended Decerriber 2020

Allowance for loan losses

Begnnng balanca 1.3 £ E37 %268

Mat charge-ofis {61 EL 1721 L a ]
Prennaion 2,108 a5 2,853

Othar 12404 - (2400
Ending balanca 7 564 £1,790 3 874

Allowanes ratio 27% 159% 37%

MNet chargo-off ratio 0E% 4% 09%

Alloweanee lor losses on lending commitments

Begrnng balante g 313 £ - £ 33

Prenisian Zdd ” 244

Ending balancs £ EBE7 -3 - £ 67

In the table abowve:

« Other primarily represents the redection to the allowance
related to loans and lending commitments ransferred o

held for sale.

The allowance ratio is calculared by dividing the
allowance for loan losses by gross loans accounted for at
amortized cost,

The met charge-off mato is caleulated by dividing net
charge-offs by average gross loans accounted for at
amortized cost,
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+ The beginning balance for the allowance for loan losses
andd allowance for losses on lending commitments for 2020
reflects the cumulanve effect of mesuring the allowance
under the CECL smandard as of January 1, 2020, The
cumulanive cffecr was an imcrease in the allowance for
credir losses of %679 million, which consisted of (i) an
increase in the allowance for loan losses of $727 million
{an increase in the allowance for wholsale loans of
432 million, an increase in the allowanee for consumer
leans of 444 million and a decrease in the allowance for
PCY loans of 5169 million) and (i) a decrease in the
allowanee for lending commitments of 348 million,

Allowance for Credit Losses Commentary
Year Ended December 2021, The allowance for credic
losses decreased by $82 mullion during 2021,

The provision for credir losses reflecred growth in the firm's
lemding portfolios, primarily in the consumer portfolio
refated 1o credie cards, including a provision for credic
losses of approsimarcly 3185 million relating 1w the
commimment 1o acquire the General Maotors co-branded
credit card portfolio, largely offser by reserve reducton
driven by improved broader economic environment,

Mer charge-offs for 2021 for wholesale loans  were
primarily relared 1o corporate loans and ner charge-offs for
consumer loans were primanily relared o credic cards.

Forecast model inputs as of December 2021, When
modeling expecred credit losses, the firm employs a
weighted, multi-scenario forecast, which includes baseline,
adverse  and  faverable  ecomomic  scenarios. As of
Drecember 2021, this multi-scenario forecast was primarily
weighred rowards the baseline economic scenario,

The takle below presents the forecasted ULS, unemployment
and U5, GDP growth rates used in the baseling economc
scenario of the forecast model,

As ol Decombaer 2021
LS. unemployment rate
Farecast for the quanar andad
June 2032 3.7%
Decermbar 2022 35%
June 2023 34%
Growth in U.5. GDP
Farecast for tha year
2022 34%
2023 2.1%
2024 1.8%

In addition, in the adverse economic scenario in the irm's
forecast model, the U5, unemploymenr rae peaks or
approximarely 9.5% during the first quarter of 2023 and
the maximum dechine in the quarterly LS. GDP relative 1o
the fourth quarter of 2021 is approximately 2.5%, which
oocurs during the first quarter of 2023,
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In the rable above:

» LLS. uncmployment rate represents the rate forecasted as
of the respective quarter-end.

= Growth in US GDP represents the  vear-over-year
grovwth rate forecasted for the respective vears.

While the U5, anemployment and US. GDP growth rates
are significant inputs to the forecast model, the model
contemplates a variety of other inputs across a range of
seenarios to provide a forecast of futore economic
conditions, Given the complex nature of the forecasting
process, no single economic variable can be viewed in
isolation and independently of ather inputs,

Year Ended December 2020, The allowance for credic
losses increased by $2.63 hillion during 2020 reflecting
$679 mllion eelating ro the impact of CECL adopeion and
§1.95 billion from acriviry during the period.

The provision for credit losses for wholesale and consumer
loans reflected the impact of the coromavieus (COVID-19)
pandemic on coonomic conditions, which resulved i higher
modeled expecred losses and lower recoveries. In addinon,
the provision for credic losses for wholesale loans was
impacted by aserspecific provisions  and  rarings
downgrades  primarily related to  borrowers o the
diversificd  industrials,  techoology,  media &
telecommunications and  natural  resources  industries,
Besides the weaker ecomomic outdook relared o the
COVIER-19 pandemic, the provision for credir losses for
consumer loans for 2020 was also impacred by the growrh
of the credit card porrfolio.

Mer charge-offs for 2020 for wholesale loans were
primarily relared o corporare loans and ner charge-offs for
consumer loans were primarily refated to installment loans.
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Fair Value of Loans by Level

The rable below presents loans held for investmen
accounted for ar fir value under the fair value oprion by
level within the fxir value hicrarchy.

£ 0 mdioes Liwead 1 Ll 2 Lirsal 2 Tartal
A3 of Dacombar 2621

Loan Type

Comparate 5

§ 1688 £ 837 £ 2442
5873 63 5,936

Wealth management

Comemigecal roal estate [ ] 983 1588
Residential real estate 115 205 J20
Db 1B7 266 433
Tatal $- S 84765 §2354  $10,769
As of Decernbar 2020

Loan Type

Conparate - 5122  oBze § 2.0%1
Wealth managemant - T.809 B3 7872
Commercal real estate - BS7 1,104 1,961
Fwmidential roal sstate - pat ] 260 A9
Othar - 525 22 ca7
Tatal £ - 510047  $267B  E13.625

The gains as a result of changes in the fair value of loans
held for imvestrnent for which the fair value ophon was
elected were 3216 million for 2021 and $131 million for
2020, These gains were included in oaher princepal
IFANSaCTionNs,

See More 4 for an overview of the fiem's fair value
mensurement policies and the valuation technigues and
significant inpurs used ro determine the fair value of leans,

Significant Unobservable Inputs

The rable below presents the amount of level 3 loans, amd
eanges and weighted averages of significanr unobservable
inpurs used to value such loans.

A of Decombaer 2031 anaf Dectmber 2020
Amaunt or Waighted Apnsunt ot Weighted
£ in milfons Ramge  Avorsge Rangs  dbuersgs
Corporate
Leval 3 assets 5837 pre]
Field 1.65%to B6E%  14.9% 1.0% wdS52%  124%

Fl-eu:wnr.- rate  15.0% to 92.0% A40.8% 15.0% o ER0%  31.0%
Diusratam [years) 0.9t 6.8 7 16wb3 34

Commuarcial real astate

Lennal 3 assets 5983 £1.04

Yiold 32% 40 18.7% 128%  45% w0123%  110%
Recovery rate  4.1%to 996%  41.4% 310% wd9a% B65%
Diation lrears) 0.4 to 4.0 1.7 D3wde 2.6
Residential real estate

Level 3 assets L2065 £260

Yeald 2.1% 1o 20.0% 16.1% 20% w140% 121%
Dwation lyears) 01to2 4 1.0 DEa2 6 1.7
Wealth management and sther

Léveal B ateits L3 L3IBE

Yiakd F.6% 1o 18.7% TI% 28% wia?e 20%
Dusation hpears 2% ta556 36 D9wss 4.1
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In the table above:

= Ranges represent the significant unohservable mpurs thae
weere used in the valuation of cach type of loan,

* Weighted averages are caloulared by weighnng cach impur
by the relative fair value of the loan.

* The ranges and weighred averages of these inpurs are not
representative of the appropnate inputs o use when
caleulating the fair value of any one loan. For example,
the highest vield for residential real cstate loans s
appropriate for valuing a specific residential real estare
loan bur may not be appropriate for valuing any other
residential real estate loan, Accordingly, the ranges of
inputs do not represent uncertainty in, or possible ranges
of, fair value measurements of level 3 loans,

Increnses in yield or duration vsed in the valuation of
level 3 loans would have resulted i a lower fair value
measurement, while increases in recovery rare would have
resulted in a higher fair value measurement as of hoth
December 2021 and  December 2020, Due w the
distincnive  nature  of each  level 3 loan, the
interrelationship of inputs s not necessarily uniform
within each product type.

« Loans are valued vsing discounted cash flows.

Level 3 Rolforward
The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair
value for level 3 loans,

Waur Encled Decanmber

5 im ifsang 2021 2000
Eeginnng balance 52,678 $1,590
Mt realived gains/losses) 99 T2
Mot unrealized ganslosses) {33) BT
Purchases e 670
Sales (54} 1600
Settlements [B&a) @en
Transfers mio level 3 369 36
Transfaes cut of level 3 (3081 0
Ending balance 52,354 £2.6578
In the table above:

» Changes in fair value are presented for loans that are
classified in level 3 as of the end of the penod.

» Mer onrealized gainsi{losses) relates to loans thar were
still held at period-end.

* Purchases includes originarions and secondary purchases.

* Transfers berween levels of the fair value hicrarchy are
reparred ar the beginning of the reporting period in which
they oocur. If a loan was mansferred 1o level 3 during a
reparting period, its entire gain or loss for the period is
classified in level 3.
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The table below presents information, by loan type, for
loans inchaded in the summary table above.

Year Ended Decembar

£n mailione icra] 2030
Carporate

Begmning balanca £ 923 £ 82
Mei maalized gainsflosses) Ed | Frd
Med unreatzed gana/llosses) {34} 12zl
Purchases 143 297
Eales {18} 38
Zettlements (251} (1281
Transbsms o level 3 127 163
Transters out of level 3 193} (10
End!m balance £ Baz £ 329

Cammercial real estate

Begmnning balance £1.104 £ 591

Met realized ganailosses) 45 24
Mot unreaized gana/losses) 121} (=8]
Purchases 20 334
Eales [{53] =]
Seltlements (232} (366
Transbers ino level 3 185 456
Tranafers ot of level 3 (L] -
Ending balance £ 043 £1.104
Residential real estate

Begmnning balance § 260 2N

Met realized ganailosses) 12 13
Kot unrealzed gamsiilosses) 141} 0
Purchases 58 4B
Ealos 4 il
Sertlements {61} e
Transfars into feved 2 ET ag
Tranafers ouf of level 3 |78} -
Ending balance £ 206 ' 260
Wealth management and other

Bagnning balance § 338 § 326
et mealized gansilossss) " 13
Mot unrealzed gamsiilosses) 63 e
Purchasss B1 11

Salos 129) 151
Settlements {64} (1681
Transfars into level 2 = 152
Tranafers out of level § {88} -
Ending balance § 329 § 385

Level 3 Rollforward Commentary

Year Ended December 2021, The net realized and
unrealized gains on level 3 loans of $66 million (reflecting
399 million of ner realized gaims and 833 million of ner
uneelized losses) for 2021 included gains of 342 million
reported in other principal rransacrions and $24 million
reported in interest income.

The drivers of the ner uneealized losses on level 3 loans for
2021 were not marerial.

Transbers inro level 3 foans during 2021 primarily reflecred
rransfers of cerrain loans backed by commercial real estare
from level 2 {principally due to cermin unobservable yvicld
and duration inpurs becoming significant ta the valuation
of these mstruments) and transfers of certain corporate
loans from level 2 (principally due to reduced price
rramsparency as a result of a lack of marker evidence,
including fewer markes transactions in these instruments},
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Transfers oot of level 3 loans during 2021 primarily
reflected transfers of cerrain corporare loans and wealth
management and other loans to level 2 {in each case,
pringipally dive ro increased price rransparency as a result of
market evidence, including marker rransactions in rhese
INSITUIMCTTS).

Year Ended December 2020. The mer realized and
unrealized gains on level 3 loans of 3159 million (reflecring
$72 million of ner realized gons and $87 million of net
unrealized gains) for 20200 included gains of $135 million
reported in other principal ransactions and 324 million
reported i interest incame.

The drivers of the ner unrealized gains on level 3 loans for
2020 were not material.

Transfers ineo level 3 loans during 2020 reflected mransters
of certain loans backed by commercial real estate,
corporate loans, and wealth management and other loans
from level 2 {in each case, principally due to reduced price
tramsparency as a result of a lack of market evidence,
including fewer marker rramsactions in these instruments),

Transfers our of level 3 loans during 2020 reflected
tramsfers of cermin corporare loans o level 2 (principally
due ro durarion and vield inputs no longer being significant
to the valuation of thee loans and increased price
rransparency as a result of increased marker evidence,
including marker rransactions in these instruments).

Estimated Fair Value

The mble below presents the estimared fair value of loans
thar are nor accounted for an fair value and in whar level of
the fair value hicrarchy they would have been classified if
they had been included in the firm®s fair value hierarchy.

Ensratod Fawr Vb
Carnpr
& in mifions Value Liwyed 2 Ll 3 Toal
As of December 2021
Amartized cost $139.934 S876T6 §$54.127 §141.803
Hald for sale § 7888 £ 5970 § 1917 5 73847
As of Decamber 2020
Ansorimed cost § 05600 552,733 S4BR1Z $101.305
Hald for sale $ 2.m9 $1841 19 § 2812
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Moto 10,
Fair Value Option

Other Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value
In addition to trading assets and liabilities, and certain
investments and loans, the firm accounts for certain of s
other fimancial assers and  Labilines ar fair valug,
substantially all vnder the fair value oprion. The primary
reasons for clecring the fair value oprion are ro:

* Reflect economic events in earnings on a mely basis;

« Mitigate volanlity in carmings from usng  different
mezasurement artribures (e.g., mansfers of financial assers
accounted for as financings are reconded ar fair value,
whereas rthe relared secured financing would be recorded
on an accrual basis absent electing the fair value oprion);
aml

Hdddress simplificarion and cosr-benefic considerations
{e.g.. accounnng for hybrid financial mstrruments ar far
value in their entirery versus bifurcanion of embedded
denvanves and hedge accounnng for debe hoses).

Hybrid financial insrruments are instruments thar conrain
bifurcatable embedded derivanves and do nor require
settlement by physical delivery of nonfinancial assers (e.g.,
physical commediticsh, 1f the firm elects o bifurcare the
embedded  derivative from  the associated  debr, the
derivarive is accounred for ar fair value and the host
comragt is accounted for ar amertized cost, adjusted for the
cffecrive portion of any fair value hedges. IF the firm does
man elecr e bifurcare, the entire hybrid financial instromenr
is accounted for ar fair valuwe under the fair value oprion.

(vher financial assers and liabilioies accounred for ar fair
value under the fair value oprion nchede:

Resale and repurchase agreements;

Certain securities borrowed and loaned rransacnons;

Certain customer and other recoivables and certaim other
liabilities;

Certain time deposits {deposits with no stated maturny
are not eligible for a Fair value option election), including
structured  certificares of deposit, which are hybrid
financial instruments;

Substantially all other secured  financings, including
rransiers of assers accounted for as financings; and

« Certain unseewred short- and  long-term  borrowings,
substantially  all of which are  hybrid  financial
INSEFUITETES.
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Fair Value of Other Financial Assets and Liabilities
by Level

The table below presents, by level within the fair value
higrarchy, other financial assers and liabilities an fae value,
substanvially all of which are accounted for ar fair value
umnder the fair valoe oprion.

£ i mulions Lewal 1 Lownsd 2 Larvadl 3 Todsd
As of Decormnber 2021
Assats
Fanale Boreamants $ - S205.0F % - § 205703
Securites. borrovnad = 39,955 - 39,955
Customar and cithed recenakles - 42 - Az
Total 5 = 245700 % = § 245,700
Liabilitian
Depoaits % - § (3NLBI2) § (3813 § (35.425]
Fleparchass by ssmanls - (185883 - {165,883
Secunses learmd - 8.7 - (9,170}
b sboured fnancngs - {14.508) (2568 (17,074]
Urspecurad borrowings
Short-term = {22m03) (TE29] (28832)
Liong-tem = (42977 (84131 (52.390)
Edhu iabelines - (213) [145_} {358]
Tatal § - $(286,566) $(23.567) %(310,133)
As of Decernbar 2020
Bssats
Flaaabs Bof seiriarils - 5108080 § - % 1080680
Setulibad bairowed - 18 EaE - 28,508
Customar and cthe recenaliles - B - &2
Toral 3 - F1IT40 3 ~- 5 137,040
Liabilities
Dieposts 3= 5 (11,5660 8 .221) % (16,176)
Fapurchsss agresemonis - 1126565 & (128571
SecuniBed learwd 1,053} - {1,063}
Oabsi spcured franicnigs - {20,652 (3,474) 24,126
Unsecured borrowings
Shet-1a0m - (VL2271 7523 (26,7500
Leng-tenm =¥ 28338 nism Lk AR ]
Cheter Bkl =5 11} (P il
Toml § - SRE07.790 $028.0580 $235.8500

In the mble above, other financal assers are shown as
positive amounts and other financial liabilities are shown as
negative amounts,

S¢e Mote 4 for an overview of the firm’s fair value
measurement policies and the valuation techniques and
significant inputs used to determine the fair value of other
financial assers and fiabilites,
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Significant Unobservable Inputs

See  below  for  information  abour  the  significant
unobservable inpur wsed 1o value level 3 other financial
assers and liabilicies ar fair value a5 of both December 2021
and December 20241,

Other Secured Financings. The ranges and weighted
averages of simificant unobservable inpurs vsed o value
level 3 ather secured financings are presented below. These
ranges and weighted averages exclude unobservable inpurs
thar are only relevant to a single insrrument, and therefore
are nor meaningful,

As of December 2021

* Yiehd: 1.3% ro6.4% (weighted average: 2.1%)

= Duranion: (06 to 7,1 vears (weighted average: 3.7 years)
As of December 2020

= Yield: 1.4% to 7.1% (weighred average: 2.7%)

+ Duranion: 1.4 1o 5.0 vears (weighted average: 4.0 years)

Gienerally, increases in viehd or duration, in isolanon, would
have resulred in a3 lower Fair value measurement as of
peritd-cnd. Due o the distincrive natore of ecach of level 3
other secured financings, the interrelationship of inputs is
ot necessarily uniform across such financings. See Note 11
for further information abour other secured financings,

Deposits, Unsecured Borrowings and Other
Liabilities, Substantially all of the firm's deposits,
unsecured shore- and |u:|'lﬁvtl.'rm h::rruwinp.. and other
liabilities thar are classified in level 3 are hybrid financial
imstruments, As the significant unobservable inputs used 1o
vitlug hybrid financial instroments primarily refare 1o the
embedded  derivanve  componemt of  these  deposits,
unsecured  borrowings  and  other  habibities,  these
unobservable inpurs  are icorporated in the firm's
derivative disclosures in Note 7. See Noze 13 for further
information  about  deposits, Mote 14 for forther
information aboot unsecured borrowings and Note 15 for
further information about other liabilities,

Repurchase Agreements, As of December 2021, the firm
had no  level 3 repurchase agreements, As  of
December 2020, the firms level 3 repurchase agreements
were not mareral.
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Level 3 Rollforward

The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair
value for level 3 other financial Babilities accounted for at
fair value,
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The table below presents information, by the consolidated
balance sheer lime items, for liabilites included in the
summary table above,

Yoar Ended Docsmbse
Y Ended O £ i mudons it ea | D
i malions 2021 e Boginning balsnce § [4221) & 4023
Emprln:lg balancs SIZR,068) 71,0361 Rt realized gansfilosses) [28) 1
Mot rpalmed gaingTlossoes) (401 a7 Mot unrealzed gainelosses) 111) [rehisi]
Brat uniealzed gamalloeses) B25 11,3011 Issuances 1473 14,0490
Issuances 112.632) (12,1231 Sohlernents 1,208 4,168
Sartlaments 14,930 15,373 Transfers inta level 3 el ] 6T
Transfess mio lewel 5 iTae) 3,576 Tranafars aut of level 3 BE ]
Tramsfees cut of leved 3 2,505 421 Ending balance § (3613} & {42210
Ending balance ${2TBET) 28058 R hase agr .
Begnning balance 5 @ £ 3o
In the rable above: heat unroalzed gunatiosses) 1 i)
Sottlements 1 30
» Changes i fair value are presented for all other finanaal Ending balance # - % [F)
|i:L|:t1'Iin'cs that are classified in level 3 ax of the end of the Starsavael Kaniigs
pem:»d. Bagrining balance § (34740 § 3890
. . . . Heat realized ganailoases) Fri] 13
+ Mer unrealived gains{losses) relates to other financial ot unralzed gainstlossesh 63 {142
liabilines thar were stll hebd ar period-end. !;:m:“:“u ‘;.;:’ ”';ﬁ
* Transfers ha:w.u:cn. |:c1.l_|:|1..' of the fair \:aluv: hll';:r:'t.n:hg.' are H::::;f;ﬁ::m 1;;;’ 12'1-3?"
reported at the beginning of the reporting period in which Ending balance S [2866] § 13474
thu.'}.' oceur. I a f.|11:1!1|:|:1.| lia h.‘lllt'r was rml_u.'ﬂ:rn:d o level 3 Unsrsarsd abiort & ings
during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the Bagrning balance § (7523 & 5707
period is classified in level 3. Nt realized gans/flossss) 124 (130
Ihhr unrsalzed gainiossas) = 374 E:g:::il
« F o : L, (g P, oy LML P - LT S -5 11 [ i
For level _3 other financial |1_:3b|||.t:r::. increases are shown ot " L e
as negative amounts, while decreases are shown as Transtars inbo lovel 3 {163) B2
[ROSITVE AT, Transfers aut of level 3 T TES
. R Ending balancs $ Da20] L 75X
* I..l:"i'l.'] 3 other ﬂnﬂ.m_.:la.l ll:.!.l:lillﬂ"l.“.\- are !"I'.qu-l'lfl!ll}' St iR
economically hedged with rrading assets a‘nd liabilities, Buginning belincs SHZEI6]  S1674T
Accordingly, gains or losses thar are classified in bevel 3 Mat realized gansliesaes) {212) (229
can be partially offser by gains or losses anriburable w el W e
level 1, 2 or 3 reading assces and labilines, As a resole, Sattlernents 5,759 5718
iy ROCHE, | 1 . i : Transhems inbo level 3 [Rni] [TET)
gains or losses II:H:!I.IIi'I:‘! i the level 3 rulanr-.mrd brelow Lol 173 il
Eﬂ not necessarily represent the overall impact on the Ending balance T BA13 BIIETE
“s resules of tioms, liguidit capital resources,
rm’s resules of operations, liquidity or capital resources, .
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Begrning balance § (ze2) £ (14w

hoat realized gansflosses) g
Rt unsgalized gainstiossesh 116 3]
|5 e - e ul]
Ending balance § 48) 5§ @G

Level 3 Rollforward Commentary

Year Ended December 2021, The ner realived and
unrealized gains on level 3 other financal liabilivies of
8424 million (reflecting 3401 million of net realined losses
and 38235 million of ner unrealized gains) for 2021 included
gainsf{losses) of 5353 million reported in marker making,
%32 million reporred in other principal rransacrions and
200 million reporred in ineerest expense in the
comsolidaved  starements of earnings, and 857 million
reported in debt valuaron adjustment in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income,
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The net unrealized gains on level 3 other Ginancial liabilities
for 2021 primarily reflected gains on certain hybrid
financial instruments included i unsecured long- and
shore-rerm borrowings (pringipally due o an ingrease in
INIEECST FATCS).

Transfers into level 3 ather financial liabilines during 2021
primarily reflected transfers of cermin hybrid financial
insrruments included in wnsecured long- and shoreterm
borrowings from level 2 {principally due o redoced price
rransparency of cermain volatiliny and correlation inpurs
used o value these instruments) and certain other secured
financings from level 2 {principally due to reduced price
transparency of certain yvield and duration inputs used
value these instruments),

Transfers out of level 3 other financial labilities during
2021 primarily reflected transfers of certain  hybrid
financial instrumients included i onsecured long- and
shore-term boreowings 1o level 2 (principally due o
increased  price ransparency of certain volanlity and
correlarion inputs used o value rhese instruments, and
certain unobservable volanlity inpurs no longer being
sigmificant o the valoation of these msruments) and
certain other secured financings to level 2 (principally due
to increased price transparency of certain yield and
duration inpues used to value these instruments).

Year Ended December 2020, The net realized and
unrealized losses on level 3 other financial labilities of
$1.62 billion {reflecting $317 million of ner realized loses
and $1.30 billion of net wnrcalized losses) for 2020
included losses of 5144 billion reporred in marker making,
$28 million reporred in other principal rransacrions and
$15 million reporred in interest expense in the consalidated
statements of camings, and $139 million reported in debe
valuation adjustment in the consolidated starements of
comprehensive imcome,

The net unrealized losses on level 3 other financial liabilines
for 20200 primanly reflected losses on certain hybrid
financial instruments included in unscoured fong- and
short=term borrowings (principally due to an increase m
global equity prices), and losses on certain hybrid financial
instruments included in deposies (principally due 1o an
increase in the marker value of the underlving assers),

Transfers into level 3 other financial liabilines during 2020
primarily reflected reansfers of cermin other  secured
financings from level 2 {principally doe ro reduced price
rransparency of cerrain yield and duration inpurs wsed o
value rthese imstrumenss), and certain hybnd  financial
instruments ncluded in unsecored long- and shoreterm
baorrowings from level 2 {principally due to reduced price
transparency of certain volatility and correlation inputs
used to valee these instrumenes).
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Transfers our of level 3 other financial Liabilites during
20200 primarily reflected eransfers of certain  hybrid
financial instruments imcluded in onsecured short-term
horrowings to level 2 iprincipally due to imcreased price
rransparency of cemain volanlity and correlanon inpurs
used 1o value these instrumenrs).

Gains and Losses on Other Financial Assets and
Liabilities Accounted for at Fair Value Under the
Fair Value Option

The rable below presents the gains and losses recognized in
earnings as a resulr of the elecrion o apply the fair value
oprion to certain financial assers and liabilities.

st Ersihecd Dacmrnbibe
i nadkons 2021 feynien} frant i

Unesacuresd shortfanm bormoaings SIT0M8) & F0G 3, 365]
Unsecursd lang-term borrowandgs (2393)  (2.804) {5,261
Othwr [135) {B53} (3431
Tatal $13.544) 431610 1H499)

Ins thie table above;

= Gamslosses) were substantially all included i markes
making.

= Gamsflosses) exclode contractual interest, which s
included in inrerest income and nrerest expense, for all
instruments other than hybrid financial instroments. Sec
Mote 23 for further informarion abour interest income
and interest expense.

Giin(losses)h included in unseeored shor- and long-rerm
borrowings were substantially all related ro the embedded
denvative component of hybrid financial insoramenis for
2021, 2020 and 2019, These gains and losses would have
been recognized under ather U5, GAAP even if the firm
had not elected o account for the entire hybrid financial
instrument at fair value,

= Oher primarily consists of gainsf{losses) on custoamer and
ather receivables, deposits, other secored financings and
ather liablites,

* Other financial assets and liabilities ar fair value are
frequently economically hedged with rrading assets and
liabilities. Accordingly, gains or losses on sch other
financial assets and liabilines can be partially offser by
gains or losses on trading assers and habilioes, As a result,
gaing or losses on orher financial assers and liabilivies do
not necessarily represent the overall impact on the firm's
resuls of operatons, liguidity or capiral resources,
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See Mote 8 for information about gains{losses) on equity
securities and Note @ for information about gainsf{losses)
on loans which are accounted for ar fair value under the fair
valug option, Ciins losses) on erading assers and liabilities
accounted for ar far value under the fair valee oprion are
included in marker making. Sce Mot 5 for further
informanon abour gais{losses) from marker making,

Long-Term Debt Instruments

The difference berween the aggregare contractual principal
amaownt and the relared fair value of lomg-rerm other
secured financings, for which the fair value oprion was
elecred, was not material as of both December 2021 and
Drecember 20240,

The difference between the aggregare contracrual principal
amount and the relared fair value of unsecured longsterm
borrowings, for which the fair value option was elecred,
was mot material as of December 2021, and the fair value
exceeded the ageregare conractual principal amount by
445 million as of December 2020, The amounr above
includes  bawh  principal-protecred  and  non-principal-
protecred long-rerm borrowings.

Debt Valuation Adjustment

The firm caleukares the fair value of fnancial liabilivies for
which the fair value oprion is elecred by discounting furure
cash flows ar a rawe which incorporates the firm's credi
spreads,

The table below presents informarion abour the ner debr
valuation adjustment (DVA) gainsf{losses) on financial
liabilities for which the fair value option was elected,

Vi Enclésd Dipcenbar
§ w»nonulons ks | a0 vl -]
Preetan DWA $433 38T ERT63)
After tas OWA §382  B261 S.07@

In the rable above:

« Afrer rax DVA i included in debt valuarion adjostment in
the consolidared srarements of comprehensive income.

« The gains/ilosses) reclassified to marker making in the
consolidated starements of carnings from accumulated
other comprehensive income/{loss) upon exringuishment
of such financial liabilines were not marerial for 2021,
2020 and 2019,
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Loans and Lending Commitments

The table below presents the difference berween the
aggregane far value and the ageregate conteactuzl principal
amount for loans {ingleded in rrading assers and loans in
the consolidared balance sheets) for which the fair value
oprion was clecred.

A of Deosmber

£ v midvorm iiri] 0

Performing loans
Sgoregate contractual prncipal n eocess of fer valse  $1373 § 963

Loans on nonaceraal status and/or more than 90 days past dus
Agoregate contractual principal in eccass of fer value  SB600 310536
Aggregate fer valus $31568 3 3519

In the table above, the aggregate contractual principal
Armaaant HF h]ﬂll! iH “HI'I‘-.'I-I.'LT'.I.'I' st fus ﬂ'l'lil'rur FIRENS Th.'l-rl-
N days past due (which exclides loans carried ar zero fair
valug and considered uncollecrible) exceeds the relared fair
value primarily because the firm regularly purchases loans,
such as distressed loans, ar values significantly below the
contracmal principal amounts.

The fair value of unfunded lending commirments for which
the fair value oprion was elecied was a labiliry of
820 million as of December 2021 and 525 million as of
DPecember 2020, and the relared vomal conrractual amount
of these lending commuments was 3611 million as of
December 2021 and $1.64 billion as of December 20240, Sec
Mote 18 for  further  information  abour  lending
COMMIRMants.

Impact of Credit Spreads on Loans and Lending
Commitments

The estmared ner gainf{loss) aeriburable to changes in
inserument-specific credit spreads on loans and lending
commitments for which rhe fair value oprion was checred
wis 3277 million for 2021, $(106) million for 2020 and
%134 million for 20019, The firm generally caleulares the fair
value of loans and lending commitments for which the fair
value option is elected by discounting future cash flows ara
rate which incorporates the instrument-specific credit
spreads, For floating-rate loans and lending commitments,
substantially all changes in fair value are arrriburable o
changes in instrument-specific credic spreads, whereas for
fixed-rate loans and lending commitments, changes in fur
value are also atmibuorable to changes in interest rares.
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Note 11,
Collateralized Agreements and Financings

Collateralized  agreements are resale agreements and
securities  borrowed.  Collateralized  financings  are
repurchase agreements, securitics loaned and other seeured
financings, The firm enters into these transactions in order
o, among other things, faciliare client acrivines, inves
exeess cash, acquire securities to cover shorr positions and
finance cerrain firm acovities.

Collareralized agreements and financings are presented oma
ner-by-counterpary basis when a legal righr of seroff exiss,
Interest on collareralized agrecments, which s included in
interest income, and collateralized financings, which s
included in interest expense, s recognized over the life of
the transaction, See Note 23 for further information about
interest meomde and interst expeise,

Resale and Repurchase Agreements

A resale agreement is a tramsaction in which the firm
purchases Gnancial instruments from a seller, rypically in
exchonge for cash, and simultancously enrers into an
agreement to resell the same o substantially the same
financial instruments o the seller ar a stared price plos
accrued interest ara funire dare.

A repurchase ageeement s a transacnon in which the firm
sells financial instruments to a buyer, typically in exchange
for cash, and simultaneously enrers inpo an agreement o
repurchase the same or substannally the same financial
instruments fromm the buyer at a stated price plus aconed
interest ata future date,

Even though repurchase and resale agreements {incleding
“repos-  and  reverses-toematurity”) invelve  the  legal
transfer of ownership of financial instruments, they are
accounted for as fnancing arcangements because they
require the financial instruments o be repurchased or
resold hefore or ar the marerity of the agreemenr. The
financial inseruments purchased or sold i resale and
repurchase agreements typically include LS. government
and agency. and investmiene-grade sovereign obligations.

The firm receives financal wstrements purchased onder
resale  agreements and  makes  delivery  of financial
instruments sold under repurchase agreemens, To mitigare
credit exposure, the firm monitors the marker value of these
financial instruments on a daily basis, and defivers or
obrains additional collateral due o changes in the marker
value of the finamcial instruments, as appropriate. For
resale agreements, the firm typically requires collareral with
a faire value approximarely equal to the carrying value of the
relevant assers in the consolidared balance sheers.
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Securities Borrowed and Loaned Transactions

In a securities borrowed transaction, the frm borrows
securities from a counterparty in exchange for cash or
securities. When the firm returns the securities, the
counterparty rerurns the cash or securinies, Inrerest is
generally paid periodically over the life of the rransaction,

In 2 seewrivics loaned transacrion, the firm lends securines
to a counterparty in exchange for cash or securities. When
the counterparry returns the securiries, the firm remarns the
cash or secunries posted as collateral, Interesr is generally
paid periodically over the life of the transaction.

The firm receives securines borrowed and makes delivery of
secuniies loaned, To mingate credit exposure, the firm
memitors the marker value of these securities on a daily
basis, and delivers ar obrains additional collateral due to
changes in the marker value of the securities, ax
appropriate. For securities borrowed transactions, the firm
typically requires collateral wirh a fair value approsimarely
equal to the careving value of the securities borrowed
ARSI,

Securities borrowed and loaned within Fixed Income,
Currency and Commodities (FICC) financing are recorded
ar fair value under the fair value oprion. See Mote 10 for
further informanon abour securincs borrowed and loaned
accounsed for ar fair valoe,

Subsrantially all of sccurities borrowed and loaned within
Equiries financing are recorded based on the amount of
cash collareral advanced or received plus accroed inrerest.
The firm alse reviews such securities  borrowed  to
determine if an allowance for credit losses should be
recorded by taking meo consideration the fair value of
collareral received. As these agreements generally can be
rerminated on demand, they exhibin linle, if any, sensinviry
ro changes in interest rates. Therefore, the carrying value of
such  agreements approximares fair value. As rthese
agreemients are not accounted for ar fair value, they are not
included in the firm®s fair value hierarchy in Notes 4
through 10, Had these agreements been included i the
firm™s fair valee hicrarchy, they would have been classificd
in lewel 2 as of both December 2021 and December 2020,
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Offsetting Arrangements

The table below presents resale and repurchase agreements
and securities borrowed and loaned rransactions included
in the comsolidated balance sheers, as well as the amounts
noe offser in the consolidared balance sheers,

Mzt Lisbdiises
Ferale Caapities  Fepurchasse SecurZes
§-in miliphs agreeranls  borrowsd  agresmends losanasd
Az of Decembaer 2021

Included in the consolidated balance sheets
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Gross Carrying Value of Repurchase Agreements
and Securities Loaned

The table below presents the gross carrving value of
repurchase agreements and securities loaned by class of
collareral pledged.

Fepurchase Seosmes

i1 i STl kaprad
As of Decomber 2021
Money market instrumants 5 328 5 14

U5 governmant and agancy obligations 132,049 503

Nenl 5. govemment and agency oblgations 126,397 1.264

Geross carmang valse S 324728 § 190,197 $294905 557493 Sacanition backud by comummcial real satute 82 i
Countaparty neting (129.022) |11426) (129.022) (11426 Secunties backed by residenbal resl estate 818 -
Tatal 206,702 178771 165882 45505 Conporate debt securnbes 11,034 510
Amaounts not offset State and municpal obhgatans 248 -
Counterparty natting (27.316) (i2e2) (27376) (12823 {thar debl cbligators 74 -
Colataral (173.915) (157.752] {134.465) (33,143} Eduiity securites 23,194 55,650
Tatal § 4412 § 8197 § 4042 § 540 Total § 294,905 $57.931
As of December 2020 As of December 2020
Includod in the consolidated balance shests Money market mstruments % 98 & -
Gross carmying valse  E 206817 $147583 §224308 § 27084 LL5. government and agancy obligations 121,751 =
Counterparty netting 97,757} 5433 @757 5,433 'S\lnﬂ-h‘ 5. 9;:'*;:?1 and 3-9!"'4‘-?' ﬁblfga'-rmu ?Bflgg 1,634
= wciities bacl commoarcial real estate =
L] e R h L 126,511 21621 Secunties backed by residéental real estante 121 -
Amaounis not offset Corporate debt socunbes B354 46
'::Qlﬂ"tl!eﬁrtj' natling a0 13525 1B52 0 3525 Srane and miancpal d_“qa.]m”!_ 97 =
Colataral (96,1400 (132.8053F ONEE19F (17,687 Dthar debit chligatars 20 -
Tatal £ 3000 £ GTdZ § 632 £ 403 Eguity securibes 16,668 25374
Tatal § 224328 527054

Iin the rable above:

» Substantially all of the gross carrying values of rthese
areangerments  are subject 1o enforceable  neming
ARFECINENTS,

Where the firm has seceived o posted collateral under
credit support agreements, bur has not ver determined
such agreements are enforceable, the relared collareral has
not been nerred.

Amounts not offser includes counterparty nerring thar
does not meer the criteria for neming under LS, GAAP
and the fair value of collareral received or posted subjecr
e enforceable credir support agreements.

Resale agreements and repurchase agreemenis are carried
at fair value under the fair value option. Sec Noze 4 for
further infermation about the valuation techniques and
significant inputs used o determine Fair value.

Securities borrowed included in the consolidated balance
sheets of $39.96 hillion as of December 2021 and
$28.20 billion ax of December 2020, and securities loaned
oof 8917 hallion as of December 2021 and $1.05 billion as
of December 2020 were ac fair value under the fair value
oprion. bee More 100 for further informarion  abowar
securities borrowed and secarives loaned accounted for
ar Fair value.
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The table below presents the gros carrying value of
repurchase agreements and securities loaned by maturity,

Ag of Docomber 2027

Repuichiss  Socurities

F o ke Bjamants Ioanad
Mo stated matunty and avernight § 97675 535052
2 - 30 days 102,440 B2
3 - 50 days 3p.297 116
91 days - 1 year 41013 15,656
Greater than 1 year 15,480 6960
Total £204,906 S57911
Ini the table above:

» Repurchase agreements and secwrities loaned thar are
repayable prioe g maturity at the option of the firm are
reflected at their contractual manrnty dares,

* Repurchase agreements and securities loaned that are
redeemable prios to maturity at the option of the holder
are reflecred ar the carliest dares such oprions become
exercisable,

513/597

oOoOooodn



THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Other Secured Financings

In addition o repurchase agreements and securities loaned
transactions, the firm funds certain assers through the use of
other secured fnancings and pledges financial insteaments
and other assers as collateral in these rransactions, These
other secured financings include:

» Liabiliries of consolidared VIEs:

« Transfers of assers accounted for as financings rather than
sabes (eg. pledged commodines, bank loans and
muoetgage whole loans); and

» Other structured finanding arrangements,

Orher  secured  financings ineluded  nonrecourse
arrangements, Nonrecourse other secured financings were
SK.64 billion as of December 2021 and $12.31 billion as of
Drecember 2020,

The firm has elected o apply the fair value option o
substantially all other secured fimancings because the use of
fair value eliminates non-economic volarility in earnings
that would arise from using  different  measurement
areribures. See Mote 10 for further informarion abour other
secured financings rhar are accounted for ar fair value.

Orher secured financings thar are not recorded ar fair value
are recorded based on the amounr of cash received plos
accrued inverest, which generally approximares fair value.
As these financings are not accounted for at fair value, they
are not included in the firm's fair value hierarchy in Moges 4
through 10. Had these financings been included in the
firm's fair value hierarchy, substantially all would have
been classified in level 3 as of both December 2021 and
Drecember 2020,
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The table below presents informanon about other secured
financings,

s Hondl S

£ miions Dollet Dholir Tanal
As of December 2021
Uther sacured hinancings (short-tarmi

At fair value §635 53684 § 83973

At amortred cost - 191 191
Othes sacured financirgs long-tarm)

A1 fair valug 4170 3925 8098

At amortized eost 27 462 1279
Total other socured financings ~ $10,312 § 8232  §18544
Cither secured ﬁ'l.lnm'ng! collateralized by

Financial instruments $ 5990 § 6834 $12824

ket assa%s & 4322 £ 1,338 5 5720
A of Decarmbar 2020
Other secured financings (short-termi

At far value £aIM £ gE7 f13E

At amorteed cost - - -
Oitbwr srcured fmancings fong-tarm!

At fair value G632 4276 10,908

Al amaortded cost 914 e 1,629
Tatal other secured financings £13.917  £11,838 $35755
Other secured financings collateralized by

Financial ingtruments £ 6,841 £10.068  £16309

Chiner assets § 7076 §$1.7M0 § 8846

In the table above:

+ Short-term other secured financings includes financings
mamring within one vear of the financial starement dare
and financings that are redeemable within one year of the
fimancial starement date at the option of the holder,

» Non-ULS. dollar-denominared shom-term other secored
financings ar amortized cost had a weighred average
interest rare of 0.22% as of December 2021, This rate
includes the effect of hedging activities,

« U5 dollar-denominated  long-term  other  secared
financings at amortized cost had a weighred average
interest rate of 1.06% as of December 2021 and 1.27%
as of December 2020, These rates include the effect of
hedging activities,

» MNon-U.S. dellar-denominated long-term other secured
financings ar amortized cost had 2 weighred average
interest rate of 0.46% as of December 2021 and 0.40%
as of December 2020, These rares include the effect of
hedging acrivinies.

+ Tatal other secured financings included $1.97 billion as
of December 2021 and 5205 billion as  of
December 2020 related o transfers of financial assers
accounted for as financings rather than sales. Such
financings were collateralized by financial  assers,
primarily included in trading assees, of $2.02 billion as of
December 20271 and $2.26 billion as of Diecember 2020,
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« (her secured financings collateralized by financial
instruments imcluded $10.37 billion as of December 2021
and $11.28 ballion as of December 2020 of other secared
financings collareralized by wrading assers, investments
and  loans, and  incleded %245 haillion as  of
December 2021 and $5.63 billion ax of December 2020 of
other  secured financings  collareralized by financial
instruments received as collateral and repledged.

The table below presens other secored financings by
ATy
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The firm also pledges certain rading assets in connection
with repurchase agreements, securities loaned ransactions
and other secured financings, and other assets (substantally
all real estare and cash) in connecrion with other secured
financings to counterparnics who may or may not have the
right rov deliver or repledge them.

The table below presents financial insteuments ar fair value
received as collareral thar were available wo be delivered or
repledged and were delivered or repledged.

i of Decembar

£ in miens 2021 2050

Az of
§in malfions (12 bar 2021
Othar secured hnancings shor-term) £ 9170
Oreher secured financings ag-temm
2023 3,586
2024 1,844
2038 855
208 1,087
2027 - tharealtar 1,993
Total other secured fhinancings {leng-tem) 9,374
Total other secured ﬁn-rlch!.l 518,544
In the table above:

* Long-rerm other secured financings that are repayable
prior to maturity at the option of the firm are reflected at
their contractual maturity dates,

* Long-term other secured financings thar are redecmable
prior to mamrity ar the oprion of the holder are reflecied
at the carliest dares such options become exercisable.

Collateral Received and Pledged

The firm receives cash and securities (e.g.. US. government
and agency obligations, other soveregn and corporate
obligations, as well as equity securities) as collateral,
primarily in connecnion with resale agreements, securines
borrowed, derivative rransactions and customer  margin
loans. The firm obrains cash and securities as collareral on
an upfront or contingent basis for derivanve insruments
and collateralized agreements to reduce its credit exposure
to individual counterparties.

In many cases, the firm is permirted o deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collareral when entering
intg  repurchase  agreements  and  securnines  loaned
tramsactions, primanly in connection with secured cliene
financing activities, The firm is also permitted to deliver or
repledge these financial instruments in connection with
other  secured  Financings,  collateralized  derivative
rransactions and firm or customer serrlement requirements,
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Collaternl nvaiakin to bo deirvorod of reglodged 1,067,188 §564 454
Collatesal that was delivered or repledged % ATE 2% T AM

The table below presents information about assees pledged.

Ax o Capcarmibe
£ in mifions 2021 Hadid

Pledged to counterparties that had the right te deliver or repledge
Tradwg susets $ ERIOR  § E00T
Iiveptmants § 12840 F 13375

Pledged 1o countemarties that did nat have the right to delver or replecge

Trading assets § 1258 § 0oz
IvaatmanTs 3 BG83 3 ram
Loans 3 6,808 5 B3N
Criver sty $  BETE 3 14044

The firm also segregares securitics for regulatory and other
purposes related o cliemr acovity., Soch securities are
segregated from rrading assets and investments, as well as
from securiies received as  collateral  under  resale
agreements and securities borrowed transactions, Securities
segregated by the firm were 34149 Dbillion as of
December 2021 and 532,97 billion as of December 2020,
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MNote 12,
Other Assets

The table below presents other assets by type.

Az of Diairbae
5o nulions 2031 2000
Froperty, leagehold mprovernents and sguipment  $18084 £33147
Gaodwail 4296 4332
Identdiable intangibke assels 418 B30
Oparating baase nghit-cf-use assets 2292 2280
bncarme tTax-ralated assets 3880 2,960
Miscallaneous recevables and other 5659 o 086
Taotal 534608 £17.4345

Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
Property, leaschold improvements and equipment is net of
accumulared  depreciamen  and  amomization of
S10.81 billion as of December 2021 and $10012 billion as
of Degember 2020, Property, leasehold improvements and
equipment included $6.71 hillion as of December 2021 and
8654 hillion as of December 20000 rhar the firm wses in
connection with its operatons, and 3194 million as of
Diecember 2021 and $318 million as of December 2020 of
foreclosed real estate primarily related to distressed loans
that were purchased by the firm, The remainder is held by
investment entities, including VIEs, consolidared by the
firm, Substantally all property  and  equipment s
depreciared on a straighr-line basis over rthe useful life of the
asser, Leaschold improvements are amormeed on a siraighr-
line basis over the shomer of the useful life of the
improvement or the term of the lease. Capitalized costs of
software developed or obrained for internal wse are
amartized on a straight-line basis over three vears,

The firnm tests property, leaschold improvements and
equipment for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances suggest thar an asset’s or aser group’s
carrving value may nor be fully recoverable, To the cxtent
the carrying value of an asser or asset group exceeds the
projecred undiscounted cash fows expecred o resule from
the use and evenmual disposal of the asser or asser group, the
firm derermines the asser or asser groop is impaired and
records an impairment equal to the difference berween the
csomared fair value and the carrying value of the asser or
asset group. In addinon, the firm will recognize an
impairment prior to the sale of an asser or asser group if the
carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds s
estimated fair value.

The firm had impairments of $143 mallion during 2021 and
$171 million during 2020, prmarily relared to properties
held by the firm's investment entines, There were no
marerial impairments during 2019,
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Goodwill

Goodwill is the cost of acquired companics in excess of the
fair value of ner assets, inchuding identifiable intangible
assets, at the acquisition dare,

The table below presents the carrving value of goodwill by
repOrnng unit,

Az of Decermber

i milond 202 2030
Irvestment Banking $ M1 £ o291
Global Maroots

FICE 269 269

qu.r-'l:n:l 2,638 2544
Asset Managament 349 280
Consumes & Wealth Managemen

Cengsumer barking 48 a8
_Waal'.h PSS TanT 00 00
Tatal $4,285  §4332

Goodwill is assessed for impairment annnally in the fourth
quarrer or more frequently if evens oocur or circomseances
change that indicate an impawrment may exist. When
assessing  goodwill for impairment, first, a qualitative
assessment ¢an be made to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the estmared fair value of 2 reporting
uinnik i less than ies estimated carryving valie, If the results of
the qualitative assessment are not conclusive, 3 quantitaive
goodwill rest s performed. Alternarively, a quantnanive
goodwill rest can be performed withour performing a
qualitative assessment.

The guannranve goodwill esr compares the estimared fair
value of each reporing unic with its estmared ner book
value (including goodwill and idennifiable  ingangible
assers). If the reporting unic's csomared fair value exceeds
its estimared net book value, goodwall is not impaired. An
impairment = recognized if the estimated fair value of a
reporting unit is bess than its estimated net book value,

T estimate the fair value of each reporting unit, other than
Consumer banking, a relative value technique s used
because the firm believes markes participants would use this
technique to value these reporring units, The relative value
technique apphies observable price-to-carmings mulniples or
price-to-hook  multples of comparable competitors 1o
reporing units’ net carnings or net book value. To csnmare
the fair value of Consumer banking, a discounted cash flow
valuation approach is used because the firm belioves marker
participants would use this technigque to value that
reporting unit given its early stage of development, The
estimated ner carrying value of each reporring unit refleces
an allocarion of rotal sharcholders® equity and represenes
the cstimared amoune of ol sharcholders” equiry required
to suppodr the acrivides of the reporming unir under
currently applicable regulatory capital requiremenis.
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In the fourth quarter of 2021, the firm performed its annual
assessment of goodwill for impairment, for each of s
reporting units, by performing a qualitanve assessmene,
Mulriple factors were assessed with respeet 1o cich of the
firm's repornng units o determine whether it was more
likely than not thar the estimared fair value of any of those
reporting units was less than s esnmared carrying value.
The gqualiacive assessment also considered changes since a
quantitative test was last performed in 2019,

The firm considered the following fcrors in the qualitarive
annual assessment when evaluaning whether it was more
likely than not thar the esimated fair value of 2 reporting
umit was less than its estimated carrying value:

+ Performance Indicators. During 2021, the firm's net
reveniees, dilured earmings per common share (EPS),
return om average common sharcholders” equity and book
value per common share all increased from 2020 and
from when a quantitanve test was last performed in 2019,
The firm's operating expenses  increased, primarily
reflecring significandy higher compensarion and benefirs
expenses  (reflecting  strong  financial — performance).
Despite the increase i expenses, bath the effciency ratio
(total operating expenses divided by total ner revenoes)
and pre-tax margin improved compared with 2020,

Macroeconomic Indicators. The global cconomy
continued o recover during 2021 from the impact of the
COVID-1% pandemic, as the lifting of health and safery
restrictions amid  vaceing  distribunon facilicared  an
ingrease in global economic recovery, and monetary and
fiscal policy from cenreal banks and  governments
remained  pocommodative. However, there  remains
uncermainty relared to the impact and the duration of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Firm and Industry Events, There were fio events, entity-
specific or otherwise, thar would have had a significant
negative impact on the valuagon of the firm's reporting
Ui,

Fair Value Indicators. Since the 20200 gualimnve
goodwall rest, fair value indicatars in the marker generally
improved, as global equity prices were higher, credic
spreads were tighter, and the firm and its peers’ stock
prices and price-to-book multples were higher, Despite
increased inflation concerns, supply chain challenges and
the rise in COVID-19 cases in the fourth quarter of 2021,
the firm's stock price and price-ro-book mulriple ended
the year higher compared with the end of 20240,
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As a result of the gualitaove assessment, the firm
devermined that it was more likely than not thae the
estimated fair value of cach repormng unit exceeded i
respective estimared carrying value, Therefore, the firm
derermined rthar goodwill for cach reporting unir was nor
impaircd and thar a quantitanve goodwill test was nor
reguired.

Identifiable Intangible Assets
The rable below presenrs idennfiable intangible assers by
reporting unit and rype.

Az of Decermbears

£ e FeiFal b ]
By Reporting Unit
Global harkets:

FICG 5 1 % 2

Equehes 43 45
Aszat Managamant 122 M
Consumer & Wealth Managemean

Censumar banking - &

Waalth managemeant 262 03
Tatal § 418 5§ 630
By Type
Customer lists
Greas carrying value £ 1,460 51,478
Aocumuskated amorizaton (1,730} {1.0849)
Net carmyng valua &= EE
Acquired loases and ather
Gross carryping valse 500 o
Accumuiated amonization (412} L]l
Mt carnying value a8 241
Tatal grass carrying walue 1.960 2184
Total accumulated amortization [1.542) {1,E541
Total net carrying value £ 418 I 630

Dring 2021, the amount of ingangible assets acquired by
the firm was nor marerial. The firm acquired 31335 million
of inmangible assers during 2020, primarily relared 1o
acquired leases amnd customer lisrs, with a weighred average
amortization period of 10 vears.

Substantially all of the firm's identifiable intangible assers
have fAmte useful lives and are amortzed over their
estimared wseful lives generally using the straighr-line
method.
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The tables below  present  information  abour  the
amortization of identifiable intangible assers,

Yause Ereladl Dacarsibar

& mnang 20 frinin e
Armortoaton £120 £147 £$173
A of
5 mulane Dscambar 2001
Estimated futere amortization
2032 559
2003 §65
20724 553
2025 5§37
2038 530

The firm tests intangible assers for impairment when evenes
or changes i circumstances sugzest that an asset’s o asset
group's careving value may nor be fully recoverable, To the
exrent the careying value of an asser or asser growp excecds
the projecred undiscounred cash Aows expecred ro resule
from the use and eventual disposal of the asset or asset
group, the firm determines the asset or asser group is
impaired and records an impairment equal o the difference
between the estimared fair value and the carrying value of
the asset or asser group, In addition, the fiem will recognize
an impairment prioe o the sale of an asser or asser group if
the careving value of the asser or asser group exceads s
estimmted faie value, There were no marerial impairments
during 2021, 2020 or 2019,

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets

The firm enters into operaning leases for real estare, office
equipment and other assers, subsmantally all of which are
used in connection wirth its operatons. For leases longer
than one year, the firm recognizes a rght-of-use asset
representing the right to use the underlyving asser for the
lease term, and a lease liability representing the liability w
make payments, The lease term i generally determined
based on the contractual mawrity of the lease. For leases
where the firm has the oprnion o rerminare or exrend the
lease, an assessmenr of the likelihood of excrcising the
oprion is incorporated inte the determinanon of the lease
term. Such assessment is initially performed at the inception
of the lease and is updated if events oceur that impact the
original assessment.
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An operaiing lease right-ofuse asset is initially derermined
based on the operating lease liabiliey, adjusted for inirial
direct costs, lease mcentives and amounts paid a8 of prior to
lesse commengement, This amoune is then amoreeed over
the lease rerm. The firm recognized $305 million for 2021,
3182 million for 2020 and %963 millien {primanily refared
to the firm’s European headguarters in London) for 2009 of
right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities in non-cash
transactions for leases entered inte or assumed, See Note 15
for information abour operating lease liabilines.

For leases where the firm will derive no economic benefix
from leased space that ir has vacared or where the firm has
shortened the term of 2 lease when space 15 no longer
needed, the firm will record an impairment or aceelerared
amaortization of right-of-use assers, There were no material
impairments or accelerated amorizarions during 2021 and

2020,

Miscellaneous Receivables and Other
Miscellaneous receivables and other included:

Tnvestments in qualified affordable housing projects of

£714 million as of December 2021 and 3678 million as of

Diecember 20000,
Assers classified as held for sale of $1.02 billion as of

Digcember 2021 and 5437 million a5 of December 2020
related ro cervain of the firm's consolidared invesmmcnes
within the Asser Management segment, substancially all
aof which consisted of property and equipment.

Mato 13,
Deposits

The table below presents the types and sources of deposirs.

Sanggd angd

3 in madons Charmiand Tima Tl
As of December 2021

Coansumet % 89,150 § 20533 $109.683
Provaite bank BE.427 9,685 95,082
Brakered cortficates of depasn - 30,816 30,816
Depasit swéep programs 37,965 - 17,966
Tranaacton banking 45,618 5.689 54,307
Other 276 36,089 36,364
Tatal §261.435  S102.79F  §364.227
As of Decernber 2020

Consumst £ 67385 £ 25 E30 i OEA2E
Pravate bank 67,185 1,183 GE, 368
Brokered certhcates of depasit - Z0U0ED 0080
Deposit Sweep programs 212,587 - 12987
Transacton banking FRES2 TRES?

Cithas

S a7 12770

Taeal

2186419 & 73543  §289.962
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In the table abaowve:

Substantally all deposits are mrerest-bearing.

Savings and demand accounts consist of money marker
deposit  accounts,  negonable  order  of  withdrawal
accounts and demand deposit accounis that have no
stated maturiey or expiration date.

Time deposits  included 33343 hillion  as  of
December 2021 and $16.18 billion as of December 2020
oof deposits accounted for at fair value under the fair value
option. See More 10 for further information about
deposits accounted for ar fair value.

Time deposits had a weighted average mamrity of
approsamately L9 years as of December 2021 and
1.3 vears as of December 2020,

Deposit sweep programs inchude long=term contracrual
agreements with US, broker-dealers who sweep client
cash o FDIC-insured deposits, As of December 2021, the
firrm had 13 such deposit sweep program agreements,

Transaction banking deposits consists of deposits that the
firm raised theough its cash managentent services business
fior corporate and other instimtional clienrs.

Ohther deposits represent deposats from institutional chients,

Deposits insured by the FDIC were $156.66 billion as of
December 2021 and 312303 billion  as  of
Drecember 20240,

Deposits tnsured by non-LLS, insurance programs were
30,44 billion as of December 2021 and 527,52 billion as
of December 20020,

The table below presents the location of deposins,

A= of Dacember
5 anbang 2021 2000
WS, oftices S2B3.708 206356
Man-U 5. offices 50,522 53,606
Taotal $364,227 $209.967

In the rable above, U5, deposits were held ar Goldman
Sachs Bank USA (GS Bank USA) and subsrannally all
non-LLS,  deposits were held  ar Goldman Sachs
[nternatonal Bank (GS1R).

The rable below presents marrinies of rime deposin held in
L5, and non-LLA. offices.

e of Docambeaer 2021
£ in malligns us. MNanLLS. Total
2022 S48, 842 $31,760  § BDGOZ
203 9816 am 10,007
2024 4,747 125 4872
2075 2342 252 2,594
2006 2336 265 2 500
2027 - tharsafter 1,445 5T 2,117
Tatal 569327 $334656 102,792

176 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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As of December 2021, deposits in U5, offices included
L2544 billion and deposits in non-ULS, offices included
$32.73 billion of nme deposits i denominations thag mer
of excecded the applicable imsurance limirs, or were
otherwise not covered by insurance.

The firm’s savings and demand deposies are recorded based
on the amount of cash received plus acereed interest, which
approximares fair value, In additon, the firm designares
cerrain denvanves as fair value hedges 1o convert a pornon
of its nme deposits not accounted for ar fair valwe from
fixed-rare obligations nm floanng-rare obligatons. The
carrying value of time deposits not accounted for ar fair
value approcamated fair value as of both December 2021
and December 2020, As these savings and demand deposits
and time deposits are not accounted for ar fair value, they
are not included in the firm’s fair value higrarchy in Notes 4
through 10, Had these deposits been included in rhe firm’s
fair value hierarchy, they would have been classified in
level 2 as of both December 2021 and December 2020,

Mote 14,
Unsecured Borrowings

The table below presents informaron abour wnsecared
barrowings.

Ag ol Dacarmiba
£ in mifons ﬂ
Unsecured shoft-tem borawings % #6956 & EiE70
Undscused ang-tedm bairoings 254, 002 213481
Total 5301087 5000051

Unsecured Short-Term Borrowings

Unsecored shortterm borrowings includes the portion of
unsecured long-term borrowings maturing within one year
of the financial statement date and ansecured long-term
borrowings thar are redeemable within one vear of the
financial starement date ar the oprion of the holder,

The firm accounts for cermin hybrid fnancial instruments ar
fair value wider the fair value oprion, See Note 10 for further
imformarion aboor unsecured shoer-rerm borrowings thar arg
accounted for ar fair value. In addition, the firm designares
cerrain derivarives as fair value hedges o converra pordon of
its unsecured shore=term borrowings not acoounted for ar fair
valne from  fixederate  obligations  into  floatngsrate
obligations, The carrving value of unsecured short-rerm
borrowings that are not recorded ar fair value generally
approsimates fair value due 1w the short-term nature of the
obligations. As these unsecured short-term borrowings are
not accounted foe ar Baie value, they are nor included in the
firm’s fair valee hicrarchy in Notes 4 through 10, Had these
borrowings been included in the firm's fair value hierarchy,
substanmally all would have been classified in level 2 as of
both December 2021 and December 2020,

519/597

oOoOooodn



THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The table below presents information abour unsecured
short-term barrowings.

An of Dagcreda
& mnlong pives | 2000

Curmant partson of unsecured long-term borrowengs §18,118 35,914
Hybeid financal instrumants 0073 10823
Comrmpmial pager 6,750 8,085

Cithar unsecured shom4em borowings 2034 2048
Total unsocured short-term borrowings S48 98K £RT AT
Waeighted average interest rate 234% 184%

In the table above:

* The corrent portion of unsecured long-term borrowings
included 39,16 billion as of December 20201 and
S17.06 billion as of December 20200 issued by Groop Ing.

« The weighted average interest rates for these borrowings
include the effecr of hedging activines and  exclude
unsecured shorr-term borrowings accounted for ar fair
value under the Fair value oprion, See Nore 7 for further
informarion abour hedging acriviries,

Unsecured Long-Term Borrowings
The rable below presenrs informarion abour unseeured
long-term borrowings.

WS Honel) 5.

& mabiong Do Diollar Tl
As of December 2021
Froad-rate abligatons
Group Inc $124.731 843219 5167950
Subascharies 1,803 3.18% 4,992
Floatmg-rate cifigations
Group Ine 23,452 17,394 40,846
Submdianies 27,543 12,761 40,304
Total £177.520 £76.56% £264, 002

As of Decamber 2020
Froad-rate obligatons:

Group Ine £ 98888 B35604 134472

Subsidiaries 1,700 3,145 4845
Fleatng-rate cbligations

Group Inc 18,579 18871 37480

Subssdiaries 23,440 13,274 36,714
Total SI4Z 577 FT0O04  §213.481

In the table above:

* Unsecured long-rerm borrowings consists principally of
semtor  borrowings, which have matoritics extending

through 2065,

* Floanng-rare obligaoons includes equity-linked, credir-
linked and indexed instruments, Floaring inferest rates are
generally based on USD LIBOR, Eurc Interbank Offered
Rate or SOFR.

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

« U8, dollar-denominated debs had interest races ranging
from DL48% o 7.68% {(with a weighted average rare of
3.34%) ax of December 2021 and 0.63% 1o 9.30% (with
a weighted average rare of 4.07%) as of December 2020,
These rares exclode unsecured long-term borrowings
accounted for ar fair value under the fair value oprion.

MNon-UL5. dollae-denominared debr had inrerest rares
ranging from (L13% o 13.00% (wirha weighred average
rate of 1.86%) as of December 2021 and L13% 1o
13.00% (with a weighted average rare of 2.20%) as of
December 2020, These rares exclude unsecured long-term
borrowings accounted for ar fair value under the fair
value opio.

The table below presents unsecured long-term borrowings
by maturity.

As af Docembaer 2031
£ n milons Geouip Ine.  Subasdiaras Total
2073 § A § 9280 % 432N
2024 27,003 6,733 33,736
2025 23,158 5,645 28803
2006 18571 3586 22,157
2027 - thiraalter 106,143 20,042 126,185
Total $208.796 $45.296  5254,092

In the tahle wbove;

Unsecured long-term borrowings maturing within one
vear of the financial smarement dare and unsecured long-
rerm borrowings thar are redeemable within one year of
the financial staremenr dare ar the oprion of the holder are
excluded as they are inchuded in unsecored shore-rerm
borrowings.

Unsecured long-rerm borrowings thar are repayable prior
oo marurity at the option of the firm are reflecred at their
contractual maturity dares.

Unsecured long-term borrewings thar are redecmable
prioe to matarnity af the option of the holder are reflecred
at the earliest dates such options become exercisable.

Unsecured long=term borrowings included $6.24 billion
of adjustments to the carrying value of certain unsecured
long-term borrowings: resulting from the application of
hedge accounting by year of matority as  follows;
91 muillion in 2023, 8303 million in 2024, $270 million
in 20235, $214 mallion in 2026, and 55.36 billion in 2027
and thereafter,

The firm desiginares certain derivatives as fair value hedges
to convert a portion of fixed-rare unsecured long-term
horrowings not accounted for ar fair valee into loaring-
rate obligations. Sce Mote 7 for further informarion abour
hedging activirics.
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The table below presents unsecured long-term borrowings,
after giving effece rosuch hedging activities.
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The table below presents information about subordinated
barrowings.

§ ¥ miions o e Safrs e ey Tonal Par Carrying
As of December 2021 & n miboos simours Value Fate
Found-rate obligatans: A of Decombar 2021
Al Taw value § 4758 g =1 § 4863 Subordinated debt 512437 $16.571 1.74%
Al amortzed cost 27,1331 3,237 30,370 Jumiar subardnated debit 68 1,521 !.31_?1
Floating-rate chagaticns Tatal $13405 516892 1.71%
Al law value 12,864 34,663 47 527
Atamortzed cost 164,001 733 17,332 As of Decemibar 2020
Total 5208,756 545296 5754.092 Subordimated deb $14,136 $18529 183%
Junior subardingied dabt #6g 1430 1.3%
As of Decamber 2020 Tatal $15.104  $19.983 1.80%
Foued-rate obligations:
Al far value £ 1,407 £ 114 £ 150 1 1"I 1.'I| L IJ".I‘\'“
. At amorzed cost 27 46 3,345 30827 N RE DR ATRS
Ifﬂl?:;ﬁﬂ i a7 79680 49,390 * The par amount of subordinated debr issued by Group
Al amorized cost 133,312 £431 141,743 Inc. was $12.44 billon as of December 2021 and
Total §171,922 541565 5713.481 £14.14 billion as of December 2020, and the carrying

In the cable above, the ageregare amounts of unsecarad long-
term borrowings had weighted average inferest rares of
160G (2.25% relared to fixed-rate obligations and 1.48%
related o floating-rare obligarons) as of December 2021 and
2% (3.34% relared to fixed-rate obligations and 1.70%
relared o fearing-rate obliganons) as of December 2020,
These ranes exclude  unsecured  long-term borrowings
accownted for ar fair value under the fair value oprion.

The carrying value of unsecured long-rerm borrowings for
which the firm did nov elecr the fair value oprion was
S201.70 billion as of December 2021 and $172.57 hillion
as of December 2020, The estimated fair value of sech
umsecured fong-term borrowings was 520937 hillion as of
December 2021 and $183.29 billion as of December 2020,
A these borrowings are not acconnted for ar fair valoe,
they are not included in the firm's fair value hierarchy in
Motes 4 through 10, Had these borrowings been included in
the firms fair value hicrarchy, substanmally all would have
been classified in level 2 as of both December 2021 and
Drecember 20240,

Subordinated Borrowings

Unsecured long-rerm borrowings includes  subordinared
debr and junior subordinared debr. Subordinared debr thar
marures within one yearis included in unsecured shor-rerm
borrowings, Jumor subordinared debt 15 jumior in right of
payment to other subordinated borrowings, which are
jumier ta senior borrowings, Long-term subordinated delbt
had matrities ramging from 2025 1w 2043 as of both
Pecember 2021 and December 2020,
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value of subordinared debre issued by Group Inc. was
£15.57 billion as of December 2021 and S1E.53 hillion as
of December 2020

* The rate is the weighted average interest rate for these
borrowings (excleding borrowings accomnted for ar fir
value under the faie value oprion), including the effect of
fair valwe hedges used vo converr fixed-rate obliganons
into fAoanng-rate obligarions. Sec Note 7 for further
informarion about hedging acriviries,

Junior Subordinated Debt

In 2004, Group Inc. issued $2.84 hillion of junior
subordinared debt to Goldman Sachs Capital 1 ({Trustl, a
Delaware statutory trost. The Trust issued $2.73 billion of
guaranteed preferred beneficial interests (Trust Preferred
securities) to third partes and 385 million of commeon
benclicial  inrerests 1o Group  Ime, As of  both
ecember 2021 and December 20200, the ourssanding par
amount of jumor subordinared debt held by the Trust was
%968 million and the ousmanding par amount of Trust
Preferred securities and commoen beneficial interests issued
by the Trust was $93% mullion and 329 million,
respectively. The Trust s a2 wholly-owned  fnance
subsidiary of the fiem for regularory and legal purposes bur
i no comsolidaned for accounting purposes.
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The finm pays interest semi=amnually on the  junios
subordinared debe ar an anmual rate of 6.345% and the debr
matures on February 13, 2034, The coupon rate and the
payment dares applicable o the beneficial interesas are the
same as the irerest rare and payvmene dares for the junios
subordinared debr. The firm has the righe, from ome o time,
o defer payment of interest on the junior subordinared debr,
and therefore cause payment on the Trust's preferred
beneficial interests to be deferred, in each case up o ren
consecutive semi-annual periods. During any such deferral
period, the firm will not be permitted ro, among other things,
pay dividends on or make certain repurchases of it common
stock, The Trust is nat permatted 1o pay any distributions on
the common beneficial interssts held by Group Ine, anless all
dividends pavahble on the preferred beneficial inrerests have
been paid in full.

The firm has covenamed in Favor of the holders of
Group Inc's 6.343% junior subordinared debr due
February 15, 20034, thar, subject ro certain exceprions, the
firm will mot redecm or purchase the capital securinies
issned by Goldman Sachs Capital 11 and Goldman Sachs
Capital T {APEX Trusts) or shares of Group Inc's
Perperual  Non-Cumulative  Preferred  Stock, Series E
{Series E Preferred  Stock), Perpetval Nen-Cumulaive
Preferred Stock, Series F (Series F Preferred Stock) or
Perperual Non-Cumularive Preferred Stock, Series €0, if the
redemprion or purchase resulis in less than 5253 million
aggregate liquidanion preference of that series ourstanding,
prior to specified dates in 2022 for a price that exceeds a
maximum amount determined by reference ro the net cash
procecds that the firm has received from the sale of
qualifying securitics,

The APEX Trustx hold Group Ine's Series E Preferred
Stock and Series F Preferred Stock. These trasts are
Delaware statutary  frusts 1.-p-uusun'd by the firm and
whaolly-owned  finance  subsidiaries of the firm  for
regulatory and legal pueposes bur are not consolidared for
ACCOUNITNG PUrpses.
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MNote 15.
Other Liabilities
The table below presents other liabilities by type.

A5 of Decammbe
5 i nadions 203 frinrin]
Compasnsaton and benafis 10,838 £ 7895
Irsccanie tan-related kakulines 2,360 3168
Operating lease kabdites 2,288 2,282
Nesconitrallng interests 40 1.640
Employes nterests n consokdated funds Fatl 34
Accrued eapanses and othar 8,146 TA43
Total 524,501 572,451

Operating Lease Liabilities

For leases longer than one vear, the finn recognizes a
right-of-use¢  asset representing  the righe 1o use the
underlving asset for the lease term, amd a lease labdiey
representing the liability romake payments, See Note 12 for
informarion about operating lease right-of-use assers,

The mble below presenes informarion abour operatng lease
Hahiliries,

Oparatmg
5 nalvors s e
As of Decomber 2021
2022 £ 306
023 307
rinrn 284
2025 258
2026 216
2027 - thereafter 1,655
Tatal undmcounted |sase payrents 3,026
Imputed inbarest {737}
Tatal operating lease liabilities £2,.788
Weighted average remaining lease term 14 years
Waeighted average discount rate 361%
As of Decermber 2020
021 £ 342
2022 am
2023 264
2024 247
2025 215
2026 - thoreatter 1,895
Taeal undiscountad |sase phyrments 3,268
Imputed interest 336!
Tatal coarating bease labilibes £2283
‘Wenghted aversge remaining leasa term 16 yeats
‘Wimghted average discount rate 4.02%
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In the table above, the weighted average discount rate
represents the firm's incremental borrowing rate as of
January 2019 for operating leases existing on the dare of
adoprion of ASU No, 2006-02, “Lenses (Topic #42),7 amd
ar the lease inceprion dave for leases entered into subseguent
o the adoprion of this ASUL

Operaning  lease costs were 5463 million  for 2021,
§458 million for 2020 and 5338 million for 2009, Vanable
lease costs, which are included 1 operanng lease coss,
were mot material for 2021, 2020 and 2019, Taral
oocupancy oxpenses for space held in excess of the firm's
current requirements were not material for both 2021 and

2020,

Lease payments relanng to operanng lease arrangements
that were signed, but had not vet commenced were
S300 million as of December 2021,

Accrued Expenses and Other
Accrued expenses and other inchuded:

+ Liabiliries classified as held for sale of $310 million as of
December 2021 related to certain of the firm's
consolidated investrents within the Asset Management
segment, substantially all of which consisted of other
secured financings primarily carried at fair value under
the fair value oprion, and were relared 1o assers classified
as held for sale, See Norte 12 for furcher informarion
abour assers held for sale, As of December 2020, habilities
classified as held for sale were not marerial.

Coneract  liabilines, which represent  consideranion
received by the firm in connection wirh is coneracrs with
clients prior ro providing the service. As of baoth
December 2021 and December 2020, the firm's contrace
liabilities were nat material,

MNote 16.

Securitization Activities

The Firm securitizes residennial and commercial mortgages,
corporate bonds, loans amd other types of financial assers
by selling rhese assers to securitizanon vehicles (e.g., rruses,
corporare entitics and limired liability companies) or
through a resecuritzaon. The firm acts as underwricer of
the benchicial interests that are sold to tnwvestors. The firm's
residennial  morggage  securitizations  are primarly in
connection with government agency securitiztions,

180 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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The firm accounts for a securitization as a sale when it has
relinguished control over the ransferred financial assers,
Prior tosecuritization, the irm generally accounts for assers
pemding transfer ar fair valee and therefore dogs no
rvpically recognize significant gains or losses upon the
rramsfer of assers. MNet revenues from underwriting scoviries
are recognized in connection wirth the sales of the
underlying beneficial interests to investors,

The firm generally receives cash in exchange for the
rramsferred  assers bur may  alse  have  conrinuming
invelvement with the transferred financial assers, including
ownership of beneficial inrerests in securinzed fnancial
assers, primarnily in the form of debt instruments., The firm
may also purchase senior or subordinated securities issued
by securitization vehicles {(which are typically VIEs) in
connection with secondary marker-making acriviries.

The primary risks included m benchicial interests and other
inferests from the firms conmnuing  involvement with
secwritization  vehicles  are  the  performance of the
underlying collareral, the position of rhe firm's investmene
in the capital sorucrure of the securinzarion vehicle and the
marker vield for the security. Interests accounved for ar fair
value are primarily classified in level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. Intercsts not accounted for at fair value are
carried at amounts that approsimate fair value. See Notes 4
through 10 for further nformation abour fair valae
ERS UFETNIENTS,

The rable below presents the amount of financial asers
securitized and the cash flows received on remained inrerests
in securitgnon ennics in which the firm had conrinuing
imvalvement as of the end of the period.

¥oar Encled Decanmber

£ in mihons 2021 2020 2019
Residennal mengages 29048 E20.167 815124
Lommercal martgages 18,396 14,904 12,741
{thes financial assels 4,377 1,775 1,252

Total financial assots $51.821  fiemic  £79.117

Raetained interests cash flows $ BE13 £ 331§ 286

The firm securitized assets of 886 million for 2021,
8551 million for 2020 and 5601 mullion for 2019, in a
nos-cash exchange for loans and investments,
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The table below  presents  informaton  abowt
nonconsolidated securitization entities o which the firm
sold assets and had continuing involvement as of the end of
the period.

Chtatandng

Prrcge Retimed Purchised
£ mulbans Amound frisresizs  Inberests
As of December 2021
LS. govemment agency-msued CAO: § 33,984 & 968 $ 3
Qither residantal mortgage-backed 23262 1,114 b2
Cither commercial martgage-backed 50350 1,123 130
Enrpurabu- debt and other asset-tacked 7.765 360 37
Tatal £115,351 $§3,552 5266
As of Decernber 2020
U5 govemment agency-ssued CWMOs 8 20847 £ 906 5 4
Orthar residental morigage-backed 24262 1,170 3
Qther commercal martgage-backed 38,340 914 )
Comporate debit and eihes asset-backed 4,253 192 -
Total £ 87747 £318% % BE

In the table above:
« CMOs represents collareralized moregage obligations.

* The oursranding principal amount s presented for the
purpese of providing informarion abour the size of the
securitzanon entities and s not representanve of the
firm's risk of loss,

The firm's rsk of loss from remmed or purchased
interests is limited to the carrying value of these interests.

Purchased interests represent senior and subordinared
interests, purchased in comnecrion with  secondary
marke=-making activities, in secoritization entities in
which the firm also holds retained interests,

Substantially all of the total outstanding principal amount
and rotal retained intercsts relate to securitizations during
20107 and thereafter,

= The fair value of retained interests was $3.57 billion as of
Drecember 2021 and 33,19 billion as of December 2020,

[n addition to the intereses in the rable above, the firm had
other continuing invelvement in the form of derivative
transactions  and  commitments with  certain
nonconsolidated  VIEs, The carrying value of  these
derivanves and commitments was a net asset of 581 million
as of December 2021 and 352 million a5 of
December 20200 and the notional amount of these
derivanives and commirments was 5181 billion as of
December 2021 and 51,43 hillion as of December 2020,
The notnonal amouns of these  denvatives  and
commitments are included in maximum exposure to loss in
the nanconselidated VIE rable in Note 17,
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The table below presents information about the weighted
average key economic assemptions used in measuring the
fair value of morigage-backed retaimed intereses,

Az of Dacasmbar
£ 1 mibons 2021 a0
Fawr value of retamed inerests X 200 53,993

‘Wisighted average life iyears) 51 a7
Coanstant eyl rake 14.1% 1505
Impact of 10% adverse change 8 [ £ 25
Irnpact of 20% adverse change % (B8 & B0

Discount rate BE% B1%
Impact of 10% adversa chanpe $ (M9 £ M2
Impact of 20% adverse change 5 (98] § B2
In the table above:

Amounts do nor reflect the bencht of orther financial
instruments that are held to mitigare risks inherent in
these retained interesis.

Changes in fair value based on an adverse variarion in
assumptions generally cannot be extrapolared because the
relationship of the change in assumptions to the change in
fair value is not uswally linear,

The impact of a change in a particular asswmption is
caleulated  independently of changes i any  other
assumption. In  pracnce, simultaneous  changes  in
assumprions might magnify or counterace the sensirivines

disclosed above.

The constant prepavment rate s included only for
positions for which it s a key assumprion in the
derermination of fair value.

The discount rare for retained interests thar relare ro ULS,
government agency-issied CMOs does not include any
credir loss, Expected credin loss assumprions are reflecred
in the discount rate for the remainder of remained
INCErests,

The firm has other rerined interests nor reflecred in che
mable above with a fair value of %360 million and a
weighred average life of 3.6 years as of Decemnber 2021, and
a fair valoe of 3192 million and 2 weighted average life of
3.9 years as of December 2020, Due to the namree and fair
value of cermain of these retained interests, the weighted
average assumptions for constant prepayment and discount
rares and the related sensitivity 1o adverse changes are nog
meaningful as of barh December 2021 and December 2020,
The firm’s maximum ¢xposure o adverse changes in the
wvalue of these interests is the carrving value of 360 million
as of December 2021 and 5192 million as  of
December 20240,
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MNote 17,
Variable Interest Entities

A variable interest in a VIE is an investment {e.g., debt or
equity} or other interest {eg., derivatives or loans and
lending commitments) thar will absorb portions of the
VIEs expected losses andfor receive portions of the VIE's
expecred residual returns.

The firm's variable interests in VIEs include senior and
subordinared debr; loans amd lending commirments; limired
and general partnership inceecsrs; preferred and common
equiry; derivarives thar may include foreign currency,
equity andfor credir risks guarantees; and cereain of the fees
the firm receives from investment funds, Certam interest
rate, foreign corrency and credie derivatives the firm enters
into with VIEs arc not variable inrerests because they
create, rather thanabsorb, risk.

WIEs generally finance the purchase of assets by issuing debr
and equity securities thae are either callateralized by or
indexed to the assets held by the VIE, The debt and equity
securities sswed by a VIE may include tranches of varying
levels of subordination, The firm’s involvement with VIEs
includes securitizanon of financial assers, as described in
Maore 16, and investments in and loans o ather types of
VIEs, as described below. See Mote 3 for the birm's
consolidation policies, including the definition of 2 VIE,

VIE Consolidation Analysis

The enterprise with a conmrolling financial ingerest ima VIE
15 known as the pnmary beneficiary and consolidates the
VIE. The firm determines whether it is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE by performing an analyss that
principally considers:

Which variable imterest holder has the power to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the
VIE s economic performance;

Which wariable interest holder has the obligaton o
absorb losses or the right ro receive benefits from the VIE
thar conld porentially be significant 1o the VIE;

The VIEs purpose and design, including the risks the VIE
wias designed o create and pass through 1o s vanable
inrerest holders;

The VIE"s capital structire;

The terms between the VIE and its variable interest
holders and other parties involved with the VIE; and

Relared-parey relationships.

182  Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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The firm reassesses its evaluation of whether an entity is a
VIE when certain reconsideration events occur. The firm
reassesses its determinarion of whether it is the primary
bencliciary of a VIE on an ongoing basis based on ¢ureent
faces and circomstances.

VIE Activities

The firm is principally involved with VIEs through the
foollowing business acriviries:

Maortgage-Backed VIEs. The firm sells residential amd
commercial morrgage loans and securities o mortgage-
backed VIEs and may rerain beneficial interests in the assers
sold o these VIEs. The firm purchases and selis beneficial
mtereses 1ssued by morggage-backed VIEs i connection
with market-making activities. In addition, the firm may
eneer into derivarives with certain of these VIEs, primarily
interest rate swaps, which are typically not variable
interests. The firm generally enters into dervatves with
other counterparties to mitgate its risk.

Real Estate, Credit- and Power-Related and Other
Investing WIEs. The firm purchases equity and debr
securities issued by and makes loans o VIEs that hold real
estate, performing and nonperforming debr, disiressed
loans, power-related assers and equiry securities, The firm
generally does nor sefl assers 1o, or enter inoo derivarves
with, these VIEs.

Corporate Debt and Other Asset-Backed VIEs. The
firm structures VIEs thar issue noves o clients, purchases
and sells beneficial interests ssued by corporate debr and
other asset-backed Y1Es in connection with market-making
activitics, and makes loans to VIEs that warchouse
corporate debr, Certain of these VIEs synthetically creare
the exposure for the beneficial inrerests they issue by
enrering into ¢redit derivanives with the firm, rather than
purchasing rthe underlying assets. In additon, the firm may
enter into denvanves, such as roral retum swaps, wirh
certain corporate debt and other asser-backed VIEs, under
which the firm pays the VIE a return due to the beneficial
imterest holders and receives the retarn on the collateral
vwned by the VIE, The collateral owned by these VIEs is
primarily other asser-backed loans and secwrities, The firm
may be removed as the toral return swap counterparty amd
may enter into derivatives with other counterpartics 1o
murigate its risk relared 1o these swaps, The firm may sell
assers o the corporate debr and other asser-backed VIEs ir
stTuCTures.
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Principal-Protected Note VIEs. The firm structures VIEs
that issue principal-protected notes to clients, These VIEs
own portfolios of assers, principally with exposure to hedge
funds. Substantially all of the principal prowecnon on the
nores issued by these VIEs is provided by the asser pontfolio
rebalancing thar is required under the erms of the nores.
The firm enters into tweal remarn swaps with these ViEs
unider which the firm pays the VIE the retum due o the
principal-protected note holders and receives the return on
the assers owned by the VIE. The firm may enter o
derivatives with other connterparties to mitigate its risk,
The firm also obmins funding throwgh these VIEs,

Investments in Funds, The firm makes equity investments
in certain investment fund VIEs it manages and is entitled o
receive fees from these VIES, The firm bas generally not sold
assens to, or citered intoe derivarives with, these VIEs,

Monconsolidated VIEs
The rable below presentsoa summary of the nonconsolidared
VIEs inn which the fiem holds vanable inrerests,

A of Dacembae:
£ g 203 200
Taotal nonconsolidated ViEs
Agsats in VIEs S176800  £148.665
Carrying walue of vanable interests — assets § 9582 5§ 8634
Carryusg walue of varaible nterests — labigies § 928 £ aEs
Maximum exposure to loss:
Retamed interasts £ 35882 £ 3182
Purchased inberests 1,071 1,041
Commitmants and guaranbess 2,440 2 455
Damatrves 8,682 8,343
Dbt and edquity 4,638 4,020
Tatal § 20384 5 190411

In the table above:

* The narure of the firm's variable inrereses is described in
rhie rows wnder maximum exposure to loss,

The firm's exposure to the obligations of VIEs is generally
limieed 1o i ineercsts in these entimes, In cerrain
instanges, the firm  provides puoaranrees,  including
derivanive goarantees, o VIEs or holders of vanable
ingerests in VIEs,

The maximum exposure w loss excludes the benefir of
offserting financial instruments thar are held o mitgate
the risks associated with these vanable inrerests.

The maximum cxposure 1o loss from retained interests,
purchased interests, and debr and equity is the carrying
value of these interests.

The maximum exposure o loss from commimmenrs and
guarantees, and derivanves is the notional amount, whech
dues not represent anticipated losses and has nor been
reduced by unrealized losses. As a resule, the maximum
eaposure o loss  exceeds  liabilines  recorded  for
comumitments and guarantecs, and derivanves.
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The table beloow presents imformation, by principal business
activity, for nonconsolidated VIEs included in the summary

table above.
A of Dpoarnbar
£ 1 mibons 202 Haa
Maortgage-backed
Assets in VIEs $1200.343 859353
Caspnng vialue of vansble nterests — assels £ 4147 £ 404
Maximum exposure to loss:
Fetained mismats $ 3182 £ 2990
Purchased miemests 955 1,024
Commitments and guarntees 34 47
Darivatives 18 94
Total 5 4,159 £ 4455
Real estate, credit- and power-related and other iInvesting
Aszats n VIEs £ 26857 520904
Carrying value of vaneble nterests —assets  § 3923 § 3288
Carmying value of varable mtemesis — labilbes § 4 = 14
Maximum exposure to loss:
Commimants and guannises £ 2030 £ 1304
Carivatreas B4 -5
Dant and aquaty 34023 3288
Tatal § 607 £ 4746
Corporate debt and other asset-backed
Agzets m VIES £ 18,39 14077
Carrying value of varable interests —assets & 1,186 5 913
Carparg value of vansbls ntarests — lalnlmes § 9 £ &M
Maximum exposure to loss:
Fietained misrasts £ 380 & 192
Purchased mterests 116 17
Commitments and guaranises 260 GE9
Dartvatreas 8537 852
Dheizt and equiny 360 323
Total § 96383 § 3332
Investrments in funds
FAssets in VIEs § 1208 4300
Earnnng yalus of varables ntoests = pssels 11 IEG L i ]
Maximum exposure to loss:
Commitments and guaraniogs £ 126 g 45
Drefivatres 3 3
Dedtt aned squity &6 Eli]
Tatal [

As of both December 2021 and December 2020, the
carrying  wvalues of the firm's variable inrerests in
nonconsolidared VIEs are included in the consolidared
balance sheets as follows:

+ Momgage-backed: Assers primanily included in rading

assers and loans.,

Real estare, credit- and power-related and other investing:

Assers primarily included in investmenes and loans, and
liabilivies included in mading labilives and  other

habilisies.

Corporate debr and other asser-backed: Assers included

i leans and trading assets, and habilies included in

trading liabilities,
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Investments in funds: Assers mncleded in mvestments.
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Consolidated VIEs

The table below presents a summary of the carrying value
and balance sheer elassification of assets and labilines in
consalidared VIEs.
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The rable below presents information, by principal business
activity, for comsolidared VIEs mcluded in the summary
tabike above.

Ag o Dacarndbiar A ol Dasoprnbar
& a0 mafhons Fara | 2000 £ n mifons 2021 vl
Tatal consalidated VIEs Real estate, credit-related and ather investing
Assers Aszois
Cash and cash squivalents $ BT % Iz Cash and cash sgquivatants $ ZM & I
Trading assets 122 oG Trading assots 16 B
Insastrrents 153 880 Prvestin gils 153 530
Loans 1,888 2,005 Loans 1,588 20949
Oither assets 34 e Oaher assats 34 538
Taotal §3.078 3376 Total §2,745  £4205
Laakxivteas Luabiihes
Oithear secured financings 1143 1 Other secured hnancings § 150 £ 848
Customer and othes payables 34 5 Custamer andd other paysbles k1 e}
Trading kabilibes 7 296 Tradireg bl ities 7 L
Unssecured shart-terrm borowings 146 43 Cthes babilives 163 S48
Unsecured lang-term baormowings 81 226 Taotal 5 3084 £18Nn
Oithear liabuliies 163 B
Taotal 1574 33437 Corporate debt and other asset-backed
Assers
In the table above: Cash ard cash equivalonts §$ 227 £ a3
n e tabic above: Tradirg assets 17 -
« Assers and liabilinies are presented ner of intercompany Tonl $ 24 F 22
liminatons and exclude the benefir of offscrnng financial Liabiities
instruments thar are held to mirigare the risks associated ?h?:ﬂ':’”re*j findncirgs : g : 2;:
with the firm’s variable interests. L.
.4 \ AL e Principal-protected notes
* VIEs in which the firm halds a majarity voring interese are Assets
excluded if (i) the VIE meers the definition of a business Teaching assats £ B9 § &8
and {i1) the VIE's assers can be used for purposes other Total £ 89 § =
than the settlement of its obligations, Luabilitins
) Ciher secured fmancings £ 3 £ 5&3
+ Substanoally all assers can only be vsed to sexle Trading kakdibies - 750
obligations of the VIE. Unsecured shom-tem boirowings 145 43
B Unsecured long-berm bofronngs Bl Fri
Tatal § E18 %1082
Ins the rable abowve:
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* The majority of the assers in principal-protecred notes
VIEs  are  intercompany  and  are  eliminated  in
consalidartion,

« Creditors and beneficial interest holders of real estare,
credit-relared and other investing VIEs do nor have
recourse (o the general credic of che fiem,
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 18,

Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees

Commitments Lending Commitments

The table below presents commitments by tvpe, The firm's commercial and warchouse financing lending

commitments are agreements 1o lend with fixed termination

A of Dapommibe dares and dl.'p-:;ml on the sansfaction of all contractual

£ itmialans T a1 oo conditions to borrowing. These commimments are presented

Commitmant Type ner of amounts syndicated to third parties. The roml

Comrrercial landng commirment amount does niw necessarily reflect acrual

L";:_!:"::;ﬂx:f_;rgg ¥ aﬁ $ gi} furure cash flows because the firm may syndicare portions
l.'.'are,*.g._;g,._q'..an:..-.g 10,391 9,377 of these commitments. In addition, commitments can
Cradit cards 35932 21840 expire unosed or be reduced or cancelled ar the
E!?slzlpll:rﬂd?clgatmws z:;;?: '?‘;35‘ counterparty’s request. Thl.: ﬁl':t.i also provides credit 1o
Colserilized agrasmant 101,031 §5.278 consimers by issuing eredit cand lines,
ﬁt::ﬂﬁfd g ﬁg: nggg The mable below presents information about  lending
Qther 9,143 8203 COMMItMents,

Total commitments 372,684  EFE4 OGS
As o Decamber
The table below presents commitments by expiration, £ mikons 2021 Foan
Held :m IER 1AL £197.120 3152.513
ptommeren e
£ ations 2022 2024 2026 Tharaabes Total $211852 8171875
ﬁﬁ,‘:’fﬁmﬁl}'ﬁ; In the table abowve:

Irvestment-grade 5 19,095 $29.347 546,011 & 1122 4 " '

Nowswestrrent-giads 5,353 24008 26.878 12405 = Held for investment lending commimments are accounted
Warahouse financirg 1584 6,350 2087 400 for ar amoenized cost. The carrying value of lending
?r‘ml"l ':’:dg :ﬁ 5 ?{; ‘M.H; = 52; commitments was a liability of $1.03 billion {including
F:?;:F:W.‘:an*s 1598 6340 1880 g allowance for credit losses of $776 million) as of
Colatoralzed agreemont 99458 1576 - - Decernber 2021 and 57735 million (including allowance
ﬁfﬁ:ﬂﬁfd finaring 2'.:.51;; 1,9£ 1.09; Z.ID; for J:r\c-;l_il: lovsses :.:I:' %557 mallion) as i:li'. ntxcl:l-':l'&!l.' 2020,
Oither B.801 243 rt 45 The estimated fair value of such lending commitments
Total commitments 5207500 S63.883 577918 $17.374 was 2 liabilicy of 34,17 billion as of December 2021 and

$4.05 billion as of December 2020, Had these lending
In the ables above, beginning in the fourth quarter of commirments been carried ar fair value and included in
2021, the Arm’s commirments under letrers of credi, the fair wvalue hierarchy, %191 hillion as  of
issned by various banks which the firm provides o December 2021 and §2.43 hillion as of December 2020
counterparties 1o satisfy cormain collateral and margin wonld have been classified in level 2, and $2.26 billion as
deposit requirements, is included in other commiments. of December 2021 and 85162 billion as  of
Previously, such letters of credit were disclosed as a December 2020 would have been elassificd in level 3.

separate ling item in the eables abowve. Previously reported
amounts have been  conformed o the current
presentation,

Held for sale lending commitments are accounted for at
the lower of cost or fair value, The carrving value of
lending commirments held for sale was a liabiliey of
321 million as of December 2021 and $68 million as of
Decembier 2020, The estimared fair value of swech lending
commitments approsximares the carrying value. Had rhese
fending commimments been included in the fair value
hierarchy, they would have been primanly classified in

level 3 as of both Drecember 2021 and December 2020,

Ciains or losses relared 1o lending commimments ar fair
value, if any, are generally recorded net of any fecs in
other principal transactions,

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 186
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Commercial Lending, The firm's commercial lending
commimments were primarily exrended to investment-grade
corporate  borcowers,  Soch  commitments  primanly
included $120.99 hillion a5 of December 2021 and
$110.31 hallion as of December 2020, relared o
refanonship  lending  activides  (principally  used  for
operating  and  geveral  corporate purposes)  and
$21.07 hillion as of December 2021 and $15.81 hillion as
of December 2020, related to other investment banking
activities {generally extended for contingent acquisition
financing and are often intended to be short=term in nature,
as borrowers often seek to replace them with other funding
sources), The firm also extends lending commitments in
connection with other types of corporate lending, as well as
commercial real estare fimancing. See Mote ¥ for farther
informanon abour funded loans,

To mitigare the credic risk asociared with the firm's
commercial lending  activites, the firm  obrains  credit
protection on certain boans and lending commitments throagh
credit default swaps, both sanglename and  index-based
contracts, and through the ssuance of credit-linked nores,
Warehouse Financing. The firm provides financing o
clienes who warchouse financial assers, These arrangements
are secured by the warchoused assets, primarily consisting
of residennial real esrare, consumer and corporare loans,
Credit Cards. The firm's credit card lending commirments
included  $33.97 billion as of December 2021 and
$21.654 billion as of December 2020 related to crediv card
lines issued by the firm to consumers., These credit card lines
are cancellable by the firm. Credic card commirments also
mncludes approximately 32,0 billion relatng wo the firm's
commirment o acquire a credit card  porfolio in
connection with its agreement, in January 2021, 1o form a
co-branded eredit card relarionship with General Motors,
This acquisition was complered in February 2022,

Rizsk Participations

The firm alse risk pardcipares certain of its commercial
lending commitmenes o other financal insomtons, In the
event of a risk participant’s defanlt, the firm will be
responsible to fund the borrower,

Collateralized Agreement Commitments/
Collateralized Financing Commitments

Collateralized agreement commitments includes forward
starting resale and sccurities borrowing agreements, and
collareralized financing commimments includes forward
starning repurchase and secured lending agreemenrs thar
sentle ar a fumire date, generally warhin three business days.
Collateralized  agreement  commimments  also  imcludes
transactions where the firm has entered into commitments
to provide contingent  financing  to s clienes  and
counterpartics  through resale agrecments, The firm's
funding of these commitments depemds on the saisfacnon
of all contraenmal conditions 1o the resale agreement and
these commirments can expire unuscd.
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Investment Commitments

Issvestment commirments includes commitments to invest in
private equity, real cetate and other assers divecely and
through funds thar the firm eaises and manages, Investment
commirments included $1.60 hllion as of December 2021
and $1.69 billion as of December 2020, related 1o
commitments to invest in funds managed by the firm. If
these commitments are called, they would be funded ar
market value on the date of investment,

Investment  commirments alse  included approximarely
$1.920 billion as of December 2021 relared to the firm’s
commirment to acquire NN Investment Parmers, a leading
European asser manager with approximately $320 hillion
in assers under supervision, in an all-cash transaction. This
acquisition s expected 1o close in the second quarter of
2022, In addition, imvestment commimments  included
approsimarely $2.0 billion as of December 2021 relared 1o

the firm's commirment

o acquire  CGreensky, Inc.

(Greenbky), a leading rechnology company  facilitating
poant-of-sale financing for merchants and consumers. This
acquisition 15 expected to close in the firse quarter of 2022,
The GreenSky acquisition will be an all-stock transaction in
which stockholders of GreenSky and unir holdess of
GreenSky Holdings, LLC {GreenSky Holdings) will receive
(L03 shares of the firm's common stock for cach share of
GreenSky Class A common stock and cach GreenSky
Holdings commaon unit. The investment commirment in the
table above represents the purchase price of the acquisition
based on the stock price of Group Ine. as of
December 2021, However, the final purchase price of the
acquisition will depend upon the stock price of Groop Inc,
ar the time of the closing of the wransaction, In connection
with this reansacrion, the firm provided a commirtment 1o
acquire up to 5800 million of loans originated by
GreenSky's bank parmers, and, as of December 2021, had
acquired approximarely 200 million of loans under rhis

COMIMINTEnT.

remaining  commiiment of

approcimately 36000 milhon s included  m other
commitments in the rable above. In the event that the
acquisition is not completed, the firm has agreed o provide
A commirment o purchase up o an additional 1.0 billion
of leans ongmated by GreenSky's bank parmers. This
commirment 15 not included in the mable above.
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Contingencies
Legal Proceedings. Sce Mote 27 for information about
legal proceedings.

Guarantees

The mable below presents derivatives thar meet the
definition of a guarantee, securitics lending and cleaning
guarantees and cermain other financial guaranoees.

Laciniia s Orer

larufing aned Tl

& i ylons Cesreatrens charng [ T=Sr
Az of December 2021

Carrying Value of Net Liability § 3406 5 - 5 234
Maximum Payout/MNoticnal Amount by Period of Expiration

2022 5 BB212 511,046 % 8n
2023 - 2024 48273 - 3,608
2025 - 2026 19,706 - 2,015
gn:m - tharsaftar 30,006 - a7
Tatal 5166197 511,046 6,591
As of Decermbaer 2020

Carrying Vales of Net Labdity  § 4,357 3 = £ 253
Maximum Payout/MNetional Amaunt by Penad of Expiration

20 § B3202 £21.382 £1.263
2002 - 2023 B6, 201 - 3,304
2024 - 2025 13389 - 787
2026 - tharealtar 32244 - 268
Total 201,039 £21.352 £7.622

In the table above:

* The maximum payour is based on the notional amount of
the contrace and docs nor represent antapared fosses.

« Amounts exclude cemain comminments o issue standby
lerters of credie char are included in lending commimments.
See the mbles in “Commimments™ above for a summary of
the firm's commitments.

* The carrying value for denivanves included denvanve
assets of $L.10 billion as of December 2021 and
8166 billion as of December 2020, and derivative
liabalities of $4.51 billion as of December 2021 and
$6,02 billion as of December 2004,
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Derivative Guaramtees. The firm enters into varioos
derivarives thar meet the definition of a guarantee under
LLS. GAAP, including written equity and commaodiey pur
IR.Pj'-Il'i'l'ﬂ:l‘-. wWritten CUTIEIY COnirilTs amd inreresy rane s,
floors and swaprions, These dervanives are risk managed
rogether wirh derivartives thar do not meer the definition of
a guarantes, and thercfore the amounts in the able above
do nor reflect the firm's overall risk related to derivative
activities, Disclosures abour derivatives are not reguired if
they may be cash serled and the firm has vo basis to
conclude it s probable that the counterparties held the
underlying instruments ar inception of the contract, The
firm has concluded that these conditions have been met for
cerraim  large, intermationally acrive commercial and
invesoment  bank  counrerpartics,  cenral  clearing
counterparties,  hedge  funds  and  cermain other
counterparties. Accordingly, the firm has nor included such
contracts in the able above, Sec Note 7 for informanon
about credic derivatives that meet the definition of a
guarantee, which are not included in the table above,

Derivatives are accounted for at fair value and therefore the
carrying value is considered the best indication of payment/
performance risk for individual contracts, However, the
carrying values i the mble above exclude the effect of
counterparry and cash collareral newing,

Securities Lending and Clearing Guarantees. Seouritics
lending  and  clearing  guaramees  include the
indemnificarions and guarantees thar the firm provides in
irs capacity as an agency lender and i irs capacity as a
spomsoring member of the Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation.

As an agency lender, the firm indemnifies most of irs
securities lending customers against losses incurred in the
event that borrowers do nor return securiies and the
collateral held is insufficient ro cover the market value of
the securities borrowed, The maximum payour of such
imdemmnibcations was $11L08 billion as of December 2021
and $19.586 billion as of December 2020, Coltateral held by
the lenders i comnection  with  securiries  lending
mdemnificarions was $11.36 billion as of December 2021
and $20.39 billion as of Decomber 2020, Because the
contractual narure of these arrangemenrs requires the irm
to obtain collateral with a marker value that exceeds the
value of the securities lent to the borrower, there 1= manimal
performance risk associated with these indemmifications,
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As a sponsoring member of the Government Securities
Division of the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, the
fiem guarantees the performance of its sponsored member
clients to the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation in
cannecrion with certain resale and repurchase agreemens,
To minimize porential losses on such guaranrecs, rhe firm
obrains a security  interest in the collateral thar the
sponsored client placed with the Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation. Therefore, the nsk of loss on such guarantees
is minimal. There were ne amounes custanding under the
guarantee as of December 2021, As of December 2020, the
maximum pavout on this guarantee was 31,49 billion and
the related collateral beld was $1.50 billion,

Other Financial Guarantees. In the ordinary course of
busingss, the firm provides other financial guarantees of the
obligations of third parties (e.g., standby letrers of credic
and other goarantees 1w enable clients 1o complere
transactions and  fund-relared  guarantees).  These
guarantees represent obligarions o make paymems o
benefictaries if the guaranteed party fails to fulfill its
obligation under 2 contractual arrangement with thar
beneficiary. Ocher financial guaranrees also include a
guarantes thae the fitm has provided ro the Government of
Malaysia thar it will receive an least $1.4 billion in assers
and  procecds from  assers seiwed by governmental
aurhoritics around the waorld  related o 1 Malaysia
Development Berhad, a sovereign wealth fund in Malaysia
{IMDRB). The firm evaluates progress toward satisfying this
obligation based on the report that it receives on a semi-
annual basis, expected in February and August, Based on
the latest report as of Augost 2021, approximately
$450 million m assers or procecds from assers has been
remurned ro the Government of Malaysia in connection with
this guarantee, which must be savisfied by Awgust 18, 2025,
Any amounes paid by the firm under this guarantes would
be subject 1o reimbursement in the event rhe assers or
proceeds received by the Government of Malaysia through
August 18, 2028 exceeds 1.4 billion. See Note 27 for
further information about matters refated to IMBDB.

Guarantees of Securities Issued by Trusts, The firm has
established truses, including Goldman Sachs Capital 1, the
APEX Trusts and other entities, for the limited purpose of
ssuing securities to third parties, lending the proceeds mo
the firm and enering into contraciual arrangements with
the firm and rhird parties eelated o this puspose. The firm
docs not consolidare rhese entings. See Nore 14 for further
informanon abour the transactions involving Goldman

Sachs Capital [and the APEX Trusts.

188 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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The firm cffectively provides for the full and unconditional
guarantee of the secorities issued by these eonities. Timely
payment by the firm of amounts due to these entities under
the guarantee, borrowing, preferred stock and relared
contractual  arrangements wall be sufficiens 10 cover
payments due on the securiries issued by rhese enrities. No
subsidiary of Groop Inc. guaranmces the securites of

CGeoldman Sachs Capital | or the APEX, Trosts.

Management

that it is unlikely thar any

circumsrances will acour, such as nonperformance on the
part of paying agenrs or other service providers, thar would
make it necessary for the firm to make payments relaced o
these entities other than those reguired under the terms of
the guarantee, borrowing, preferred stock and relared
contractual arcangements and in connection with certain
expenses mcurred by these entities,

Indemnities and Guarantees of Service Providers. In
the ordinary course of business, the firm mdemnifies and
guarantees certain seevice providers, such as clearing and
custody  agenis, rrusrecs and  administrarors,  againse
specified porential losses in connecrion with their acring as
an agent of, or providing services o, the firm or s

affiliates.

The firm may also be liable ro some clients or other paroes
for losses anising from its custodial role or caused by acts or
omissions  of third-party  service  providers,  including
sub-custodians and third-parey brokers, In certain cases, the
firm has the right o seek indemnificanon from these third-
party service providers for certan relevanr losses incurred
by the fiem. In addition, rhe firm is 3 member of payvment,
clearing and serelement nerworks, as well as sccurincs
exchanges around the world that may require the firm o
meet the obligatons of such networks and exchanges in the
event of member defaults and other loss scenarios.

It connection with the firm's prime brokerage and clearing
businesses, the firm agrees 1o clear and serde on behalf of i
clients the ransactons entered into by them with ocher
brokerage firms. The firm's obligations in respect of such
tramsactions are secured by the assers in the chient's account,
as well as any proceeds receved from the transactions
cleared and sercled by the firm on behalf of the client, In
connecrtion with joint venmre investments, the firm may
izsue loan guarantees under which it may be liable in the
event of frand, misapproprianon, environmental liabahioes
and certain other matrers involving the borrower.
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The firm is unable oo develop an estimare of the maximum
pavout under these guarantees and  indemmifications.,
However, management belicves that it is unlikely the firm
will have ro make any marerial payments under these
arrangements, and no marterial liabilines relared o rhese
guarantees and indemnifications have been recognized in
the consolidated balance sheets as of both December 2021
and December 2020,

Other Representations, Warranties and
Indemnifications. The firm provides representations and
WaATranLes [ COunterparties in connecrion wich a variery of
commercial transactons and cccasionally indemmnifies them
against potential losses caused by the breach of those
representations and warrantics, The firm may also provide
indemnifications protecting aganst changes in o adverse
applicarion of cermin LS. max laws in comnection with
ordinary-course ransactions, such as securitics issuances,
baorrowings or derivanives.

In addirion, the firm may provide indemnificarions 1o some
counterparmes o protect them in the event addinonal tases
are owed or payments are withheld, due cither 1o a change
in or an adverse applicaron of cerram non-ULS. tax laws.

These indemnificanions generally are standard conrracrual
rerms and are enrered o i the ordinary course of
business. Generally, there are no smated or potional
amounts  included  in these  indemnifications, and the
contingencies triggering the obligation to mdemnify are not
expected to occur, The firm is anable to develop an estimare
of the maxsmum pavour under these guarantees and
indemnificarions. However, mamagement believes char i is
unlikely the firm will have vo make any marerial paymens
umnder these arrangements, and no marerial liabilines related
to these arrangements have been recognized i the
consolidared balance sheets as of both December 2021 and
Drecember 2020,

Guarantees of Subsidiaries. Group Inc, 15 the enniry thar
fully and unconditionally guarantees the secunines issued by
G5 Finance Corp., a wholly-owned finance subsidiary of
the firm. Group Inc, has guaranteed the payment
obligations of Goldman Sachs & Co, LLC (GS&Co), GS
Bank USA and Goldman Sachs Paris Tne, er Cie, subject 1o
cerrain exceptions. In addition, Group Inc. has provided
guaranrees o Goldman Sachs Inrernanonal {GS1) and
Goldman  Sachs Bank Europe SE (GSBE) related w0
agreements thar each ennry has enrered into with certain of
its counterparties. Furthermore, Group Inc. provided a
guarantes to G5 Bank USA in 2020 related to secaritics thae
G5 Bank USA acquired from certain affiliated funds of
Group Ine. and loans and lending commiements char &GS
Bank USA acquired from certain subsidiaries of Group Ine,
As of December 2021, none of the seourinies acquired from
the affiliared funds were outstanding.
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Group Inc. gearantecs many of the obligations of its other
consolidared subsidiaries on a rransaction-by-transaction
basis, as negonated with counterpartice, Group Ine, s
unable 1o develop an estimare of the maximum payour
under irs subsidiary guarantees, However, because these
obligations are  alse obligatnons  of  consolidared
subsidiaries, Group Inc's labilines as guarantor are nor
separately disclosed.

MNote 19,
Shareholders” Equity

Common Equity

As of both December 2021 and December 2020, the firm
had 4,00 billion authorized sharcs of common stock amd
200 million autherized shares of nonvoting comman stock,
each with a par value of 50.01 per share,

The firm's share repurchase program is inrended o help
maintain the appropriare level of common equity, The
share repurchase program is effected primarily throngh
regular  open-marker purchases (which may include
repurchase plans designed o comply with Rule 10b3-1 and
accelerared share repurchases), the amouns and tdming of
which are determined primarily by the firm's current and
projecred  capital  position,  and  capital  deploymene
opportunities, but which may also be influenced by general
market conditions. and the prevatling price and rading
volumes of the firm’s common stock, The firm suspended
stock repurchases during rhe fisst quarter of 2020 and,
consistent with the FRI'S requirement for all large bank
holding companics (BHCs), exrended the suspension of
stock repurchases through the fourth quarter of 2020. The
firm resumed stock repurchases in the firse quarter of 2021,

The table below presents informarion abour commaon stock
repurchases,

Yaur Endad Dacarnbar

1 nfng, aacap! Par S0E aTounty 2021 piari] g
Common share repurchases 153 B2 258
Anarage cost per shane $33981 223635 SX0E56
Total cost of commen share repuschases § 5,200 § 1.528 § 5336

Pursuant to the terms of certain share-based compensation
plans, emploves may remit shares to the firm or the firm
may cancel share-based awards o sansfy  stamory
employee tax withholding requirements. Under these plans,
LA shares i 2021, 3,476 shares in 2020 and 7,490
shares in 2019 were remirred with g ol value of
0.5 milliesn i 2021, 509 mullicn in 2020 and 52 million in
2019, and the firm cancelled 3.4 million share-based
awards i 2021, 3.4 million in 2020 and 3.8 million in
2019 with a toral wvalue of $984 million in 2021,
$829 million in 2020 and $743 million in 2019
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Thie table below presents common stock dividends declared.

Year Endad Dacarrise
eyl 0E0 0%
Dwadends declred par commaon share #E50 5500 841G

O January 14, 2022, the Board of Directors of Group Inc.
{Beard) declared a dividend of $2.00 per common share 1o
be paid an March 30, 2022 w0 common sharcholders of
record on March 2, 2022,

Preferred Equity
The tables below present information about the perperual
preferred srock issued and ourstanding as of December 2021,

Sharos Sharos Shares  Dwpositery Sheres
wihorized Issuad

Sorma A Ourtstnreding Par Share
A 50,000 20,000 79,999 1.000
[ 25,000 E.000 2,000 1,000
D E0,000 54000 £3.950 1,000
E 17,600 1887 1.66T Mia
F B 000 1616 1,616 MR
4 46,000 20,000 AQ,000 1.000
K 32,200 28000 20,000 1,000
e} 26,000 26,000 26,000 25
P E6, 000 B0,000 60,000 5
Q 20,000 200000 20,000 25
= 24,000 24,000 24,000 5
5 4,000 14,000 14,000 25
T 27,000 27000 27.000 5
u 20,000 30,000 30,000 5
W 30,000 30,000 30,000 5
Tatal 472,700 400, 282 400,280
Fedomption
Liguidsteon Vahus
B Enrliest Hedampivon Data Frolarancs 0§ 1 mellegnal
& Currenily redeamabls £ 795,000 & THO
c Currenily redoomable 5 15000 200
1] Curenily redeernatle £ 35000 1,350
E Cutrenily redearmable F100,000 6T
F Currently redeamables 100,000 161
J Way 10, 2023 5 5000 1,000
K htary 10, 2024 5 5000 o0
0 Mowerripar 10, 2026 % #5000 650
P Wowermber 10, 2022 $ ®B000 1,500
Q Auagust 10, 2024 £ 5000 SO0
R Felreuary 10, 2025 5 15000 GO0
5 Febnuary 10, 2025 1 #5000 350
T hiay 10, 2026 1 75000 675
u August 10, 2026 § E000 TE0
W Mewerribar 10, 2026 £ 000 TED
Total £10, 703

In thve rables above:

All shares have a par value of $0.01 per share and, where
applicable, each share is represenred by the specified
number of depositary shares,

The carlicst redemption date represents the dare on which
ecach share of non-cumulative preferred  seock s
redeemable ar the firm’s aption,

Prior to redeeming preferred stock, the firm must receive
approval from the FRE.
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In October 2021, the firm issued 30,000 shares of
Series VWV 4.125% Fixed-Rare Reset Non-Camulative
Preferred Stock (Series V Preferred S1ock).

In July 2021, the firm issued 30,000 shares of Series U
165%  Fooed-Rare Reser Mon-Cumulative  Preferred
Stoxk (Series U Preferred Stock),

I April 2021, the firm issoed 27,000 shares of Series T
1800 Fixed-Rate Reser Non-Cumulative Preferred
Stock (Series T Preferred Srock).

The redempeion price per share for Series A through Fand
Series () through V Preferred Stock s the liguidanion
preference plus declared and wnpaid  dividends, The
redemption price per share for Serigs | through P
Preferred Stock is the liguidarion preference plus accrued
and unpaid dividends. Each share of Series E and Series F
Preferred Stock is redeemable ar the firm®s option, subjecr
10 CETEAIN covenant Testrictions governing the firm's
ability go redecm the preferred stock withoue issuing
common stock or other instruments with equity-like
characreristics. See Note 14 for formation about the
replacement capital covenanes applicable to the Series E
omel Series F Preferred Stock,

All series of preferred stock are pari passu and have a
preference over the fiem's comman stock on liquidarion,

The firm's ability to declare or pay dividends on, or
purchase, redeem or atherwise acquire, its comman stock
is subject to cerain restricrions in the event thar the firm
fails o pay or ser aside full dividends on rhe preferred
stock for the farest complered dividend period.

In 2021, the firm redeemed all owsranding shares of s
{1} Series N 6.305% Non-Cumulatve Preferred Stock with a
redemprion value of $673 million ($2.5,000 per share), plus
accroed and unpaid dividends and irs {11) Series M 5.3758%
Fixpd-to-Floanng Rate Non-Comulanve Preferred Stock
with a redemption value of $2 billion ($25,000 per share),
plus accrued and unpaid dividends, The difference between
the redemprion value and net carrying value at the time of
these redemprions was $41 million, which was recorded as
an addinion ro preferred stock dividends in 2021,

In 2020, the firm cedeemed the remaimng 14,000
ourstanding shares of is Series L 3.70% Non-Cumnlarnive
Preferred Stock with a redemprion value of $350 million
(25,000 per share), plus accrued and unpaid dividends.
The difference berween the redemption valoe and ner
carrying value was 51 million, which was recorded as an
addition to preferred stock dividends in 2024,
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The table below presents the dividend rates of perpetual
preferred stock as of December 2021,

Pae Annum Dividend Rate

ot LR + 1 15, v Bone o83 {50, [imynkD cpartinty

Frecran LSO + 0756, wih food of 4 DG, pasyalkies quiterhy

v LIEHE, + 10157 o, vl Al o & 00, iyl p ety

Frrorm LIBOA + 07675, vwth Rcce of 4 D07K, piyaiie ity

T LEHFL + 1077 T, Wit B o 4 (07, ok o irtiehy

B SN ko, A e ey, Wy 10, 203,

B i LB + 3545 dareanir, povakie quirtiy

DTS ks DR e g Wy 10, 200,

3 e LIBOR + JEEY, dwreainir, poyakih cuirtisly

G0, Py Srr sy, For s dite b, b f ekung
Meverrkeer 10, 2006, 3 rricndh LSO -+ 3 534 %, pavebs cuirery, e
GOPE,, iyt ST var Ty, O riirces ik 1, Ex L kel

Mewerrier 10, 20223 iyt LBOR -+ 2E74 %, pivable cuviedy, $hanfer

B ERDH, yekhe Serrmar T oLy, SOrT) B s 0, ELE Seckaing
w1nm§mmm+m.mm,m
A 56, peyable Sarranmusly, fom esene dete o, but aududing,

Fabnury 10, 205, 5yl thedrury 1ot + B230%, pvl sirreirmialy, Trivefbe
44005, payable ey, o e snee dete i, bt modudng,

[Py 10 2005 5 yaor boanuny rate + 2859, poyebie samsarminly Honfo
T B, payakhe SarvrerTly, SOr S da D, EE eeckair,
mmm&;ﬁmmm«:mmm.m
365, pavatle sarrianmunly, fom e enee date i, bt audoding,

gt 10, 205, By reerury rite + 2 D155, pydie saviarualy, hamir

o o [ ] b L"‘H‘Cﬁhi

u
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O January 6, 2022, Growp Inc. declared dividends of
$239.38 per share of Series A Preferred Stock, 323556 per
share of Series C Preferred Stock, 525556 per share of
Serigs 13 Preferred Stock, 334375 per share of Series |
Preferred Stock, $398.44 per share of Serics K Preferred
stock, 368750 per share of Scrics @ Preferred Srock,
$618.75 per share of Series R Preferred Stock, 555000 per
share of Series § Preferred Stock and $486.67 per share of
Series U Preferred Stock to be paid on February 10, 2022 to
preferred sharcholders of record on January 26, 2022, In
addition, the firm declared dividends of S1,000L00 per
share of Series E Preferred Stock and $1,000,00 per share of
Serics F Preferred Srock to be paid on March 1, 2022 o
preferred shareholders of record on February 14, 2022,

Accumulated Other Comprehensive IncomeS{Loss)
The table below presens changes in accumulated other
comprehensive incomef{loss), ner of tasx, by rype.

4 1250, myeble sermvarmusly, fom rsoaroe dte i, buteciudng

v icwmrmbsr 10, 2008 5 yoor foesuny o + 2 9400, poyebie semarruoly, fanefor

In the mable above, dividends on each series of preferred
stock are payable in arrears for the periods specified.

The mble below presents preferred stock  dividends
declared,

Wawr Ented Dacsmbar

gl 2040 g

par in = S par £
Sanies share millioms #have  muliang ahare  malisang
& § 95051 $§20 5 54792 £33 8§ 4792 % I8
B £ - - % - - & 77500 b
c 51,013,590 8 FLOMAZ g S0 -]
o £1,013.90 BE §1.011.12 B f,0mnm B4
E 54,055, 55 3] 5408558 3 04844 3
F £4,065 55 7 405555 6 %4044 44 7
J £1.3765.00 BE  £01.37500 5 13700 &&
.4 £1,593.76 44 159376 45 8168376 a5
L -9 - - & 35154 4 $1.519.67 &8
M B - - 8 a6 87 53,3437 107
M £ Ta7.60 18  E1.675.00 43 $1,675.00 43
O §1,325.00 34 £1.325.00 ¥ 21,3200 34
B £1,250.00 TE 8125000 75 £1.260.00 75
O $1.375.00 28 E1ETa3 2 3 - -
1] £1,.237.60 30 £ 91084 o % = =
5 $1.100.00 18§ GE6E7 a 5 - -
T__ & 61194 14 £ - - % - -
Total 5443 §543 5560

Ceher
coiTp hansneg
noormetioss)
Bagnning  adpsstmants, Ershng
Fin mikena Balires e ol lax Balsres
Year Endod Docombor 2021
Cumancy translation £ (698) £ (42} 5 (738}
Dbyt waluation adustrment (&33) azz 1511}
Pengeon and postratremant habditnes (ZEA) 41 {327}
Avadabie-for-sale secunties 463 (956 (492}
Total 511.434) § [634) s(2.068)
Year Ended Docember 2020
Cumaney translation % I516) £ 1301 £ 696
Dobt valuation admstrment {1} (i3] [ ke ]
Penaion and postretrament kebdities 12421 [26) (36E]
Emaiable-for-sale sscunbes 4 A7 45T
Tatal £11.484) £ 50 81,434

Year Ended Dacembes 2019
Cumency translaton

£ OIG2N 5 B % B8

Ciebt valuation aduistment 1,507 2,074l [
Pension and postratremant lebdites Bl (L] 343
Fuvadable-for-sale secuntes 112y 158 L]
Total i GEd 22177 B4, 484)
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MNote 20,
Regulation and Capital Adequacy

The FRE is the primary regulator of Group Inc., a BHC
under the ULS. Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 and a
financial holding company under amendments o this Acr,
The firm s subject to consolidated regularory capiral
requirements which are caleulared in accordance with the
regulations of the FRBE (Capiral Framework ),

The capirtal requirements are expressed as risk-Tased capiral
and leverage ratios thar compare measures of regulatory
capital 1o risk-weighred assers (RWAs), average assers and
off-balance sheer exposures. Failure to comply wich these
capital requiremenis would result o resinctions  being
imposed by the firm's regulators and could limie the firm's
ability to repurchase shares, pay dividends and make
certain discretionary compensation payiments, The firm's
capital levels are also subjecr v qualicative judgments by
the regularors abour components of capiral, risk weighrings
and other facrors, Furthermaore, cerrain of the firm's
subsidiarics are subjecy ro separare regulations and capiral
reguirements.

Capital Framework

The regulanions under the Capital Framework are largely
based on the Basel Commirmes on Banking Supervision's
{Basel Committee) capiral framework for strengthening
mternational  capital standards  (Basel 11} and  also
implement certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank  Act,
Uider the Capital Framework, the firm is an “Advanced
approach™ banking organizaton and has been designaned
asa global sysremically imporrant bank (G-518),

The Capital Framework includes the minimum risk-based
capital amd the capital conservarion buffer requirements,
The buffer must consist enrirely of capiral thar qualifies as
Commaon Equity Tier 1 {CET 1) capiral.

The firm caleulares its CET1 capiral, Tier 1 capital and
Toral capital ratios in accordance with both  the
Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules. Each of the
ratios cabculated under the Standardized and  Advanced

Capital Rules must meet its respective capital requirements,

Under the Capiral Framework, the firm is also subject
leverage requirements which consist of a minimum Tier 1
leverage ratio and a minimum supplementary leverage ratio
{SLR}, as well as the SLR buffer.

192 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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Consolidated Regulatory Capital Requirements
Risk-Based Capital Ratios. The rahle below presenes the
risk-based capital requirements.

Siardl s ad Aubranomsd

As of December 2021

CETT cagutal rave 134% 5%
Tiar 1 capital mtic 149% 11.0%
Tazal cagital rato 16.9% 13.0%
As of Decerriber 2020

CET1 cagital atic 13.6% SE%
Tear 1 capital ratia 16.1% 11 0%
Total cagstal mtio 17.1% 13.0%

Ins the table above:

* As of both December 2021 and December 2020, under
both the Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules, the
CET1 capiral ratio requirement includes a minimuam of
4.5%, the Tier 1 capital ratio requirement includes a
mummwm of 60%  and  the Tomal capial  ratio
requirement  includes a minimum  of 8.0%., These
requiremnents also include the capital conservation buffer
requirements, consisting of the G-518 surcharge of 2.5
{Merhod 2) and the counrercyclical capiral buffer, which
the FRE has ser o zero percent. In addinon, the caparal
conservation  buffer requirements inclede the stress
capital buffer (SCB) of 6.4% as of December 2021 and
6.46% as of December 2020 under the Standardized
Capital Rules and a buffer of 2.5% as of both
December 2021 and December 2020 under the Advanced
Capital Rules,

The G-5IB surchaege is updated anmually based on
financial dara from the prior vear and & generally
applicable for the following year, The G-51B surcharge is
caleulared using rwo methodologies, the higher of which
is reflected in the firm®s risk-based capieal requirements.
The first calculation {Method 1) is based on the Basel
Committee’s methodology which, among other factors,
relies upon measures of the size, activity and complexity
af each G-5IB, The second calcolation (Method 2) uses
similar inpues but includes 2 measure of reliance on shorr-
rerm whaolesale funding.
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The table below presents informaton about risk-based
capital ratios.

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

Leverage Ratios. The table below presents the leverage
FEUrEmEnTs.

5 ifans Standadred Beby ez Fsquinsments
Az of December 2021 Tiar 1 leverage ratio 40%
CET! capital § 05264  § 05,264 SLR 5%
Tier 1 capital 106766  S106,766 . ; =
Ties 2 capital § 14636  § 12,051 In the table above, the SLR requirement of 5% includes a
T i v u o
Fond e :;ﬂ':g g}gﬂ: minimum of 3% and a 2% bufier applicable ro G-51Bs,
CETT capital ratio “_2;.;,, 14.9% Thi table below presents informartion about leverage ratios,
Tier 1 capital ratio 158 16.6%
Total capital rane 17.9% 18.3% Fi i Thees Mg
As of Decembar 3020 Enced o ais of Dascamber
CETI capial £ EE41 5 E1EL idalasdials £ i
Tiex 1 capital £ 82730 5 82730 Tier 1 capital £ 106765 € 52730
T 2 capital £ 15424 § 13,275
Totz! capital S108, 154 5505009 Avarage total assets $1.466,770  §1152. 785
e 654,162  £609,750 Deducons from Tier 1 capital 4. 58F) (i, 58
. = Ayvarage adpstoed total assats 1,462,187 1,147 837
?Eﬂ “':"t‘“l L }"'?% }3"% Inpact of SLF temponany arendment = 202, T48)
Tioe crl;upg.ll r;-:f: 15 EE: 15; E‘: DOft-balance sheet and other exposures 448,534 367848
E - - Total leversge sxposure $1.910521 §1.332 637
In the rable above, Tier 1 baverage ratio 7.3% B1%
SLR 5.6% 70

« Ax perrmitted by the FRE, the firm elected to remporarily
delay the estimared effecs of adopring CECL on
regulatory capital wail fanuary 2022 and 1o subsequently
phase in the effeces through January 2023, In addinon,
the firm elecred to increase regulatory capital by 25% of
the increase in the allowance for credic losses since
Jamuary 1, 2020, as permitted by the rules ssoed by the
FRE. The impact of this increase will also be phased in
over the three-year rransition period, Reflecting the full
impact of CECL as of both December 2021 and
Drecember 2020 would not have had a marerial impacr on
the firm's capiral rados,

In the third quarrer of 2021, based on regularory feedback,
the firm revised certain interpreracions of the Capiral Rules
undestying the calcolarion of Standardized RWAs. As of
December 2020, this change would have increased the
firm's  Smandardieed RWAs of %554 billion by
approximatey $23 billion, which would have redoced the
firm’s Standardized CET1 capital ramo of 14.7% by 0.6
percentage points, Standardized Tier 1 capital rano of
16.7% by (L6 percentage poings and Standardized Toml
capital rario of 19.5%% by (L8 percentage points.

In December 2021, the firm early adopted the ULS, federal
bank regulatory agencies” final rule that implements the
new standardized approach for counterparty credic risk
(8A-CCR) 3A-CCR replaced the current exposure merhod
for calcularing the cxposwre amount of derivanyve conmacrs
for determining Standardized RWAs and supplementary
leverage exposure. Adoprion of SA=CCR resulted in a
decrease to the firm's Standardized CET1 capital ratio by
approsamately 0.3 percentage points as of December 2021,

Trs the table above:

Average total assets represents the average dailv assets for
the guarter adjusted for the impact of CECL transition,

Impact of SLR temporary amendment represented the
exclusion of average holdings of LS. Treasury sccuritics
amdd average deposits ar the Federal Reserve as permirted
by the FRE, The impact of this temporary amendment
was an ingrease in the fiem’s SLR by approxamarely 1.0
percenrage  points for  the  three  months  ended
December 2020, The amendmenr permiming  this
exclusion expired on Apnl 1, 2021,

Off-batance sheer and orher exposures primarily includes
the monthly average of off-balance sheer exposures,
consisting of derivarives, securiries financing rransacrions,
commitments and gnarantees.

Tier 1 leverage rario is calculared as Tier 1 capiral divided
by average adjusted toral assers.

SLR is caleulated as Tier 1 capital divided by roral
leverage  exposure.  Adoprion  of  SA-CCR in
December 2021, as described above, did nos result ina
material impact o the firm's SLR for the three monrhs
ended December 2021,
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Risk-Based Capital. The table below presenms informarion
about risk-based capiral,

A b Dy
£ in rnians 20 2020
Comman sharehalders” equity § 99323 L RIVID
Impact of CECL fransition 1,106 1,126
Draduction for gaodwll 3,610} 3,853
Dredisction for dantifiable intanghle assets 1401} [T
Cither adjustments {631 35
CET1 eapital 96,254 1,841
Prafered stock 10,703 11,203
Dreducton for smvestrments m covaned funds {189} {106}
Other adjustments [2) [
Tuer 1 capital £ 106, 766 £ 02730
Standardized Tier 2 and Total capital
Tier 1 coapital SMeETEE 8 S2730
Qualifymg subesdinatad debt 11,554 12,1596
Junier sutordmated debt kL] 168
Allewancs far eredn losses 3034 3,095
Ot adjustments ri"-l.“ﬁij- {551
E‘Iﬂﬂd-lrdt!&d Toir 2 capetal 14,636 15,424
Standardized Total capital £121,402 S04, 154
Advanced Tier 2 and Total capital
Tier 1 capital $106,768 5§ 92730
Eandardeed Ter 2 capital 14,656 15,424
Allwancs for eredin losses {3,034} 3,085
Oither adjustmants 449 950
Advanced Tier 2 capital 12,061 13.27_9
Advanced Total capital S18817 S105,009
In the table above:

Impacr of CECL mamsinon represents che impact of
adopton as of January 1, 2020 and the impact of increasing,
regulatory capital by 25% of the increase i the allowanee
for credir losses since Jamary 1, 2020, The allowance for
credit loses within Standardized and Advanced Tier 2
capiral abvo eeflects the impact of these adjustments.

Deduction for goodwill was ner of deferred mx liabilines
of 5673 millioa as of December 2021 and 3680 million as
of December 2002400,

Deducrion for identifiable imntangble assers was ner of
deferred  ax liabdlities of 317 milllon a5 of
December 2021 and 529 mullion as of December 2004,
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+ Deduction for investments in covered fumds represents the
firm’s aggregate investments in applicable covered funds,
excluding investments that are subject 1o an extended
conformance period. See Mote ¥ for furrther informanon
abour the Volcker Rule.

Orher adjustments within CET1 capital and Tier 1 capiral
primarily include eredit  valuaon  adjusrments  on
derivarive liahilities, the overfunded portion of the firm's
defined benefir pension plan obligation ner of assoctared
deterred rax liabilivies, disallowed deferred tax assers,
debr valuanon adjustments and other required credie risk-
based deducoons, Other adjustments within Advanced
Tier 2 capital include eligible credir reserves,

Qualifying subordinared debr 5 subordinared debt issued
by Group Inc. with an original maturity of five vears or
greater. The vurstanding amount of subordinated delr
qualifving for Tier 2 capital is reduced upon reaching a
remaining maturity of five years, See Note 14 for further
informarion aboue the firm's subordinared debr,

Junior subordinated debr is debr issoed to a Trist, As of
December 2021, 10% of this debr was included in Tier 2
capital and 0% was phased our of regularoey capiral, As
of December 2020, 20% of this debr was included in
Tier 2 capimal and 80%% was phased out of regolaory
capital. Junior subordinated debe s reduced by the
amount of Trust Preferred securities purchased by the
firm and wax fully phased out of Tier 2 capital beginning
in January 2022, See MNote 14 for ferther informanon
abour the firm’s jumor subordinated debr and Trose
Peeferred securiries,
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The table below presents changes in CET1 capital, Tier 1
capital and Tier 2 capieal,

5 nfens Starclyircdeed  Advanced
Yoar Ended Decomber 2021
CET1 capital
Beginnng balarce § 81,641 § 81641
Changa in:
Common shareholders’ equty 14494 14454
Impact of CECL transion 1 21}
Deduction for goadwill 42 47
Deduction for identrhabie intangible assets 200 200
Diher adusimants (102) {102}
Ending balance £ 96,754 § 98,254
Tier 1 capital
Beginning balance § 92,730 § 92730
Changa in
CETY capal 14612 14613
Dechatnion for srvestments n covensd furds B3] (B3}
Prefermed stogk (B00) {500}
ther adgustmants ] 1]
Ending balance 106,765 106,766
Tier 2 capital
Beginnng balance 15424 13279
Cleangs in
Qualifying subardinated debt (B42) (642]
Jumor subardinated debt [94) [34]
Allcnwvance for cradit losses &1} -
Other adgustmants a (482}
Ending balance 1463 12,081
Total capital £121.402 $118,817
‘Yaar Ended Decernber 2020
CET1 eapital
Ebglnung Balance £ 7J4BE0 £ TASED
Changa in;
Commaon shareholders’ equity BEGY 5,667
Irmpact ef CECL transmion 1126 1,126
Deduction for goadwall 123} (123
Deduction for identhable intangible assets 3 3
Ogher adpistmants 118 118
Ending balance § 91,647 § 81641
Tiar 1 capital
Begnnng balance £ BB 440 § BS 440
Changein;
CETY captal E. T 5,781
Cechaction for mmvvestments n covered funds =] 504
Oiher adpiatmants 1] {61
Ending balance G730 82730
Tier 2 capital
Beginnng balance 14925 13473
Changa irr:
Cualifying subardinated debi BB} 8511
Jumar subsddinated debt [5x 2H] {56
Alicwance for credit lesses 1.253 -
ther adwistmants 4 BB
Ending balance 16428 13275
Total capital £108,164 106,009
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RWAs. RWAs are calculated in accordance with both the
Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules,

Credit Risk

Credit RWAs are caleoloted based on measures  of
exposure, which are then sk weighted under  the
Standardized and Advanced Capinal Rules:

« The Stamdardized Capital Rules apply prescribed risk-
weights, which depend largely on the type of
counterparty. The exposure measure for derivarives and
securities financing ransactions are based on specific
formulax which sake cersain facrors into consideration,

Under the Advanced Capiral Rules, the fiem compures
risk-weights for whalesale and retal credin exposures in
accordance with the Advanced Inrernal Rarings-Based
approach. The exposure measures for derivarives and
securimes financing transacnons are compured unilizimg
internzal models.

For bah Standardized and Advanced credic RWAs, the
risk=weighrs for secaritizarions and equines are based on
specific required formulaic approaches.

Market Risk

RWAs for market risk in aceordance with the Standardized
arnd Advanced Capital Rules are generally consistent,
Market RWAs are calculared based on measures of
exposure which inclade the following:

« Value-ar-Risk {VaR) i the potential low in value of
trading assers and  liabilities, as well as  cerrain
investments, loans, and  other financial assets and
liabilivies accoumed for ar fair value, due 1o adverse
marker movements over 3 defined nme horizon with a
specified confidence level.
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Far both risk management purposes and regulatory capital
caleulations, the firm uses a single VaR model which
captures fisks, including those related to interest rates,
cquiry prices, currency  rares  and  commodity  prices.
Hewever, VaR wsed for nisk management purposes differs
from YaR wsed for regulatory capital requirements
{regulatory Val) due to differences in ome horzons,
confidence levels and the scope of positions on which VaR
is calculared. For risk management purposes, a 93%
one-day Vall s used, whereas for regulatory capiral
requirements, a 99% 10-day VaR i used o determine
Market RWAs and a 99% ome-day VaR s used 1o
determine regulatory VaR exceptions. In addition, the daily
net revenues wsed ro derermine risk management VaR
exceptions {i.c., comparing the daily ner revenues 1o the
Wal measure calculared as of the end of the prier business
day) incude intraday activity, whereas the Capial
Framewuork requires that intraday activity be excluded from
daily ner revenues when  calculating  regularory Valt
exceptions,  Intraday  activity  includes  bidfoffer  ner
revenues, which are more likely than nor o be posative by
their manire, As a resuly there may be differences in the
number of YaR exceprions and the amonnt of daily ner
revenues calculared for regularory VaR compared o the
amounts caleulared for risk management VakR.

The firm's posinonal losses observed on a3 single day
excecded irs 99% one-day regularory VaR on one oocasion
during 2021 and on six accasions during 2020 {all of which
occurred dunng March 2020 and, as permiteed by the FRB,
did not have any impact on the firm's VaR mulaplier ased
tovcalenlate Marker RWAs);

Seressed Vall s the porential loss in value of rading assers
and liabilities, as well as certain investments, loans, and
other fimancial assers and liabilities accounted for ae fair
value, during a period of sigmificant market stross;

Incremental risk is the potential loss in value of
nomssecuritzed positions due to the default o credic
migration of issuers of financial instruments over 2
one-vear time horizon;

Comprehensive risk s the potential loss in value, due 1o
price risk and defauls, within the finm’s credic correlarion
prosarianks; and

Spectfic risk is the risk of loss on a position that could
resule from factors other than broad marker movements,
including evenr risk, defaule risk and sdiosyneranic risk.
The smandardized measuremenr method 15 used 1o
derermine specific risk RWAs, by applying supervisory
defined risk-weighting factors after applicable netting is
performed.
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Operational RWAs are only required o be included under
the Advanced Capiral Rules. The firm utilizes an internal
risk-based model ro quannty Operational RWAs.

The table below presents information abour R As,

5 o mulband Srancdanchped Al
As of Decamber 2021
Cradit RWas
Desvaties $1T5 628 5108532
Comsibiients, guaraniéns and loans 2T3 639 182 210
Securities fingncing transactions T6,345 14,407
Eguity imvestmants &3 255 45 582
71,485 BE. 758
Tatal Cradit RWAs BO0.354 AFB 493
Market RWAs
Regulatory VaR 13510 13510
Strassed Val 38922 w22
|rscreamental nsk &, BET B8 887
Comprehensve nsk 251 2521
Spacdic nak . 14,689 14, 683
Total Market RWAs 509 76509
Total CIE-miwul RWas - 132,913
Tatal RWA=R $6T6.863  $647.921
Az of Decermber 2020
Credit RWas
Dermvatres $120382 211183
Lommitments, gussanioss and loans 176,500 161,537
Secunties fingncing transactions 11427 16,568
Equity imvestmarnits &6 Bl 49 768
Othes ] B3.554
Tatal Cr_\?dull: RWas 485,438 412,713
Market RWAs
Regulatory VaR 14913 14,913
Srrassed VaR .97 .978
|eecriprmental nak TERZ TEa7
Comprehansive risk 1.754 1,758
Specdic nsk 12,193 12,183
Tatal Marker RWAs 68, 724 BB, 724
Total Operaticnal AWAs = 138313

Tatal BWAs

§554.162  £608,750

In the rable above;

* Securities financing transactions represents resale and
repurchase ageeements and securities borrowed and

loaned ransacrions,

= Other includes receivables, certain debr secunties, cash
amd cash equivalents, and other assers,
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The table below presents changes in RYW As,

£ sy Sndeniced Ahvaraid
Year Ended December 2021
RWas
Beginning balance §554,162 5609750
Credit RWAs
Change in;
Darnvateoss 65,336 12,159]
Commutmants, giearantess and lcans 57,138 30,623
Secuntes fnancng fransactions 4919 12,161}
Equity investments 13,6881 13,686)
Other 1,211 3160
Change in Credit RWAs 114,916 25,786
Market AWAs
Changa in:
Aegisatony VaR [1,40%) {1.403)
Stressed VaR 6,944 6,944
Incremental nsk {1,01%) {1.015)
Comgprehensive nisk TE3 763
Spgciic nak _ 2456 2 4596
Chamge in Market RWAs 7,785 7,785
Chamge in Oporational RWAs - 4,600
Ending balance $676,863 5647921
‘Yaas Ended Decernber 2020
RWAs
Bagmnng balance 563,576  £544,653
Cradit RWAs
Changs in:
Demratrens B 39,060
Cammitments, guarantess and loans 3,238 17,131
Securties hinancang fransachons & 560 2,734
Exusty imsestments 870 i12,624)
Dther (5,386 5333
Changas in Cradit AWAS {13,545 B1.634
Markot RWAs
Change in:
Ragulatory VaR 5980 5980
Srressed VaR 1,067 1,067
Ingresmigndal nsi 3574 3,574
Cornprehenane risk IG5 S6T
Epocrhe nsk (8,850 [5,9500
Changs in Markst FWAs 4,136 4,358
Change in Operational RWAs - 8125
Endqu balanca £554.167 S5040, 7ED

RWas Rollforward Commentary

Year Ended December 2027, Standardized Credin RW As
as of December 2021 increased by 11492 hillion
compared with December 2020, primarily reflecting an
increase in commitments, guarantees and loans (principally
due o increased lending activity and revisions to certain
interpretations of the Capital Ruoles snderlying the WA
caleulation based on regularory feedback) and an increase
in derivatives {principally due to increased exposures and
the impact of SA-CCR adoption), Standardized Marker
RWAs as of December 2021 increased by $7.79 hillion
compared with December 2020, primarily reflecting an
increase in sieessed VaR (principally due 1o increased
CXPOSIEES [0 INICTesT rates).
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Advanced Credit RWAs as of December 2021 increased by
$25.7% ballion compared with December 2020, primarily
reflecting an increase in commitments, guoarantecs and
foans (principally due eo increased lending actviry). This
increase was partially offser by a decrease i equiry
investments {principally due 1o the sale of equiry positions).
Advanced Marker RWAs ax of December 2021 increased
by §7.7% billion compared with December 2020, primarily
reflecting am increase in stressed VaR (principally due o

mcreased

e mterest  rares).  Advanced

Operational RWAs as of December 2021 increased by
$4.60 billion compared with December 2020, primarily
associaned with lingation and regulatory procecdings.

Year Ended December 2020, Srandardized Credic RWAs
as of December 2020 decreased by 313,55 hallion compared
with December 2019, primarily reflecting a decrease in
equiry invesmments (principally due 1o the sale of certain
equiry positions) and a decrease in other {principally due ro
decreased receivables as a result of changes in risk
measuremenis). These diecreases were parnially offset by an
increase in securitics financing transactions (principally doe
to increased funding exposures). Standardized Marker
WA ax of December 2020 mereased by $4.14 billion
compared with December 2019, primarily reflecring an
inceease in regulazory Vall {principally due 1o increased
marker volaclicy) and an increase in incremental risk
{principally due w0 increased exposures in equities held for
marker-making purpeses). These increases were partially
offset by a decrease in specific risk {principally due 1o
chamges in risk measurements on certain exposures).

Advanced Credit RWAs as of December 2020 increased by
$51.63 billion compared with December 2019, primarily
reflecting an increswe in derivatives (principally due o the
impact of higher levels of volatility and counterparty credic
risk b and an increase in commitments, guarantees and loans
(principally due 1o increased lending  activiry). These
increases were parrially offser by a decrease in equity
invesmments {(principally due 1o the sale of cermain equiry
pasions). Advanced Marker RWAs as of December 2020
increased by 54,34 billion compared with December 2009,
primarily reflecting an  increase in regulatory Valk
(principally due to increased market volarlity) and an
increase in ineremental risk (principally due o inereasad
exposures in gquities held for marker-making purposes),
These increases were partially offser by a decrease in

specific

MCASUrCIMenT™

{principally due 1o changes in risk

certain exposures).  Advanced

Operanonal RWAs as of December 2020 increased by
$9.13 billion compared with Decernber 20009, The vast
majority of this increase was associated with litigation and
regularory proceedings,
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Bank Subsidiaries

G5 Bank USA, G5 Bank USA is the firm's primary U5,
bank subsidiary, G5 Bank USA is an FIMCAnsured, Mew
York Starecharered bank and a member of the Federal
Reserve Sysrem, is supervised and regulared by the FRE, the
FIMC, rthe Mew York Stae Deparmment of Financial
Services (NYDFS) and the Consumer Financial Prorecnion
Bureaw, and 1s subject to regulatory capital requirements
that are calculated under the Capital Framework, On
July 1, 2021, GS Bank USA acquired GSBE, a non-ULS.
banking subsidiary of the firm, which s also subject 1w
stamdalone regulatory capital requirements noted below,
GS Bank USA s an Advanced approach  banking
osganizaon under the Capiral Framework.

The Capital Framework includes the minimum risk-based
capital and rthe capiral conservaron boffer requirements
{consisting of 2 2.5% buffer and the countercyclical eapiral
buffer). The buffer musr consist ¢norely of capiral thar
qualifics as CET1 capiral. In addinon, the Capial

Framework mcludes the leverage rano requirement.

G5 Bank USA is required to cabculare the CET1 capiral,
Tier 1 capital and Total capaal ranos in accordance with
both the Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules. The
lower of each risk-based capital ratio under the
Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules i the ratio
against which GS Bank USA™ compliance with irs risk-
based capsral requirements is assessed, In addition, under
the regulatory framework for prompr correcrive action
applicable 1o G5 Bank USA, in order 10 mect the
quantitative  requirementss  for  a  “well-capitalized”
depository institution, G5 Bank USA must also meet the
“well-capitalized” requirements in the table below., G5
Bank UsA™ capital levels and prompt corrective action
classification are also subject o gualitative judgments by
the regulaton about components of capital, risk weightings
and other factors. Failure to comply with the capiral
requirements, including a breach of the buffers described
below, would result in reserictions being imposed by the
regularors.

The ;able below presenrs GS Bank USA™s risk-based capiral,
leverage and “well-capiralized ™ requirements.

woa "Hlﬂl-nﬂl-liud’
Risk-based capital requirements
CET1 eapital ratie T.0% 6.5%
Tier 1 capital ratio 8.5% 8.0%
Tatal capital rane 10.5% 10.0%
Leverage requirements
Tier 1 lvarage ratio 4.0% B.0%
SLR 3.0% 6.0%
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Ins the rable above:

* The CET1 capital ratio requirement inchedes a minimum
af 4.8%, the Tier 1 capital ratio requirement includes a
meinirmanm of 6.0% and the Tol capital rario requirement
inclodes a minimum of 8.0%, These requirements also
include the capital conservanon buffer requirements
comsisting of & 2.5% buffer and the counrercyclical capital
buffer, which the FRB has set towero percent.

The “well-capiralized” requiremenes are the binding
requirements for leverage raros.

The rable below presents informarion abour GS Bank USAS
risk-based capiral ranos.

5 0 milfces Standarchzed Adbeareassd
As of Decambar 2021

CET capital £ 425356 5 42536
Trar 1 capital $ 42535 5§ 42536
Tuar 2 capital & 6430 £ 4645
Tatal capital £ 48968 § 47081
AWAs 312,601 $222 607
CET cagutal ratio 13.6% 19.1%
Tier 1 capital o 13.6% 19.1%
Tatal cagutal o 16.7% 21.2%
As of December 2020

CET1 capital f3EE7 £ 34587
Trar 1 capital £ 34637 % 34687
Twar 2 capital T 6112 % 4953
Tatal capital § 40850  § 35650
RAWAs 28077 £173.442
CETT cagnal rave 123% 20.0%
Tior 1 capital rato 12.3% 0 0%
Tatal cagmal rava 14.6% 249%

Ini the cable above:

* Inaccordance with the reporting requirements for business
combinaions of ennitics under common comtrol, prior
period amounes are presented asif the acquisinon of GSEE
by €5 Bank USA had occurred ar the beginning of 2020.

» The lower of the Standardized or Advanced ratio s the rano
against which (5 Bank USA’s compliance with the capital
requirements is assessed under the nisk-based Capiral Rules,
and therefore, the Standardized ranos applied to GS Bank
LS4 s oof both December 2021 and Decermber 20240,

* As permitted by the FRB, G5 Bank USA elected 1o
remporarily delay the estimared effecrs of adopting CECL
an regulatory  capital annl January 2022 and 1o
subsmequently phase in the effecrs through January 2025,
In addirion, G5 Bank UsA elecred 1o increase regularory
capiral by 25% of the increase in the allowance for credic
losses since [anvary 1, 2000, as permimed by the roles
issued by the FRB. The impact of this increase will also be
phased in over the threesyear ransition period. Reflecting
the full impact of CECL as of both December 2021 and
December 20200 would nor have had a marerial impact on
G5 Bank USA’s standardived risk-based capiral rarios,
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= In comnection with the regulatory feedback the firm
received in the third quarter of 2021, G5 Bank USA
revised certmn anterpretations of the Capital Rules
underlying the calenlation of Sandardized RWAs As of
December 20241, this change would have increased G5
Bank USA's Standardized RWAs of 3281 billion by
approsimarcly $11 hillion, which would have reduced G5
Bank USA’s Ssandardized CET1 capital racio of 12.3% by
0.4 percentage points, Standardized Tier 1 capital ratio of
12.3% by 0.4 percenmage poanes and Standardieed Toral
capiral ratio of 14.6% by 0L6 perceniage points.

In December 2021, GS Bank USA adapted SA-CCR, which
resulted in an increase 1o G5 Bank USA™s Standardized
CET1 capital ratio by approximately 1.9 percentage poines
a5 of December 2021,

The Standardized risk-based capital rarios increased from
December 2020 ro December 2021, reflecting an increase
in capital due o capiral coneributions and ner carnings,
partially offser by an increase in barh Credie and Marker
RWAs, The increase in Standardized Credic RWAs
reflected am increase in commitments, guarantees and
loans {principally due to increased lending activity and
revisions oo certain interpretations of the Capital Rules
underlying the RWA calculation based on regulatory
fecdback described above), partially offser by a decrese
in derivatives (principally due 1o the impact of SA-CCR
adoprion described above). The increase in Standardized
Marker RWAs primarily reflecred an increase in seressed
Vak and regulatory VaR {in each case, principally due o
increased exposures to interest rares).

The Advanced risk-based capital ratos decreased from
Drecember 2020 1o December 2021, reflecting an increase
in both Credit and Market RWAs, partially offser by an
increase i capital due to capital contributions and net
carmings. The increase in Advanced Credit RWAs
reflecred am increase in commitments, guarantees and
leans (principally due to increased lending acrivity) and
the increase in Advanced Marker RWAs primarily
reflecred an increase in steessed VaR and regularory VaR,
{in cach case, principally due ro increased exposures 1o
inTerese ranes ).
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The table below presents information about GS Bank USA'
leverage ratios,

For tha Thess Monshs

Ended or as of December
F o modkgng Fuird ] Frbnin]
Tiar 1 capial § 42538 5 34687
Syarage adjrsted tolal assots £409,739 310830
Total leverage exposere SE2T. 799 $381.637
Tier 1 leverage ratio 10.4% 1n.2%
SLR Ga% 1%

I the rable above;

* In aceordance with the reporting  requirements  for
business combanations of entiies under common control,
prioe period amounts are presented as if the acquisition of
GSBE by G5 Bank USA had occarred ar the beginning of
2020,

Average adjusted roral assers repeesents the average daily
assers for the gquarter adjusted for deductions from Tier 1
capiral and the impace of CECL transition,

* Toal leverage exposure, for the three monrhs ended
December 2020, excleded average holdings of US.
Treasury securities and average deposits ar the Federal
Reserve as permitted by the FRB under a wemporary
amendment. The impact of chis temporary amendment
was an increase in G Bank USA™ SLR by approsimarely
24 percentage poants for the three months ended
December 2020, The amendment  permiming  this
exclusion expired on Apnl 1, 2021,

= Tigr 1 leverage ratio is caleulared as Tier 1 capital divided
by average adjusted roml assers,

« SLR is cabeulated as Tier 1 cpital divided by coral
leverage  exposure.  Adoprion  of 3A-CCR in
Diecember 2021 resulted in an inerease 1o G5 Bank USA’s
SLR by approximarely 0.2 percentage paints for the three
months ended December 2021,

The deposits of G5 Bank USA are insured by the FDIC 1o
the exvent provided by law. The FIUB requires thar G5 Bank
USA maintain cash reserves wirh the Federal Reserve. As of
baeh December 2021 and December 2020, the reserve
requirement rano was zero percent. The amount deposited
by G5 Bank USA ar the Federal Reserve was $122,01 billion
as of December 2021 and 332,71 hillion as  of
Drecember 2020,

G5 Bank USA is a registered swap dealer with the CFTC
and, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2021, also became a
registered security-based swap dealer with the SEC, As of
December 2021, GS Bank USA was subject 1o and in
compliance with applicable capiral requirements for swap
dealers and security-based swap dealers.

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 194
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GSEIB. GSIB is our UK. bank subsidiary regulated by the
Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and the Financial
Conduet Authority (FCA)L GSIB s subject 1o the LK,
capiral framework, which is largely based on Basel 111

The rable below presents GSIEs  risk-based  capiral
TEUITCIMEnTs.

&5 o Dacarnbar
20 Far]
Risk-bsed capital requirements
CETT capetal tatip a.5% 23
Toar 1 capisal rana 10.5% TN
Towd cagetal ratio 12.2% 12.9%:

The rable below presents information abour GHIESs risk-
hased capital ragios.

A ool Dacaenbar

§n rmifons 2021 2000
Risk-lbased capital and risk-weighted asseta

CETY capetal § 3408 £ 3,064
Tiar 1 capssal § 3408 5§ 305
Trasr 2 capaal ¥ E2é ¥ BT
Tos! cagamal 4334 § 3878
Bivas $17.186  S190.063
Risk-based capital ratios

CETT capaal tania 19.8% 15.8%
Toar 1 capatal rats 19.8% 15.8%
Total cageml rave 24.6% 20.1%

In the rable above, the risk-based capiral rados as of
[ecember 2021 reflected GSIBs profiss after foresceable
charges for the year ended December 2021 (which wall naot
be finalized until verification by GSIB's external auditors
and approval by GSIB's Board of Directors for inclusion in
risk-based  capital),  These  profis  comeriburned
approximarely 68 basis points 1o the CET1 capiral ranio,

The eligible retail deposits of GSIB are covered by the UK,
Financial Services Compensanion Scheme 1o the exren
provided by law. GSIB & subject o minmum reserve
requirements ar the Bank of England. The minimum reserve
reguirement was 3172 million as of December 2021 and
§126 million as of December 2020, The amount deposited
by GSIB ar the Bank of England was $2.20 billion as of
December 2021 and $9.82 billion as of December 2020,
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GSBE. GSBE s our German bank subsidiary supervised by
the European Central Bank, BaFin and  Deursche
Bandesbank, GSBE is subject o the capital requirements
preseribed in the amended EU, Capital Requirements
Dirccnve (CRDY) and E.UL Capiral Requiremenrs Regulanon
(CRR), which are largely based on Basel 111,

The rable below presenis GSBE's risk-based  capiral
FCqUITCmEnes,

Az of [recemiber

2021 2000
Risk-based capital requirernents
CET1 capital rato BT T0%
Tuar 1 capital ane 10.8% 5%
Tatal capntal o 12 5% 110 B0

The table below presents information about GSBE's risk-
based capital ratios,

A of Dacarrbas
$ i mikons 2021 200
Risk-based capital and risk-waigh
CET1 cagital £ 6527 5 38
Tiar 1 caprtal & 65X & A
Tear 2 capital 8 23 5 M
Tatal capal £ 6,550 £ 4015
AYVAs 28924  It1,834
Risk-based capital ratios
LCETT cagital ratio 22.6% 3%
Tiar 1 capital raho 22 8% 343%
Tatal capital o 22.6% 34 5%
Ini the cable above:

* The risk-based capiral ravios as of December 2021
reflected GSBE's profirs after forcsceable charges for the
vear ended Docember 2021 {which will nor be finalized
until verification by GSBE's external awditors and
approval by GSBE's sharcholder (GS Bank USA} for
inclusion in risk-based capieald. These profits contributed
approsamately 106 basis points to the CETT capiral ratio,

Risk-based capital ratios as of December 2021 reflected
the CRR and the CRD rules which implement changes in
the Basel standards with respect w counterparty credin
risk and Lirge exposure, These rules became effecrive in
June 2021, Adopron of these rules did nor resulr in a
marerial impacr to GYBE's risk-based capinal ravios as of
December 202 1.
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The table below presents GSBE's leverage ratio reguirement
which became effective in June 2021 and the leverage ratio,

As of Decssnbar 2021
Lewerage ratio nequinament 3.0%
Lewvesags ratio 7.6%

In the table above, the leverage ratio as of December 2021
reflected GSBE's profits after foreseeable charges for the
vear ended December 2021 (which will nor he finalized
unil verificarion by GSBE’s external auditors and approval
by GABE's sharcholder (05 Bank USA) for inclusion m risk-
based capiral). These profirs contribuered approximarcly
5% basis paints to the leverage ratio.

The deposirs of GSBE are covered by the German staturory
deposit protection program to the extent provided by law.
In addition, GSBE has elected to participate in the German
viduntary  deposit protection  program which  provides
insurance for certam eligible deposits nor covered by the
German smamrory deposit program, GSBE s subjecr 1o
minimem reserve requirements at central banks in cerrain
of the jurisdicrions in which it operares. The minimum
reserve requirement was $139 million as of December 2021
and %23 million as of December 2020. The amount
deposited by GSBE ar central banks was $20,36 billion as
of December 2021 and $3.17 billion as of December 2020,
substantially all of which was deposited with Deutsche
Bundeshank.

GSBE i a registered swap dealer with the CFTC and,
beginning in the fourth quarrer of 2021, also became o
registered security-based swap deater with the SEC, As of
Degember 2021, GSBE was subject 1o and in compliance
with applicable capiral requirements for swap dealers and
security-based swap dealers,
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Restrictions on Payments

Group Ine. may be limired in i ability o access caparal held
at certain subsidiaries as a resule of regularory, ax or other
constraints,  These  limitmnons  include  provisions  of
applicable law and regulations and other regularory
restricrions thar limir the ability of those subsidiarics o
declare and pay  dividends withowr prior regolarory
approval. For example, the amount of dividends thar may
be paid by G5 Bank USA are limited mo the lesser of the
amounts caloulared under a recent earnings test and an
undivided profies test. As a result of dividends paid in
connection with the acguisition of GSBE in July 2021, G5
Bank USA cannot corremtly  declare any  addiional
dividends warhowr prior regulatory approval.

In addirion, subsidiaries nor subject 1o separate regulatory
capital requirements may hold capital o sarisfy local ax
and legal guoidelines, raring agency  requirements  (for
enriries with assigned credic rarngs) or inrernal policies,
including policies concerning the minimum amount of
capital a subsidiary should hald based on ies underlying
level of risk.

Group  Inc's equiy  investment  in subsidianes  was
$118.90 billion as of December 2021 and $103.80 billion
as of December 2020, of which Group Inc. was required to
mamtain 37722 billion as of December 2021 and
6368 billion as of December 2020, of minimum equaty
capital in ies regulated subsidiarics in order 1o sansfy the
regularory requirements of such subsidiarnics.

Group Inc.’s capital invested in cermain non-UL5, dollar
funcrional currency subsidiaries 5 exposed to forcign
exchange risk, substanmally all of which 5 managed
through a combination of derivarives and non-LULS.
dollar-denominared debr. See Note 7 for information abour
the firm's net investment hedges used to hedge this nisk.

Galdrman Sachs 2027 Form 10 201
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Mote 21,
Earnings Per Common Share

Basic EP% is calculated by dividing ner eamings to common
by the weighted average number of common shares
ourstanding and restricred stock units (R5Us) for which the
delivery of the underlying common stock is nor subject o
sarsfaction of futore service, performance of  marker
conditions (collectively, basic shares). Dilured EPS includes
the determinants of hasic EPS and, in addition, reflects the
dilutive effect of the commaon stock deliverable for RSUs for
which the delivery of the underlying common stoeck s
subject to satisfaction of future service, performance or
market comditions,

The table below presents information abour basic and
diluted EPS,

YVoar Drded Dacienbar

o MLAONS, SXCapd Das S RE ENOLTE 2021 030 20ES
Net eamings to common £21,151 28015 frEGT
Weaghited avesage basic shares 35056 i56.4 me
Effect of ddutve RSLI_: 53 2:9 19
Weighted average diluted shares 365.8 360.3 3755
Basic EPS $ 608 f2494 E8
Diluted EPS % 5945 £24.74 £21.0%
I the table abowve:

Met camings o COIMMMM FOPLesents  met  carnings
applicable to common sharcholders, which is calculated
as met earnings less preferred stock dividends,

Unvested share-based awards that have non-forfeitable
rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are treated as a
separate ¢lass of securities under the two-class method,
Distrabuoted earmings allocared o these securities reduce
ner camings to common o caloulare EPS under this
method, The impace of applying this methodology was a
reduection in basic EPS of 30010 for 2021, and $0.07 for
both 20200and 201%,

Dilured EPS does not include anndilurive R5Us, including
those thar are subjecr o marker conditons, of 0.3 million
for 2021, and 0.1 mullion for boch 20200and 2014,

202 Geldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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Note 22,
Transactions with Affiliated Funds

The firm has formed nonconsolidated investment funds
with third=party investors. As the firm generally acts as the
investment manager for these funds, it is entitded to receive
management fees and, in certain cases, advisory fees or
incentive fees from these funds, Addisionally, the firm
invests alongside the third-parry investors in cerrain funds.

The ables below present informarion abowe affiliared
fusmls,

Yoar Encled Dacemiber
£ in mifons Fiord] X0 2018
Faes aarmed fram funds £3.707 £3,363 £2.967
#us ol Deosmber
& n miigns 2021 208
Faes recenabls from tunds $ B3 § 503
quam:urwmgmlu& of interasts m hunds 54 321 £6.068

The firm has waived, and may waive in the future, certain
management fees on sclected money marker funds 1o
enthance the yield for investors in such funds, Management
fees waived were 3395 million (of which 5365 million
relared po volunmary waivers on money marker funds) for
2021, 5109 mallicn for 2020 and $44 million for 2019,

The Wolcker Rule restrices the firm from providing financial
support o covered funds {as defined in the rule) afrer the
expiraion of the conformance period. As a general marter,
in the ordinary course of business, the firm does not expect
tin provide additional valuntary financial support to any
covered funds, bur may choose o do so with respect o
funds thar are not subject 1o the Volcker Rule. However,
any such support s nor expected o be marerial to the
resules of operations of the firm,

In March 2020, G5 Bank USA and unaffiliaved entities
purchased cerificares of deposiv and commercial paper
fram mwo money marker funds managed by the firm. These
funds are nor covered funds under the YVoleker Rule. G5
Bank USA's purchase price of these securities was
$1.84 hillion, of which none were ourstanding as of
December 2021 and $321 million were ourstanding as of
December 2020, These purchases were made to promote
liguidity in the short-term credit markets and roincrease the
funds’ weekly liquid assers, Group Inc. provided 2
guarantee oo OGS Bank USA i connecrion with these
securities. See Mot 18 for informartion about guarangees
provaded by Group Inc. ro subsidiaries,
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The firm had an cutstanding guarantee, as permitted under
the Volcker Rule, on behalf of its funds, of 327 million as of
December 2020, The firm had voluntarily provided this
guarantes in conngetion with a financing agreement with a
third-party lender execured by one of the firm’s real estare
funds that i= mot covered by the Violcker Rule. The firm had
ngr ourstanding guaranree as of December 2021 and except
as nated above, the firm has not provided any additional
financial suppore o s affiliated funds during 2021 and
20240,

[n addition, in the ordinary course of business, the firm may
also engage in other activities with its affiliared funds,
including, among  others, securities  lending,  trade
execution, market-making, custody, and acquisition and
bridge financing. See NMote 18 for mformation abaur the
firm’s investment commanments related w these funds.

Note 23.
Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest is recorded over the life of rhe insorument on an
accrual basis based on contracoual incerest rares,
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« Short= and long=term borrowings include both secured
anvd unsecured borrowings.

+ Other interest expense includes rebares received on other
interest-bearing  habilides and  interest  expense on
customer credie balances,

Mote 24,
Income Taxes

Provision for Income Taxes

Income taxes are provided for using the asser and liabiliny
method under which deferred tax assces and liabilinies are
recogmized for temporary differences berween the financial
reporting and ax bases of assers and liahilities. The firm
reports interest expense related o income tax matters in
provision for taxes and income tax penalties i other
CXPCnses,

The table below presents information about the provision
for taxes,

Wear Erudsd Drpcarrritsar

T b i i ; 3 1 milons 2031 2020 2018
The 1able below presents sources of inferest income and o
INTEFesT EXpense. 115, tederal 2304  317E8  $1113
State and locad 574 EES Ja=
et iy Yo T T
. currsnt tax sxpanss a Y
it e i it Duederred taxes
Deposits with banks & [ 5 M5 512N U5, Fedural 132 r: T |
Colataralred agreerments (580) 22 4,387 State and local 12 L feia]
Tradmg assels 4,716 B.210 5.8093 Mondd 5 [259] 7 B9
¥ aeoats o dEl 1 Total deferred tax benefn 6 Ba3 ___a@ad)
Othar intarast 1500 1,442 5,363 Provision for tanes $5400 %3010 w117
Total interest incoma 12,120 12669 a7z e
Deposts 1302 = SEE S BEE The table below presents a reconciliarion of the 1.5, federal
Colateralmed financings = B9 2,658 statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rare.
Trading habibines 1.662 1.238 1,213
Short-term borrowings 527 542 GEE
Long-term bomowirgs 3N 4,153 5,359 Vvt Endend Depienar
glhnr tErest [1.073) 0 2,910 2021 0 018
Total interest expense 5.650 B.A38 17376 115 Tederal Statutory meomes tx 18t 0% 10% 0%
Mot interest income SE64T0 % 4791 £ 362 Sinte and local taves, pet of LS, federal bara 5 F1 29
Sanisment of ermployes share-based pwnnds Iu.n 1 (E
i oL S, ol ateid 1.51 (2.4} (3.8
[n the rable above: ;“ ek jogl itz om
- : . . -SRI RGO, NG luckng dradkend 0.5, gl (1.
. !;_nllm::rl.-lh.md agrecments ingludes rebares paid and ;;"f'mﬂme i :ﬂmﬂi rsends { _!I 08 hi
interest income on securites borrowed. Other a4 0.3} 1.0
Effective mcome tax rate 00%  242% 200%

* Loans excludes interest on foans keld for sale thar are
accounred for ar the lower of cost or fair value. Swech
inrerest is incluoded within other interest.

* {Mher imeeresr imcome  incldes  inrerest  income  on
customer debir balances, other interest-earning assers and
loans held for sale thar are accounced for ar the lower of
cost or fair value.

« Collarcralized  financings  consists  of
agreements and securinies loaned.

repurchase

I the rable above, Non-ULS. operations include the impace
of the Base Erosion and An-Abuse Tax and Global
Intangible Low Tased Income (GEILTL).

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 203
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Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income raxes reflece the ner rax effecs of
temporary differences berween the financial reporting and
ik bases of assers amd labilines, These temporary
differences result in maxable or deducnble amounes in furure
vears and are measared using the tax rares and laws thar
will be in effect when such differences are expecred o
reverse. Valuation allowances are established o reduce
deferred tax assets to the amount that more likely than not
will be realized and primanly relate to the ability to unlize
lewses in various tax jurisdictions, Tax assets are included in
other assets and tax labilities are included in other
lsabsiliries,

The table below presenss information about deferred rax
assers and labilines, excluding the impact of nerting within
xjurisdictions.

A= of Decembar
3in mons 0 2030
Doferred Tax assats
Compensaton and benefits .97 §1.800
ASC 740 asset related to tmrecogmized tax banelits 287 200
Man-Ll.5, apontions BOE 73T
ket opernting lesses =331 510
Cecupancy-ralatod 181 128
Cither compeehansive incomafioss-related 583 262
Tax credits camplorward 43 =
Oparating lease labilites G4 518
Alldsinog lor cradd losias 1.081 1,054
Oithear, nat M 433
Subtotal 6316 5515
Valuation allowance [E95) 5511
Total deferred Lax assets £5.420  £4964
Daeferred tax liabilities
Deprecatson and amertizaton .85  $1153
Unrealzed gains 1114 1,120
Oparating lease nght-ofuse assets 585 581
Total deferred tax liahilities £2.924 32,854

204  Geddman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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The firm has recorded deferred rax assers of $681 million as
of December 2021 and 5510 million ax of December 2020,
in connecrion with L%, federal, stare and local and foreign
ner operating loss carryforwards. The firm also recorded o
valuation allowance of $285 million as of December 2021
and 579 million as of December 20240, related oo these net
operating loss carryforwards.

As of December 2021, the LU, federal ner operanng loss
carryforward was $1.16 billion, the stare and loacal ner
operating loss carryforward was $1.80 billion, and the
foreign ner operanng loss carryforward was $1.31 billion,
If not whlized, the ULS. federal, the state and local, and
foreign net operating loss carryforwards will begin 1o
eapire i 2022, If these carryforwards expire, they will nor
have a material impacr on the firm’s resulis of operations,
As of December 2021, the firm has recorded deferred rax
assers of 532 million in connecrion with general bosiness
credir carryforwards and $11 million in connection with
state and local mx credic carrvtforwards. If noe utilized, the
general business credie carryforward wall begin to expire in
2022 and the stare and local mx credic carryforward will
begin to expire in 2023, As of December 2021, the firm did
not have any foreign tax credie carey forwards,

As of both December 2021 and December 2020, the firm
had no ULS, capital foss carrviorwards and no related ner
deferred income tax assers. As of December 2021, the firm
had deferred rax assers of 3270 mullion in connecrion with
forcign  capiral loss  carryforwards and o valuanon
allowance of $270 million related o these capiral loss
carryforwards,

The valuarion allowance increased by 5344 million during
2021 and increased by %84 million during 2020, The
increases in both 2021 and 2020 were primarnly due toan
increase in deferred rax assets from which the firm does not
expect to realize any benefit,

The firm permanently reinvested eligible carnings of certain
foreign subsidiaries. As of both December 2021 and
December 2020, all U8, taxes were accrued on these
subsidiaries” distributable earnings,
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Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The firm recognizes s posinons in the consolidated
financial statements only when it is more likely than naor
thar the position will be sustained on examination by the
refevant raxing authority based on the rechnical merits of
the posidon. A posinon thar meers this standard s
measured ar the largest amount of benefir thar will more
likely than not be realized on sertlement. A liability is
established for differences berween positions taken ina rax
remurn and  amounts  recognized mo the  consolidared
financial statements,

The sccrued lability for interess expense relared o income
tax matters and income tax penalties was $131 million as of
December 2021 and $129 million as of December 2020,
The firm recognized interest expense and income rax
penalties of 513 million for 2021, 341 million for 2020 and
8610 million for 201% Ir is reasonably possible thar
unrecognized mx benefits could change significantdy during
the mwelve months subsequent o December 2021 due w
potential audic settlements. However, ar this time it is not
paossible to estimate any potential change.

The rable below presents the changes i the liabilicy for
unrecognized tax benefis, which is included i other
liabilities.

faaer Enchindl &6 a5 of Dacarnbae

& n milang 2021 frnia 2018
Begirreng balanoe $1.261 31445 31061
Irctansas batad on curent Wall T pasibons 297 164 13t
Increases based on pho yeas' ax postions 95 08 441
Dlecraases baned on prof years’ s postons  (111) {205 (5}
Cacrpasas relaed 1o serfemants 120} 2EN [z&
Escharge rale fluctuanons (8 8 1
Ending balanes $1.446 31351  §1445
Faslimied chefinrrasc] i i Lio: ARaal 287 200 ]
Net unrscognired 1ax bensdit 41,958 510680 81,766
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Regulatory Tax Examinations

The firm is subject to examination by the US. Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) and other maxing anthorities in
jurisdicrions  where the firm  has significant  bosingss
operations, such as the Unired Kingdom, Japan, Hong
Kong and various stares, such as Mew York. The tax years
under examination vary by jurisdicrion. The firm does nor
expect completion of these audits to have a material impact
om the finm™s financial condition, but it may be material o
operating results for a particular period, depending, in part,
o the operating resalts for that period,

The mble below presents the carliest tax years that remain
subject to examinarion by major jurisdiction.

Asal
Jurisdiction Dacambar 2021
LLE. Fadens! 201
Meew Yook State and City 2018
Ulnitesed Kingchm 207
apan 2016
Heng Rong 5

The firm has been accepred inco the Compliance Assurance
Process program by the IRS for cach of the rax years from
2013 through 2022, This program allows the firm o work
with the IRS to identify and resolve potential US, Federal
tax issues before the filing of tax returns, The fieldwork for
tax vears 2001 through 2018 has been completed and the
final resolution is not expected to have a material impact on
the effecnive tax rate. The 2009 and 2020 mx years remain
subject o post-filing review, New York Stare and Ciry
examinarions of 2015 through 2018 commenced during
021,

All years, including and subsequent o the years in the rable
above, remain open o examination by the axing
authorities. The firm believes that the liakbalicy for
unrecognized tax benefirs it has established is adequare in
relation to the potential for additional assessments,

Galdman Sachs 2027 Form 10 206
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Mote 25,
Business Segments

The firm reports its activities in four business segmenes:
Investment Banking, Global Markets, Asset Management
and Comsurmer & Wealth Managemenr, See Note 1 for
informanion about the firm's business segments,

Compensation and benefirs expenses in the firm's segments
reflect, QTGN other factors, the overall pul'fuflll;lm‘c of the
firm, as well as the performance of individual businesses,
Cansequently, pre-tax margins in one segment of the firm's
business may be significantly affected by the performance
of the firm's other business scgments.

The firm allocares assers (including allocarions of global
core liquid assers and cash, secured client financing and
other asseis), revenues and expenses among the four
business sepments. Due to the integraced matore of these
segments, estintares and judgments are made in allocaring
certain assets, revenues and  expenses. The allocarion
process 5 Dased on the manner in which management
currently views the performance of the segments,

The allocation of commaon shareholders” equity  and
preferred stock dividends o cach segment is based on the
estimmated  amount of equity required 1o support the
activities of the segment under relevant regularory capiral
requirements,

Met earnings for cach segmene is caleulated by applying the
firmwide rax rare 1o each segment’s pre-tax earnings.

Mamagement believes thar this allocation  provides a
reasonable representation of cach segment’s contriburion 1o
consolidared ner earnings o comman, return on average
common cquity and ol assers. Transacnions berween
segmients are based on speafic criteria or approximare
third-party rates,

206 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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Segment Results
The table below prevents a summary of the firm's segment
results,

Waar Eracled Ccsinvitss
£ in milVons 20 vl 008
Investrment Banking
Men-mterest revenues $14426 £ H158 8§ 7074
et mtenest meome 451 266 520
Tatal et revenisns 14,876 9423 15399
Provesson for credit losses {2548) 1,624 333
Oparating axponses 6,705 8,134 4,6495
Pre-tax sarnmgs $ RAFE £ 1656 & 7EE1
Nat samings $E6TE £ 1262 § 2065
et samings 1o comman $BT6 £1719% § 1995
FNATAgE COMITN g =ty $10,341 511,313 $11,167
Ratsn on dverage comiman aquity  G64.8% 10.5% 17.59%
Global Marke1s
Nen-ntorest revenues $19.309 813908 813108
Net interast meame 2,768 2288 1,670
Total et revenees 22,077 AT 14,779
Presssson for credit losses 45 204 35
Dpenting soponses 12,969 12,806 10851
Pree-tax sarmmgs $ 9068 §S07F & 5893
Net samings 67280 56127 £ 3114
Wit aadnings 1o semman $E6973 £5756 & 2729
Saarage common oguty £4E 497 A0 TE0 40080
Ratusm on Bwerage Comiman eguity 16.3% 14.1% GE%
Asset Management
Mon-mteoest rEveng s 514 366 £ T3 £ BASL
Nat interast meams 550 241 511
Total not revenisas 14,916 Foad B955
Prowesson for credit losses 18 add 2
Operating expenses 5,970 5,147 4817
Pre-tax marnngs §89 £ 2400 § 33N
Net samings $LM2 51819 § 30899
et paemings to commaon 7046 51,740 § 3093
Ayardge comimon equly £26,195 £20.497 £31.576
Ratuem on awerage comman equity  28.0% BE% 14.0%
Consumer & Wealth Management
Hen-nitecast revenues 4769 § 3930 § 3542
MWet mtemst ncome 270 2006 1661
Tatal et reverises 7.470 5,906 5208
Proweseon Eor credit losses 532 158 a3
Operating expanses 6,294 4,501 4,545
Pro-tac; marnengs % B84 £ 337 0§ I3
Het samings $§ 467 £ I56 § 188
W samings 1o comman £ &7 £ N6 % 154
Auarage common equaty S10.786 £ 5012 § 6292
Ratwem on AVErage comman eguity 40% i 25%
Total
Nen-miterast revenues $52.869 £33809 &327184
e migangat iInComs B470 4,781 4 352
Tatal ret rvenuas 53,339 44,560 36,545
Proverison for cridit lossas %7 3,008 1,085
Oparating expenass 31,938 28983 24,893
Protax sarnangs 27044 512479 EN05E3
Net aadnings 2168 § 9459 § BJ&6
Net samirgs to common £21,151 £ 295 £ 7837
Anarage commaen equEty W1 880576 §Th0ad
Hatum on average comman squity 23.0% 11.1% 100%
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In the table above:

» Revenues and expenses directly associated with each
segment are included in determining pre-rax carmings.

» Mer revenues i the firm's segments mclude allocarions of
interest income and expense o specific positions in
relation to the cash generared by, or funding requirements
of, such positions, Met interest is includied in segment net
FEVENEES a5 i i% consistent with how management assesses
segment performance.

Total operating expenses incleded net provisions for
lingation and regulatory proceedings of §534 million for
2021, 5342 ballion for 2020 and $1.24 killion for 2019,
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Segment Assets
The table below presents assers by segment.

Ax of Dacamibar
& in nElbons i | 020
Inveestment Banking £ 144157 £ 116242
Global Markets 1.082.378 g, GOE
Aszot Managament 21,116 oE 7e1
Consumer & Weatth Management 146,338 106,429
Total £1.462.988 £1.163.008

The table below presents gross loans by segment and loan
tvpe, and allowance for loan losses by segment.

primarily reflecred in Investment Banking and Global A of Db
Markers. % in milliona 201 200
L ; Investrment Banking
« Owgrhead expenses mot directly allocable o specific Corparate $ 30421 3 ITESG
segments are allocared ratably based an direct segment Loans, gross 20,421 77866
U Allowance for laan losses [BEE) 328
CHPLNSES,
Loans 9 555 26,544
. Hﬂ.:cliw’.- Januarey 1, 2}?1.!, the allu-.'-._nium of m:r-’h-.lrtf.i P
cquiry among the finm's segments was updared o reflecr paisme, 18578 12248
the resuls of the firm's 2020 Comprehensive Capiral Resal astaza 34,986 16815
Analysis and Review process. The average commoen Orher 1438 3,439
I : S P s 2 g T Laars, gross 61,402 33,862
cquity bnl.ml_:n ah-:n:t ICOrporate :@:h impact, as well as it i428) ladn
the changes in the siee and composition of assets held in Cotris B85 CERIF
cach of the firm's segments thar occurred during 2021,
Sec Note 20 for information about the firm's updared ~ Asset Management S
iy b et i Okerober 1. 2021 Coparate EA28 G4b
SCB, which became effective an Ocrober 1, , Flanlassdia G810 9176
The table bel depreciation and amortizati Shher £ 378
e table below presents depreciation and amortization Loans, proes 15430 TTa4E
ﬂhp-!.!ll'-!-\l.'h‘}' segnent. Aflowance for loan losses (732} {7871
Loans 13,698 16,558
Yot Ended Ducembee Contumer & Waalth Management
&0 mibons 2021 20 2018 Wealth manageman ﬂ&ﬁ 333%%
investment Banking $ 16 3§ 174 % 138 inatwkmant :
Glabal Markets 2 611 G Cmdtonds = et
Asnat Managemen 675 740 61& Loans, gross 55,842 41,116
Consurmes & Wealth Managoerment w3 77 301 Allowwancs for loan losses (1489 137
Taotal 2,015 £1.907 £1,704 Laans B4 393 5739
Tatal
Loans, gross 162,136 119,389
Allevance for loan losses (3573} (3,874

Loans

$ 1685682 I 115115

See Mote @ for further informarion aboue loans.

Galdrman Sachs 2007 Form 10 207
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Geographic Information

Due 1o the highly integrared narore of international
financial markets, the firm manages its busanesses based on
the profitability of the enrerprise as a whole, The
methodology  for allocating profirabiliny s geographic
regions 15 dependent on estmates and  management
judgment because a significant pomtion of the firm's
activities regquire cross-border coordinanom i order o
facilitate the needs of the firm's clients. Geographic resuls
are generally allocared as follows:

Investrment Banking: location of the client and invesiment
banking team.

Gilobal  Markers: FICC and  Equities  intermediaon:
locanon of the marker-making desk; FICC and Equines
financing {excluding prime brokerage financing): location
of the desk; prime brokerage financing: location of the
primary rarket for the undedying security,

= Asser Management (excluding Equity inwvestments aml
Lending and debt investmentsh: location of the sales team;
Equity investments: location of the investment; Lending
and debe investments: locarion of the client.

Consumer & Wealth Management: Wealth management:
locarion of the sales teamy; Consumer banking: locarion of
the clienr,

The rable below presents roml ner revenues, pre-tax
earnings and ner earnings by geographic region.

£ in milfiohs 2021 200 200y
Year Encled Decomber

Asmiencas 537379 &3% 327508 62% £22148 BOW
EMEA 14272 4% 10882 24% 9745 ITW%
Asa THBE  13% 6184 4% 4653 13%
Tatal nel revenues $59,339 100% Td4E60 100 E36 546 00%
Arrmncas $17.476 8% £ omg e b EGEY  EFW
EMEA ToE 8% S04t 28w 3340 32
Doz 2,506 8% 1y 3% 11 6%
Total pro-tax samings §27,044 100% 312475 100% $00.880 100
Ammancas $13.927 65% 5 Tass 7om § 5514 BAW
EMEA SE88 % 2080 I LE00 3R
Asin 2013 &% o {1k 3/ dw

Total net eamings $21,625 100% § 9455 100% $ 54866 100%

I the table abowve:

* Asia pre-tax carnings and ner carnings for 2020 and 2019
were impacted by ner provisions for litiganon and
regulatory proceedings,

* Substannally all of the amoons in Amercas were
artriburable to the U5,

» Asta includes Australia and New Zealand.

208 Goldman Sachs 2021 Form 10-E
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MNote 26.
Credit Concentrations

The firm's concentrations of credic risk arise from i
market making, client facilitation, investing, underwriting,
lending and  collateralized  tramsactions, and  cash
management activities, and may be impacted by changes in
economig, industry or polincal facrors, These acivinies
expose the firm ro many  differenr  indusiries  and
connterparties, and may alse subjecr the firm w a
concentrarion of credie risk w0 a particular central bank,
counterparty, borrower or  ssuer, incloding  sovercign
issuers, or toa parmicular clearng house or exchange. The
firm secks to mitgare credic risk by actively monitoring
exposures and obtaiing collateral from counterpartics ax
decmed appropriate,

The firm measures and monitors its credit exposure based
o amounts owed ro the fiem after taking into ageount risk
mirigants thar the fiem considers when determining credir
risk. Such risk miriganes inclode nerming and collareral
arrangements and  cconomic  hedges, such as eredir
derivarives, fumres and forward contracts. MNerring and
callareral agreements permir the firm o offser receivables
and payables with such counterparties andfor enable the
firm to abtain collateral on an upfront or contingent basis,

The table below presens the credie concentrations included
in trading cash imstrumens and 1nvesoments,

Az o Dacarmber
£ in mions paiid | )
U5 government and agency obligations £141,19 TIET.000
Pescantage of wotal assets 9.6% 16.1%
Hendl 5. goramment dnd agency oblgations § 61,428 £ BOsE0
Percantage of 1otal assets 3.5% 5.1%

In addition, the bhrm had 522220 billion as of
December 2021 and 511663 billion as of December 2020
of cash deposits held ar central banks (included in cash and
cash  equivalenss), of which $122.01 bilion as of
December 2021 and $32.71 billion as of December 2020
was held at the Federal Reserve,

As of both December 2021 and December 2020, the firm
did not have credit exposure to any other counterparty thar
exceoded 2% of ol assers,
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Collateral chiained by the finm related to derivanve assets is
principally cash and is held by the firm or a third-party
custodian, Collateral obrained by the firm related o resale
agreements  and  securinics  borrowed  transactions s
primarily LS. government and agency obliganons and
non-LL%. government and agency obligations, $ce Nore 11
for furcher informarion abowr collateralized agreements and
financings.

The mble below presents US. government and agency
abligaons  and  mon-LLS.  government and  agency
obliganens  thar  collateralize  resale  agreements and
securitics borrowed ransacnons,

As o Db
£ maliong 2021 2020
US, goyemmient and agency chlgations S BE274 TEQ 1ER

Manll & gevemment and agency cblipanens  $141,688  £63.001

[n thie table above:

« Non-US, government and agency obligarions primarily
consists of seourities issued by the governments of the
LLK., France and Japan.

« Given thar the firm's primary ceedit exposure on such
rransacrions is o the counterparty o the ransaction, the
firm would be exposed o the collareral issuer only in the
event of counterparty defanlt.

Note 27,
Legal Proceedings

The firm is involved in a number of judicial, regularory and
arhitration proceedings (including those described below)
Congerning matters arising in connection with the conduct
of the firm's businesses. Many of these proceedings are in
carly stages, and many of these cases seck an indeterminane
amount of damages,

Under ASC 450, an evenr is “reasonably possible™ if “the
chance of the furure event or events occurring is more than
rertwote bt less than likely™ and anevent is “remore” if “the
chance of the fumre event or cvents ogcurring is slighn.”
Thus, references o the upper end of the range of reasonably
possible loss for cases in which the firm is able o esimarc a
range of reasonably possible loss mean the upper end of the
range of loss for cases for which the firm believes the risk of
lexss is more than slight,
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With respect to matters described below  for which
management has been able o estimare a2 range of
reasonably possible loss where (i) actual or potential
plainffs have claimed an amount of money . damages,
{11} the firm is being, or threarened 1o be, sued by purchasers
in a seeurities offering and 15 not being indemnificd by a
party thar the firm believes will pay the full amount of any
judgmient, or {(in} the purchasers are demanding that the
firm repurchase securities, management has estimated the
upper end of the range of reasonably possible loss based on
(a}in the case of (i), the amount of money damages claimed,
(b} in the case of (i), the difference between the initial sales
price of the securities that the fiem sald in such offering and
the estimared lowest subsequent price of such securities
prior to the acrion being commenced and (c) in the case of
(i1}, the price thar purchasers paid for the securiries less the
estimared value, if any, as of December 2021 of the relevane
securities, in cach of cases (i), (i) and (i), taking into
account any other factors believed o be relevant to the
particular matter or marters of thar type. As of the dare
hereof, the firm has estimated the upper end of the range of
reasomably possible aggregare loss for such marrers and for
any other marers described below wheee managemenr has
been able o esomare a range of reasonably possible
aggregare loss to be approsamarcly 52,00 billion in excess of
the ageregate reserves for such mateers.

Management 15 generally unable to esomare a range of
reasomably possible loss for matters other than rhose
included in the estimate above, including where (i) acroal or
potential plaintiffs have not claimed an amount of money
damages, except in those instances where management can
otherwise determing an appropriate amounr, (1) maners
are in early smages, (i} marers relate o regularory
investigations or reviews, cxcept in those instances where
management can  otherwise derermine an approprian
amaount, (iv) there is uncerraingy as o the likelihood of a
class being cerrified or the ultimare size of the class, (v) there
is uncertainty as to the outcome of pending appeals or
motions, (vi) there are sigmificant factual issues to be
resolved, andfor (vii) there are novel legal issues presented,
For example, the finm's potential labilities with respect to
the investgations and  reviews  deswribed  below  in
“Regulatory  Investiganons and  Reviews and  Relared
Lingarion™ gencrally are nor included in managemenr’s
estimate of  reasonably  possible  loss. However,
management does not believe, based on currentdy available
informatiom, that the outcomes of such other marters will
have a matenial adverse effect on the firm’s financial
condition, though the outcomes could be material 1o the
firm’s operating  results for any  parmicelar  peried,
depending, in parr, wpon the operaning reswlis for such
period.
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TMDE-Related Matters

Berween 2012 and 2013, subsidiaries of the firm acred as
arrangers of purchasers of approximately 56,5 billion of
debr securinies of 1MDE,

On Movember 1, 2018, the U5, Department of Justice
(DO unsealed a criminal iformaron and guilty plea by
Tim Leissner, a former participaning managing direcror of
the firm, and an indicomenr against Ng Chong Hwa, a
former managing dirccror of the firm. On Auguse 28, 2018,
Leissmer was adjudicared guiley by the ULS. Disericr Courr
for the Eastern Dhstrice of Mew York of conspiring o
launder money and w violare the LLS, Foreign Corrupt
Pracoces Act's (FCIPA) anti=bribery and intermal accounting
controls provisions, Ng was charged with conspiring 1o
launder money and to violate the FCPA'S anti-bribery and
imternal accounting controls provisions, On May &, 2019,
Ng pleaded nor guilty o the DOJs criminal charges, and
rrial commenced on February 7, 2022,

On Augose 18, 20240, the firm announced thar it enrered
it g sertdement agreement with the Governmenr of
Malaysia ro resolve the criminal and regularory proceedings
m Malaysia mvelving the firm, which includes a guarantee
that the Government of Malaysia receives ar least
§1.4 billion in assets and proceeds from assets seized by
gpovernmental authorities around the world related o
IMDE, See Mot 18 for further informarion abaur this
guarantee.

O Otober 22, 20240, the firm announced that it reached
settlements of governmeneal and regularory investigations
refaring o IMDE with the [0, the SEC, the FRE, the
NYDHS, the FCA, the PRA, rhe Singapore Arorncy
General's Chambers, the Singapore Commercial Affairs
Deparement, the Monetary Authority of Singapore and the
Heng Kong Securities and Furures Commission. Groop Inc,
entered inmo a threesyear deferred prosecotion agreement
with the DO, in which a charge against the firm, one count
of conspiracy to vinlate the FCPA, was filed and wall later
be dismissed if the firm abides by the erms of the
agreement, In addirion, G5 Malaysia pleaded guiley ro one
count of conspiracy 1o violare the FCPA, and was sentenced
on June 9, 2021, In May 2021, rhe U5, Deparment of
Labor granted the firm a five-year exempoion g0 maimraimn
s stamus as a qualified profesional asser manager

{QPAM).
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The firm has received multple demands, beginning in
November 2018, from  alleged  sharcholders  under
Section 220 of the Delaware General Corporation Law for
books and records relaring ro, among other things, the
firm's involvement with 1IMIMS and the firm's compliance
procedures. On December 13, 2019, an alleged shareholder
filed a lawsuir in the Court of Chancery of the Srate of
Delaware secking books and records relating o, among
other things, the firm's involvement wich 1MDE and the
firm's compliance procedures. The lawsuit was dismissed
without prejudice om August 4, 2021,

On February 19, 2009, a purported sharcholder derivanive
action relating mo IMDB was filed in the ULS, District Court
for the Southern Districe of New York aganst Group Tne,
and the directors ar the rime and a former chairman and
chict executive officer of the firm. The second amended
complaing filed on November 13, 2020, alleges breaches of
fiduciary duries, including in connection with alleged
insider trading by certain current and former directors,
umjust  enrichment and  violatons  of the  anti-fraud
provisions of the Exchange Act, including in connection
with Group Ines common  stock  repurchases  and
solicition of proxies, and secks unspecified damages,
disgorgement and injuncrive relief, Defendants moved 1o
dismiss  this acmon on  Janvary 15, 2021, On
February 3, 2022, the parties reached a sertdement in
principle, subject vo fimal documentarion and courr
approval, to resolve this acoon,

Begimning i March 2019, the frm has also received
demands from three sharchalders mo investigate and pursue
claims against certain current and former directors and
executive officers based on their oversight and  public
disclosures regarding 1MDB and related internal controls,
Inn June 2009, the Board appointed a Special Committee to
consider the demands and, in January 2021, the Board
vored 1o reject them, In June 2021, the firm reached 2
sertlement wirth the three sharcholders. Following the
Board's decision 1o rejecr the ininal three demands, the firm
received rwo additional demands from: alleged sharcholders
fome of which is the alleged sharcholder that filed the
December 2009 books and records action in Delaware
Chancery Court) toinvestigate and pursoe claims related to
IMIE (and, for one of the demands, other marers) againsy
other parties, including cermin currenr and former direcrors
and executive officers of the firm, In December 2021, the
Board voted to reject the two additional demands.
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On December 240, 2018, a purative securities class action
lawesuir was filed in the ULS, Districe Court for the Southern
District of Mew York against Group Inc, and certun former
officers of the firm alleging violations of the anti-frand
provistons of the Exchange Acr with respect 1o Group Inc.s
disclosures and public starements concerning 1MDEB and
secking unspectfied damages. The plainnifes filed the second
amended complaine on October 28, 20019, On
Jume 28, 2021, the court dismissed the claims against one of
the individual defendanss but denied the  defendanes®
motion to dismiss with respect to the firm and the
remaining individual defendanes, On November 12, 2021,
the plamniffs moved for class certi fication,

Mortgage-Related Matters

Beginming in April 2000, a number of purported securities
law class actions were filed in the LS, District Court for the
Southern Diserict of New York challenging the adequacy of
Ciroup Inc.s public disclosure of, among other rhings, the
firm's actvities in the collareralized debr obliganion marker,
and the firm's conflict of interest management.

The consolidated amended complaine filed on July 25, 2011,
which named as defendants Group Inc. and certain current
and former officers and employes of Group Inc. and s
affiliares, generally alleges violations of Sections 10{b) and
200a) of the Exchange Act and secks monetary damages, The
defendams have moved for summary  jedgmens, On
April 7, 2024, the Second Cirenit Courr of Appeals affirmed
the district courr’s  Augusr 14, 2008 pramt of class
centification. On June 21, 2021, the Unired Seates Supreme
Court vacated the judgment of the Second Circuit and
remanded the case for further proceedings, and on
Auguse 26, 2021, the Second Circuit vacared the district
court’s grant of class certification and remanded the case for
further proceedings, On Decermber 8, 2021, the district court
granted the platffs” monon for class cemfication, On
December 22, 2021, defendanes filed a perinion with the
Secomd Circuit secking inteslocurary review of rhe district
courr's grant of class cermificarion.

Complaints were filed in the U5, Distrricr Cournr for the
Southern Districe of Mew York on July 25, 2009 and
Mlay 2%, 2020 against Goldman Sachs Morrgage Company
and G5 Morgage Securines Corp. by US. Bank MNanonal
Association, as trostee for two residential mormgage-backed
securitization trusts thar issued $1.7 billion of securities,
The complaines generally allege that morgage loans in the
trusts failed to conform o applicable representations and
warranties and seck specific performance or, aliermanively,
compensatory  damages and  other  relief On
MNovemnber 23, 20240, the conrt granred in part and denied in
part defendants’ maortion to dismiss the complaine in the firse
action and denied  defendans” monon o disniss the
complaint in the second action. On January 14, 2021,
amended complaints were filed in both actions,
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Currencies-Related Litigation

G5 Co. and Group Inc, are among the defendants named
in an action filed i the ULS, District Court for the Southern
District of Mew York on November 7, 2018, and GSI,
GG, Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited and G5 Bank
USA ane among the defendanes in an acrion filed in the High
Court of England and Wales on Movember 11, 2020, in
each case by certain direct purchasers of foreign exchange
instruments that opted ot of a class sertlement reached
with, amang athers, GS8:Co. and Group Inc. The third
amended complaint i the ULS. district court action, filed on
Avgust 3, 2020, gencrally alleges that che defendants
vielated federal anmeruse law and stare common law
conneerion with an alleged conspiracy to manipulare the
foreign cureency exchange markers and secks declararory
and imuncrive refief, as well as unspecificd amounts of
compensatory, punitive, meble and other damages. The
claim in the English action is for breaches of English and
EL. comperition rules from 2003 to 2013 and alleges
manipulation of foreign exchange rares and  bidioffer
spreads,  the  exchange  of  commercially  sensinve
informarion among defendants and collusive reading,

GSECo, s among the defendants named in a putative class
action filed in the U5, District Court for the Southern
Districr of New York on August 4, 2021, The amended
complaing, filed on Janwary 6, 2022, generally asserrs
claims under federal antitrust law and scare common law in
connection with an  alleged  conspiracy  among  the
defendants o manipulate avctions for foreign exchange
transactions on an electronic rading platform, as well as
claims wnder the Rackereer Influenced and Corrupr
Organizations Act, The complaine secks declaratory and
injuncrive relief, as well as unspecified amounts of rehle
and other damages,

Galdrman Sachs 2027 Form 10 211

554/597

ooOooood



THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Banco Espirito Santo 5.A. and Oak Finance

Beginning in Febroary 2015, G5 commenced actions
against MNova Banco 5.A. {Movo Bancol i the English
Commercial Court and the Bank of Porrugal (BalP) in
Pormuguese  Adminiserative Courr in response to Bol's
decisions  in December 2004, Scprember 2005 and
December 2013 w0 reverse an earlier mansfer o Nove
Banco of an $835 million facility agreement (the Facilityl,
structured by G5, between Oak Finance Luxembourg S.A,
{Chak Fimance), a specal purpose vehicle formed
connection with the Faclity, and Banco Espirito Santo S.A,
{BES) prior to the failure of BES, In July 2018, the English
Supreme Court found that the English courts did nor ver
have jurisdicrion over GSIs action, In July 2018, the
Liquedarion Commirtee for BES issued a decision secking ro
chiw back from G5l 554 million paid o G50 and
550 million paid o Oak Finance in connection with the
Facility, alleging that G acted in bad faith in extending the
Facility, including becavse GS1 allegedly knew thar BES was
at risk of imminent failore. In Oceober 2018, G5
commenced an acoon o Lishon  Commercial  Coure
challenging the Liquidarion Comminmee’s decision and has
since also issued a clhim against the Pormguese Sare
secking compensation  for  losses of  approsimarcly
£222 million related o the failure of BES, together with a
contingent claim for the $104 million sought by the
Liguidation Committee.

Financial Advisory Services

Group Inc. and certain of its affiliates are from time o Gme
parties  to varous ¢l lingation and  arbitration
procecdings and  other disputes with cliens and  third
parties. relaring o the firm’s financial advisory activinies,
These claims  generally seck, among other  things,
compensatory  damages and, im0 some  cases, punirive
damages, and in cerrain cases allege thar the firm did not
appropriately disclose or deal with conflices of interest.
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Archegos-Related Matters

G5B Co. is among the underwriters named as defendants in a
putanve securities class action filed on Auguse 13, 2021 an
New York Supreme Courr, County of MNew York, relating ro
VincomUBS Incs {(VizeomCBS) March 2021 public offerings
of $1.7 hillion of commen stock and §1.0 billion of preferred
stock. In addivion o the underwriters, the defendanes indude
ViacomCRS and certain of its officers and directors. GR8Co.
umlerwrote 646,154 shares of commuon stock representing an
aggregate offering price of approximarely $35 million and
323,077 shares of preferred stock representing an aggregate
offering price of approsimately %32 million, The complaint
wsserts claims under the federal securinies laws and alleges thar
the offering documents conrined marerl misstatements and
omissions, including, among other rhings, thar the offering
documents  failed o disclose  thar  Archegos  Capiral
Managemenr  {Archegos) had  substantial - exposure o
ViacomCRS, mdwding through total return swaps to which
certain of the underwriters, mcluding GS8Co., were allegedly
counterpartics, and thar such underwriters failed w dischose
their exposure to Archegos, The complint secks rscission
and compensatory  damages in unspecificd  amouns, On
MNovember 5, 2021, the pluntffs filed an amended complain,
and, on December 22, 2021, the defendanes filed motons 1o
disriss the amended complaine. On Janeary 4, 2022, the
plaineiffs moved for class certification.

Carosup Ine, is also a defendant in puranive securines chass actions
filed beginning in October 2021 in the 1.8, District Court for
the Southern Districe of Mew York, The complams allege thar
Caroup Ing., along with another francial instineson, sold shares
in Vipshop Holdings Lol (Vipshop), GSX Techedu Ine,
(Covotu), Tencenr Music Emtertainment Group {Temcent),
ViacomCRS, QN1 Inc. QDY) and Baidu Inc. (Bagdu) based on
materal nonpublic mformanon regarding the bguidanon of
Archeges" position in Vipshop, Gaon, Tencenr, VizcomCEBS,
IQTYT and Baidw, respectivdy, The complaints generally assert
violations of Sections 10(k), 204 and 206a) of the Fxchange Act
andd seek umspecified damagys,

Ch January 24, 2022, the firm received 2 demand from an
alleged shareholder under Secrion 220 of the Delaware
Cremeral Corporation Law for books and records relating ra,
amaorg other things, the firm's mvolvemnent with Archegos
and the firm’s conrrols with respect o insider rrading,
Underwriting Litigation

Firm affiliates are among rthe defendanss in a number of
proceedings in connection with securinies offerings. In rhese
proceedings, inclading rhose described below, the plainriffs
assent <lass action or individoal claims under federal and
state securities laws and in some cases other applicable
lawes, allege thae the offering documents for the securities
thar they purchased conmined marerial misstatemens: and
canissions, and generally seek compensitory and rescissory
damages i unspecificd amoums, as well as rescission,
Cerrain of these proceedings involve addinenal allegarions.
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Altice USA, Inc. GS&ECo. is among the underwriters
named as defendanes in pumtive securities class acrions
pendimg in New York Supreme Court, County of Queens,
and the LL5. Diserict Court for the Eastern Disteier of Mew
York beginning in June 2008, relaring to Alvice USA, Inc.'s
{Alrice) $2.15 billion June 2017 initial public offering. In
addinion to the underwrirers, the defendants include Alnce
and  certain of its officers and  directors.  GS3&Co.
underwrote 12,280,042 shares  of common  stock
representing an aggregare offering price of approximarely
8368 million. Om June 26, 2020, the coort dismissed the
amended complaine in the state court action, and on
Seprember 4, 2020, plainnffs moved for leave o file a
consolidared amended complaim. Plaintfis in the diserice
court acion filed a2 second amended  complaine on
Ocrober 7, 2020, On November 8, 2021, the searte court
preliminarily approved a sentlement. The firm will not be
required to contribute to the settlement,

Uber Technologies, Inc. G53%Co. s among the
underwriters named as defendants in several putative
securities class actions filed beginning in September 20019 in
California Superior Court, County of San Francisco and the
ULS, District Court for the Northern District of California,
refaning to Uber Technologies, Ines (Uberp 351 billion
May 201% ininial public oftering. In addivion ro the
underwriters, the defendanes include Uber and cerrain of its
officers and directors, Ch8eCo, underwrone
35864408 shares of common steck representing an
aggregate offering price of approximately $1.6 billion. On
Movernber 16, 2020, the court in the stare court action
gramed defendants” motion to dismiss the consolidared
amended complaint filed on Febroary 11, 2020, and on
December 16, 2020,  plaintifls  appealed.  On
Angust 7, 2020, defendans” motion 1o dismiss the disericr
court action was denied. On Seprember 25, 20040, the
plaintiffs in the districr courr action moved for class
certification. On December 5, 2020, the plaintffs in the
state court action filed a complaing in the diserice court,
which was consolidated with the existing district court
action on January 25, 2021, On May 14, 2021, the
plannffs filed a second amended complaine in the districe
court, purporting o add the plaineffs from the stare court
action as  addivonal  class  represenranives,. O
Ocrober 1, 2021, defendamis’ maotion 1o dismiss the
addirional class representanves from the second amended
complaint was denied, and, on October 29, 2021, the
plaintffs in the disirice court action filed a revised motion
for class cernfication,
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Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. G5&Co. 15 among the
underwriters named as defendants in a putative securitics
class action filed on Seprember 12, 2019 in Mew York
supreme Courr, County of New York, relating o Alnylam
Pharmaceunicals, Incs  {Alnylam) %805 million
Movemnber 2017 public offering of common stock. In
addinon o rthe wnderwriters, the defendanss include
Alnylam and certain of its officers and directors. GA&Co,
underwrote 2,576,000 shares  of common  stock
representing an aggregate offening price of approxmarcly
$322 million. On October 30, 2020, the court denied the
defendants” motion to dismiss the amended complaine filed
on Navember 7, 2009, On February 22, 202 1, the plaintifis
moved for class cerificarion. On April 29, 2021, the
Appellare Bivision of the Supreme Court of the Smare of
Mew York for the First Deparmmenr denied defendanes’
appeal of the Mew York Supreme Court's dental of the
defendants” motion to dismiss the amended complaing,
except with respect o one of the plainaffs” chims against
Alnylam’s officers and directors, On December 3, 2021, the
court preliminarily approved o sentlement. The fiem will nor
be required ro coneribue to the serdement.

Venator Materials PLC. Gi38:Co, s among  the
underwriters named as defendants in putanve securiies
class acrions in Texas Disrrict Courr, Dallas Counry, Mew
York Supreme Courr, New York County, and rhe US.
District Court for the Scathern Districe of Texas, filed
beginning in February 2019, relating to Venator Marterials
PLC™s (Venator) $522 million Augast 2007 initial public
offering and %334 million December 2007 secondary equity
offering, In addirion o the underwriters, the defendanms
include Venaror, certain of its officers and dieecrors and
cerrain of its sharcholders, GS&Co, underwrane 6,351,347
shares of commaon stock in the Augost 2007 inirial public
offering  representing an aggregare  offering price of
approximarely 5127 million and 5,625,768 shares of
common stock in the December 2007 secondary equiry
offering  representing an  aggregate offering  price of
approximately $127 million, On January 21, 2020, the
Texas Court of Appeals reversed the Texas District Coure
and  dismissed  the  claims against  the  underwriter
defendants, including GS8&Co., in the Texas stare court
acrion for lack  of  personal  jurisdicoon,  On
March 22, 2021, the defendants” monon o dismiss the
Mew York stare court action was granted and the plainnfis
have filed a notice of appeal. On July 7, 2021, the court in
the federal action granted in part and denied in part
defendants” motion to dismiss the consolidared complaing,
O Augzust 16, 2021, the plainnffs in the federal action filed
an amended  consolidared  complaing,  On
Movemnber 1%, 2021, the plainriffs in the purative class
action moved for class ceroficanion,
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XP Ing, GS&Co. s among the underwrirers named as
defendants in putative securities class actions pending in
Mew York Supreme Court, County of New York, and the
L5, Disteicr Courr for the Eastern Diserict of York, filed
beginning March 19, 2020, relaring 1o XP Inc.s (XP)
$2.3 billion December 2019 initial public offering. In
addition o the underwriters, the defendanss include XP,
certain of its officers and direcrors and cermain of s
sharcholders, GS58Co, underwrote 19,326,218 shares of
common stock in the December 2019 initial public offering
representing an aggregate offering price of approximately
$322 million. On August 5, 2020, defendants’ motion
sty the state court action in faver of the federal court
action was denicd. On February &, 2021, the smare coure
gramed the defendants’ motion o dismiss the smre courr
action, and on March 7, 2021, the disericr conrr granted the
defendants’ motion to dismiss the federal courr acrion. On
Movember 22, 2021, the Second Circuit affirmed the
district court's order granting the defendants’ motion 1o
dismiss,

GoHealth, Inc. G58:Co, is among the underwriters named
as defendants in putarive securities class actions filed
beginning on September 21, 2020 and consolidated i the
U5, Diserice Court for the Morthern Districe of Wlinois
relaning 1o GoHealth, Inc's (GoHealeh) 3914 million
July 2020 inirial public offering. In addidon w the
underwriters, the defendanes include GoHealth, certain of
irts officers and directors and certain of irs sharcholders.
GS&Co. underwrote 11,540,550 shares of comman stock
representing an aggregare offering price of approximarely
$242 million, On February 23, 2021, the plainnifs filed a
consolidared complaine, On April 26, 2021, the defendans
filed a marian o dismiss the consolidared complainr.

Array Technologies, Ine. Gs&Co, s among  the
unckerwriters named as defendants in a putative securities
chass action filed om May 14, 2021 inehe U5, Districy Court
for the Southern Districr of New York, relaving 1o Arcay
Technologies, Inc’s (Array) $1.2 billion Ocrober 2020
imirial public offeing of common seock, $1.3 billion
[ecember 2020 offering of common  steck  and
$993 million March 2021 offering of common stock. In
addition to the underwriters, the defendants include Array
and  certain of it officers and  directors.  GR8Co,
underwroge an aggregate of 31,912,213 shares of commen
stock in the three offerings representing an aggregare
offering price of approximarcly 5877 million.  On
December 7, 2021, rhe plaintffs filed an amended
consolidated complaine,
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Skillz Inc., G5&Co. % among the wnderwriters named as
defendants in a putative securities <lass action filed on
Ocrober 8, 2021 in the U5, District Court for the Northern
Distrier of California relatng o Skille Inets  (Skille)
approsimarely 3883 million March 2021 public offering of
commeny stock. In addinon to the underwriters, the
defendanes include Skillz and cerrain of s officers and
directors.  GS&Co.  underwrore 8,832,000 shares of
common steck representing an aggregate offering price of
apprecamately $212 million. On December 23, 2021, the
defendants filed a motion o dismiss the amended
consolidared complaine,

ContextLogic Inc. G58:Co, s among the underwriters
named as defendanss in putanve securities class actions filed
beginming on May 17, 2021 i the VLS, Distrect Court for
the Morthern  Dismicr of  California,  relating 1o
Contextlogic  Incs  (ContextLogic) 511 billion
December 20200 ininal public offering of commaon stock. In
addition w the wnderwriters, the defendans include
ContextLogic and certam of its officers and  directors.
GS& Co. underwrote 16,169,000 shares of common stock
representing an aggregate offering price of approsimarely
LIRE mallion,

DiDi Global Inc. Goldman Sachs {Asia) LL.C. (03 Asia) is
among the underwriters named as defendanm in putative
seeurities class actions filed beginning on July 6, 2021 m the
LL5. Disersct Cowrts bor the Southern Districr of New York
and rthe Cenreal Districe of California refaring to Dili
Global Inc’s (Diln) $4.4 billion June 2021 ininal public
offering of American Depositary Shares { ADS) In addirion
tor the underwriters, the defendants include DN and
cerrain of its officers and directors, G5 Asia underwrote
104,554, (M ADS representing an aggregate offering price
of approximately $1.5 billion, On September 22, 2021,
planntifts in the California action voluntarily dismissed their
claims without prejudice, On January 7, 2022, plainnffs in
the federal action filed a consolidared amended complaing,
which includes allegarions of violarions of Secrions 10(b)
and 204 of the Exchange Acr against the underwriter
defendants,

Virgom Inc. GS80Co. is among the underwriters named as
defendants i a putanve seourities class acoion filed an
Cicraber 4, 2021 in the LLS. District Courr for the Southern
District of New York relating to Veoom Inc's (Veoom)
approsimately 5559 million  Seprember 2020 public
effering of commaon stock. In additron we the underwreiters,
the defendants include Vreoom and cerrmn of its officers and
direcrors, GS&Co. underwrore 3,886,319 shares of
commaon stock representing an aggregare offering price of
approximately 5212 million. On December 20, 2021, the
defendants served a motion to dismiss the consolidated
complaine,
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Zymergen Inc. GS&Co, is among the wnderwriters named
as defendants in a purative secorities class action filed on
Avgust 4, 2021 in the US, Districe Court for the Northern
[iserict of California relaring o Zymergen Ines (Zymergen)
$575 million April 2021 inal public offering of commen
stock. In addition ro the underwriters, the defendans include
Zymergen and cerrain of irs officers and direcrors. GS8:Co.
underwroge 5,730,345 shares of commaon stock representing
an aggregate offering price of approximarely $1 78 million.

Waterdrop Ing. G5 Asia is amaong the underwriters named
as defendanrs in a putarive securites class acnon filed on
September 14, 2021 in the US. District Court for the
Southern District of New York relating co Warerdrop Inc.'s
{Waterdrop) 3360 million May 2021 initial public offering
of ADS. In addition ta the underwriters, the defendanes
include Warerdrop and cerrain of its officers and directors,
G5 Asia onderwrore 15,300,000 ADS representing an
aggregate offering price of approximarely $184 million.

Investment Management Services

Croup Ing. and cerrain of is affiliates are parties to various
aivil livigarion and arbirration  procecdings and  other
dispures with clienes relanng ro losses allegedly sustamed as
a result of the firm's investment management services.
These claims generally seck, among other things, restitution
or other compensatory  damages and, in sone cases,
panitive damages.

Securities Lending Antitrust Litigation

Ciroup [ne, and GSECo, are among the defendants mamed in
a putative anntrust class action and three individual acoions
relaring o securities lending pracrices filed in the LS, District
Coure for the Southern Districr of Mew York beginning m
Avgust 2017, The complaints generally asserr cdlaims under
federal and state antitrust law and scate common law in
comnection with an alleged conspiracy among the defendanes
to preclode the development of dectronic pladforms for
securities lending transactions. The individual complaines
also assert claims for tortious meerference with business
relations and wnder stare teade practices law and, i the
second and thied individual acvions, unjust enrichimenr under
state common law. The complaines seck declararary and
imjuncrive  relicf, as well as  unspecified amouns  of
compensatory, reble, pumove and other damages. Group
Inc. was volunrarily dismissed from the putanive class action
on January 26, 20018, Defendans’ motion to dismiss the class
action complaint was demied on September 27, 2018,
Drefendants” motion to dismiss the firse individual acrion was
gromted on August 7, 2009, The plainnffs in che puranive
clws  action  moved  for  class  cernficanon  on
February 22, 2021, On Seprember 30, 2021, the defendanes’
mstioan o dismiss the second and third individual acnions,
which were consolidated i June 2019, was granted. On
October 25, 2021, the plaintff in the second individual
action appealed ro the Second Cireuit Court of Appeals,
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Variable Rate Demand Obligations Antitrust
Litigation

G55 Co, s among the defendants named in a putarive class
acrion relanng o varable rare demand  obligations
(VRDOs), filed beginning in February 2019 under separare
complaings and consolidared in the ULS. Disericr Courr for
the Southern Districe of MNew York, The consolidated
amended complaime, filed on May 31, 2019, generally
asserts clains under federal antitrost law and stare commaon
law in connection with an alleged conspiracy among the
defendants to mampulate the marker for VRDOs, The
complaing secks declaratory and injuncrive relief, as well as
l.marll:r.'iﬁtd amounts of COMPLAsAtony, treble and other
damages. On November 2, 2020, the court granred in par
and denied in parr the defendanis’ monon 1o dismiss,
dismissing the stare common law claims against G558 Co.,
bur denying dismissal of the federal annicrose law claims,

GS&Co. s also among the defendans named in 2 related
putative class acnon filed on June 2, 2021 in che U5
District Court For the Southern Districe of Mew York. The
complaint alleges the same conspiracy in the market for
VRDOk as thar alleged in the consolidated amended
complaine filed on May 31, 2009, and asserts federal
anntrust law, state faw and state common law claims
against the defendants. The complaine secks declararory
and injuncrive relief, as well as unspecificd amounts of
compensatory,  treble and  other  damages.  On
August &, 2021, plaintiffs in the May 31, 2019 action filed
an amended complaint consalidating the June 2, 2021
action with  the May 31, 2009  action. On
Seprember 14, 2021, defendanes filed a josne partial motion
to dismiss the August 6, 2021 amended consolidared
complaine.
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Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation

Group Inc., G38&Co., G5, G5 Bank USA and Goldman
Sachs Financial Markets, L.P. are among the defendonms
named in a purative antirrost ¢lass acnon relating o the
rrading of interest rare swaps, filed in November 2005 and
consolidated in the US. Districr Courr for the Southern
[strict of New York. The same Goldman Sachs enrities are
also among the defendants named in twvo antirust actions
refating to the rrading of interest rate swaps, commenced in
April 2016 and June 2018, respectively, in the ULS, Diserice
Coort for the Southern District of Mew York by three
operators of swap execution facilities amd certain of their
affiliaves. These actions have been consolidated for pretrial
procecdings. The complaines generally asserr claims under
federal anrirrust law and stare common law in connecrion
with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants
preclude exchange wmading of inrerest rare swaps. The
complaints in the individual actions also assert claims under
state anfitrust law, The complaines seck declaratory and
imjunceive relief, as well as meble damages in an unspecified
amaount, Defendanes moved eo dismiss the class and ehe Ffirse
individwal action and the district coure dismissed the st
common law claims asserred by the plainnfis in the fiese
individual acrion and ocherwise limired the srate common
law <laim in the putative class action and the antimruse
claims in both actions to the period from 2013 o 2006, On
Muovember 240, 2018, the court granted m part and denied in
part the defendants’ motion to dismiss the second
individual acrion, dismissing the state commuon law claims
for unjust enrichment and tomious ineerference,  but
denving dismissal of rhe federal and stare anrireust claims,
Omn March 13, 2019, rthe courr denied the plainnffs’ morion
in the putarive class action to amend their complaine vo add
allegarions relared v conducr from 2008 w 2012, bur
granted the monon w add limited allegations from 2013 o
2016, which the plainiffs added in a fourth consalidated
amended complaint filed on March 22, 2009, The plaintiffs
in the putarive class action moved for class cerrification on
March 7, 2019,

Commodities-Related Litigation

GAI s among the defendants named in putnive class actons
relaring ro rrading in plarnam and palladiom, fled beginning
on November 25, 20014 and most recentdy amended on
May 15, 2017, in the U5, Disrricy Court for the Southern
[hserict of Mew York, The amended complaime generally
alleges that the defendants violated federal antitrust laws and
the Commusdity Fxchange Act in connection with an alleged
conspiracy to manipulate a besschmark for physical platinum
and palladiom prices and seck declararory and injuncrive
relich, as well as rreble damages in an unspecified amoun, On
March 28, 2020, the court granted the defendants” mations
o dismiss and for recomsideration, resulring in the dismissal
of all claims. On April 27, 2020, plaintiffs appealed to the
Second Circuit Courtof Appeals.

216  Geldman Sacha 2021 Form 10-E

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

GS&Co., G5, . Arom & Company and  Metro
International Trade Services  (Metro), a  previously
consolidared subsidiary of Group Ine, thar was sold in the
fourth quarter of 2004, are among the defendanes in a
number of pumnve class and individual acrions filed
beginning on Angust 1, 2013 and consolidared in the LS.
Diistrect Coure for the Southern Districe of Mew York. The
complaines generally allege violations of federal antiorust
laws and srare laws in connection with the storage of
aluminum and aluminum trading. The complaints seck
declaratory, injunctive and other equitable relief, as well as
unspecified monetary damages, including reble damages,
In December 20016, the district court granted defendants”
motions w0 dismiss and on Augose 27, 2009, the Second
Crreuir vacared the districr coure's dismissals and remanded
the case o districe courr for further procecdings. On
July 23, 2020, the districe courr denied the class plainnffs”
modion for class certification, and on December 16, 2020
the Second Circuit denied leave to appeal the denial, On
February 17, 2021, the district court granted defendants’
modion for surmmary judgment with respece fo the claims of
most of the individoal planifs, On Apreil 14, 2021, the
plainnfis appealed ro the Second Circuir Courrof Appeals.

In connection with the sale of Merro, the firm agreed 1o
provide indemninies to the buyer, including for any
porenrial liabilines for legal or regularory  proceedings
arising out of the conduct of Mera's business while the
firm owned it

LS. Treasury Securities Litigation

Cas8cCo is among the primary dealers named as defendants
in several putative class actions relating to the market for LS,
Treasury securities, filed beginning i July 2005 and
consolidated in the U5, Districe Court for the Southern
District of New York, G38&Co. is also among the primary
dealers named as defendants in a smilar individual action
filed i the U5, District Court for the Southern Districy of
MNew York on Augnsr 25, 2017, The consolidared chiss
acrian complaing filed on December 29, 2017, generally
alleges  thar the defendanes viclared  andrrust laws
connecoion with an alleged conspiracy o mampulare the
whensissned marker and avctions for LLS, Treasury securinies
and that certain defendanes, including G38cCo., colluded to
preclude rading of .S, Treasury securities on electronic
trading platforms in order o impede comperinon in the
bidding process. The individual action alleges a similar
conspiracy  regarding  manipulanon of the when-issued
market and avcrions, as well as rebared funures and oprions in
violation of the Commaodity Exchange Acr. The complaints
seck declararory and injunctive relief, meble damages in an
unspeaified amount and restitution, Defendants” motion to
dismiss was granted on March 31, 2021, On May 14, 2021,
plasnnffs filed an amended complaine. On June 14, 2021,
defendants filed a motion 1o dismiss the amended complaine.
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Corporate Bonds Antitrust Litigation

Group Inc. and G58Co. are among the dealers named as
defendants in a putative ¢lass action relating to the
seconcary marker for odd-lor corporare bonds, filed on
April 21, 2020 in the US. Diserice Courr for the Southern
Ihsericy of New York., The amended consolidared
complaint, filed on Ocrober 29, 2020, asserrs claims under
federal antiorust law in connection with alleged ant-
competitive conduct by the defendants in the secondary
market for odd-loss of corporate bonds, and secks
declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as unspecified
monetary damages, including treble and punitive damages
and restitution. On Ocrober 25, 2021, the court granted
defendanes” moron o dismiss with  prejudice. On
MNovember 23, 2021, plainnffs appealed w the Second
Circuir Court of Appeals.

Credit Default Swap Antitrust Litigation

Ciroup Inc., GS&Co. and Gl are amaong rthe defendans
named in @ putative antitrust class action relating o the
sertlement of credit default swaps, filed on June 30, 2021 in
the LLS. District Court for the District of New Mexico, The
complaine generally asserts claims under federal antitrose
lawe and the Commaditg Exchange Act in connection with
an alleged conspiracy among the defendants ro manipulare
the benchmark price wsed 1o value credic default swaps for
serrlement. The complaine also asserrs a claim for unjose
enrichment under state common law, The complaime secks
declaratory and imunctve relief, as well as unspecified
amounts  of  meble  and  other  damages,  On
Movermnber 13, 2021, the defendants filed a motion w
dismiss the complaine, On Febroary 4, 2022, the plainnfis
filgd an amended complaine,

Employment-Related Matters

On September 13, 2000, a putative class action was filed in
the 1.5, Dhstrice Court for the Southern District of New
York by three female former emplovees, The complaine, as
subsequently  amended, alleges thar Group Ine. and
Ci550Co. have systemarically discriminared apainst female
employees in respecr of compensation, promotion and
performance evaluanons. The complaint alleges 2 class
consisting of all female employees employed ar specified
levels in specified areas by Group e, and GS8&Co, since
July 2002, amd asserts claims under federal and Mew York
Ciry discriminarion laws. The complaing secks class action
stams, injungrive relief and  wnspecificd amounts  of
compensatory, punitve and other damages.
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O March 30, 2018, the district court certified a damages
class as to the plainaffs® disparare impact and treatment
claime, On Seprember 4, 2018, the Second Circuir Court of
Appeals denied  defendants” petinon for  interlocurory
review of the disteicr court’s ¢lass cernificanon decrsion and
subsequently denied defendants” petition for rehearing. On
Seprember 27, 2018, plamnifs advised the district coury
that they would not seek to certifv a class for injunctive and
declaratory relief. Om March 26, 20240, the Magistrate
Judge i the district count granted in part 2 moton to
compel arbitration as o class members who are parties to
certain agreements with Group Inc, andfor G5&Co, in

which

they  agreed to arbiteate  employment-relared

dispures, On April 16, 2020, plainnfis submired objecrions
o the Magistrare Judge’s order and defendanes submirred
canditional objecions in the evenr rthar rhe disericr judge
overtumed any porton of the Magistrare Judge's order. On
July 22, 2021, defendants filed a motion o decertify the
class, Om August 9, 2021, plansffs filed a motion for
partial summary judgment as to a portion of a disparare
impact claim, and defendans filed a motion for summary
judgment as o plunffs disparare impagr and reamens
claims, O Seprember 13, 2021, the diserice courr affirmed
the decision of the Magistrare Judge o compel arbireamon,

Communications Recordkeeping Investigation and

Rewview

The firm 15 cooperanng with the SEC and producing
documents in connection with an investigation of the firm's
compliance with records preservation requirements relating
tr business communications sent over electronic messaging
channels thar have not been approved by the firm, The SEC
has staved thar it is conducring similar invesnganions of
record preservation practices at other financial instirarions,

Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related

Litigation

Ciroarp Inc. and certain of its affiliates ane subject vo 2 number
of other investigarions and reviews by, and in some cases
have received subpoenas and requests for documenrs and
informartion from, varous governmental and regulatory
bodies and selt-regulatory organmanons and hingaton and
sharcholder requests relatng to vanous matrers relaring to
the firm's businesses and Gperations, inclading:

Conflicts of interese;

The sccuriies  offering  process and  underwriting

investment  management  and  financial
advisory services;

Research pracrices, including research independence and
interacrions berween rescarch analvsts and other firm
personnel, including mvestment banking personnel, as
well as third parties;
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» Transactions involving government-related  financings
and other mateers, municipal securities, inclading wall-
eross procedures and conflice of interest disclosure with
respect 1o state and municipal clignts, the trading and
structuring  of  municipal  derivanve  instruments  in
comnecrion  with  municipal  offerings.  poliical
contribution roles, municipal advisory services and the
possible impact of credic defaule swap transactions on
mumicapal ssuwers;

Consumer  lending, as well as residential maorrgage
lending, servicing and securinzarion, and compliance
with related consumer kaws;

The offering, avcron, sales, rrading and clearance of
corporate and  government  scouritics,  currencies,
commadities and other financial products and related
sabes and other communications and activities, as well as
the firm's supervision and controls celating o such
activities, ingluding compliance with applicable shore sale
rules, algorithmic, high-frequency  and  quannitartive
rrading. the firm's US. alternanve rrading system {dark
pool}, fumres rrading, optons wrading, when-issaed
trading, mansacoon repornng, rechnology systems and
controls, commumications recordkeeping and recording,
securities lending pracrices, prime brokerage activities,
trading and clearance of eredit derivarive imstruments and
interest rate swaps, commodities activiries and metals
starage, privare placement pracrices, allocanions of and
rrading in  securitics, and rrading  acoviges  and
commumnicarions in conmecton with the establishment of
benchmark rares, such as currency rates;

* Compliance wirh the FCPA;
* The firm's hiring and compensarion pracrices;
* The firm’s system of risk management and conrrols; and

» Insider mrading, the potential miswse and disseminarion of
material nonpublic information regarding corporate and
governmental developments and the effectiveness of the
firm's insider trading controls and informarion barriers,

The firm is cooperating with all such governmental and
regulatory investigations and reviews,
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Mote 28,
Employee Benefit Plans

The firm sponsors various pension plans and certain other
postretirement benefit plans, primarnly healtheare and life
insurance. The firm also provides certain benefits to former
of inactive employess prior to retirement.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Postretirement
Plans

Employees of cerrain non-LLS, subsidiaries parncipate in
various defined benefir pension plans, These plans generally
provide benefits based on years of credited service and a
percentage of cligible compensation. The firm maincains a
defined benefit pension plan for cereain UK. employecs, As
of April 2008, the UK. defined benefit plan was closed o
new participants and frozen for existing participanes as of
March 31, 2016, The non-U.%, plans do nor have a material
impact on the firms consalidared resulis of aperarni ons.

The firm also mamtains a defined benefit pension plan for
substantially  all WS, employees  hired  prior 1o
November 1, 20003, As of Movember 2004, this plan was
closed o new paricipants and  frozen  for  existing
parncipants, In addition, the firm mainins anfunded
postrerirement benefir plans thar provide medical and lite
insurance for eligible retirees and their dependents covered
under these programs. These plans do not have a material
impact on the firm's consolidared results of operations.

The firm recognizes the funded starus of irs defined benefir
pension and  postredrement  plans, measured as the
difference between the fair value of the plan assers and the
benchit obligation, in the consalidated balance shects, As of
December 2021, other assers included 3411 million {relared
ter overfunded pension plans) and other liabiliries included
426 million relared ro these plans. As of December 2020,
other assers included $343 million (relared o overfunded
pension plans) and other habilities ncluded 3478 million
related ro these plans,

Defined Contribution Plang

The firm conmibutes o employersponsored U5, and
nom-1L5.  defined contribution  plans. The firm's
contribution to these plans was 3274 million for 2021,
$261 million for 2020 and 3254 million for 2009,
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Note 29,
Employee Incentive Plans

The cost of employee services received in exchange for a
share-based award 15 generally measured based on the
grant-dare fair value of the award, Share-based awards that
do not require future service {ie., vested awards, including
awards gramed 1o retirement-gligible  employess) are
expensed immediarely, Share-based awards thar require
future service are amortized over the relevant service
period. Forteitures are recorded when they occur,

Cash dividend equivalents paid on R5Us are generally
charged o retained camings. If R3Us thar require futre
service are forfeited, the related dividend equivalents
originally charged to retained earmings are reclassified o
compensation expense in the period in which forfeitore
OIS,

The firm generally issuwes new shares of common stock upon
delivery of share-based awards, In certain cases, primarnly
refated o comflicted employment (a5 outlined in the
applicable award agreements), the firm may cash sertle
share-based compensation awards accounted for as equity
instrommenes, For these awards, whose terms allow for cash
sertlement, additional paid-in capital is adjusred o the
extent of the difference berween the value of the award ar
the time of cash serdlement and the grant-date value of the
awarid.

Stock Incentive Plan

The firm sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restared Stock Incentive Plan (2021)
{2021 8IP), which provides for grants of RSUs, restricted
stock, dividend equivalent rights, mcennve stock oprions,
nongualified stock oprions, stock appreciarion righrs, and
other share-hased awards, each of which may be subject 1o
terms and condirions, including performance or marker
condinons, Cn April 29, 2021, sharcholders approved the
2021 511 The 2021 5IP is a successor to several predecessor
stock incentive plans, the first of which was adopred on
April 30, 1999, and each of which was approved by the
firm’s sharcholders,

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

As of Diecember 2021, £9.8 million shares were available to
be delivered pursmant to awards granted under the 2021
SIP. 1F any shares of common stock underlving awards
granted under the 2021 SIP or awards granted under the
2018, 2015 or 20013 predecessor stock incentive plans are
notr delivered becanse such awards are forfeired, rerminared
or canceled, or if shares of common stock underlying such
awards are surrendered or withheld o sansfy any
chligation of the grantee {including taxes), those shares will
become available to be delivered pursuane o awards
granted under the 2021 5IP. Shares available to be delivered
under the 2021 SIP also are subject o adjpstment for
Cermaim events of changes in corparate strugture as provided
under the 2021 511, The 2021 SIP is scheduled to terminate
om the dare of the annual meeting of sharcholders thar
ocours in 2025,

Restricted Stock Units

The firm grants R3Us finchuding RSUs  subject 1o
performance ar marker conditions) to employees, which are
generally valued based on the closing price of the
underlying shares on the date of grant afeer taking into
account a liguidity discount for any applicable post-vesting
and delivery transfer restrictions, The value of equity
awards also considers the impact of material non-public
informarion, ifany, thar the firm expecs o make available
shortly following grane, R5Us generally vest and underlying
shares of common stock  deliver {ner of reguired
withhelding tax) as outined in the applicable award
agreements. Award  apreements  generally  provide  thar
vesting is accelerated in certain circomstances, such as on
retirement, death, disabiliey and, in certain cases, conflicred
emploviment, Delivery of the underlying shares of common
stock is condinoned on rthe gramtees sanisfying cerrain
vesting and other requirements ourlined in rthe award
agreements, RSUs nor subject o performance condinions
generally vest and deliver over a three-year period.

R5U% thar are subject to performance or marker condinions
generally deliver after the end of a three ro five year period.
For awards that are subject to performance or market
corrditions, generally the final award is adjusted from zero
up to 130% of the original grant based on satisfaction of
those conditions, Dividend equivalents that accrue on rhese
awards are paid when the awards sertle.
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The table below presents the 2021 activity refaned o stock
settled RSUs,

Wasgraed Average
Grant-Clate Far abus of
Raessncyed Sicck Festncted Suock
Urats Chatstarding Urts Cutstaeding
Pt e Future Future (o Futuee
Sarvios Serdate Soroon Seshvice
Hayured Aoguared  Aegured Proquired

15223219 $3207.23 0341
6053314 827657 SI5693

Beginnng balance 3,991,548
Granted 3,838,363

Foreited (567.318) (328,076} 523137 £220.26
Dalvered - 81440800 5 - §20258
Vieated 13,219,319) 3219319 $235.48 £226.48

Ending balance 4,043,074 15,933,696 525509 §228.14

In the table above:

* The weighted overage gramt-dare fair value of RS0k
graneed was 326457 during 2021, 322045 during 2020
and $177.42 during 2019, The fair value of the RSLs
granted included a liquidity discount of 100.2% during
2021, 10,1% during 2020 and 10.5% during 2019, o
reflect postsvesting and  delivery  transfer restrictions,
generally of up 1o 4 years,

The aggregare fair value of awards rhat vested was
$2.64 billion during 2021, $2.01 billion during 2020 and
£2.00 billion during 2009,

The ending balance included restricsed stock subject 1o
future service requirements of 47,719 shares as of
December 2021 and 72,369 shares as of December 2020,

The ending balance included RSUs subject to future
service  requirements  and  performance or  marker
conditions of 322,935 RSUs as of December 2021 and
210,692 RSUs as of December 2020, and the maximum
amount of such RSUs thar may be earned was 387,508
R5Us as of December 2021 and 210,692 R5Us as of
December 2020,

The ending balance also included RSUs nor subjeer 1o
furure service requirements bur subjecr 1o performance
conditions of $90.453 RSUs as of December 2021 and
489,602 RS5Us as of December 2020, and the maximum
amount of such RSUs thar may be camed was 885,680
RSUs as of December 2021 and 734,403 R5Us as of
December 2020,
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It relation to 2021 vear-end, during the first quarter of
2022, the firm granted o its employees approcimately
12 million RSUs (of which 4.4 million RSUS require future
service as a condinon of delivery for the relared shares of
common stock) and delivered, ner of required withholding
rax, approximately 1 million shares of resericved stock
{which do not require futere servicel. Borh RSU and
restricred stock awards are subject to addinonal conditions
as outlined in the award agreements. Generally, shares
underlying these RSUs, net of required withholding tax,
deliver over a three-vear period, but are subject to a one-
year post-vesting and delivery sransfer restriction, The
restricted stock is subject 1o a three-vear post-vesting and
delivery teamsfer restriction. These awards are not included
in the table above.

As of December 2021, there was 5565 million of ol
mnrecognized compensation cost relaed 1o non-vesred
share-hased compensarion  arrangements.  This cost i
expected o be recognized over a weighred average period
of 202 vears. In addidon, there s unrecopnized
compensation cost related o sharesbased compensanion
arrangements  subject o performance conditions,  The
maximum pavout rebared o these awards s 331 million,
This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighred
average period of two vears,

The table below presents the share-based compensanion amd
the relared excess rax benefin,

Year Enced December

§ in mil¥ons Fiid} iz} 8

Share-based compensatisn 52553 §19e5 S0
Excess nat tax benafit for share-based avards 8 196 5 120 £ &2

In the table above, excess net tax bencht for sharebased
awards includes the net tax benefit on dividend equivalenrs
paid on RSUs and the delivery of commaon stock anderlying
share-based awards,
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Note 30,
Parent Company
Group Inc. — Condensed Statements of Earnings
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Group Inc. — Condensed Balance Sheets

Yo Ercled Decarnbion s ol Decarrde
£ malans 2 0 2015 i nadions fared] frnrin]
Revenues Anasts
Dinadands. foom subsdanas and other sithares: Cash and cash egunalents

Barik $16990 5 40 5 63 Wieh therd-party banks k] 47 § 28

Morbark 15562 19660 4,793 With subisadiary bank z -
Ciheesr pariniies sl 174 35 Lagl;i ter danad percaivalles from subsabanes -
- K 1,024 3
Tl e 33081 12674 4

o T LR Sire At Honbard, (87,639 ardl §7.242 a1 faie valus] IANE 394
Inbei@st inoame L5 4000 7676 Investments in subsataries and other afthates
[ritarast xpendd 4,570 5861 8,545 BEank 43021 L8
Mt interedt lads [B7S) (LB 107D Henban 8883 TieE
Total net revenues 32208 10833 3827 Tracng assets (at fair valuel 4,662 261

Investments S22, 528 anvd 218,642 ot far value) 2607 0204
Operating sxpensss Oithar assats 008 4811
Compensatan and bonafits O ET 231 Total assets 5430232 1360817
bt e plnams ‘I.ﬂ_:ﬂ 3339 1,365
Takal opae ating axpanses 1,758 3708 1,808 Lisbalities and aharshablilers’ squity
Prao-tax earnirgs 30481 12T Led1 Secured borrawangs wath subsicdiaries § 50805 § 35308
Benafit for taxes (881)  (Boal  jsam Paygables 1o subsidn s 1357 S0z
Unchistributed sammgaflass| of subsidaries Trackng liabalities tat faer valual 1118 3
s Urisesured shori-tanm Dorrowengs:

A rhar 78RS bt MY e 5o Vit third parses m.zums: T23at farvalunl 1127 20563
Mot sxenings NS 0463 8468 Viith subsidiaries 3887 7385
Prafemed stock dendonds 484 44 ] Uirsecured long:fenm bormgwangs
Piet sarnings applicable to common Whith third partes ($17.680 and £11,145 ot tae valus) 200706 171024

shareholders $21.181 £ 85 37837 With subsdusmes 40,408 32499

Ot lakehites T 0d3 [ lov]

Supplemental Disclosures: T Ll
In the condensed statements of carnings above, revenues Commitments, contingencies snd guarantess

and expenses included the following with subsidiaries and Sharshalders” squity

:Il'hﬂ‘.f 1m| iarﬁ; Predarnad sioci 'tﬂ.m 11206

A ! Camemon stock 9 9

« Dividends from bank subsidiaries included cash dividends Share-based suands 4211 2459

: 3 Adchnoral pasd-in capi 55,396 SEEM9

of $16.9% billion for 2021, £38 million for 2020 and Fatamas aarnings IFLAN 112847

o Bccurmulated ather comprobensive loss (2068} (1434

$60 million for 2012, Stk hotd in treasury, at cost (91,138} 25940
« Dividends from nonbank subsidiaries and ather affiliares Total shareholdars” equity QLEET IR

included cash dividends of $15.14 hillion for 2021, Total liabilities and shareholders” equity F420.20 60607

S11.32 hillion for 2020 and 5418 hillion for 2019,

* {(Mher revenues  mcluded $1.01) billion for 2021,
82 62 billion for 2020 and 5129 hillion for 20019,

« Inperest income  included  $3.3% hillion  for 2021,
2368 billion for 2020 and 5726 hillios for 2001 %,

o Ineerest expense  incloded 31,24 hillion  for 2021,
2173 billion for 2020 and 5305 hillios for 200 %,

« (nher expenses included  $113 million  for 2021,
S100 million for 2020 and 5138 million for 20019,

Group Inc’s other comprehensive  imcome(loss)  was
Si634) million for 2021, $30 million for 2020 and
$12.18) billion for 2019,

Supplemental Disclosures:
Goldman Sachs Funding LLC (Funding THC), a wholly-
owned, direcr subsidiary of Group Inc., has provided
Group Ine. with a commined line of credit thar allows
Ciroup Inc. rodraw sufficient funds ro meet its cash needs in
the ordinary course of busingss.

Trading  assets  included  derivative  conrracrs  with
subsidiaries of 5138 billion as of December 2021 and
5843 million as of December 20240,

Trading labilinies incloded  derivanive  conrracrs with
subsidiaries of $1.12 hillion a5 of December 2021 and
2320 million as of December 200241,

As of December 2021, unsecured long-term borrowings
with subsidiaries by mamrity dare are 33885 billion in
2023, 5324 million in 2024, $385 million in 2025,
54 5 mullicsn i 2026 and 5798 million in 202 7-thereafrer.

Galdrman Sachs 2027 Form 10 221
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THE GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Group Inc, — Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Yar Ended Docarmiee
& mibgng eyl e 2009
Cash flows from operating activities
Ml aarergs $ 21835 § D400 F B4G6

AduBEREITS Do PO e el SAMTINGS To Ml
cash prandied by SpsaTnG scinalies
Unadkesinbnited {aarningsificas of

mamicinies and ather sffikates 2,387 (1L63® (599
Dreprecsabon and armorizatan ] & 26
Draderred income Taxes 241} el 2w
Share-based compansatan 335 17 118
Gian o actinguishiment af

unspcired borrowings - m (200

Changes in opeeaang assats and labdbes
Cofateralzed ransactions faxchueding

securgd borowings, natl = 332 17
Tradirg assets (90273) 2484 EI4E
Tradrg habiktes 86 - 14 ] 136
Chthapr, nast (52130 (1480 ib20E

Mat cash prowided by opsatng actnatios: 18418 106032 GEI%

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of proparty, leasehold

improETY and aqupmaent 13} {261 (mF{]
Repaymentalissuances] of shord-derm loans

i Aubaidhames, net 19867 7.0 2,078
Ersuance of teim loans Io dubsidanes (372000 32470 (7374
Fropayrants of tinm loans by subssdaries 10059 20568 12
Pirchase of mnsstments [18.084) (37671 (16,776
Salenpiypdeiyms of mvestments 1089 4135 B768
Capiml cenmibutons 1o subsdisias, nat [23978) (56171 18
et cash used for mrvestng actretiss (672170 {1158 (10858
Cash Aows from financing activities
Secuned bomowings veth subaxdany, net 12348 (63600 26338
Urrgunad Aharr-Tam Dormaeargs, rnet

Witk third pasoes [e&3) (1370 n

With sulmetkarias 7007 12603 A5a%

Iasuance of unecured long-tenm Borongs 73464 24759 A
Faparyrnant of uragoured long-term borroeangs  [31,588) (33,430 27974

Purchase of Trust Prefamed securties - 1m0
Frafered stock redemption (26750 @B (10000
Common stock repurchased (B200) (1,938 (533W

Sattormant of share-based awarnds in

satesfncbon of wathholdng tax reguesmmaents [aas5) (1= ]u ] [TaEy
Dnedends and devadend equevalents peed on

sfock and sharebased swards (218 2338 (2104)
Frmgance of preferred stock, nel of costs Z2ar2 349 1,008
by ﬁr.ru:-.nﬁ nad {14} = (kA1
Hat cash prosndied bytused bl Brancing

ocirats o818 (BETZ 4242
et incroass’|decreasal v cash and cash

squvalants 23 {141 [yl
Cash and cazh equevalents, ing balance i A 103
Cash and cash equival fing bal 5 daf i 263 A0

222 Geldman Sacha 2021 Form 10-E
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Supplemental Disclosures:

Cash payments for interest, net of capitalized inrerest, were
4.72 billion for 2021, 3592 billion for 2020 and
$9.53 billion for 2009, and meleded 51,33 hallion for 2021,
SL.90 hallion for 2020 and 53.01 hillion for 20019 of
paymenrs to subsidiaries.

Cash paymentsfirefunds) for income raxes, ner, were
8374 billion for 2021, 50137 billion for 2020 and
$272 mullion for 20719

Non-cash activities during the vear ended Decemibrer 20212

« Group Ine. exchanged $5948 million of loans for
addirienal  equity  investment  in s wholly-owned
subsidianes.

Non-cash activities during the vear ended Decemibrer 2020:

+ Group Inc. exchanged $11.2 million of Trusr Preferred
securines and  common  beneficial  imeerests for
$12.5 million of certain of Group Inc's  junior

subardinated debe.
Non-cash activities durtng the vear ended December 2009:

» Group Inc. acquired 5830 hillion of deposies with (5%
Bank USA from Funding THC in exchange for
borrowings.

» Group Inc. exchanged $211 million of Truse Preferred
securities and  common  beneficial  interests  for

$231 million of cermain of Group Ine's  jumior
subordinaned debr.
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THE GOLDMAN SACHE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk

Quannranve and qualitanve disclosures abour marker risk
are set forth in “Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Resules of Operations — Risk
Management™ in Part 11 Item 7 of this Form 10-K,

Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data

Management's Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting

Management of The Goldman Sachs Group, Ine., together
with it consolidated substdiaries (the firm), is responsible
for establishing and maincaining adequare intemal conrol
over financial reporting. The firm’s inrernal conteol over
financial reporming #s a process designed  wnder  the
supervision of the firm's principal executive and principal
financial officers to provide reasonalble assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
the firms financial starements for extermal reporting
purposes in aceordance with US, generally  accepred
accounnng principles.

As of December 31, 2021, management conducred an
assessmment of the firm's ingernal contral over fimancial
reporting based on the framework established i fternal
Comtrod — Iwtegrated Framework (20030 wssued by the
Committee of Sponsering Organizations of rthe Treadway
Commission  {COS0), Based on this  assessment,
management has determmned that the firm’s internal control
over financial reporting ax of December 31, 2021 was
cifective.

EDINETOOOO
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Cror nternal control over financial reporting includes
policies and procedures thar pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect tramsactions and disposinons of assers; provide
reasonable assurance thar rransactions are recorded as
necessary 1o permir preparaton of financial starements in
accordance with US. generally  accepred  accounting
principles, and that receipes and expenditures are being
made only in  accordance  with  awthorieations  of
management and the direcrors of the finmg and provide
reasonable  assurance regarding  prevention o nmely
derection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
the firm's assets that could have a marerial effect on our
financial statements.

The firm's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021 has Dbeen  awdived by
PricewarerhowseCoopers LI (PCAOR 1D 238), an
independent registered public accounning firm, as stared in
their report appearing on pages 118 o 120, which
expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the

firm's intemal contral over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021.

Galdrman Sachs 2027 Form 10K 117
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.:

Opinions on the Financial Satements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, of comprehensive income, of changes in shareholders
equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred
to as the “ consolidated financial statements’). We aso have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in al material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2021 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion,
the Company maintained, in al material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for credit losses on
certain financial instrumentsin 2020

Basisfor Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over
financia reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’'s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isto express opinions on the Company’s consolidated
financia statements and on the Company’s internal control over financia reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in al material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on atest basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financia reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits aso included performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generaly accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financia statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters
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The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are materia to
the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especialy challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financia statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to
which they relate.

Valuation of Certain Level 3 Financial I nstruments

As described in Notes 4 through 10 to the consolidated financial statements, as of December 31, 2021, the Company carries financial
instruments at fair value, which includes $24.1 billion of financia assets and $29.2 billion of financia liabilities classified in Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy, as one or more inputs to the financial instrument’s valuation technique are significant and unobservable. Significant
unobservable inputs used by management to value certain of these Level 3 financial instruments included (i) industry multiples and public
comparables, (ii) credit spreads or (iii) correlation.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of these certain Level 3 financial
instruments is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management in valuing the financial instruments, which in turn led to
a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to the
aforementioned significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation of certain Level 3 financial instruments, and (ii) the audit effort
involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the valuation of financial
instruments, including controls over the methods and significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation of certain Level 3 financia
instruments. These procedures also included, among others, for a sample of financia instruments, the involvement of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge to assist in (i) developing an independent estimate of fair value or (ii) testing management’'s process to
determine the fair value of these financial instruments. Developing the independent estimate involved (i) testing the completeness and
accuracy of data provided by management, (ii) evaluating and utilizing management’s significant unobservable inputs or developing
independent significant unobservable inputs, and (iii) comparing management’s estimate to the independently developed estimate of fair
value. Testing management’s process included evaluating the reasonableness of the aforementioned significant unobservable inputs,
evaluating the appropriateness of the techniques used, and testing the completeness and accuracy of data used by management to determine
the fair value of these instruments.

Allowance for Loan Losses - Wholesale Loan Portfolio

As described in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s allowance for loan losses for the wholesale loan portfolio
reflects management’s estimate of loan losses over the remaining expected life of the loans and also considers forecasts of future economic
conditions. As of December 31, 2021, $2.1 billion of the allowance for loan losses and $131.6 billion of the loans accounted for at amortized
cost related to the wholesale loan portfolio. The allowance for loan losses for the wholesale loan portfolio is measured on a collective basis
for loans that exhibit similar risk characteristics using a modeled approach and asset-specific basis for loans that do not share similar risk
characteristics. In addition, it includes qualitative components to reflect the uncertain nature of economic forecasting, capture uncertainty
regarding model inputs, and account for model imprecision and concentration risk. The wholesale model s determine the probability of default
and loss given default based on various risk factors, including internal credit ratings, industry default and loss data, expected life,
macroeconomic indicators, the borrower's capacity to meet its financial obligations, the borrower's country of risk and industry, loan
seniority and collateral type. The most significant inputs to the forecast model for wholesale loans include forecasted U.S. unemployment
rates, GDP, credit spreads, commercia and industrial delinquency rates, short- and long-term interest rates, and oil prices.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the allowance for loan losses for the wholesale loan
portfolio is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment and estimation by management in the determinations of internal credit
ratings and the forecasted U.S. unemployment rates, which in turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in
performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to management’s determinations, and (ii) the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the Company’s allowance for
loan losses for the wholesale loan portfolio, including controls over the model, certain data, and significant assumptions. These procedures
also included, among others, testing management’ s process for estimating the allowance for loan losses for the wholesale loan portfolio using
amodeled approach, which involved evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology and testing the completeness and accuracy of certain
data used in estimating the allowance for loan losses. The procedures also involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge to assist in evaluating (i) the appropriateness of the model and methodology and (ii) the reasonableness of the internal credit
ratings and the forecasted U.S. unemployment rates used in estimating the allowance for loan losses for the wholesale loan portfolio.

/s PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
February 24, 2022
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We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1922.
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